Notice of Council

Date: Tuesday, 24 February 2026 at 7.00 pm

Venue: Council Chamber, BCP Civic Centre, Bournemouth BH2 6DY

BCP

Council

Chairman:
Clir L Dedman

Cllr C Adams

ClIr S Aitkenhead
Clir H Allen

Clir M Andrews
Clir S Armstrong
Clir J Bagwell

Clir S Bartlett

Clir J Beesley
Clir D Brown

Clir O Brown

Clir R Burton

Clir J J Butt

Cllr P Canavan
Cllir S Carr-Brown
ClIr J Challinor
Clir A Chapmanlaw
ClIr B Chick

ClIr J Clements
ClIr E Connolly
Clir P Cooper

Clir M Cox

ClIr D d'Orton-Gibson
Clir B Dove

Clir M Dower

Clir M Earl

Vice Chairman:
Clir S Bull

Clir J Edwards
Clir G Farquhar
Clir D Farr

Clir A Filer

Clir D A Flagg
Clir M Gillett
Clir C Goodall
Clir A Hadley
Clir I Hanna
Clir E Harman
Clir R Herrett
Clir P Hilliard
Clir B Hitchcock
Clir M Howell
Clir A Keddie
Clir M Le Poidevin
Clir D Logan
Clir S Mackrow
Clir A Martin
Clir D Martin
Clir G Martin
Clir J Martin

Cllr C Matthews
Clir S McCormack
Clir P Miles

Clir S Moore

Clir A-M Moriarty
Clir B Nanovo
ClIr L Northover
ClIr R Pattinson-West
Clir M Phipps
Clir K Rampton
ClIr Dr F Rice
ClIr J Richardson
ClIr V Ricketts
ClIr C Righy

Clir K Salmon
ClIr 3 Salmon
Clir P Sidaway
ClIr P Slade

Clir T Slade

ClIr V Slade

Cllr M Tarling
Clir T Trent

Cllr O Walters
Clir C Weight
ClIr L Williams
ClIr K Wilson
ClIr G Wright

All Members of the Council are summoned to attend this meeting to consider the items of business

set out on the agenda below.

The press and public are welcome to attend or view the live stream of this meeting at the following
link: https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Mid=6081

If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please contact:
Democratic Services on 01202 096660 or democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 118686 or
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk

AIDAN DUNN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

16 February 2026

DEBAT

on the Mod.gov app

Available online and

BCP Council Civic Centre, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY



Maintaining and promoting high standards of conduct

Declaring interests at meetings
Familiarise yourself with the Councillor Code of Conduct which can be found in
Part 6 of the Council's Constitution.

Before the meeting, read the agenda and reports to see if the matters to be
discussed at the meeting concern your interests

Does the matter directly relate to one of my Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs)
(set out in Table 1)?

Does the matter directly relate to the
finances or wellbeing of one of my Other
Registerable Interests (ORIs)

(set out in Table 2)?

| have a DPI and cannot take part without
a dispensation

I have an ORI and must disclose it.
| may speak as a member of the public but
not discuss or vote and must leave the
room

Does it directly relate to the finances or
wellbeing of me, a relative or a close
associate?

| have a NRI and must disclose it.
| may speak as a member of the public but
not discuss or vote and must leave the

Does it affect the finances or wellbeing of
me, a relative or a close associate or any
of my ORIs?

Am | or they affected to a greater extent that
most people? And would a reasonable person
think my judgementis clouded?

| have an interest and must disclose it.
| may speak as a member of the public but
not discuss or vote and must leave the
room

| have no interest to disclose

What are the principles of bias and pre-determination and how do they affect my
participation in the meeting?

Bias and predetermination are common law concepts. If they affect you, your
participation in the meeting may call into question the decision arrived at on the
item.

Bias Test Predetermination Test

In all the circumstances, would it
lead a fair minded and informed
observer to conclude that there was
a real possibility or a real danger that mind?

At the time of making the decision,
did the decision maker have a closed

the decision maker was biased?

.

If a councillor appears to be biased or to have predetermined their decision,
they must NOT participate in the meeting.

For more information or advice please contact the Monitoring Officer

Councillors should act solely
in terms of the public
interest

Councillors must avoid
placing themselves under
any obligation to people or
organisations that might try
inappropriately to influence
them in their work. They
should not act or take
decisions in order to gain
financial or other material
benefits for themselves,
their family, or their friends.
They must declare and
resolve any interests and
relationships

Objectivity

Councillors must act and
take decisions impartially,
fairly and on merit, using the
best evidence and without
discrimination or bias

Accountability

Councillors are accountable
to the public for their
decisions and actions and
must submit themselves to
the scrutiny necessaryto
ensure this

Openness

Councillors should act and
take decisions in an open
and transparent manner.
Information should not be
withheld from the public
unless there are clear and
lawful reasons for so doing

Honesty & Integrity

Councillors should act with
honesty and integrity and
should not place themselves
in situations where their
honesty and integrity may
be questioned

Leadership

Councillors should exhibit
these principles in their own
behaviour. They should
actively promote and
robustly support the
principles and be willing to
challenge poor behaviour
wherever it occurs




AGENDA

ltems to be considered while the meeting is open to the public

Apologies

To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors.

Declarations of Interests

Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance.

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting.

Announcements and Introductions from the Chairman

To receive any announcements from the Chairman.

Public Issues

To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in
accordance with the Constitution. Further information on the requirements
for submitting these is available to view at the following link: -

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteelD=15
1&Info=1&bcr=1

The deadline for the submission of public questions is mid-day Wednesday
18 February 2026 (mid-day, 3 clear working days before the meeting).

The deadline for the submission of a statement is mid-day Monday 23
February 2026 (mid-day the working day before the meeting).

The deadline for the submission of a petition is Tuesday 10 February 2026
(10 working days before the meeting).

[PLEASE NOTE: In accordance with the Constitution public issues
submitted to the Budget Council meeting must address the business on the
agenda in so far as it may relate to the setting of the budget for the coming
financial year.]

ITEMS OF BUSINESS
Recommendations from Cabinet and Committees

Cabinet 14 January 2026 - Minute No. 108 - Council Tax - Tax base
2026/27

RECOMMENDED that Council approves: -

(@) the report for the calculation of the council’s tax base for the
year 2026/27 and recommends the tax base to Full Council; and

(b) pursuant to the report, and in accordance with the Local
Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992,
as amended, the amount calculated as the council tax base for
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council for 2026/27 is
152,481.7



https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1

Audit and Governance Committee 15 January 2026 - Minute No. 86 -
Treasury Management Monitoring report for the period April to
December 2025 and Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27

RECOMMENDED that Council approves the Treasury Management
Strategy 2026/27 (Appendix 1)

Cabinet 4 February 2026 - Minute No. 118 - Housing Revenue Account
(HRA) budget setting 2026-27

RECOMMENDED that: -

The revenue budget for 2026/27 and provisionally for 2027/28 to
2028/29 are set using the following principles:

(@)

(b)

()

()

(i)

(iii)
(iv)
(V)

(vi)

That dwelling rents are increased by 4.8 per cent
(Consumer Price Index for September 2025 + 1 per cent)
from 6 April 2026 in line with the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government Policy statement on
rents for social housing.

That garage, garage bases and parking plot rental charges
are increased by 4.8 percent from 6 April 2026 and 11 per
centin parts of Poole so that charges continue to align.

That leasehold services are charged to leaseholders in line
with actual costs incurred.

That shared ownership dwelling rents are increased in line
with lease terms.

That the changes to service charges are agreed as set out
in appendix 2.

That HRA reserves are set at £4.8 million.

That the Income and Expenditure budget for 2026/7 and
provisionally for 2027/28 to 2028/29 as set out in Appendix 3 is
agreed.

That capital budgets for 2026/27 and provisionally for 2027/28 to
2028/29 are set using the following principles.

(i)

That the major project capital programme as set out in
Appendix 4 is noted.

(i) That £0.5 million for the acquisition of individual

properties (Acquire and Repair) and other annual capital
budgets are agreed.

(i) That the planned maintenance programme as set out in

Appendix 5 is agreed.

13-50

51-82



Cabinet 11 February 2026 - Minute No. 132 - Budget 2026/27 and
Medium-Term Financial Plan

RECOMMENDED that Council: -

(@)

(b)

Undertakes a recorded vote in relation to the following items as
required by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)
(Amendments) Regulations 2014;

(i) Agrees that a net budget requirement of £452m, resulting
in atotal council tax requirement of £297.033m, is set for
2026/27 based on the draft local government financial
settlement figures published by government in December
2025.

(i) Agrees an increase in council tax of 2.99% for 2026/27 in
respect of the basic annual threshold and the collection of
the additional social care precept of 2%.

(iii) Confirms the key assumptions and provisions made in the
budget as proposed and as set out in Appendix 3.

(iv) Agrees the allocations to service areas in the budget as set
out in Appendix 5.

(v) Agrees the implementation of £14m of savings as set out
in Appendix 5a.

(vi) Approve that the current Council Tax discount for Beach
Chalets on Mudeford Sandspit and Hengistbury Head is
removed from 1 April 2026 onwards see appendix 5b.

(vii) Approves the flexible use of capital receipts efficiency
strategy as the mechanism for funding the council’s
transformation related and invest to save expenditure as
set outin Appendix 6 and potentially a capitalisation
direction from government to cover the 2026/27 DSG
borrowing costs should it be granted.

(viii) Approves the capital investment programme (CIP) as set
out in paragraphs 66 to 82 and Appendix 7.

(ix) Approves the asset management plan as set out in
Appendix 8.

(x) Agrees the treasury management strategy (TMS) and
prudential indicators as set outin paragraphs 84 to 87 and
Appendix 9.

(xi) Accepts and supports the formal advice of the chief
finance officer on the robustness of the budget and the
adequacy of the reserves as set out in paragraphs 102 to
109 and Appendix 10.

Agree to borrow £95.7m to fund the 2026/27 excess Special
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) High Needs DSG
revenue expenditure above the government grant being made
available. This is also based on previous assurance from
government that the council can exceed its borrowing
thresholds temporarily based on their commitment to return the
SEND system to financial sustainability;

83 - 344



10.

11.

(c) Delegate to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the
Director of Finance, Leader, and Portfolio Holder for Finance,
the allocation of any additional resources that become available
through the final 2026/27 local government finance settlement
or any other means;

(d)  Approves the chief officers’ pay policy statement 2026/2027 for
consideration and approval by the council in accordance with
the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 as set outin
paragraphs 111 to 113 and Appendix 12; and

(e) Note amendments to the Council’s Shared Vision (Appendix
1b), updated to reflect changes to political and officer
leadership, the list of milestones to reflect progress made in the
last two years and areas of focus for 2025 to 27. The vision,
ambitions and priorities remain unchanged.

Cabinet 11 February 2026 - Minute No. 133 - Pokesdown Railway
Station

RECOMMENDED that Cabinet recommends to Council withdrawal of
the offer of a £2.6m contribution to the Pokesdown Railway Station
Improvements project.

2026/27 Council Tax Resolution

Under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 the council as the billing
authority must calculate a council tax requirement and basic amount of
council tax for the following year.

If the formal council tax resolution at Appendix A is approved the BCP
Council Band D council tax will be £1,980.46 from 1 April 2026.

Recruitment of Interim Chief of Finance & Section 151 Officer

This report invites the Council to approve the appointment of Matthew
Filmer to the position of Interim Chief of Finance & Section 151 Officer in
accordance with the Council’'s Constitution and statutory requirements.

A summary of Mr Filmer’s skills, experience and employment history is
shown within appendix 1 of this report.

[PLEASE NOTE: Should Council wish to discuss the detail of the
confidential appendix at Appendix 1 the meeting will be required to move
into Confidential (Exempt) Session].

345 - 354

355 - 362

363 - 368

No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes.



CABINET

Agenda ltem 5

BCP

Council

Report subject

Council Tax - Tax base 2026/27

Meeting date

14 January 2026

Status

Public Report

Executive summary

This report calculates and presents the proposed council tax base
for council tax setting purposes in line with current legislation and
guidance.

Recommendations

Itis RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:

(a) Approves the report for the calculation of the council’s tax
base for the year 2026/27 and recommends the tax base to Full
Council.

(b) Pursuant to the report, and in accordance with the Local
Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations
1992, as amended, the amount calculated as the council tax
base for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council for
2026/27 is 152,481.7

Reason for
recommendations

The Council is required by the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax
Base) Regulations 1992, as amended, to calculate the council tax
base for the financial year 2026/27.

Portfolio Holder(s):

Councillor Mike Cox, Portfolio Holder for Finance

Corporate Director

Aidan Dunn, Chief Executive Officer

Report Author Matthew Filmer, Assistant Chief Financial Officer
Russell Oakley, Finance Manager - Technical
Wards Council-wide

Classification

For Recommendation




Background

1.

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council is required to calculate its tax
base in accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations
1992, as amended, and provide this information to the Dorset Police & Crime
Commissioner, the Dorset & Wiltshire Fire & Rescue Authority as well as the
relevant parish, town and neighbourhood councils in the BCP Council area.

Calculation of the council tax base

2.

Under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and accompanying regulations,
detailed procedures exist for calculating the tax base which will be used for
calculating the levels of council tax charged to residents. The tax base for BCP
Council is expressed as the number of band D equivalent properties and will be
used to calculate BCP Council’s element of council tax as well as the council tax
charged by other preceptors.

The detailed calculation of the BCP Council tax base is provided in Appendix A.

The calculations include estimated changes in the Valuation Office’s Valuation List
that will take place during 2026/27 by reference to the following:

a) Provision for successful appeals

b) Provision for exempt properties

¢) Changes in the number of properties (demalitions and new additions)
d) Costof local council tax support scheme (LCTSS)

e) Estimated single person and other discounts

f) Estimated collection rate

The total estimated tax base for BCP Council has increased from 151,574.2 in
2025/26 to 152,481.7 in 2026/27 (0.6%).

The increase is due to additional properties being built, a lower number of dwelling
claiming as part of the local council tax support scheme as well as a specific
reduction in a discount rate as set out in paragraph 7 below. The weighted average
collection rate is estimated at 98.5% (98.5% 2025/26).

The tax base has been calculated with the assumption that beach huts at Mudeford
Sandspit and Hengistbury Head, which currently receive a 50% Council Tax
discount, will be removed entirely.

In addition to calculating the tax base for BCP Council, a separate tax base must be
calculated for each part of the council’s areas to which a special item of expenditure
relates. Parish, town and neighbourhood councils are all treated as special items for
these purposes and their precepts are charged only over the tax base for the
relevant area. This is provided in Appendix B to this report.

The council tax requirement for 2026/27, which is to be approved by BCP Council on
the 10 February 2026, will be divided by the calculated tax base to arrive at the
charge for a band.



Options Appraisal

10. The council can make differing assumptions regarding the estimated additions,
deletions, exempt properties, discounts, cost of LCTSS and the collection rate and
their impact on the tax base. However, these have been set at a level based on
historical trends and with due regard to the current economic environment in order to
ensure as far as possible that a deficit does not occur on the collection fund.

Summary of financial implications

11. As set out in the body of this report.

Summary of legal implications

12. The calculation and approval of the tax base is a crucial step in the council being
able to set a legal balanced budget for 2026/27.

13. The council must set its tax base in accordance with the Local Authorities
(Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 1992, as amended, and inform other
preceptors of their relevant tax base.

Summary of human resources implications
14. None

Summary of sustainability impact
15. None

Summary of public health implications
16. None

Summary of equality implications
17. None

Summary of risk assessment
18. None

Background papers

None

Appendices
Appendix A — BCP Council tax base 2026/27

Appendix B — Parish, town and neighbourhood council tax bases 2026/27



0T

Appendix A — BCP Council tax base 2026/27

BAND Disab A Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H Total
Total Properties 0.0 26,799.0 34,639.0 54,438.0 36,096.0 21,885.0 9,436.0 5,821.0 1,324.0 190,438.0
Exempt Properties 0.0 1,797.0 686.0 1,473.0 1,756.0 389.0 168.0 67.0 33.0 6,369.0
Demolished Dwellings 0.0 3.0 9.0 3.0 4.0 0.0 0.0 3.0 1.0 23.0
No. of chargeable dwellings subject to disabled reduction 0.0 21.0 75.0 277.0 176.0 155.0 96.0 50.0 51.0 901.0
No. of dwgllmgs effeptlvely subject to Council Tax for this band by 21.0 75.0 2770 176.0 155.0 96.0 50.0 51.0 0.0 901.0
virtue of disabled relief
No. of dwellings entitled to a 25% discount 10.0 15,734.0 15,400.0 16,648.0 9,651.0 5,156.0 1,944.0 1,081.0 145.0 65,769.0
No. of dwellings entitled to a 25% discount as all but one resident being

) . 1.0 155.0 297.0 471.0 325.0 237.0 91.0 50.0 2.0 1,629.0
disregarded for Council Tax purposes
No. of dwellings entltle_d to a 50% discount due to all residents being 10 24.0 39.0 61.0 54.0 34.0 36.0 58.0 17.0 324.0
disregarded for Council Tax purposes
No. of dwellings classed as 2nd home with 50% discount 0.0 17.0 2.0 4.0 0.0 3.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 27.0
Second Home Premium @200% 0.0 217.0 352.0 719.0 798.0 687.0 430.0 402.0 138.0 3,743.0
No. of dwellings classed as empty and being charged the Empty Home 0.0 208.0 241.0 269.0 166.0 131.0 66.0 38.0 12.0 1,131.0
Premium @100%
No. of dwellings classed as empty and being charged the Empty Home 0.0 60.0 36.0 26.0 9.0 8.0 70 5.0 0.0 151.0
Premium @200%
No. of dwellings classed as empty and being charged the Empty Home 0.0 70 16.0 8.0 9.0 20 2.0 0.0 0.0 26.0
Premium @300%
Total number of dwellings receiving a discount 12.0 15,930.0 15,738.0 17,184.0 10,030.0 5,430.0 2,072.0 1,189.0 164.0 67,749.0
Total number of dwellings being charged a premium 0.0 492.0 645.0 1,022.0 982.0 828.0 507.0 445.0 150.0 5,071.0
Reduction in taxbase as a result of the Family Annexe discount 0.0 46.8 3.5 15 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 52.8
Number of dwellings where there is a liability to pay 100% Council Tax 9.0 8,631.0 17,763.0 34,655.0 23,303.0 15,179.0 6,643.0 4,118.0 925.0 111,226.0
r;l::ihmebr:.r3 of dwellings with reduction under the Local Council Tax Reduction a7 5.356.3 47495 4,052.1 1,205.9 352.8 88.5 28.8 0.0 15,838.6
Total equivalent number of dwellings after discounts, premiums,
exemptions and disabled relief 13.1 16,223.1 26,161.2 45,559.0 31,596.1 20,557.5 9,128.3 5,861.5 1,343.8 156,443.6
Estimated number of additions 0.1 64.9 104.6 182.3 126.4 82.2 36.5 23.4 5.4 625.8
Net Total 13.2 16,288.0 26,265.8 45,741.3 31,722.5 20,639.7 9,164.8 5,884.9 1,349.2 157,069.4
Ratio to Band D 5/9 6/9 719 8/9 9/9 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9
Number of Band D equivalents (line 18 + 19) x line 20 7.3 10,858.7 20,429.0 40,658.9 31,722.5 25,226.2 13,238.0 9,808.2 2,698.3 154,647.1
MOD Properties 154.3
Less Loses 1.5% -2,319.7
Tax Base 2026/27 152,481.7




Appendix B — Parish, town and neighbourhood council tax bases 2026/27

Parish / Town Tax Base
Christchurch 12,989.4
Highcliffe & Walkford 6,865.0
Burton 1,629.4
Hurn 269.7
Poole 58,261.0
Bournemouth 67,246.3
Throop & Holdenhurst 306.3
Broadstone 4,914.6
Total 152,481.7

11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



Audit & Governance Committee

Agenda ltem 6

Report Subject

Treasury Management Monitoring report for the period April
to December 2025 and Treasury Management Strategy
2026/27

Meeting date

15 January 2026

Status

Public

Executive summary

This report sets out the monitoring of the Council’s Treasury
Management function for the period 1 April 2025 to 31
December 2025. A surplus of £1.1m is being forecast for the
2025/26 financial year, partly due to the Councils ability to
borrow lower than budgeted PWLB interest rates and partly due
to increased interest receivable from investments.

This report also presents the Treasury Management Strategy for
2026/27 with the relevant detailed strategy included as appendix
1.

Recommendations

It is RECOMMENDED that Audit & Governance Committee:

1) note the reported activity of the Treasury Management
function for the period ending 31 December 2025.

It is RECOMMENDED that Audit & Governance Committee
recommends that Council.

2) Approve the Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27
(Appendix 1)

Reasons for
recommendations

It is a requirement under the Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Treasury Management Code
of Practice that regular monitoring of the Treasury Management
function is reported to Members.

Portfolio Holder

Councillor Mike Cox, Portfolio Holder for Finance

Corporate Director

Aidan Dunn, Chief Executive

Service Director

Adam Richens, Director of Finance

Classification

For information and recommendation

Report author

Russell Oakley, Finance Manager - Technical

(=7 russell.oakley@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Matthew Filmer, Assistant Chief Financial Officer
(=] matthew.filmer@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Background Detail

1. Treasury Management is defined as the management of the Council’s cash
flows, its borrowings and investments, the management of the associated risks

13



mailto:russell.oakley@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.filmer@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

and the pursuit of the optimum performance or return consistent with those
risks.

2. The Treasury Management function operates in accordance with The Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) ‘Treasury Management in
the Public Services’ Code of Practice (2022).

3. The Treasury Management function manages the Council’s cash flow by
exercising effective cash management and ensuring that the bank balance is as
close to nil as possible. The objective is to ensure that bank charges are kept to
a minimum whilst maximising interest earned. A sound understanding of the
Council's business and cash flow cycles enables funds to be managed
efficiently.

4. This report considers the treasury management activities in relation to the
Treasury Management Strategy. Also included is a summary of the current
economic climate, an overview of the estimated performance of the treasury
function, an update on the borrowing strategy, investments and compliance with
prudential indicators.

Economic Background

5. The Bank of England (BoE) in December 2025 decreased interest rates to
3.75% following quicker than forecast fall ininflation. This follows decreases
from a high of 5.25% in August 2024. The Bank's Monetary Policy Committee
(MPC) voted 5-4 in favour of reducing the rate in December 2025, with 4 voting
for no change which emphasises the gradual approach to rate reduction.

6. The MPC continue to suggest a gradual and careful rate cuts which are now
expected to reach 3.5% during the middle of 2026 and remain at this rate during
the next financial year (2026/27).

7. CPlinflation has fallen quicker than expected during the last quarter, from the
3.8% reported in Q2, reaching 3.2% in November and is expected to continue its
decline towards the targeted 2% during 2026.

8. The main inflationary factor driving the earlier than expected decrease in CPlis
the price of food and drinks.

Interest Rates

9. Table 1 overleaf which is produced by the authority’s treasury consultants MUFG
Corporate Markets, sets out their current and projected interest rates over the
medium term

14



10.

Table 1: Interest rate projection (Link Asset Services)

Interest Rate Forecasts

Bank Rate Jun-26 Sep-26 Dec-26

MUFG CM 4.00% 375% 3.75% 3.50% 350% 3.50% 3.50% 3.25%
Cap Econ 3.75% 3.50% 3.50% 3.25% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%
5Y PWLB RATE

MUFG CM 4.70% 4.50% 4 40% 4.30% 4 30% 4.30% 4 20% 4.20%
Cap Econ 4.80% 4.70% 4 60% 4 60% 4.50% 4.50% 4.40% 4.40%
10Y PWLB RATE

MUFG CM 5.20% 5.00% 4.90% 4 .80% 4 80% 4.80% 4.70% 4.70%
Cap Econ 5.30% 5.30% 5.20% 5.10% 5.10% 510% 510% 5.10%
25Y PWLB RATE

MUFG CM 5.90% 5.70% 5.70% 5.50% 550% 5.50% 5.40% 5.40%
Cap Econ 6.00% 5.90% 5.80% 5.70% 560% 5.60% 5.50% 5.50%
50Y PWLB RATE

MUFG CM 5.60% 540% 5.40% 5.30% 5.30% 5.30% 5.20% 5.20%
Cap Econ 5.70% 5.60% 5.50% 5.30% 520% 5.20% 5.20% 5.20%

Table 2 below, demonstrates the historic trend of interest rates payable for PWLB
loans of 25 years vs the Bank of England rate.

Table 2: PWLB Historical Rates Information (April 2022 to date)

6.50

600 fl

5.50 ‘

[
ol JUN “’

E 400
g rH I
"
-2 150 !
100 ﬂ‘v
250
200
150
100 t t
i i i o » » » :- # i
.{é’rﬂ' 'n;{b - 0 o jeib &\;{" . & y & iy 1 i _E'f‘ - s
& J‘“ o 5 o & F a i _f.“ I ) }“ & o
o & & o o L §P = y & & o By & & o

[ —PWLE 245 1o 25 Yeur rale Bz R |

Treasury Management Performance 2025/26

11.

12.

Table 3 overleaf shows the overall treasury management position for 2025/26.
The current forecast is an underspend of £1.1m, which is an improved position
compared to the £0.3m underspend forecasted at Quarter 2.

The reason for this improved forecast is primarily due to greater availability of
funds within the local authority market than expected and at rates lower now than
forecast at Q2. This market is providing lower rates compared to short term PWLB
borrowing used to forecast borrowing costs resulting in a £0.6m reduction in
interest costs.

15



13. A strategy of borrowing cash required into April 2026 mean we have higher cash
balances to invest in the short term and have been able to take advantage of the
high interest rates being paid within the inter-Local Authority market.

Table 3: Treasury Management Performance 2025/26

Forecast Budget Variance
2025/26 2025/26 2025/26
£'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure
Interest Paid on Long Term Borrowings 2,830 2,830 0
Interest Paid on Short Term Borrowings 5,790 6,362 (572)

Income

Investment Interest Received (1,850) (1,105) (745)
Deductions from general fund 650 450 200
Total 7,420 8,537 (1,117)

16



Borrowing

14. Table 4 and 5 below shows the closing level of borrowing for the Council’s two
loan pools.

Table 4: Council Short Term Borrowings as of 31 December 2025

17

Initial Loan Balance as at ] General
Value £000 Interest Rate 31 Dec 2025 Maturity Date Fund Pool Source
£'000 £'000
Short Term Borrowing
5,000 3.95% 5,000 15-Jan-2026 5,000 Torbay Borough Council
5,000 3.90% 5,000 23-Jan-2026 5,000 Liverpool City Region Combined Autharity
10,000 4.00% 10,000 23-Jan-2026 10,000 London Borough of Croydon
4 000 3.95% 4,000 30-Jan-2026 4,000 Mottinghamshire Fire Authority
5,000 3.95% 5,000 30-Jan-2026 5,000 Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead
5,000 4. 40% 5,000 02-Feb-2026 5,000 Salford City Council
5,000 4.40% 5,000 09-Feb-2026 5,000 Morth Morthamptonshire Council
20,000 4 35% 20,000 20-Feb-2026 20,000 London Treasury Liguidity Fund LP
5,000 4. 40% 5,000 20-Feb-2026 5,000 East Riding of Yorkshire Council
5,000 4.40% 5,000 27-Feb-2026 5,000 Torfaen County Borough Council
5,000 4. 40% 5,000 02-Mar-2026 5,000 Salford City Council
5,000 3.95% 5,000 16-Mar-2026 5,000 Crawley Borough Council
5,000 4.10% 5,000 O7-Apr-2026 5,000 Harborough District Council
15,000 412% 15,000 15-Apr-2026 15,000 West Yorkshire Combined Authority
5,000 4 15% 5,000 17-Apr-2026 5,000 Rugby Borough Council
5,000 4.50% 5,000 17-Apr-2026 5,000 South Ribble Borough Council
3,000 4. 10% 3,000 24-Apr-2026 3,000 Merseyside Fire & Rescue Authority
4,000 4.50% 4,000 05-May-2026 4,000 Arun District Council
5,000 4 60% 5,000 07-May-2026 5,000 Tamworth Borough Council
5,000 4 60% 5,000 07-May-2026 5,000 Torbay Borough Council
5,000 4.10% 5,000 08-May-2026 5,000 London Borough of Islington
5,000 4 60% 5,000 11-May-2026 5,000 WestYorkshire Pension Fund
5,000 4 50% 5,000 18-May-2026 5,000 Devon County Council Pension Fund
5,000 4 25% 5,000 22-May-2026 5,000 PCC for Hampshire
5,000 4.50% 5,000 26-May-2026 5,000 Milton Keynes Council
5,000 4 40% 5,000 29-May-2026 5,000 London Borough of Redbridge
5,000 4 60% 5,000 29-May-2026 5,000 East Midlands Combined Autharity
20,000 4 50% 20,000 19-Jun-2026 20,000 London Treasury Liguidity Fund LP
181,000 181,000 181,000
5




Table 5: Council Long Term Borrowings as of 31 December 2025

Initial Loan Balance as at . General  yos pool
Value £000 Interest Rate 31 Dec 2025 Maturity Date Fund Pool £000 Source
£'000 £'000
Long Term Borrowing
5,000 4.45% 5,000 24-53ep-2030 - 5,000 PWLB
5,000 4.45% 5,000 24-Mov-2031 - 5000 PWLB
5,000 4.75% 5,000 24-8ep-2032 - 5000 PWLB
5,000 4.45% 5,000 24-Nov-2032 - 5000 PWLB
5,000 4.75% 5,000 24-5ep-2033 - 5000 PWLB
5,000 4.60% 5,000 23-Feb-2035 - 5,000 PWLB
5,000 4.72% 5,000 22-Aug-2036 - 5,000 PWLB
5,000 2.80% 5,000 20-Jun-2041 5,000 - PWLB
5,000 2.80% 5,000 20-Jun-2041 5,000 - PWLB
10,000 1.83% 10,000 22-Jul-2046 10,000 - PWLB
2500 6.75% 2500 06-Mar-2056 - 2500 PWLB
1,500 6.75% 1,500 13-Mar-2057 - 1,500 PWLB
1,500 5.88% 1,500 07-Mar-2058 - 1,500 PWLB
424388 3.48% 424388 28-Mar-2062 - 42438 PWLB
43908 3.48% 43908 28-Mar-2062 - 43908 PWLB
17,000 1.54% 17,000 17-May-2068 17,000 - PWLB
12,500 1.56% 12,500 16-Aug-2068 12,500 - PWLB
12,500 1.55% 12,500 16-Aug-2069 12,500 - PWLB
188,896 188,896 62,000 126,896
22625 2.26% +RPI Annually 13,291 17-0ct-2039 13,291 - Prudential Assurance Co
49,000 1.69% 45,097 24-Nov-2045 45,097 - Phoenix Life Limited
71,625 58,388 58,388 -
Total Short Term and Long term Borrowing
441,521 428,284 301,388 126,896
6

18



6T

Table 6: Debt Summary April 2022 - December 2025

15.

The chart shows the overall increase in debt held since April 2022 and overlays the accumulated dedicated school grant (DSG)
deficit over the same period. Debts in the short term have increased significantly to satisfy the cash demand of the deficit. The
inclusion of this chart works on satisfying the recommendation from external audit to include comparisons on the level of
borrowing to the previous year and earlier periods.

DSG v Total Debt - April 2022 to December 2025
450

L
400
[]
350 11 M m-EH

300 ]

250
N R B R B BB B R B E BB BB B B O

MILLIONS

200

150

100

50

It
éﬁ’
k4
id

T R Y | R S K S N S I Ko > P P P P P
O @ F ¢ F
SN R M A ¢ SN SR S O S AR A S N

E==PWLB  ©=—3Phoenix Life Limited = === Prudential (CBRE)  ==2Short term borrowing = ——DSG Deficit



Investments

16.

in Table 7 below.

Table 7: Investment Summary as of 31 December 2025

A full list of investments held by the authority as of 31 December 2025 is shown

Principal Amount

Investments Maturity Date £ Interest %
Fixed Term Deposits
London Borough of Mewham 19-Jan-2026 10,000,000 4.20
Cornwall Council 26-Jan-2026 10,000,000 420
Uttlesford District Council 02-Feb-2026 5,000,000 4.20
Eastbourne Borough Council 12-Feb-2026 10,000,000 4.20
Wirral Borough Council 17-Feb-2026 10,000,000 4.20
Wirral Borough Council 20-Feb-2026 10,000,000 4.20
London Borough of Barking & Dagenham 23-Feb-2026 10,000,000 4.20
Sub Total 65,000,000
Call Account
Aberdeen Standard Liquidity Fund 7,825 000
Total 72,825,000

17.

The Treasury Management function average returns of 4.16% for the period 1

April 2025 to 31 December 2025 for its combined investments, compared
favourably to the average SONIA overnight benchmark rate of 4.05%.

Prudential Indicators

18.

The Treasury Management Prudential Code Indicators were set as part of the

2025/26 Treasury Management Strategy as agreed with Council in February
2025. It can be confirmed that all indicators have been complied with during the

period 1 April 2025 to 31 December 2025.

20




Compliance with Policy

19.

20.

The Treasury Management activities of the Council are regularly audited both
internally and externally to ensure compliance with the Council's Financial
Regulations. The recent internal audit in 2025 rated the Treasury Management
function as “Reasonable” assurance which means that there is a sound control
framework which is designed to achieve the service objectives, with key controls
being consistently applied.

The Treasury Management Strategy requires that surplus funds are placed with
major financial institutions but that no more than 25% (AA- Rated Institutions) or
20% (A to A- Rated) of the investment holding is placed with any one major
financial institution at the time the investment takes place. It can be confirmed
that the Treasury Management Strategy has been complied with during all of
2024/25 and the period 1 April 2025 to 31 December 2025.

Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27

21.

22.

The Treasury Management Strategy is produced each year in accordance with
the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management. It sets out how the
Council’'s Treasury service will support capital investment decisions, and how the
treasury management operates day to day. Its sets out the limitations on treasury
management activity through prudential indicators, within which the council’s
treasury function must operate. The strategy is included as Appendix 1 to the
report.

Aside from the standard update of financial estimates for the prudential indicators
there have been no other significant changes made.

Summary of Financial Implications

23.

Financial implications are as outlined within the report.

Summary of Legal Implications

24.

There are no known legal implications.

Summary of Human Resource Implications

25.

There are no known human resource implications.

Summary of Sustainability Impact

26.

There is no known sustainability impact.

Summary of Public Health Implications

27.

There are no known public health implications.

Summary of Equalities and Diversity Impact

28.

The Treasury Management activity does not directly impact on any of the services
provided by the Council or how those services are structured. The success of the
function will have an impact on the extent to which sufficient financial resources
are available to fund services to all members of the community.

21



Summary of Risk Assessment

29. The Treasury Management Policy seeks to consider and minimise various risks
encountered when investing surplus cash through the money markets. The aim
in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management is to
place a greater emphasis on the security and liquidity of funds rather than the
return gained on investments. The main perceived risks associated with treasury
management are discussed below.

Credit Risks

30. Risk that a counterparty will default, fully or partially, on an investment placed
with them. There were no counterparty defaults during the year to date, the
Council’s positionis that it will invest the majority of its cash in the main UK Banks
which are considered to be relatively risk adverse and have been heavily
protected by the UK Government over the last few years. The strategy is being
constantly monitored and may change if UK Bank Long Term ratings fall below
acceptable levels.

Liguidity Risks

31. Aims to ensure that the Council has sufficient cash available when it is needed.
This was actively managed throughout the year and there are no liquidity issues
to report.

Re-financing Risks

32. Managing the exposure to replacing financial instruments (borrowings) as and
when they mature. The Council continues to monitor premiums and discounts in
relation to redeeming debt early. Only if interest rates result in a discount that will
benefit the Council would early redemption be considered.

Interest Rate Risks

33. Exposure to interest rate movements on its borrowings and investments. The
Council is protected from rate movements once a loan or investment is agreed
as the vast majority of transactions are secured at a fixed rate.

Price Risk

34. Relates to changes in the value of an investment due to variation in price. The
Council does not invest in Gilts or any other investments that would lead to a
reduction in the principal value repaid on maturity.

Background papers

35. Treasury Management report to Full Council on 11th February 2025
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s56116/Treasury%20Manage
ment%20Monitoring%20report%20for%20the%20period%20April%20t0%20De
cember%202024%20and%20Treasury%20Manageme nt%20.pdf

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27

10

22


https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s56116/Treasury%20Management%20Monitoring%20report%20for%20the%20period%20April%20to%20December%202024%20and%20Treasury%20Management%20.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s56116/Treasury%20Management%20Monitoring%20report%20for%20the%20period%20April%20to%20December%202024%20and%20Treasury%20Management%20.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s56116/Treasury%20Management%20Monitoring%20report%20for%20the%20period%20April%20to%20December%202024%20and%20Treasury%20Management%20.pdf

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP)
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2026/27

Introduction
Background

1  The Authority is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury
management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with
cash being available when it is needed. Surplus monies are invested in low-risk
counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Authority’s low risk appetite,
providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return.

2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the
Authority’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need
of the Authority, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that it can
meet its capital spending obligations. This management of longer-term cash may
involve arranging long or short-term loans or using longer-term cash flow surpluses.
On occasion, when it is prudent and economic, any debt previously drawn may be
restructured to meet risk or cost objectives.

3  The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Authority is
critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the
ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue
or for larger capital projects. The treasury operations will see a balance of the
interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from cash deposits
affecting the available budget. Since cash balances generally result from reserves
and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as
a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance.

4 CIPFA defines treasury management as:

“The management of the local authority's borrowing, investments and cash flows,
including its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum
performance consistent with those risks.”

5 Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising
usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the day-to-day treasury
management activities.

Reporting Requirements
Capital Strategy

6 The CIPFA 2021 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local
authorities to prepare a Capital Strategy report which will provide the following: -

e a high-level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing
and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services

e an overview of how the associated risk is managed

23



e the implications for future financial sustainability

The aim of the strategy is to ensure that all the Authority’s elected members fully
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting Capital Strategy
requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite.

This capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management Strategy
Statement; non-treasury investments will be reported through the former. This
ensures the separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity and
yield principles, and the policy and commercialism investments usually driven by
expenditure on an asset.

Treasury Management Reporting

9 The Authority is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three

main treasury reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates
and actuals.

a) Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) -
The first, and most important report is forward looking and covers: -

e the capital plans, (including prudential indicators)

e a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital
expenditure is charged to revenue over time)

e the Treasury Management Strategy, (how the investments and borrowings
are to be organised), including treasury indicators; and

e an Annual Investment Strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to
be managed)

b) A mid-year treasury management report — This is primarily a progress
report and will update members on the capital position, amending
prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require
revision. In addition, this Authority will receive quarterly update reports.

c) An annual treasury report — This is a backward-looking review document
and provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury
indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates within
the strategy.

Scrutiny

10

11

The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being
recommended to Full Council. This role is undertaken by the Audit and
Governance Committee.

Quarterly reports — In addition to the three major reports detailed above quarterly
reporting (end of June/end of December) are also required. However, these
additional reports do not have to be reported to Full Council but do require to be
adequately scrutinised. This role is undertaken by the Audit and Governance
Committee. (The reports, specifically, should comprise updated Treasury/Prudential
Indicators.)

24



Treasury Management Strategy for 2026/27

12

13

The strategy for 2026/27 covers two main areas:
Capital issues
e the capital plans and the prudential indicators;
e the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy.
Treasury management issues

the current treasury position;

treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council;
e prospects for interest rates;

e the borrowing strategy;

e policy on borrowing in advance of need;

e debt rescheduling;

e the investment strategy;,

e creditworthiness policy; and

e policy on use of external service providers.

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, DLUHC
Investment Guidance, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential Code and the
CIPFA Treasury Management Code.

Training

14

15

16

17

The CIPFA Treasury Management Code requires the responsible officer to ensure
that members with responsibility for treasury management receive adequate
training in treasury management. This especially applies to members responsible
for scrutiny.

Furthermore, pages 47 and 48 of the Code state that they expect “all organisations
to have a formal and comprehensive knowledge and skills or training policy for the
effective acquisition and retention of treasury management knowledge and skills for
those responsible for management, delivery, governance and decision making.

The scale and nature of this will depend on the size and complexity of the
organisation’s treasury management needs. Organisations should consider how to
assess whether treasury management staff and board/ council members have the
required knowledge and skills to undertake their roles and whether they have been
able to maintain those skills and keep them up to date.

As a minimum, authorities should carry out the following to monitor and review
knowledge and skills:

e Record attendance at training and ensure action is taken where poor
attendance is identified.

e Prepare tailored learning plans for treasury management officers and council
members.

e Require treasury management officers and council members to undertake self-

25



18

19

20
21

assessment against the required competencies (as set out in the schedule that
may be adopted by the organisation).

e Have regular communication with officers and council members, encouraging
them to highlight training needs on an ongoing basis.

In further support of the revised training requirements, CIPFA’s Better Governance
Forum and Treasury Management Network have produced a ‘self-assessment by
members responsible for the scrutiny of treasury management’, which is available
from the CIPFA website to download.

The following training has been undertaken by members on the 20th November
2025 and further training will be arranged as required.

The training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed.

A formal record of the training received by officers central to the Treasury function
will be maintained by the Finance Manager - Techincal. Similarly, a formal record
of the treasury management/capital finance training received by members will also
be maintained by the Finance Manager - Techincal.

Treasury management consultants

22
23

24

The Councils Treasury Management advisors are MUFG Corporate Markets.

The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not
placed upon our external service providers. It also recognises that there is value in
employing external providers of treasury management services in order to acquire
access to specialist skills and resources.

It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury
management services to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The
Authority will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which
their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented and subjected to
regular review.

The Capital Prudential Indicators 2026/27 — 2028/29

25

The Authority's capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury
management activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the
prudential indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and confirm
capital expenditure plans.

Capital expenditure and Financing

26

This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans,
both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. Members
are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts:

2024125 2025126 2026127 2027128 2028123
Capital expenditure Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£°000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £'000
General Fund 102 652 33.917 107 517 BE.T22 34,21
HRA 23,123 44,451 43,053 43,835 35,305
Total 131,781 143,398 150,600 110,557 T2.513

26




27 The following tables summarise the above capital expenditure plans and how these
plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall of resources
results in a funding borrowing need.

General Fund Capital Expenditure

2024125 2025126 2026127 2027128 2028129
Capital expenditure Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

General Fund Total 102, 652 ag. .y 107.517 66,722 3421

Financed by:

Capital receipts - 1,287 - - -

Capital grants & Contributions S57.554 79,532 76,153 45,352 30,671

Revenue, 5106 and CIL financirg 3,703 T.834 15,338 3,088 513

Prudential Borrowing 41,389 14,144 15,360 17,682 3,022

Total inancing for the year 102,652 98,917 107,517 66,722 3421

HRA Capital Expenditure
2024175 2025126 Z0ZBIZT Z02TIZE 2028123
Capital expenditure Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£000 £000 £000 £ 000 £000

HRA Total 29,1239 44 481 43 083 43 835 38.308
Financed by:
Capital receipts 2107 5.261 3.564 2,744 1732
Capital grantz & Contributions 10,6935 B.660 1,733 5,253 2,595
Rewenue, 5106 and CIL financing 3,122 6,144 B.540 3,500 5,000
Major RBepairs Allaw ance 13.202 16,806 16,434 16,435 17025
Prudential Borrowing - 3,690 4,712 16,440 11,353
Total financing for the year 29129 44 481 43 083 43,835 38.308

The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement)

28 The second prudential indicator is the Council's Capital Financing Requirement
(CFR). The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which
has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a
measure of the Council's underlying borrowing need. Any capital expenditure
above, which has not immediately been paid for through a revenue or capital
resource, will increase the CFR.

29 The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP)
is a statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in
line with each asset's life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital
assets as they are used.

30 The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance leases).
Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’'s borrowing requirement,
these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and so the Council is not
required to separately borrow for these schemes.

27



31 The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections:

2024125 2025126 2026127 202726 2028123
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Capital Financing Requirement
CFR - General Fund
405,487 407,330 410,934 416,380 407,106
CFR-HRA 137,762 146,332 150,104 165,544 176,437
Total CFR 543 264 553,722 561,098 581,924 583,603
Movement in CFR 26,008 10,458 T.37T6 20526 1673
Movement in CFR represented
Met movement in borrowing for the 41389 23 754 0ETZ 34 127 14 975
vear [above] ‘ . . . .
Lezs MRPIYRF and other financing (12,307) (13,296 (13,298 (13,236 (13,298
movements
Movement in CFR 29,082 10,458 7.376 20,826 1.679

32 A key aspect of the regulatory and professional guidance is that elected members
are aware of the size and scope of any borrowing in relation to the authority's
overall financial position. The capital expenditure figures and the details above
demonstrate the scope of this activity and, by approving these figures, consider the
scale proportionate to the Council’'s remaining activity.

Liability Benchmark

33 The Authority is required to estimate and measure the Liability Benchmark for the
forthcoming financial year and the following two financial years, as a minimum.

34 There are four components to the LB: -

a)

b)

d)

Existing loan debt outstanding: the Authority’s existing loans that are still
outstanding in future years.

Loans CFR: this is calculated in accordance with the loans CFR definition

in the Prudential Code and projected into the future based on approved
prudential borrowing and planned MRP.

Net loans requirement: this will show the Authority's gross loan debt less
treasury management investments at the last financial year-end, projected
into the future and based on its approved prudential borrowing, planned
MRP and any other major cash flows forecast.

Liability benchmark (or gross loans requirement): this equals net loans
requirement plus short-term liquidity allowance.

35 Appendix 4 to this strategy illustrates the graphical estimate of the liability
benchmark for the general fund and HRA separately. It confirms both funds have
net loan requirement supported by the internal borrowing capacity of the authority.
This benchmark will continually be updated and referred to as new borrowing is
considered in the medium term.

28



Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances

36

The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital
expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an
ongoing impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year from
new sources (asset sales etc.). Detailed below are estimates of the year-end
balances for each resource and anticipated day-to-day cash flow balances.

2024125 2025126 2026127 2027126 2028129
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Fundbalances ! resemes 33,636 33,636 33,636 93,636 93,636
Capital receipts 1.535 N.335 1.333 N.335 1.333
Prowisions 26,633 26,633 26,633 26633 26,633
Dther [43.553] M3.226) [210,77E] [345.107) [554.053)
Total core funds 88 784 18,941 [72.609) {209, 934) [415.922)
'warking Capital” [335.736] [33,7386) [33,73E) [33,736] [33,73E]
Inderlaver borrawing 167,066 122,405 61,753 14,605 [51.714)
Expected Internal Investments 67 270 22 612 [(38.013) [85.188) [151.510)

*Working capital balances shown are estimated year-end; these may be higher mid-year

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy statement

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

The Authority's MRP policy was amended in 2023/24 following a comprehensive
review of MRP charges and methodology. This updated policy reflects the new
MRP calculation methods to be implemented.

For supported capital expenditure incurred before 1st April 2008, the Authority will
apply the Asset Life Method using an annuity calculation.

Unsupported borrowing will be subject to MRP under option 3 of the guidance
(Asset Life Method). MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets in
accordance with the statutory guidance using the annuity method, calculated on a
weighted average basis, where appropriate.

MRP in respect of unsupported borrowing taken to meet expenditure, which is
treated as capital expenditure by virtue of either a capitalisation direction or
regulations, will be determined in accordance with the asset lives as recommended
by the statutory guidance.

The interest rate applied to the annuity calculations will reflect the market conditions
at the time, and will for the current financial year be based on PWLB annuity rates

Where applicable, repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied
as MRP.

MRP Overpayments - The MRP Guidance allows that any charges made in excess
of the statutory minimum revenue provision (MRP), i.e. voluntary revenue provision
or overpayments, can be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent.
In order for these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy must
disclose the cumulative overpayment made each year. The cumulative amount of
VRP overpayments made between 1 April 2023 and 31st March 2025 was £12.8m.

MRP will commence in the year following the year in which capital expenditure
financed from borrowing is incurred, except for asset under construction where the
MRP will be deferred until the year after the asset becomes operational.

29



Borrowing

45

The capital expenditure plans set out earlier provide details of the service activity of
the Authority. The treasury management function ensures that the Authority's cash
is organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient
cash is available to meet this service activity and the Authority's Capital Strategy.
This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans
require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities. The strategy covers the
relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions,
and the Annual Investment Strategy.

Current portfolio position

46 The overall Treasury Management portfolio as at 31 March 2025 and for the
position as at 31 December 2025 are shown below for both borrowing and
investments.

Actual Actual Current Current
31/03/2025 31/03/2025 31/12/2025 31/12/2025

Treasury investments £'000 % £'000 %
Money Market Funds 650 25% 7,825 11%
Bank Deposits 0 0% 0 0%
DMADF 1,900 75% 0 0%
Local Authorities 0 0% 65,000 89%
Total Treasury Investments 2,550 100% 72,825 100%
Treasury External Borrowing
PWLB 188,896 51% 188,896 44%
Local Authorities 121,500 33% 181,000 42%
Private Sector 60,563 16% 58,388 14%
Total External Borrowing 370,959' 100% 428,284 100%
Net treasury investment / (borrowing) (368,409) (355,459)

47 The Authority’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised below. The table

shows the actual external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing need (the
Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.

202425 2025126 ZD26I2T 2027128 2028129
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£000 £000 £000 £000 £°000
External Debt
Treasury Debt 1zt April 295,126 370,960 126,718 495,361 564,004
PFl and Finance Leasze Liability 0.235 4,536 3.954 3.312 2,670
Expected change in Debe 75,834 55,758 B5,643 55,5643 65,643
Actual gross debt at 31 March 376,198 131,314 499,315 567.316 635,317
E‘E _ Capital  Financing 543 264 553,722 561,098 581,924 583,603
equirement
Under { [over] borrowing 167 066 122 408 61,783 14 _6038 [51.714]

48

Within the range of prudential indicators there are several key indicators to ensure
that the Authority operates its activities within well-defined limits. One of these is
that the Authority needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short-
term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any
additional CFR for 2026/27 and the following two financial years. This allows some

30




flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years but ensures that borrowing is
not undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes.

49 The S151 officer reports that the Authority complied with this prudential indicator in
the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future. This view takes
account of current commitments, existing plans and the proposals in this budget

report.
Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity

50 The operational boundary. This is the limit beyond which external debt is not
normally expected to exceed. In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the
CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt.

51 The authorised limit for external debt. A further key prudential indicator

represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing. This represents a limit
beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by
the full Council. It reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, could
be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.

a This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either the
total of all Councils’ plans, or those of a specific Council, although this power
has not yet been exercised.

b  The Audit and Governance Committee is asked to approve the following
authorised limit:

2024125 2025126 2026427 202728 20281239
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£'000 £ 000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cperational Boundary o 800 825 850 850
Autharised Limit a0 B35 860 895 895

Prospects for interest rates

52 The Council has appointed MUFG Corporate Markets as its treasury advisor and
part of their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.
MUFG Corporate Markets provided the following forecasts on 11.08.25. These are
forecasts for Bank Rate, average earnings and PWLB certainty rates, gilt yields
plus 80 bps.

MUFG Corporate Markets Interest Rate View 11.08.25

Sep-25 Dec-25 Mar-26 Jun-26 Sep-26 Dec-26 Mar-27 Jun-27 Sep-27 Dec-27 Nar-28 Jun-28 Sep-28

BANK RATE
3 month ave earnings
6 month ave earnings
12 month ave earnings
5yr PWLB
10 yr PWLB
25 yr PWLB
50 yr PWLB

4.00
4.00
4.00
4.00
4.80
5.30
6.10
5.80

4.00
4.00
3.90
3.90
4.70
5.20
5.90
5.60

3.75
3.80
3.70
3.70
4.50
5.00
5.70
5.40

3.75
3.80
3.70
3.70
4.40
4.90
5.70
5.40

3.50
3.50
3.50
3.50
4.30
4.80
5.50
5.30

3.50
3.50
3.50
3.50
4.30
4.80
5.50
5.30

3.50
3.50
3.50
3.50
4.30
4.80
5.50
5.30

3.50
3.50
3.50
3.50
4.20
4.70
5.40
5.20

3.25
3.30
3.30
3.30
4.20
4.70
5.40
5.20

3.25
3.30
3.30
3.40
4.20
4.70
5.30
5.10

3.25
3.30
3.40
3.50
4.20
4.70
5.30
5.10

3.25
3.30
3.40
3.60
4.10
4.60
5.30
5.00

3.25
3.30
3.40
3.60
4.10
4.60
5.20
5.00

Additional notes by MUFG Corporate Markets on this forecast table: -

53 Our last interest rate forecast update was undertaken six months ago, in February
2025. Throughout the intervening period we have successfully forecast a gradual
reduction in Bank Rate, although we were not overly persuaded that a cut in
August was the correct policy, given even the Bank of England anticipates CPI
inflation hitting 4% in the autumn. As it happened, a 5-4 split vote for a rate cut to

31



56

57

58

4% laid bare the different views within the Monetary Policy Committee, with the
accompanying commentary noting the decision was “finely balanced” and that
future rate cuts would be undertaken “gradually and carefully”.

54 What we also know after last week’s release of the Bank of England’s Quarterly

Monetary Policy Report is that annual UK GDP is expected to be in the region of
1.2% for Q3 2025, rising to 1.7% by Q3 2028. The Bank anticipates wage growth
to moderate to a sustainable 3.75% and CPI inflation to return to 2% in around 18

months’ time.

55 With the August rate cut now done, we are comfortable revising our previous

forecast for a November rate cut, instead pushing that back to February 2026, on
the basis that CPI inflation should have peaked by then and will be on a slow
downwards trajectory back to 2% by 2027. Further gradual reductions in Bank
Rate to 3.25% are then anticipated but, and it is a big BUT, only if inflation and
employment data are supportive of such cuts.

Borrowing strategy

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position. This means that
the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully
funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council's reserves, balances and
cash flow have been used as a temporary measure. This strategy is prudent as
medium and longer dated borrowing rates are expected to fall from their current
levels, albeit only once prevailing inflation concerns are addressed by restrictive
near-term monetary policy. That is, Bank Rate remains relatively elevated in 2026
even if further rate cuts arise.

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be
adopted with the 2026/27 treasury operations. The Director of Finance will monitor
interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing
circumstances:

e if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing
rates, then borrowing will be postponed.

e if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in
borrowing rates than that currently forecast, fixed rate funding will be drawn
whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in the next few
years.

Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the next
available opportunity.

Policy on borrowing in advance of need

59

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to
profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in
advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement e stimates,
and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be
demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.

32



60

Risks associated with any borrowing in advance of activity will be subject to prior
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting
mechanism.

Debt rescheduling

61

62

Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio may be considered whilst
premature redemption rates remain elevated but only if there is surplus cash
available to facilitate any repayment, or rebalancing of the portfolio to provide more
certainty is considered appropriate.

If rescheduling was done, it will be reported to the Audit and Governance
Committee, at the earliest meeting following its action.

Approved Sources of Long- and Short-term Borrowing

On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable
PWLB ° °
Community municipal bonds o o
UK Municipal bond agency L4 L4
Local authorities L4 L4
Banks o o
Pension funds ® L4
Insurance companies L L
UK Infrastructure Bank o L4
Market (long-term) o L4
Market (temporary) o L4
Market (LOBOS) o L4
Stock issues ® ®
Local temporary ® o
Local Bonds o

Local authority bills ® L
Overdraft L4
Negotiable Bonds o o
Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances) ® ®
Commercial Paper o

Medium Term Notes o

Finance leases L o

Annual Investment Strategy

Investment Policy

63

64

The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) and CIPFA
have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-
financial investments. This report deals solely with financial investments, (as
managed by the treasury management team). Non-financial investments,
essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital
Strategy, (a separate report).

The Council's investment policy has regard to the following: -

33



DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”)

CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and
Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2021 (“the Code”)

CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2021

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second
and then yield, (return).

65

66

In the current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to maintain a degree of
liquidity to cover cash flow needs but to also consider “laddering” investments for
periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, whilst
investment rates remain elevated, as well as wider range fund options.

The above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA places a high priority on the
management of risk. This Authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing
risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means: -

a)

b)

d)

Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of
highly creditworthy counterparties. This also enables diversification and
thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor
counterparties are the short-term and long-term ratings.

Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of
an institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial
sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and
political environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will
also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To
achieve this consideration the Authority will engage with its advisors to
maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and
overlay that information on top of the credit ratings.

Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price
and other such information pertaining to the financial sector in order to
establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential
investment counterparties.

This Authority has engaged external consultants, to provide expert advice
on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, liquidity and yield,
given the risk appetite of this Authority in the context of the expected level
of cash balances and need for liquidity throughout the year.

All investments will be denominated in sterling.

As a result of the change in accounting standards under IFRS 9, this
Authority will consider the implications of investment instruments which
could result in an adverse movement in the value of the amount invested
and resultant charges at the end of the year to the General Fund. (In
November 2018, the MHCLG, concluded a consultation for a temporary
override to allow English local authorities time to adjust their portfolio of
pooled investments by announcing a statutory override to delay
implementation of IFRS 9 for five years ending 31.3.23. Subsequently, a
further extension to the over-ride to 31.3.29 was agreed by Government but
only for those pooled investments made before 1st April 2024.

34



67

68

69

70

71

However, this Authority will also pursue value for money in treasury management
and will monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks
for investment performance. Regular monitoring of investment performance will be
carried out during the year.

Creditworthiness policy

The primary principle governing the Council’'s investment criteria is the security of
its investments, although the yield or return on the investment is also a key
consideration. After this main principle, the Council will ensure that:

a It maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment types it will
invest in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate
security, and monitoring their security. This is set out in the specified and
non-specified investment sections below; and

b It has sufficient liquidity in its investments. For this purpose, it will set out
procedures for determining the maximum periods for which funds may
prudently be committed. These procedures also apply to the Council's
prudential indicators covering the maximum principal sums invested.

The Chief Financial Officer will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with the
following criteria and will revise the criteria and submit them to Council for approval
as necessary. These criteria are separate to which types of investment instruments
that can be used as it provides an overall pool of counterparties considered high
quality which the Council may use, rather than defining what types of investment
instruments are to be used.

Credit rating information is supplied by MUFG Corporate Markets, our treasury
consultants, on all active counterparties that comply with the criteria below. Any
counterparty failing to meet the criteria would be omitted from the counterparty
(dealing) list. Any rating changes, rating watches (notification of a likely change),
rating outlooks (notification of a possible longer-term change) are provided to
officers almost immediately after they occur, and this information is considered
before dealing. For instance, a negative rating watch applying to a counterparty at
the minimum Council criteria will be suspended from use, with all others being
reviewed in light of market conditions.

The criteria for providing a pool of high-quality investment counterparties (both
specified and non-specified investments) is:

Sovereign Ratings
e AAA (non-UK)
(Rating Description: AAA = Prime Rating, AA+, AA, AA- = High Grade Rating)

Appendix 2 sets out the current list of countries that the Council can invest funds
with.

The UK sovereign rating is currently AA. To ensure that the Treasury Function has
capacity to operate effectively no specific minimum UK sovereign rating has been
set out.

Selection Criteria

35



72 Banks 1 - the Council will use UK and non-UK banks which have, as a minimum at
least one of, the following Fitch, Moody's and Standard & Poors credit ratings
(where rated):

73

Fitch Moody’s Standard &
Poors
Short Term F1 P1 A-1
Long Term A- A3 A-

Investments will include term deposits, call accounts, notice accounts and
Certificate of Deposits.

a

o Q o

m

Banks 2 — Part nationalised UK bank — Royal Bank of Scotland ring-fenced
operations. This bank can be included provided it continues to be part
nationalised or it meets the ratings in Banks 1 above.

Banks 3 — The Council's own bankers (HSBC, Lloyds and Barclays) for
transactional purposes if the bank falls below the above criteria, although in
this case balances will be minimised in both monetary size and time.

Bank subsidiary and treasury operation - The Council will use these where the
parent bank has provided an appropriate guarantee or has the necessary
ratings outlined above.

Building societies. The Council will use societies which meet the ratings for
Banks 1 outlined above.

Money Market Funds (MMFs) Constant net asset value (CNAV)
Money Market Funds (MMFs) Low-Volatility net asset value (LVNAV)
Money Market Funds (MMFs) Variable net asset value (VNAV)
Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit rating of at least 1.25
Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit rating of at least 1.50
Cash Plus Funds

UK Government (including gilts, Treasury Bills and the Debt Management
Account Deposit Facility (DMADF))

Local authorities, Police and Fire Authorities, Parish Councils, BCP Council
Companies (Subsidiaries) and Partnerships.

Pooled Funds

Maximum Time and Monetary Limits applying to Investments

74 The maximum amount that can be invested in any one institution at the time of the
investment (including call accounts) as a percentage of the total investment
portfolio has been reviewed and rationalised. All AA- and above rated institutions
have a maximum limit of 25%, all A+, A or A- rated institutions have a maximum
limit of 20%. For practical reasons where the average investment balance falls

36



below £10m it may become necessary to increase the percentage limit to 33% at
the time of investment (this only applies to call accounts and money market funds).

75 The maximum time and monetary limits for institutions on the Council’s
Counterparty List are as follows (these will cover both Specified and Non-Specified

Investments):
Long Term|Money Limit Time Limit
Rating
Banks 1 higher quality AA- 25% 2 years
Banks 1 medium quality A 20% 1 year
Banks 1 lower quality A- 20% 6 months
Banks 2 category — part-nationalised N/A 20%
2 years
Limit 3 category — Council’'s banker Barclays AA- 25% 3 months
UK sovereign Unlimited 6 months
DMADF
rating
Local Authorities N/A 20% 5 years
AAA 0
Money Market Funds CNAV 25% instant
access
0
Money Market Funds LVNAV A 25% Instant
access
AAA 25% Instan
Money Market Funds VNAV S% stant
access
Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds N/A 25% Unlimited

Use of additional information other than credit ratings

76 Additional requirements under the Code require the Council to supplement credit
rating information. Whilst the above criteria relies primarily on the application of
credit ratings to provide a pool of appropriate counterparties for officers to use,
additional operational market information will be applied before making any specific
investment decision from the agreed pool of counterparties. This additional market
information will be applied to compare the relative security of differing investment
counterparties.

Investment strategy
In-house funds

37



77 Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments
up to 12 months).

Investment returns expectations

78 Bank Rate is forecast to over the next two years reaching 3.25% by 2027.

79 The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments
placed for periods up to about three months during each financial year were
updated on 11 August 2025 and are as follows: -

Average
earnings in Previously
each year

% %
2025/26
(residual) 3.90 410
2026/27 3.60 3.60
2027/28 3.30 3.50
2028/29 3.50 3.50
2029/30 3.50 3.50
Years 6-10 3.50 3.50
Years 10+ 3.50 3.50

Investment treasury limit

80 The maximum period for investments will be 5 years.
Ethical Investing

81 This is an area of investing that is becoming increasingly considered by financial
institutions and customers. Products from financial institutions are growing but still
remain limited. To consider investing in sustainable deposits they will still need to
meet our counterparty criteria and parameters set out earlier in the strategy.
Investment guidance, both statutory and from CIPFA, makes clear that all investing
must adopt SLY principles — security, liquidity and yield: ethical issues must play a
subordinate role to those priorities. The Treasury team will continue to explore this
area and report to members of any further developments.

Treasury Management Policy, Practices and Schedules

82 The Treasury Management Policy, Practices and Schedules will be presented
alongside this 2026/27 update of the TM Strategy.

38



Appendices
Appendix 1 - Economic Background
Appendix 2 - Approved Countries for investments
Appendix 3 - The Treasury Management role of the S151 Officer
Appendix 4 - Liability Benchmarking — GF and HRA

39



Appendix 1: Economic Background (provided by MUFG Corporate Markets)

The first half of 2025/26 saw:

- A 0.3% pick up in GDP for the period April to June 2025. More recently, the economy flatlined
in July, with higher taxes for businesses restraining growth, but picked up to 0.1% m/m in
August before falling back by 0.1% m/m in September.

- The 3mlyy rate of average earnings growth excluding bonuses has fallen from 5.5% to 4.6% in
September.

- CPl inflation has ebbed and flowed but finished September at 3.8%, whilst core inflation eased
to 3.5%.

- The Bank of England cut interest rates from 4.50% to 4.25% in May, and then to 4% in August.

- The 10-year gilt yield fluctuated between 4.4% and 4.8%, ending the half year at 4.70%
(before falling back to 4.43% in early November).

From a GDP perspective, the financial year got off to a bumpy start with the 0.3% m/m fall in real
GDP in April as front-running of US tariffs in Q1 (when GDP grew 0.7% on the quarter) weighed on
activity. Despite the underlying reasons for the drop, it was still the first fall since October 2024 and
the largest fall since October 2023. Howewer, the economy surprised to the upside in May and
June so that quarterly growth ended up 0.3% g/g. Nonetheless, the 0.0% m/m change in real GDP
in July, followed by a 0.1% m/m increase in August and a 0.1% decrease in September will have
caused some concern. GDP growth for 2025 and 2026 is currently forecast by the Bank of
England to be in the region of 1.4% before picking up in 2027.

Sticking with future economic sentiment, the composite Purchasing Manager Index (PMI) for the
UK increased to 52.2 in October. The manufacturing PMI output balance improved to just below
50 but it is the senices sector (52.2) that continues to drive the economy forward. Nonetheless,
the PMIs suggest tepid growth is the best that can be expected in the second half of 2025 and the
start of 2026. Indeed, on 13 November we heard that GDP for July to September was 0.1% q/q.

Turning to retail sales wlumes, and the 1.5% year-on-year rise in September, accelerating from a
0.7% increase in August, marked the highest gain since April. On a monthly basis, retail sales
wlumes rose 0.5%, defying forecasts of a 0.2% fall, following an upwardly revised 0.6% gain in
August. Household spending remains surprisingly resilient, but the headwinds are gathering.

With the November Budget edging nearer, the public finances position looks weak. The £20.2
billion borrowed in September was slightly above the £20.1 billion forecast by the OBR. For the
year to date, the £99.8 billion borrowed is the second highest for the April to September period
since records began in 1993, surpassed only by borrowing during the COVID-19 pandemic. The
main drivers of the increased borrowing were higher debt interest costs, rising government running
costs, and increased inflation-linked benefit payments, which outweighed the rise in tax and
National Insurance contributions.

The weakening in the jobs market looked clear in the spring. May’s 109,000 m/m fall in the PAYE
measure of employment was the largest decline (barring the pandemic) since the data began and
the seventh in as many months. The monthly change was revised lower in five of the previous
seven months too, with April’'s 33,000 fall revised down to a 55,000 drop. More recently, howevwer,
the monthly change was revised higher in seven of the previous nine months by a total of 22,000.
So instead of falling by 165,000 in total since October, payroll employment is now thought to have
declined by a smaller 153,000. Even so, payroll employment has still fallen in nine of the ten
months since the Chancellor announced the rises in National Insurance Contributions (NICs) for
employers and the minimum wage in the October 2024 Budget. The number of job vacancies in
the three months to October 2025 stood at 723,000 (the peak was 1.3 million in spring 2022). All
this suggests the labour market continues to loosen, albeit at a slow pace.

A looser labour market is driving softer wage pressures. The 3m/yy rate of awerage earnings
growth excluding bonuses has fallen from 5.5% in April to 4.6% in September. The rate for the
private sector slipped from 4.3% to 4.2%.

40



CPI inflation remained at 3.8% in September, whilst core inflation fell to 3.5%. Senices inflation
stayed at 4.7%. A further loosening in the labour market and weaker wage growth may be a
requisite to UK inflation coming in below 2.0% by 2027.

An ewver-present issue throughout recent months has been the pressure being exerted on medium
and longer dated gilt yields. The yield on the 10-year gilt moved sideways in the second quarter of
2025, rising from 4.4% in early April to 4.8% in mid-April following wider global bond market
wolatility stemming from the “Liberation Day” tariff announcement, and then easing back as trade
tensions began to de-escalate. By the end of April, the 10-year gilt yield had returned to 4.4%. In
May, concerns about stickier inflation and shifting expectations about the path for interest rates led
to another rise, with the 10-year gilt yield fluctuating between 4.6% and 4.75% for most of May.
Thereafter, as trade tensions continued to ease and markets increasingly began to price in looser
monetary policy, the 10-year yield edged lower, and ended June at 4.50%.

More recently, the yield on the 10-year gilt rose from 4.46% to 4.60% in early July as rolled-back
spending cuts and uncertainty over Chancellor Reeves’ future raised fiscal concerns. Although the
spike proved short lived, it highlighted the UK’s fragile fiscal position. In an era of high debt, high
interest rates and low GDP growth, the markets are now more sensitive to fiscal risks than before
the pandemic. During August, long-dated gilts underwent a particularly pronounced sell-off,
climbing 22 basis points and reaching a 27-year high of 5.6% by the end of the month. While yields
have since eased back, the market sell-off was driven by investor concerns over growing supply-
demand imbalances, stemming from unease ower the lack of fiscal consolidation and reduced
demand from traditional long-dated bond purchasers like pension funds. For 10-year gilts, by late
September, sticky inflation, resilient activity data and a hawkish Bank of England kept yields
elevated ower 4.70% although by early Nowvember yields had fallen back again to a little over
4.40%.

The FTSE 100 fell sharply following the “Liberation Day” tariff announcement, dropping by more
than 10% in the first week of April - from 8,634 on 1 April to 7,702 on 7 April. However, the de-
escalation of the trade war coupled with strong corporate earnings led to a rapid rebound starting
in late April. As a result, the FTSE 100 ended June at 8,761, around 2% higher than its value at
the end of March and more than 7% abowe its level at the start of 2025. Since then, the FTSE 100
has enjoyed a further 4% rise in July, its strongest monthly gain since January and outperforming
the S&P 500. Strong corporate earnings and progress in trade talks (US-EU, UK-India) lifted share
prices and the index hit a record 9,321 in mid-August, driven by hopes of peace in Ukraine and
dovish signals from Fed Chair Powell. September proved more wlatile and the FTSE 100 closed
September at 9,350, 7% higher than at the end of Q1 and 14% higher since the start of 2025.
Future performance will likely be impacted by the extent to which investors’ global risk appetite
remains intact, Fed rate cuts, resilience in the US economy, and Al optimism. A weaker pound will
also boost the index as it inflates overseas earnings. In early November, the FTSE100 climbed to
a record high just above 9,900.

41



MPC meetings: 8 May, 19 June, 7 August, 18 September, 6 November 2025

There were five Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meetings in the first half of the financial year.
In May, the Committee cut Bank Rate from 4.50% to 4.25%, while in June policy was left
unchanged. In June’s wote, three MPC members (Dhingra, Ramsden and Taylor) woted for an
immediate cut to 4.00%, citing loosening labour market conditions. The other six members were
more cautious, as they highlighted the need to monitor for “signs of weak demand”, “supply -side
constraints” and higher “inflation expectations”, mainly from rising food prices. By repeating the
well-used phrase “gradual and careful”, the MPC continued to suggest that rates would be
reduced further.

In August, a further rate cut was implemented. However, a 5-4 split vote for a
rate cut to 4% laid bare the different views within the Monetary Policy
Committee, with the accompanying commentary noting the decision was “finely
balanced” and reiterating that future rate cuts would be undertaken “gradually
and carefully’. Ultimately, Governor Bailey was the casting vote for a rate cut
but with the CPI measure of inflation expected to reach at least 4% later this
year, the MPC was wary of making any further rate cuts until inflation begins its
slow downwards trajectory back towards 2%.

With wages still rising by just below 5%, it was no surprise that the September
meeting saw the MPC vote 7-2 for keeping rates at 4% (Dhingra and Taylor
voted for a further 25bps reduction). Moreover, the Bank also took the
opportunity to announce that they would only shrink its balance sheet by £70bn
over the next 12 months, rather than £100bn. The repetition of the phrase that “a
gradual and careful” approach to rate cuts is appropriate suggested the Bank still
thought interest rates will fall further.

At the 6 November meeting, Governor Bailey was once again the deciding vote,
keeping Bank Rate at 4% but hinting strongly that a further rate cut is imminent.
With GDP for Q3 disappointing, and the September CPI number staying at 3.8%,
the market is split over whether the next rate cut will be in December or
February.

Appendix 1

42



PWLB RATES 01.04.25 - 30.09.25

PWLB Rates 01.04.25 - 30.09.25

7.00%

6.50%

6.00%

5.50%

5.00%

v \J\ ‘\.
:\L ,0,\, ,J/,\\ 7y ‘\—\\’\‘ N J“l— ,-IJ\J~,-I“ Np—
, '\l’ YO - \',‘ SN N T ~
4.50% ls—.\ ‘I‘, VTN WSS N-',-.“‘ — - '_J.l‘r~-§_—_l~__ PN et ,~o
4.00% ; ; ; ; ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ : ‘ ‘
& & & I & & » » S F K K
N N 0 N P N ¥ ® W o N v N o
————— lYear = -=5Year = - 10 Year == 25 Year e=50Year ===5(year target %
PWLB Certainty Rate Variations 01.04.25 to 30.09.25
7.00
6.60
5.80 $ . 4 $ —————————————————
5.40 * $ * I
500 * * | 1
ISEEEEE ;¥
. T T I ]
4.20
3.80
3.40
3.00 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
N \w:b~\w>~\w$o$>.«fba&&v&«@@s"\w@@@®
A "\ PP IP RV P P N Py g gV gV g\ g\ e o b‘\'” Uy N
NN 97 47 o & @Q~
+o° ()
o 1-Apr-25 ® 30-Sep-25 AAverage \00
Appendix 1

43




HIGH/LOW/AVERAGE PWLB RATES FOR 01.04.25 —30.09.25

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year
01/04/2025 4.82% 4.94% 5.38% 5.95% 5.63%
30/09/2025 4.58% 4.95% 5.53% 6.23% 5.98%
Low 4.36% 4.62% 5.17% 5.78% 5.46%

Low date 04/08/2025 02/05/2025 02/05/2025 04/04/2025 04/04/2025
High 4.84% 4.99% 5.62% 6.41% 6.14%

High date 02/04/2025 21/05/2025 03/09/2025 03/09/2025 03/09/2025
Average 4.55% 4.82% 5.40% 6.11% 5.83%
Spread 0.48% 0.37% 0.45% 0.63% 0.68%

Appendix 1

44




Appendix 2: Approved countries for investments

AAA
. Australia
. Denmark
. Germany
« Netherlands
. Norway
. Singapore
. Sweden

« Switzerland

AA+
. Canada
. USA.
AA
« Abu Dhabi (UAE)
. Finland
« Qatar
AA-
« UK.
A+
. Belgium
« France
Appendix 1

45



Appendix 3: The Treasury Management role of the section 151 officer
The S151 (responsible) officer

recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing
the same regularly, and monitoring compliance;

submitting regular treasury management policy reports;
submitting budgets and budget variations;

receiving and reviewing management information reports;
reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;

ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective
division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;

ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;
recommending the appointment of external service providers.

preparation of a Capital Strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-
financial investments and treasury management, with a long-term timeframe (say 20+
years — to be determined in accordance with local priorities.)

ensuring that the Capital Strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in the
long term and provides value for money

ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority

ensure that the Authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on non-
financial assets and their financing

ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the Authority does not undertake a
level of investing which exposes the Authority to an excessive level of risk compared to
its financial resources

ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, monitoring
and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long-term liabilities

provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees

ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures
taken on by the Authority

ensuring that the Authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally
provided, to carry out the above

creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non
treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following: -

o Risk management (TMP1 and schedules), including investment and risk
management criteria for any material non-treasury investment portfolios;

o Performance measurement and management (TMP2 and schedules),
including methodology and criteria for assessing the performance and
success of non-treasury investments;

o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5 and schedules),
including a statement of the governance requirements for decision making
in relation to non-treasury investments; and arrangements to ensure that
appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to support decision
making;

Appendix 1

46



o Reporting and management information (TMP6 and schedules), including
where and how often monitoring reports are taken;

o Training and qualifications (TMP10 and schedules), including how the
relevant knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury investments will
be arranged.

Appendix 1

47



8y

Appendix 4 — Liability Benchmark — General Fund

Appendix 1

Total Amount (£'000)

Liability Benchmark - General Fund

£250,000

£200,000

£150,000

£100,000
I -
\
£50,000 ﬁ
£0

-£50,000
Wk~ Wwhkaor
S NN MmN
o 0000 o000 o
NN NNNNNNN
= PWLE Loans
LOBO Loans

= Variable rate loans
=== MNet Loans Requirement - GF
= = Liability Benchmark - GF

2043
2045
2047
2049
2051

2053

2055

MO =M WUk MW0NMNMNETMWMNNGD™MW
N wwwwworMBMDMSMRRMKLDPREBILGDLGDGOGWO®WOWSDSDD
o0 0000000000000 o000 oo
O O NN BN NN N NN NN N NN NN N

mmm Market Loans (excl LOBO loans)

mmm Short Term inc LA Temporary Borrowing (<1 year)
=y isting Loan Debt Outstanding - GF

== |_oans CFR - GF



6v

Appendix 4 — Liability Benchmark - HRA

Liability Benchmark - HRA

£250,000
£200,000
g
S £1560,000
&
e
c
3
g
< £100,000
=
o
N ||||||||||
£0
Wy =~ ﬁlﬂh Whko>—onWwhHkc~o=—oMmWwhs~ o~ & W
I I | mwur-hhhhmmmmmmmm
GOGDDOGDGGGOOQGODOOD o o oo [ O e Y e R e T e I e Y = ]
SRIAIARARIRARAIR|IAIRRI|AIARARIRAIKA|]IRK|KAI]AIKRR|R
mes PWLEB Loans mmm Market Loans (exc LOBO loans)
LOBO Loans mmm Short Term inc LA Temporary Borrowing (<1 year)
mm Variable rate loans = Existing Loan Debt Outstanding - HRA
== Net Loans Requirement - HRA ===| pans CFR - HRA

= = | jability Benchmark - HRA

Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank

50



CABINET

Agenda ltem 7

BCP

Council

Report subject

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget setting 2026-27

Meeting date

4 February 2026

Status

Public Report

Executive summary

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a separate account within
the council’s budgets that ring-fences the income and expenditure
associated with council housing.

This report sets out the proposals regarding increases to rents,
service charges and other charges to tenants and leaseholders.
Arrangements for these increases are separate to arrangements for
increasing fees elsewhere in the counciland are set out in law and
regulation.

The report also sets out plans for expenditure on services to
residents, repairs and improvements to homes and the provision of
new homes taking into account new legal and regulatory
requirements.

This report also demonstrates how council housing and spending
within the HRA supports the council’s corporate strategy and
objectives.

Recommendations

It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet recommends that Council
agrees:

(@) Therevenue budgetfor 2026/27 and provisionally for
2027/28 to 2028/29 are set using the following
principles:

() That dwelling rents are increased by 4.8 per cent
(Consumer Price Index for September 2025 + 1 per cent)
from 6 April 2026 in line with the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government Policy statement on
rents for social housing.

(i) That garage, garage bases and parking plot rental
charges are increased by 4.8 percent from 6 April 2026
and 11 per cent in parts of Poole so that charges continue
to align.

(iii) That leasehold services are charged to leaseholders in
line with actual costs incurred.

(iv) That shared ownership dwelling rents are increased in
line with lease terms.

51




(v) That the changes to service charges are agreed as set
out in appendix 2.

(vi) That HRA reserves are set at £4.8 million.

(b) Thatthe Income and Expenditure budget for 2026/7 and
provisionally for 2027/28 to 2028/29 as set out in
Appendix 3is agreed.

(c) That capital budgets for 2026/27 and provisionally for
2027/28 to 2028/29 are set using the following
principles.

(i) That the major project capital programme as set out in
Appendix 4 is noted.

(i) That £0.5 million for the acquisition of individual properties
(Acquire and Repair) and other annual capital budgets are
agreed.

(iii) That the planned maintenance programme as set out in
Appendix 5 is agreed.

Reason for
recommendations

HRA rents and other charges along with the HRA Capital
Programme are subject to review and require Cabinet and Council
approval for rents and charges to be levied.

Portfolio Holder(s):

Councillor Kieron Wilson — Portfolio Holder for Housing and
Regulatory Services

Corporate Director

Laura Ambler — Corporate Director of Wellbeing

Report Authors Kelly Deane — Director of Housing and Public Protection
Seamus Doran — Head of BCP Homes
Richard Sumner — Head of HRA Finance

Wards Council-wide

Classification

For Recommendation

Background

1. The HRA is aring-fenced account within the council and records the income and
expenditure associated with the landlord function in respect of the council’s homes.
The account is separate from the wider General Fund budget, whichis funded by a
variety of income flows, including council tax.

2. Each year the council must set rent levels and budgets within its HRA for the
forthcoming financial year and provide each individual tenant with at least four
weeks’ notice of any proposed rent change. This report sets out the proposals
regarding the rents, service charges and other charges to tenants as well as the
expenditure plans for the 2026/27 rent year.

52




10.

11.

12.

Rents and service charges made to tenants and leaseholders are the main source of
income for the HRA. Income can also be derived from other non-domestic rents
such as shops, garages and garage bases and plots although this is small.

Expenditure includes the management and routine maintenance of existing homes,
improvements to existing homes, provision of new homes and interest payments.

Council housing within the HRA is situated within Bournemouth and Poole and at the
31 March 2025, comprised 9,606 rented properties 1,163 leasehold properties and
39 low-cost home ownership properties. These are expected to generate an annual
income of £57 million. There are no council owned HRA properties in Christchurch
as these were transferred to a housing association several years ago.

Housing management services to residents are carried out by BCP Homes part of
the Housing and Public Protection Directorate. Property maintenance, repairs and
asset management sit within the Customer and Business Delivery Directorate. The
Housing Delivery Team responsible for the provision of new homes sits within the
Development and Investment Directorate. All work closely together to deliver
services for residents through the HRA.

There are service level governance arrangements through the BCP Homes Strategic
Management Board to ensure the effective and efficient delivery of all services to
residents.

An Advisory Board has been set up to provide oversight of the operational delivery
of services and supports decisions on policy and strategic matters. It works in an
advisory capacity to the council, working in partnership with residents and provides
an additional level of assurance. Board membership consists of councillors,
residents and independents.

The Council is required by law (Local Government & Housing Act 1989, section 76)
to avoid budgeting for a deficit on the HRA. This means the budget must not be
based on total HRA revenue reserves falling below zero. In practice the Council is
expected to maintain a reasonable balance of HRA reserves to cover contingencies.
The HRA will maintain reserves above a minimum level of 5 per cent of expenditure.
At the 31 March 2026, the reserve is forecast to be £8.3 million decreasing to £4.8
million by 31 March 2027.

HRA major capital project planned spend is included within appendix 4. This
includes housing developments approved as part of the BCP Council Newbuild
Housing & Acquisition Strategy (CHNAS) as well as indicative budgets for other
schemes previously approved. Any further approval required, for example where
costs of projects increase, or new projects will be through CNHAS or individual
reports to Cabinet.

Although this report sets out the budget for 2026/27 and the next two years, there is

also a requirement for the council to look at long-term viability of the HRA through a

30-year Business Plan. This has been re-modelled and was presented to Cabinet on
the 26 November 2025. It was approved by Council on the 9 December 2025.

The HRA budget for 2026/27 is based on the estimates and assumptions set out
within the Business Plan. The plan will be updated as and when new information
becomes available that impacts these.

53



National context

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Previous budget reports have set out the changes to national policy and external
factors that have had an impact on costs within the HRA and the way in which
council homes are managed and maintained. These include:

e New building safety property compliance regulations

e Improved consumer regulation and complaint handling
e National rent setting policy

e Decarbonisation of council homes

e Decent Homes Standard

e Dampand Mould

e Inflation
Building safety and property compliance regulations

Whilst regulatory and legal requirements have been in place for many years to help
ensure that landlords keep homes safe, these have traditionally focused on gas
servicing, electrical safety, asbestos management, lift, fire and water safety. There
was however no routine reporting to external bodies on performance in fulfilling
these requirements or demonstrating assurance that these were being met.

Like other registered providers of social housing the council is now required to report
on building safety performance annually to the Regulator of Social Housing through
the Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSM's). It is also expected that councillors are
provide with information to ensure that they have oversight and assurance that
regulatory and legal requirements in relation to building safety and property
compliance are being met.

There is also an increased awareness that there are other areas of property
compliance where it is also hecessaryto provide assurance that regulatory and legal
requirements are being met, for example window safety, damp and mould and
management of trees. This requires additional resources such as staff, equipment,
development of new processes and recording and reporting systems. Additional
budgets were set out in the HRA budget report for 2025/26 for staff and the
implementation of a new housing management system.

The requirements of the Building Safety Act 2022 requires the council to develop
building safety cases for its six-high rise residential buildings and provide these to
the Building Safety Regulator when asked to do so in order to receive a building
safety certificate.

The requirements of the safety case report include how residents in these buildings
will be consulted on building safety, kept informed of the risks within their building
and how these are being managed. It also includes having an awareness of the
needs of residents that might influence risk assessments and how building safety is
managed. An additional housing officer is to be appointed to support this work.

There will be more time spent on engaging with residents, providing them with
accessible information regarding the safety of their building and ensuring that the
council is aware of the needs of those living in its high-rise buildings.

54


https://www.gov.uk/guidance/preparing-a-safety-case-report

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

The requirements for high-rise buildings will be extended to those residential
buildings over 11 metres tall in the near future that are included in the council’s
housing stock.

Improvements to fire safety include more in-depth fire risk assessments, setting out
fire safety arrangements and sharing information with residents.

Consumer regulation and complaint handling

The Regulator of Social Housing (Regulator) has been provided with powers to
ensure compliance by social landlords with the regulatory consumer standards.
Regulatory standards for landlords - GOV.UK.

The BCP Homes Tenant Satisfaction Measures and Housing Regulatory
Compliance Update to Cabinet on the 16 July provided details of the council’'s
performance against the TSM's and set out how it is regulated to ensure compliance
with the consumer standards that include safety and quality of homes and
engagement with tenants.

The Housing Ombudsman has greater powers to ensure that landlords respond to
and handle complaints effectively and adhere to its complaint handling code.

National rent setting policy

Since 2001, rent for homes let at a social rent have been based on a formula set by
government. This created a formula rent for each property based on the relative
value of the property as of 1999, relative local income levels, average rents and the
size of the property. Landlords were allowed to apply rent increases of Retail Price
Index (RPI) + 0.5 per cent. A flexibility was also allowed of +/- £2.00 to help ensure
that rents reached the formula rent level, referred to as rent convergence.

In 2015/16 a new national policy for rent increases of CPI + 1 per cent was created.
The flexibility to enable landlords to reach formula rents was however removed. As
formula rents also increased by CPI + 1 per cent, rents for existing tenants that had
not converged would remain below the formula rent level. Rents for new tenants
could be charged at formula rent and this is something that Cabinet and Council
have approved in the past.

The majority of new homes are let at social rents as set out above. As at the 31
March 2025 the council also had 375 homes let at an affordable rent. These are
rents that must not exceed 80 per cent of the gross market rent (inclusive of service
charge) that would be reasonably expected in the private rented sector. Normally the
council sets these rents at a level that is also below local housing allowance rates,
the maximum amount to which housing benefit or the housing element of universal
credit is paid. Although set differently, increase to affordable rents are subject to the
same national rent setting policy as social rents.

However, from 2016/17 to 2019/20, the government reduced rents by 1 per cent
each year. In 2023/24 rent increases were capped at 7 per cent but have since
reverted to CPI + 1 per cent. These changes to the rent setting policy have had a
significant cumulative impact on reducing the income available to the HRA.

In the government’s Spending Review 2025 it announced a new 10-year social
housing rent settlement from the 1 April 2026 of the consumer Price Index (CPI) + 1

55


https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/regulatory-standards-for-landlords
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s58822/BCP%20Homes%20Tenant%20Satisfaction%20Measures%20and%20Housing%20Regulatory%20Compliance%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s58822/BCP%20Homes%20Tenant%20Satisfaction%20Measures%20and%20Housing%20Regulatory%20Compliance%20Update.pdf

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

per cent. This creates greater long-term certainty in investing in existing homes and
the provision of new homes.

As set out above social rents are based on formula rents, but many remain below
this. In 2015, the government removed the ability to converge rents charged to
tenants towards formula rents, but it is expected to set out its decision on whether
rent convergence will be re-introduced. This would provide landlords with the ability
to increase rents by an additional amount each year until they reach the formula
rent.

Amongst the assumptions within the HRA 30-year Business Plan is that rent
convergence will allow an additional £1 per week rent increase in addition to CPI+ 1
per cent.

National rent setting policy also allows landlords some flexibility to set rents at up to
5 per cent above the formula rent (10 per cent for supported housing) for certain
properties subject to a clear rationale and consultation with tenants. There is no
assumption within the business plan regarding rent flexibility, but this position can be
reviewed.

Decarbonisation of council homes

The government has set a target for all rented accommodation to have a level C
energy performance certificate (EPC) by 2030. It has also set its target to achieve
net zero for carbon emissions by 2050 and an ambitious climate change target to cut
emissions by 77% by 2035 compared to 1990 levels.

To ensure that all council homes meet EPC C by the end of 2029/30, £2.3 million
will be invested in capital works for the next four years as set out in the asset
investment plan presented to Cabinet on the 26 November 2025. The plan was
approved by Council on the 9 December.

From 2030/31 onwards a further £2.8 million will be invested each year in continuing
to reduce carbon emissions. As set out in the 30-year Business Plan, BCP Homes
will develop a comprehensive strategy to assess and prepare for achieving net zero
carbon emissions by 2050. This strategy will ensure that it remains aligned with both
national and local climate objectives, setting a clear pathway for future compliance
and environmental stewardship. All decisions and proposals will be presented to
Cabinet for consideration and approval.

Decent Homes Standard

Over recent years there have been concerns raised regarding the quality of social
homes and that not all were meeting the required standards. The government
relaunched a review of the standard in 2023 which is considering:

e An updated list of items that which must be kept in a reasonable state of
repair for a home to be considered decent.

e An updated list of services that every home must have to better reflect
modern expectations for a “Decent Home”.

e Whether the current Decent Homes Standard sets the right standard on
damp and mould to keep residents safe.

56



37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

e Updates to how the condition of building components — such as roofs and
walls — are measured, to make sure that buildings which are not fit for use
cannot pass the standard.

As a new Decent Homes Standard has not yet been published it is not possible to
understand the full cost of meeting the new requirements.

Undertaking stock conditions survey of all council homes informs the planned
maintenance requirements to ensure that they remain fit for purpose, that they
remain decent and that any hazards such as damp and mould are identified. An
accelerated programme of stock condition surveys has been undertaken, and this
has contributed to a very high volume of repairs being identified.

Inflation

Whilst there has been a rapid increase in inflation over recent years, the costs of for
repairs and maintenance and construction materials have increased by significantly
more and well above the CPl inflation rate. Inflation may have reduced but it is
unlikely that the costs now being incurred are going to reduce to previous levels.
This not only impacts on the repairs and maintenance budget but also on the capital
expenditure including new homes.

Impact

The budget for additional staff to support meeting the council’s legal and regulatory
responsibilities has been agreed in previous HRA budget reports.

The 30-year Business Plan sets out the HRA will manage the impact of these
challenges ensuring the long-term sustainability of council housing.

Local context

42.

43.

44,

45,

46.

General fund

The HRA does not face the same challenges as the council’s General Fund, but it
does rely on services provided by the wider council for which it pays for through re-
charges.

However, service efficiencies and reductions within the General Fund can have an
impact on services to council tenants impacting on BCP Home’s ability to meet legal
and regulatory requirements. Discussions between different services take place to
minimise the impact and the HRA has recently supported the retention of play areas
where this benefits its tenants and leaseholders.

Housing Management system

Legacy arrangements mean that separate IT systems are used in Bournemouth and
Poole for the delivery of services to tenants which has an impact on ways of
working, procedures, and reporting.

Some areas have been aligned to a single system, for example repairs and
complaint handling, and a new housing management system has now been
successfully procured through an exiting supplier, NEC. Implementation is underway
and all services will be off legacy systems by December 2026. New modules will be
put in place during 2027.

The new system offers the option for more efficient services through on-line services
and mobile working.

57



Requlator of Social Housing Inspection

47. On the 5 August 2025 the Regulator contacted the council’s Chief Executive to
provide notification of an inspection of the council’s landlord service, BCP Homes.

48. The inspection process took place between August and December 2025 working to
the following scope set out by the Regulator:

e Stock quality, decency, repairs & maintenance, and adaptations
e Health and safety

e Local co-operation and anti-social behaviour

e Tenancy

e Fairness and respect

e Meeting diverse needs

¢ Engagement with tenants

e Service and performance information

e Complaints handling

49. The process has involved significant evidence submission, an onsite inspection and
follow up discussions to provide assurance of the council’'s performance against the
consumer standards. Onsite work included discussions with the council’'s new Chief
Executive and Directors, the Leader of the council, Portfolio Holder for Housing and
Regulatory Services, senior management team from BCP Homes and residents.

50. Upon completion of the onsite work, the Regulator provided some initial very positive
feedback. This included:

e Impressive approach and facilitation

e Quality of Cabinet and Advisory Board reports

e Co-regulatory and transparent approach was evident
e Strong leadership and improvement culture

e Strong self-awareness of what needed to be done

e Recognition of the BCP Homes journey — which demonstrates strong
performance in alignment and a risk-based approach.

e The early emphasis on safety and quality of homes was right.

e Increasing stock condition data within 5 years is important and needs to
remain a priority

e Tenant profile data also a priority to improve

e Resident engagement and delivery of the newly agreed strategy also a
priority

e Collaborative and positive culture very clear.
51. The Regulatory judgement and grading will be published on the 28 January 2026.
BCP Council’s Corporate Strategy

58



52.

53.

The Council’'s current Corporate Strategy sets out its priorities, the objectives to
achieve these, key actions, and measures of success. The services delivered within
the HRA support the strategy and the key priorities that make up the Corporate
Strategy in many ways as set out below.

Services provided through the HRA support the council’s key objectives in the
following ways:

(&) A Tenancy Sustainment team provides help to residents to enable them to
sustain their tenancies, look after their homes and prevent homelessness.

(b) The Your Money team provides advice to residents on welfare benefits, day
to day money management and help to deal with the impact of the rising cost
of living.

(c) Sheltered Housing helps promote quality of life for residents to live active,
independent lives.

(d) The provision of good quality, safe, warm and affordable homes.
(e) The development and provision of new homes.

(f) Helping residents feel safe by dealing with anti-social behaviour,
encouraging good neighbourly behaviour, and providing good quality
communal facilities.

(9) Residents are involved in decision making and shaping services that matter
to them.

(h) Supporting the wider council to meet the specialist housing need of
sometimes vulnerable groups, e.g., the homeless and young people leaving
care.

(i) Reduction in carbon emissions.

() Pro-active apprenticeship programme through the inhouse Property
Maintenance team.

(k) Key role in delivery of homeless solutions and meeting housing need.

HRA Strategic Objectives

54.

55.

56.

Following the completion of the 30-Year Business Plan, the Asset Management
Plan, and the recent inspection process, BCP Homes is now embarking on the
development of a new 5-Year Strategic Plan. This plan will provide an opportunity to
review and refresh our strategic objectives, ensuring they remain relevant and
responsive to the evolving needs of our residents and the wider community.

The new plan will focus on the key priorities identified through our long-term
planning and recent regulatory engagement. It will be co-developed in partnership
with our Advisory Board, residents, and key stakeholders, ensuring that a broad
range of perspectives and experiences inform our direction. This collaborative
approach will help us to set clear, actionable priorities and to maintain our
commitment to transparency and resident-led service improvement.

The 5-Year Strategic Plan is scheduled to be reported to Cabinet in 2026, providing
a clear roadmap for BCP Homes as we continue to deliver safe, high-quality, and
sustainable homes across Bournemouth, Christchurch, and Poole.

59



57.

58.

59.

60.

It is essential that the new 5-Year Strategic Plan for BCP Homes is closely aligned
with the principles and priorities established in the Corporate Strategy, Housing
Strategy and 30-Year Business Plan, as well as the annual and medium-term
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budgets. This alignment will ensure that our
strategic objectives remain both ambitious and achievable, underpinned by robust
financial planning and long-term sustainability.

A key consideration in developing the new plan will be to maintain coherence
between our long-term vision and the practical realities of annual budget cycles and
medium-term financial forecasts. By integrating these elements, we can confidently
set priorities that are both forward-looking and grounded in sound fiscal
management.

The HRA is currently in a relatively healthy financial position, with reserves forecast
to exceed the recommended minimum and a strong foundation for future
investment. Cabinet can be assured that this stability provides the opportunity to
build an ambitious strategy for BCP Homes, supporting the delivery of high-quality,
sustainable homes and services for our residents.

The strategic objectives for the HRA remain as follows:

(a) Deliver strong financial management of the HRA through the 30-year
Business Plan which maximises the ability to collect income, deliver
improvements to existing homes, provide new homes and service
outstanding debt.

(b) Ensure HRA homes are adequately and efficiently maintained particularly in
relation to the council’s legal obligation to ensure the health, safety and
welfare of its tenants as well as the need to ensure sustainable homes which
meet national and local climate emergency targets.

(c) Focus on the delivery of effective housing management services to support
successful tenancies and strong and sustainable communities.

(d) Ensure compliance with regulatory consumer standards to deliver the
required outcomes for tenants.

Budget setting

61.

The approach to HRA budget setting focusses on three key areas and the following
sections of this report take each of these in turn.

(a) Revenue income expected to be achieved, and proposals around rent and
service charge levels for tenants and leaseholders.

(b) Revenue expenditure plans that reflect local priorities and service delivery
patterns, including revenue contributions to capital

(c) Capital expenditure plans that will deliver essential maintenance to the stock
as well as ensuring the Decent Homes Standard is maintained,
decarbonisation and support the affordable homes new build programme.

Revenuelncome

62.

Rents

The main source of income for the HRA is from rents charged to council tenants.

60



63.

64.

65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

71.

72.

73.

Rents can only be increased in accordance with the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government Policy statement on rents for social housing.
This allows rents to be increased in April each year by CPI the previous September
plus 1 per cent.

CPl in September 2025 was 3.8 per cent which allows a rent increase of up to 4.8
per cent from April 2026. This will apply to both social and affordable rents.

The council can decide to apply a lesserincrease, freeze rents, or apply a rent
reduction. However, these would have a cumulative, and potentially significant
impact on future years rental income and the ability to provide services to tenants,
invest in existing homes and provide new homes.

Rents charged for council homes remain significantly lower than those charged in
the private sector. They are also lower than local housing allowances, the maximum
amount to which help with housing costs through housing benefit and universal
credit will be paid.

Other adjustments that will impact on the level of rental income relate to the number
of Right to Buy (RTB) sales expected to occur and the number of days properties
are empty during a change of tenancy. During 2024/25, 24 RTB sales were
completed and 40 to date during 2025/26. Because of the reduction in the discount
available the number of new applications has fallen which will result in fewer RTB
sales in the future.

The council has a small number of shared ownership properties where residents can
purchase part of the property and pay rent on the remainder. Rent increases are
based on the terms of the lease provided to residents. The lease used is based on
the model form of lease provided by the government which is widely recognised by
lenders and solicitors

For 2026/27 it is assumed that one per cent of the housing stock will be void at any
one time and therefore rent cannot be charged. This reduces the total income
expected to be achieved by £0.55 million.

Acquisition and new build programmes increase the stock of affordable housing for
the HRA. The HRA will reflect the additional income expected from the delivery of
new homes from 2026/27. However, there are inherent uncertainties around
timescales for new build schemes, but an estimate has been accounted for.

Garage rents cover income received from garages. The majority of garages have
been transferred from the HRA to the General Fund and those that remain are
located on sites identified as potential for re-development. The development on
several has now been completed. Garages with potential redevelopment will remain
in the HRA alongside garage plots and bases.

Rents for garages, bases and plots will increase by 4.8 per cent. This will increase
the income received and support the ongoing maintenance of these sites. An
additional increase 11 per cent will be made to garages in Poole that are not located
within the town centre. This will help with the alignment of charges between across
the garage stock.

Other rents reflect those charged to tenants occupying commercial space at Trinidad
Village. These have been budgeted in line with the lease agreements in place and
will increase by RPI on their agreed rent review dates.

61



74.

75.

76.

7.

78.

79.

80.

81.

82.

Service Charges

Leasehold service charges cover costs that are recharged to leaseholders in year to
reflect either the cost of maintaining the fabric of the building or the cost of
maintaining the communal areas. These charges must reflect the full cost that is
incurred by the HRA, but no profit must be achieved through the levelling of these
charges. Given this, the income budgets proposed reflect only an indicative level
and actual charges will be reconciled during the summer to actual costs incurred.

Costs are estimated for 2026/27 with leaseholders receiving details of actual costs
at a later date when refunds or additional charges are made.

Part of the service charge for leaseholders includes the council’s management
costs. This covers a wide range of functions such invoicing and collecting ground
rent, apportioning costs, producing statements and dealing with leaseholder queries.

Tenant service charges must mirror the charges incurred by the HRA in the same
way as leasehold charges. The council is expected to set reasonable and
transparent service charges which reflect the service being provided to tenants.
Tenants should be supplied with clear information on how service charges are set.
In the case of social rent properties, providers are expected to identify service
charges separately from the rent charge. Most service charges are expected to be
included in affordable rents.

Service charges are not governed by the same factors as rent. However, registered
providers should normally endeavour to keep increases for service charges within
the limit on rent changes, of CPI + 1 percentage point, or 4.8 per cent for 2026/27 to
help keep charges affordable.

Some work has already been undertaken to align service charges between
Bournemouth and Poole which will support the assumptions for increased recovery
of costs as set out in the HRA 30-year Business Plan. External advice has also been
obtained to help inform decisions on charges to tenants and work has been
undertaken towards aligning the calculation of charges. Tenancy agreements for all
new tenants have been aligned to help this work, and all existing tenants will have
their tenancies varied in early 2026.

The service charges for 2026/27 are set out within appendix 2. Any proposals for
changes to be made to service charges will require consultation with tenants.
Approval of charges is delegated to the Chief Executive, Directors and Officers but
to ensure that councillors have oversight in line with regulatory requirements any
proposal will be presented to Cabinet. It is anticipated that the review of the charges
made will be completed by mid-2026.

A service charge cap of £5.00 applied to new charges introduced in Bournemouth
several years ago remains in place and it is recommended that this remains in place
until charges are fully aligned.

Most service charges are eligible for housing benefit or the housing element of
Universal Credit.

Revenue Expenditure

62



83.

84.

85.

86.

87.

88.

89.

90.

91.

92.

The HRA manages expenditure that covers delivery of the general housing
management function as well as overhead and capital financing charges. This is set
out within appendix 3.

Management and Maintenance

The financial climate has been very challenging over recent years because of the
increase in inflation and rising cost of energy and materials.

There are challenges in relation to revenue expenditure:

(a) Ensuring the effective management of tenancies where tenants have
complex support needs.

(b) Providing safe homes that meet legislative and legal requirements including
those introduced through the Building Safety Act 2022 and Awaabs Law.

(c) Delivering against the expectations and requirements of new legislation and
regulatory requirements.

During 2025/26 the in-house repairs team undertook more repairs than budgeted
for. Despite the average cost of a repair carried out by the Property Maintenance
team being lower than budgeted. The volume of repairs that had to be referred to
third party contractors was also higher than budgeted, contributing to an overall
overspend.

The accelerated programme of stock condition surveys being undertaken
contributed to the high volume of repairs, as has the work being undertaken to
address damp and mould issues. The budget for repairs and maintenance has been
increased for 2026/27.

Overheads

The HRA holds general budgets that meet the cost of other service areas which
support the overall delivery of the housing management function. These budgets
have also been considered as part of the budget setting process.

The HRA recognises recharges for spend directly incurred elsewhere in the Council
but that relate to delivery of housing services within the HRA. These include areas
suchas IT, Human Resources, Finance and Democratic Services. These need to be
reflected in the HRA to ensure the full cost of delivering services to tenants is
recognised.

Management of bad debts

One of the main areas of risk for the HRA going forward is arrears and the
management of debt within the rent account.

One key currentrisk is Universal Credit (UC) with approximately 50 per cent of
tenants now receiving this benefit. The system is also more complicated than the
housing benefit system and requires additional interventions and support from
landlords. UC is usually paid directly to the tenant monthly in arrears so four- or five-
weeks rent can be owing before the payment is received.

BCP Homes will continue to work closely with tenants to assist with financial and
budgeting skills and continue to undertake proactive work to help with any issues
around their UC claims and advice on day-to-day money management.

63



93.

94.

95.

96.

97.

98.

The bad debt charge is to be increased to £500,000.

Depreciation

The HRA incurs an annual depreciation charge. This charge is an estimate of the
decrease in value of the housing stock due to wear and tear and damage of the
fabric of the stock. The charge is calculated using componentisation, whereby the
stockis broken down into components (e.g. kitchen, bathroom, roofing etc).

The depreciation budget is set at £16 million.
Reserves

The Council is required by law (Local Government and Housing Act 1989, section
76) to avoid budgeting for a deficit on the HRA. This means the budget must not be
based on total HRA revenue reserves falling below zero. In practice the Council is
expected to maintain a reasonable balance of HRA reserves to cover contingencies.
The HRA reserve is forecast to be £8.3 million at the end of 2025/26 decreasing to
£4.8 million by the end of 2026/27. This is above the recommended minimum of 5
per cent of total expenditure. This level has been reached after carrying out a risk
assessment of key items affecting income/expenditure and allowing for a
contingency for unidentified items.

Capital financing

The budget to support interest paid on HRA debt will rise in future years as external
borrowing is required. For 2026/27 the HRA will require £4.7 million of external
borrowing to fund its capital programme.

Any surplus generated by the HRA will be used to fund capital expenditure or the
provision of new homes. Projections show surpluses maintained in later years but
expenditure against these has not yet been scheduled. As set out above there are
several pressures on the HRA, notably carbon reduction, and these surpluses will be
allocated to support spending.

Capital Expenditure

99.

100.

101.

Major Capital Works Expenditure

Major capital works expenditure is forecastto be £43 million for 2026/27. Details are
set out within the capital expenditure in appendix 4. The programme includes new
capital housing schemes that have already been approved or that are progressing
through the approval process in accordance with the council’s financial regulations
and governance framework. The HRA 30-year Business Plan provides the
assurance that new housing schemes are affordable.

Appendix 4 sets out the total scheme budget approval. Timing of cash flows for large
capital projects spanning several financial years can be difficult to predict and are re-
forecast as the projects progress. These projects often require consultation,

planning and building control approval and are subject to competitive tendering
processes. Capital budgets are carried forward when timing of cash flows becomes
more accurate to predict.

The HRA is committed to delivering additional affordable housing and ensuring the
current HRA land is used as effectively as possible. Whilst the majority of activity is
new build, existing properties may also be acquired. These can be via buy back of

64



102.

103.

104.

105.

106.

107.

108.

109.

110.

RTB properties or where other housing providers are looking to dispose of suitable
stock, but these are often unaffordable once improvement work required is factored
in. Each new build scheme and purchase is subject to both financial and managerial
due diligence to ensure they deliver value for money. The proposals for the provision
are approved separately through the annual CHNAS report to Cabinet.

The exact tenure mix of this new build programme is be considered in the context of
overall financial viability. Each scheme is required to be viable over the duration of
any borrowing period in line with the Prudential Code.

There are ongoing new build plans, a requirement to make significant changes to
the stock to more adequately meet needs and the HRA must continue to assistin
the management of homelessness. This funding can be achieved in part via
borrowing additional resource. Since 2018 limits on HRA borrowing were abolished
which allows for more to be delivered from HRA budgets where additional funding
can now be raised in accordance with the Prudential Code — removing the HRA
borrowing cap.

Many schemes will also require additional subsidy alongside rental income to meet
the borrowing requirements. RTB receipts, HRA reserves, and Section 106
affordable housing developer contributions are also used to help financially support
the delivery of new homes, although these funding sources are finite.

Feasibility works required to work up scheme plans, employing architects,
consultants and instructing desktop and site surveys. These costs are no longer
included in the capital programme and are now a revenue costs accounted for in the
expenditure within Appendix 3.

The Acquire & Repair budget has been reduced but remains to allow for purchasing
pre-built homes into the HRA where required.

Planned Maintenance Programme

The HRA capital programme aims to ensure first and foremost, that existing homes
are fit for purpose and specific projects that will enhance the delivery of social rented
and affordable housing are achieved. Each year elements of this stock will need to
be replaced or updated to meet the decent homes standard. The delivery of these
enhancements is the first call on capital resources and is informed by the Asset
Management Plan.

There are new areas of work that need to be delivered as part of the planned
maintenance programme. Building safety is a key area and additional work will be
required to ensure that the homes provided are safe for residents.

To support the council’s Corporate Strategy there are objectives to ensure that
sustainability underpins our policies, tackle the climate change emergency and
promote sustainable resource management. This can be achieved through
sustainable methods of construction in relation to new homes with high levels of
thermal insulation and more energy efficient hot water and heating systems.

Energy efficient measures are also provided in the refurbishment of existing homes
including more efficient gas boilers, consideration of alternative heat sources,
increased levels of thermal insulation, communal heating systems and low energy
lighting to communal areas. Such measures often increase development and

65



refurbishment costs, but more energy efficient homes can benefit tenants through
lower energy bills.

111. The planned maintenance programme is proposed at £25 million. A breakdown of
the programmes is included within appendix 5 and this will deliver a programme of
work that is safe and meets legislative and other priorities.

Consultation

112. There is no legal obligation to consult on the annual rent charges. The rent charges
noted in this report for 2026/27 are set by government policy. The proposals for
increases to rents and service charges have been considered by involved residents.

113. The Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regulatory Services and the BCP Homes
Advisory Board have been consulted.

Options Appraisal

114. This report sets out the proposals for increases in rent and other charges to support
the planned maintenance programme, new developments, and major works. The
income received is also used to ensure that the council can meet its legal
responsibilities as a landlord as well as regulatory standards.

115. The proposals also support the council’s wider strategic objectives and demonstrate
the importance of HRA activities in helping to meet these while supporting residents.

116. Any decision not to increase charges would have an impact on the ability of the HRA
to meet its objectives as set out in the 30-year Business Plan, wider corporate
strategic objectives and new legislation and regulation.

Summary of financial implications

117. The proposals with the report will enable the council to maintain its housing stock
and to continue to provide services to residents. Proposed rent increases are in line
with government policies and the additional income that is generated will support
longer term financial planning thorough the 30-year business plan.

118. This plan will ensure that the Council continues to meet its responsibilities as a
landlord and in meeting the Council’'s wider objectives as well as the national
agenda to reduce carbon emissions. There are other challenges associated with
improvements to building safety and it is important that the HRA can meet these.

119. Failure to increase income to ensure investment in the council’'s housing stock would
have long term implications on the financial health of the HRA.

Summary of legal implications

120. Council housing landlords are required to give 28 days’ notice to all tenants of
changes to the rental and charges for the new financial year. This will be achieved
should all the recommendations be accepted by Cabinet.

121. The Council is required by law (Local Government & Housing Act 1989, section 76)
to avoid budgeting for a deficit on the HRA. This means the budget must not be
based on total HRA revenue reserves falling below zero. In practice the Council is
expected to maintain a reasonable balance of HRA reserves to cover contingencies.
The HRA is forecast to maintain reserves of £8.3 million at the end of 2025/26 which

66



is above the minimum level of 5 per cent of expenditure. The surplus is expected to
fall to £4.8 million at the end of 2026/27.

122. Approval from Cabinet and Council is required before changes to rents and other
charges can be made as well as commitment to the level of expenditure on planned
maintenance and major works.

Summary of human resources implications

123. There are no human resource implications from this report. Previous reports have
increased the budget available to ensure compliance with the significant changes in
legal and regulatory requirements.

Summary of sustainability impact

124. HRA properties continue to benefit from photovoltaic (solar panels) reducing carbon
emissions across the area. The ongoing maintenance of existing stock, such as
heating replacement, insulation and low energy LED lighting in communal areas also
help to increase the energy efficiency of our existing stock. Consideration is also
given to methods of building construction for new homes which would benefit
tenants and the local area.

125. Ensuring income for the HRA will support efforts to increase the energy efficiency of
homes and to contribute to the reduction of carbon emissions, however this is
challenging. The proposals within the report support the long-term improvement in
the energy efficiency of the housing stock.

Summary of public health implications

126. The HRA meets the needs of residents with specialist needs with appropriate
accommodation, adaptations, tenancy support, affordable rents, well maintained
homes and secure tenancies. There is also support for residents to be involved in
decision making and community activities. All of this contributes to the physical and
mental wellbeing of our residents.

127. The council is expected to provide homes for residents that are safe, warm and free
from hazards, particularly damp and mould. There are regulatory and legislative
requirements to adhere to in ensuring that this work is carried out. This supports the
physical wellbeing of residents and in doing so also supports mental wellbeing.

128. Support and good quality homes provided to residents can reduce the impact on
other services provided by the council and other bodies. Services provided through
the HRA can also work alongside services provided by others.

Summary of equality implications

129. The recommended increase in rents and service charges will have a financial impact
on residents in all the protected groups. However, those in protected groups will also
experience positive benefits from the services provided through the HRA.

130. Those residents on low incomes will be eligible for help with rent through housing
benefit and universal credit. Rents charged are also lower than in the private sector
and are below the local housing allowance rates.

67



131.

132.

133.

134.

135.

136.

137.

138.

Most service charges other than those for personal heating, hot water and water are
eligible for housing benefit and universal credit.

Most benefits will increase by 3.8 per cent from April 2026 while the state pension
will increase by 4.8 per cent. Universal Credit standard allowances are increased by
6 per cent and the two-child limit for claimants will be removed so that families can
receive the child element for all children.

Support is available for residents to help them to maximise their income and to
signpost to other organisations that can also offer support.

Proposed revenue budgets for 2026/27 onwards will not impact on front line service
provision. The level of disabled adaptations in the estimated Capital Programme
should enable us to meet the needs of disabled and older residents to have aids and
adaptations fitted to support their independence.

Older and disabled residents will be positively affected by investment in dwelling
insulation, energy efficiency to help reduce charges for heating and other utilities.

There is a clear correlation between effective housing and better health outcomes.
By ensuring that housing meets minimum maintenance standards respiratory health
issues can be reduced as well as minimising trips and falls. Income is also used for
new homes for those in need of affordable housing.

Community development work undertaken seeks to minimise isolation, particularly
with older people, contributing to improved physical and mental health outcomes
and more active communities. We will continue to work with community and
voluntary groups, promoting their services and offering practical help where feasible,
for example land for community gardens.

There are many reasons why tenants may struggle to maintain their tenancies
including drug and alcohol problems, mental health and hoarding. We will seek to
support tenants in their homes to ensure that they are able to maintain successful
tenancies and to reduce the number of evictions. Staff are available who can provide
support for tenants including financial advice and work is ongoing to ensure that
sufficient resources are available.

Summary of risk assessment

139.

140.

141.

From April 2012 the risk in financing the management and maintenance of the
housing stock moved from Central Government to Local Government as part of the
Self-Financing Settlement Agreement.

Future rent increases and decreases are based on a national rent setting policy
although this does allow for some flexibilities in the level of rent charged to incoming
new tenants.

The following considerations must be made:

(&) There have been changes over the years to the national rent setting policy
as previously set out by the government that have resulted in a long-term
reduction in income to the HRA. The new rent policy settlement of CPI + 1%
for 10 years from 2026/27 provides additional confidence and assurance
regarding income.

68



(b) The HRA will be committed in the first instance to the servicing of new and
existing debt. Only once debt is serviced (funded) can consideration be given
to the maintenance standard of the properties and then in turn to the quality
of the housing management service.

(c) The end of automatic payment of housing costs direct to landlords, has
significantly reduce rent income levels and increased the level of rent arrears
within the HRA as universal credit. continues to roll out.

(d) Compliance with regulatory standards and changes to health and safety
legislation particularly regarding fire safety provide additional challenges over
the next few years and will lead to increased costs.

(e) The requirement to have an effective HRA 30-year business plan to help
prepare and manage future costs and requirements to manage the housing
stock particularly in relation to more energy efficient homes and reducing
carbon emissions.

(H Increased requirements following the introduction of a revised Decent Homes
standard.

142. The recommendations presented here assures compliance with the national rent
setting policy and the key principles have been approved by the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government. The proposal ensures the appropriate
maintenance and development of HRA stock. Not approving this report would
significantly risk the ability for BCP Council to comply with central government and
national legislation that govern the HRA budget process.

Background papers

None

Appendices

1. The Rent Increase Effect on Residents

2. Service Charges for 2026-27

3. Income and Expenditure Account for 2026-27

4. Major Project Capital Expenditure

5. Capital Expenditure — Planned Maintenance for 2026-27.
6. HRA Balances for 2026-27.

69



This page is intentionally left blank

70



APPENDIX 1

Housing Revenue Account
The Rent Increase Effect on Residents

2025/26 (2026/27
Weekly Weekly Weekly Increase
Rent Rent Increase asa%
£ £ £
Overall Average per Budget Bournemouth Neighbourhood 109.42 114.67 5.25 4.8%
Poole Neighbourhood 108.63 113.84 5.21 4.8%
Examples of Rent Increases
General Properties
Bournemouth
Hamilton Road 1 Bedroom flat 92.78 97.23 4.45 4.8%
Belle Vue Road 1 Bedroom flat 93.35 97.83 4.48 4.8%
Cunningham Crescent 1 Bedroom flat 89.94 94.26 4.32 4.8%
Turbary Park 2 Bedroom flat 99.57 104.35 4.78 4.8%
Florence Road 2 Bedroom flat 102.41 107.33 4.92 4.8%
Northey Road 2 Bedroom House 112.08 117.46 5.38 4.8%
Ripon Road 3 Bedroom House 134.33 140.78 6.45 4.8%
Turnbull Lane 3 Bedroom House 197.40 206.88 9.48 4.8%
Dolphin Avenue 3 Bedroom Bungalow 134.78 141.25 6.47 4.8%
Cranleigh Road 4 Bedroom House 139.25 145.93 6.68 4.8%
Poole
Herbert Court 1 Bedroom flat 95.20 99.77 4.57 4.8%
Junction Road 1 Bedroom flat 81.80 85.73 3.93 4.8%
Rockley Road 1 Bedroom flat 91.75 96.15 4.40 4.8%
Sterte Court 1 Bedroom flat 88.52 92.77 4.25 4.8%
Cynthia Close 1 Bedroom flat 97.05 101.71 4.66 4.8%
Rodney Court 2 Bedroom flat 111.13 116.46 5.33 4.8%
Plumer Road 2 Bedroom house 112.49 117.89 5.40 4.8%
Christopher Crescent 3 Bedroom house 124.42 130.39 5.97 4.8%
Egmont Road 3 Bedroom house 113.05 | 118.48 5.43 4.8%
Haskells Road 3 Bedroom house 111.94 117.31 5.37 4.8%
Perry Gardens 4 Bedroom house 139.70 146.41 6.71 4.8%
Sheltered Housing
Bournemouth
Cornish Gardens Studio Flat 79.62 83.44 3.82 4.8%
Castle Dene Court 1 Bedroom flat 93.49 97.98 4.49 4.8%
Southbourne Road 1 Bedroom flat 95.22 99.79 4.57 4.8%
Deacon Gardens Bear Cross 1 Bed Bungalow 106.25 111.35 5.10 4.8%
Poole
Millfield 1 Bedroom flat 93.64 98.13 4.49 4.8%
South Road 1 Bedroom flat 97.04 101.70 4.66 4.8%
Trinidad House 1 Bed Bungalow 95.24 99.81 4.57 4.8%
Waterloo House 1 Bed Bungalow 111.07 116.40 5.33 4.8%

71




This page is intentionally left blank

72



APPENDIX 2
Housing Revenue Account
Service Charges For 2025/26

2025/26 2026/27
Wezkly Uplift We;:akly
1. Garage Rents
Proposed Charges - Tenants
Poole Old Town £14.38 4.8% £15.07
Remainder of Poole £9.18 11.0% £10.19
Bournemouth £14.41 4.8% £15.10
Charges - Non-Tenants
Poole Old Town (excl VAT) £19.90 4.8% £20.86
Remainder of Poole (excl VAT) £13.52 11.0% £15.01
Bournemouth (excl VAT) £16.97 4.8% £17.78
2. Garage Bases - Bmth only
Charges -Tenants £3.03 4.8% £3.18
Leaseholders £4.91 4.8% £5.15
Private £5.90 4.8% £6.18
3. Garage Plots - Bmth only
Charges -Tenants £3.03 4.8% £3.18
Private £3.64 4.8% £3.81
4. Sheltered Housing Service Charges inc Lifeline
General - Poole £7.95 2.5% £8.15
Willow Park - Poole £7.95 2.5% £8.15
Trinidad Village - Poole (Extra Care) £19.51 2.5% £20.00
Belmont Court - Poole (Extra Care) £19.03 2.5% £19.51
5. Care Costs - Poole only
HB Eligible £18.88 2.5% £19.35
HB Ineligible £4.73 2.5% £4.85
6. Guest Bedrooms in Sheltered Accommodation
1 night 2 nights 3 nights 4-7 nights
Cost per room with no ensuite - includes cleaning £27.00 £37.00 £47.50 £60.00
Cost per room with ensuite - includes cleaning £32.00 £45.00 £58.00 £72.00
7. Heating Charges
Poole
0 bed £15.71 -42% £9.11
1 bed £13.95-£22.54 -42% £8.09 - £17.14
2 bed £17.15/£26.61 -42% £9.95-£15.43
3 bed £31.06/£31.18 -42% £18.01-£18.08
Trinidad Village £23.55 -42% £13.66
Bournemouth £6.44 - £28.83 -42% £5.33-£21.04
8. Communal Supply
Poole £1.50 - £23.55 6.4% £2.46 - £25.06
Bournemouth £0.12 - £7.69 6.4% £0.18 - £11.94
9. Laundry
Bournemouth £0.88 3.8% £0.91
10. Scooter Charges
Scooter Charge point £1.20 3.8% £1.25
11. Window Cleaning
Bournemouth £0.46 -17.39% £0.38
12. Communal Cleaning
o) /i
Bournemouth £0.31-£2.84| ° ;:/ g:‘a‘g:a;est‘;” £0.39 - £3.07
13. Communal Gardening
0,
Bournemouth £0.13-£5.62| " ::/ é‘:jg;ess:t)o” £0.07 - £7.43
14. Water and sewage
Poole £4.87 - £7.65 0.0% £4.87 - £7.65
Bournemouth £1.28 - £6.92 0.0% £1.28 - £6.92
15. Communal Telephone and Internet Charges
Bournemouth Extra Care only £2.17 8.76% £2.36
16. Communal bulk refuse removal
Bournemouth £0.03 - £5.86| 327 (Increase on £0.05 - £7.73

average cost)

73




This page is intentionally left blank

74



APPENDIX 3

Housing Revenue Account - Income & Expenditure Account

2025/26 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

Budget Forecast Budget Estimate Estimate
£000 £000 £000

Income

Dwelling rents (54,001) (54,001) (57,123) (59,529) (61,842)
Non-dwelling rents (276) (258) (270) (279) (287)
Charges for services and facilities (3,768) (3,588) (3,464) (3,551) (3,622)
Contributions to expenditure (438) (549) (333) (341) (348)
Total income (58,483) (58,396) (61,190) (63,700) (66,099)

Expenditure

Repairs and Maintenance 14,031 15,828 16,505 16,809 16,813
Supervision and Management 18,373 17,617 18,833 19,304 20,162
Rent, rates, taxes and other charges 447 382 337 345 354
Bad or doubtful debts 400 400 500 500 500
Total expenditure 33,251 34,227 36,175 36,958 37,829
Net operating (surplus) / deficit (25,232) (24,169) (25,015) (26,742) (28,270)

Capital charges

Debt management costs 377 380 389 399 409
Depreciation 15,300 15,300 16,000 16,498 17,025
Net interest payable 5,425 4,725 5,475 5,725 6,596
Total capital charges 21,102 20,405 21,864 22,622 24,030

Net (surplus) / deficit (4,130) (3,764) (3,151) (4,120) (4,240)

75



This page is intentionally left blank

76



APPENDIX 4

Housing Revenue Account - Capital Expenditure

Completed Schemes

Craigmore Ave

Grants Close

Poole Town Tower Block Works (Project Admiral)

Schemes Under Construction/Approved
Templeman House

Hillborne School Development

Surrey Road

Hawkwood Road

Approved budgets for
schemes under consideration
Constitution Hill

Oakdale (infill)

Future schemes
30-year business plan projection

Other annual capital budgets
Planned Maintenance (see Appendix 5)
Acquire and Repair

Estates capital works

Supported Housing capital works
Vehicles

Total HRA Capital Expenditure

Total Prior 2025/26

Scheme years Forecast 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 TOTAL
Budget spend spend Budget Estimate Estimate COST

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
646 327 274 45 646
597 261 315 21 597
22,077 1,400 93 1,493
23,320 1,988 682 66 2,736
6,020 2,598 3,355 67 6,020
33,360 10,560 18,197 4,140 33,360
3,518 244 2,351 923 3,518
21,809 2,200 11,733 21,809
64,707 13,401 26,102 16,863 64,706

100

1,425 445 675 1,425
345 98 129 345
1,770 543 804 1,770
8,406 17,065
0 0 0 8,406 17,065
17,102 16,602 26,340 96,862
500 181 500 1,681
100 100 100 460
0 100 200
0 50 50 200
17,702 16,933 27,090 99,403
107,499 15,932 44,521 43,835 185,680

Funding sources

HRA Reserve

HRA Major repair reserve

HRA capital receipts (Right-to-buy)

HRA capital receipts (Shared-ownership sales)
Government Grants

S106

Prudential Borrowing

Total

2025/26
Forecast
£000

2026/27
Budget

2027/28
Estimate
£000

2028/29
Estimate

TOTAL
FUNDING
£000

21,047
66,762
7,474
5,227
26,244
277
42,715

169,746

77



This page is intentionally left blank

78



APPENDIX 5
Housing Revenue Account - Capital Expenditure - Planned Maintenance

2025/26 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

Budget Forecast Budget Budget Budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Windows 2,300 2,000 780 1,710 1,590
Bathroom Refurbishments 700 800 390 350 450
Kitchen Refurbishments 2,500 3,200 3,680 3,990 3,050
Disabled Adaptions 1,400 1,400 1,400 1,450 1,440
External Works 1,000 1,000 2,020 2,240 2,970
Fire Precautions / Detectors 800 800 550 570 570
Boiler Replacements 1,300 1,300 1,230 1,290 1,030
Re-roofing 1,000 500 1,670 1,650 1,490
Doors 750 700 950 350 1,350
Bedroom Extensions 120 100 100 100 100
Hot Water Systems 100 100 50 50 50
Rewiring 400 300 2,200 2,290 2,290
Common Areas (internal) 200 100 660 590 850
Communal System 40 40 100 100 100
Upgrading of Lifts 375 150 1,260 1,300 1,390
Door Entry 250 200 100 100 100
Ventilation System 100 70 60 60 60
Central Heating 140 150 480 440 1,950
Structural Repairs 85 70 300 310 310
External Lighting 20 10 50 50 50
Electric to Gas Conversions 40 40 50 50 50
Environmental Improvements 80 200 270 280 280
Minor Works 180 500 800 1,050 1,530
Warden Call out 100 50 300 310 310
Damp & Mould 500 700 500 520 520
EPC to C works 1,200 1,200 2,300 2,380 2,370
Capitalised salaries 922 922 910 940 940
Contingency 500 1,760 1,820 1,810
Total Planned Maintenance 17,102 16,602 24,920 26,340 29,000

79




This page is intentionally left blank

80



APPENDIX 6
Housing Revenue Account - HRA reserve balances

2025/26 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29
Budget Forecast Budget Budget Budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Opening reserves and capital receipts

HRA reserve (6,379) (10,445) (8,342) (4,813) (5,433)
Major Repairs Reserve (1,822) (1,939) (394) 0 0
RtB receipts for re-provision (7,033) 1,400 (9,044) (9,544) (8,363)
Other capital receipts 0 (557) 0 0 0
Total opening reserves and capital receipts (15,234) (11,541) (17,779) (14,357) (13,796)
HRA Reserve

Bought forward balance at 1st April (6,379) (10,445) (8,342) (4,813) (5,433)
Surplus for the year (4,130) (3,764) (3,151) (4,120) (4,240)
Contribution to capital expenditure (RCCO) 1,922 5,867 6,680 3,500 5,000
Carried forward balance at 31st March (8,587) (8,342) (4,813) (5,433) (4,673)

Major Repairs Reserve

Bought forward balance at 1st April (1,822) (1,939) (394) 0 0
Depreciation for the year (15,300) (15,300) (16,000) (16,498) (17,025)
Utilised to finance capital expenditure 17,122 16,845 16,394 16,498 17,025
Carried forward balance at 31st March 0 (394) 0 0 0

RtB receipts for re-provision

Bought forward balance at 1st April (7,033) (7,605) (9,044) (9,544) (8,363)
Current year RtB receipts for re-provision (1,500) (5,500) (500) (500) (500)
Utilised to finance capital expenditure 2,845 4,061 0 1,681 1,732
Carried forward balance at 31st March (5,688) (9,044) (9,544) (8,363) (7,131)

Other capital receipts, grants & S106

Bought forward balance at 1st April 0 (557) 0 0 0
Current year receipts (10,973) (7,580) (15,297) (5,716) (2,598)
Utilised to finance capital expenditure 10,973 8,137 15,297 5,716 2,598
Carried forward balance at 31st March 0 0 0 0 0

Closinging reserves and capital receipts

HRA reserve (8,587) (8,342) (4,813) (5,433) (4,673)
Major Repairs Reserve 0 (394) 0 0 0
RtB receipts for re-provision (5,688) (9,044) (9,544) (8,363) (7,131)
Other capital receipts 0 0 0 0 0
Total closing reserves and capital receipts (14,275) (17,779) (14,357) (13,796) (11,804)

81



This page is intentionally left blank

82



CABINET

Agenda ltem 8
BCP

Council

Report subject

Budget 2026/27 and Medium-Term Financial Plan

Meeting date

11 February 2026

Status

Public Report

Executive summary

To set out for Cabinet’s consideration and recommendation to Council the
proposed 2026/27 budget and council tax based on.

¢ Increasing council tax by 4.99% in 2026/27 in line with the government’s
annual referendum threshold which can be broken down into a 2.99%
basic increase and a 2% uplift by way of the Adult Social Care (ASC)
precept.

e Implementation of the approved financial strategy including £14m of further
savings, efficiencies, and additional income generation.

e Borrowing a further £95.7m to fund the Special Educational Needs and
Disability services revenue expenditure above the level of the Dedicated
Schools Grant (DSG) High Needs grant.

e Recognition that the council has technically been insolvent from the 1 April
2025 onwards as the accumulated deficit on the DSG is now greater than
the total reserves held by the council, with a negative overall general fund
position and is only protected by the legislative statutory override that
allows the council to ignore this issue to 31 March 2028.

This report also provides the latest Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)
covering the 3-year period to 31 March 2029.

It is also important to recognise that in the absence of government support for
historic and accruing DSG deficits, the proposed 2026/27 budget has been
drawn up based on the use of £4.8m of previously unearmarked reserves to
present a legally balanced budget. This reduces unearmarked to be around
6% which is still above 5% which is widely regarded as a statutory minimum.
The Council’s Director of Finance advises that although the estimates used
for the purposes of this budget are robust, subject to the list assumptions, the
reserves should be considered inadequate based on the level of the DSG
deficit and the ongoing risks faced by the council. His advice is to apply any
resources announced by government as part of the final 2026/27 local
government finance settlement to improve the financial health and
sustainability of the council. Specifically, this may or may not include any of
the following matters all designed to support the councils forecast £379m
DSG deficit on the 31 March 2028.

e Inresponse to a 6 January 2026 application by the Council for
Exceptional Financial Support from the government.

o Government permission to increase council tax by more than the
4.99% threshold limit.

o Government permission to capitalise the £10.5m cost of borrowing
to finance the DSG deficit in 2026/27.

e Any government support for historic or accruing DSG deficits.

83




Recommendations

It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet recommends that Council:

a)

i)

Xi)

b)

c)

d)

Undertakes arecorded vote in relation to the following items as
required by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)
(Amendments) Regulations 2014.

Agrees that a net budget requirement of £452m, resulting in a total
council tax requirement of £297.033m, is set for 2026/27 based on the
draft local government financial settlement figures published by
government in December 2025.

Agrees an increase in council tax of 2.99% for 2026/27 in respect of the
basic annual threshold and the collection of the additional social care
precept of 2%.

Confirms the key assumptions and provisions made in the budget as
proposed and as set out in Appendix 3.

Agrees the allocations to service areas in the budget as setout in
Appendix 5.

Agrees the implementation of £14m of savings as set out in Appendix 5a.

Approve that the current Council Tax discount for Beach Chalets on
Mudeford Sandspit and Hengistbury Head is removed from 1 April 2026
onwards see appendix 5b.

Approves the flexible use of capital receipts efficiency strategy as the
mechanism for funding the council’s transformation related and invest to
save expenditure as set out in Appendix 6 and potentially a capitalisation
direction from government to cover the 2026/27 DSG borrowing costs
should it be granted.

Approves the capital investment programme (CIP) as set out in
paragraphs 66 to 82 and Appendix 7.

Approves the asset management plan as setout in Appendix 8.

Agrees the treasury management strategy (TMS) and prudential
indicators as set out in paragraphs 84 to 87 and Appendix 9.

Accepts and supports the formal advice of the chief finance officer on the
robustness of the budget and the adequacy of the reserves as set out in
paragraphs 102 to 109 and Appendix 10.

Agree to borrow £95.7m to fund the 2026/27 excess Special
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) High Needs DSG revenue
expenditure above the government grant being made available. This
is also based on previous assurance from government that the
council can exceed its borrowing thresholds temporarily based on
their commitment to return the SEND system to financial
sustainability.

Delegate to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Director of
Finance, Leader, and Portfolio Holder for Finance, the allocation of
any additional resources that become available through the final
2026/27 local government finance settlement or any other means.

Approves the chief officers’ pay policy statement 2026/2027 for
consideration and approval by the council in accordance with the
provisions of the Localism Act 2011 as set out in paragraphs 111 to
113 and Appendix 12.

Note amendments to the Council’s Shared Vision (Appendix 1b),
updated to reflect changes to political and officer leadership, the list
of milestones to reflect progress made in the last two years and

84




areas of focus for 2025 to 27. The vision, ambitions and priorities
remain unchanged.

Reason for The council is required to set an annual balanced budget presenting how its

recommendations financial resources, both income and expenditure, are to be allocated and
utilised.

Portfolio Holder(s): ClIr. Mike Cox, Portfolio Holder for Finance

Report Authors Adam Richens, Director of Finance

adam.richens@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Wards Council-wide

Classification For Recommendation

Overview of the proposed 2026/27 budget

1. The establishment of a legally balanced budget for 2026/27 has been a turbulent process. The
introduction of the governments Fair Funding Formula has caused significant uncertainty which
recognises that it was the biggest change in the funding formula for 25 years and also coincided
with a full business rates reset. The enormity of the challenge was made more acute by the
critical changes introduced in the November Local Government Finance Policy Statement.
These followed the resignation of the previous Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and
Local Government and lead to a less severe impact on London authorities and a reinstatement
of the £600m 2025/26 Recovery Grant which the government claim is supporting those
authorities mostimpacted by austerity and from which BCP Council receives a zero allocation.
Ultimately when the provisional local government finance settlement was received on the 17
December 2025, the day before the parliamentary Christmas break, it set out that the council will
receive less cash resources in each of the next three years than it actual received in 2025/26 as
set out below. Onthe basis that it would have been fair to assume the 2025/26 funding would
have increased by at least the government’s 2% inflationary target the indication is the council
will be losing around £15m annually by the 3rd year (2028/29) of the settlement.

2. Figure 1. Comparison of the 3-year provisional LG Finance Settlement to 2025/26

\ Comparison of 3-year Provisional 2026/27 Local Government Finance Settlement to 2025/26

Actual  Provisional s Vatance Provisional o Vatance Provisional oV
2025/26 2026/27 from 2027/28 from 202829 from
£m £m 2025126 £m 2025126 £m 2025126
Business Rates (including section 31 grants in 25/26) 60.075 62.117 34% 63.542 5.8% 64.824 1.9%
Business Rates - Section 31 Grants - rolled into RSG 10.061 0.000 -100.0% 0.000 -100.0% 0.000 -100.0%
Revenue Support Grant (Unringfenced grants) 4416 65.308 1378.9% 77,997 1666.2% 74.682 1591.2%
Local Authority Better Care Fund 16.579 16.579 0.0%
Social Care Grants 39.573
ASC Market Sustainability & Improvement Fund 7.656
Employers National Insurance Contribution Grant 3.152
New Homes Bonus 0.246
Grants rolled in to RSG 3.679
Rebased Revenue Support Grant 75.301 81.887 8.7% 77.997 3.6% 74.682 0.8%

Rebased Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) 145437 144.003 141,539 139.505



mailto:adam.richens@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

This reduction in resources can then be considered in a national context which highlights that
authorities in the Southeast and Southwest have fared particularly badly under the new “Fair”
funding formula.

Figure 2. Changes in government funding per head 2025/26 to 2028/29

Change in Government Funding per
head: 2025/26 to 2028/29

20%
15%

10%

5%
0%

WM YH EM L NE NW EE SW [SE
-5%

-10%

However perhaps even more important to the council financial health is the accumulated and
growing deficit on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) as pertaining to our expenditure on
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND). In setting the 2025/26 budget the council was
promised that the government would return the SEND system to financial sustainability in 2025.
Anxiety on this matter has grown throughout the year and it was not until the Chancellors 26
November 2025 Budget announcement that it was set out that the government will take over the
responsibility for day-to-day funding of SEND from 1 April 2028 onwards which is when they also
propose to end the current statutory override, which is the mechanism which allows BCP to
ignore the accumulated deficit as part of its test of solvency. They also set out that the current
accumulated deficit and any further increase in the deficit between now and the 31 March 2028
will be retained by BCP Council and that support for historic and accruing deficits would be
announced as part of the December 2025 provisional local government finance settlement for
2026/27. This did not happen, instead the provisional settlement was accompanied with a
further statement that further details, and the conditions for accessing such support would be
provided later in the settlement process. That said it became clear that any such support would
be linked to the submission and quality of a Local SEND Reform Plan to be completed within the
2 months after the release of the school’s white paper early in 2026 and based on five
principles.

e Early. Children should receive the support they need as soon as possible. Intervening
upstream, including earlier in children’s lives when this can have mostimpact, will start to
break the cycle of needs going unmet and getting worse.

e Local. Children and young people with SEND should be able to learn at a school or college
close to their home, alongside their peers, rather than travelling long distances from their
family and community. Special schools should continue to play a vital role supporting those
with the most complex needs.

e Fair. Every school education setting should be resourced and able to meet common and
predictable needs, including as they change over time, without parents having to fight to get
support for their children. Where specialist provision is needed for children and young
people in mainstream, special or alternative provision, the government will ensure it is there,
with clear legal requirements and safeguards for children and parents.

86



10.

11.

e Effective. Reforms should be grounded in evidence, ensuring all education settings know
where to go to find effective practice that has excellent long-term outcomes for children and
young people.

e Shared. Education, health and care services should work in partnership with local
government, families, teachers, experts and representative bodies to deliver better
experiences and outcomes for all our children and young people

The council will be supported in its development of Local SEND Reform Plans by SEND and
financial advisers in a similar vein as to the support received from the Department for Education
DfE as part the Delivery Better Value in SEND programme (DBV in SEND) and as part of its
subsequent SEND Safety conversation.

Reflecting on the consequences of the provisional local government finance settlement, it
increased the 2026/27 funding gap even further than the £8.9m assumed in the December
Medium Term Financial Plan Update report to the 16 December Cabinet. Therefore to enable a
balanced budget to be set the council had draw on the last outstanding elements of its financial
strategy including.

e The application of the 2024/25 collection fund surplus (business rates surplus net of a
council tax deficit). It should though be noted that this support would have been higher had
the council not had to also apply it to cover the £4.6m 2025/26 in-year deficit based on a
quarter three forecast.

e Future savings including those from transformation and invest to save programmes. Also
includes additional efficiencies, income generation and service rationalisation.

e Challenge of the Dorset County Pension Funds initial future contribution rates following the
April 2025 tri-annual revaluation.

e Confirmation of the amount the council will actually be able to retain from the reset of
business rates, rather than the amount assumed in the governments LG finance settlement.

Recognising the above were insufficient, the council has then had to drawdown £4.8m in
reserves which takes the councils unearmarked reserves down to around 6% of Net Revenue
Expenditure which is still above the 5% which is widely regarded as the statutory minimum.

It is important to contextualize the councils position in respect of the overall national position.
The UK’s national debt has almost tripled between 2005 and 2025 and now stands around £2.9
trillion. Over £100 billion a year is being spent nationally on interest payments. The rate of
increase in the debt burden is faster than any other advanced economy with only the US and
Spain coming close. The extent to which UK debt has increased is part of the cause of high UK
gilt yields which in turn significant influences the rate the councilis required to pay to fund its
debt including the significant and growing DSG debt.

The readers of this report should be under no illusions. The council is in a perilous financial
position due principally from both the historic and accruing DSG deficit alongside the
government’s diversion of resources away from southern local authorities. Additionally, this
budget has had to recognise the acute pressures caused by previous years of austerity on this
council, inflation uncertainty, current high borrowing rates and the exceptional demand
pressures faced by all local authorities, and other public services, at this time. Setting these
statements to one-side, the general approach being taken as part of the 2026/27 budget and
medium-term financial plan is one of an ongoing commitment to value for money and adopting
traditional and conventional approach to local government finance.

In respect of the proposed 2026/27 budget, other key additional salient points include.

a) In line with the government thresholds, to increase council tax by 2.99% for the basic
element and 2% for the social care precept.

b) A £22m direct investment into services even before consideration of the pay related costs
including.

a. Provision of £9.2m (8.2%) in extra resources to cover demand and inflationary
pressures in the council’s highest priority area, Children’s Services.

87



b. Provision of £11.5m (6.5%) in extra resources to cover demand and inflationary
pressures to the most vulnerable members of our community via investment in
Wellbeing Services be that adult social care or housing services.

c. Provision of £1.3m (2.1%) in extra resources to cover demand and inflationary
pressures within the councils Operations directorate including £0.3m to harmonise
food waste collections services across the conurbation with the provision of a service
to Poole residents.

d. Assumes the delivery of £14m in savings, efficiencies, and additional resources for
2026/27 with each services holding delivery plans for their implementation.

Corporate Strategy

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

Consideration of the development of the 2026/27 budget for BCP Council will be within the
context of the Council having been formed in 2019 as the most complex piece of Local
Government Reorganisation in a generation. It will also be in the context of a unitary authority
which is currently in its seventh year of existence, with annual gross turnover of around £766m,
and an annual net revenue budget which for 2026/27 is £452m. Consideration should also be
given to the legacy impact on the organisation’s financial and non-financial resources of the
global Covid-19 public health emergency, the cost of living crisis, and a financial environment
which saw the council enter the governments Exceptional Financial Support programme in 2022.

In setting the budget for 2026/27, it is also critical that consideration is given to the vision and
ambitions of the council, ensuring that the organisation commits its limited resources in
accordance with its stated priorities.

In support of this, a new BCP Corporate Strategy was developed following a change in
administration after local elections in May 2023. This was adopted by the Council in January
2024. This 'A Shared Vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole’ replaced the Big Plan
and previous Corporate Strategy and provides a simplified strategic framework, establishing a
single set of key priorities and ambitions for the area.

The Shared Vision creates a vital component for policy development, service planning and
performance management, enhancing good governance and transparency in decision-making.

As set out in this corporate strategy, the vision for the area is “where people, nature, coast and
towns come together in sustainable, safe and healthy communities” with two key priorities
and a set of ambitions for each:

a) Our People and Communities — everyone leads a fulfilled life, maximising opportunity for
all.
b) Our Place and Environment — vibrant places where people and nature flourish, with a

thriving economy in a healthy, natural environment.

These priorities are underpinned by our approach as a council, to be “an open, transparent and
accountable council, putting our people at the heart of our services” with a set of guiding
principles by which the council will work. This is shown in figure 3 below and the full version in
Appendix 1a.

88



Figure 3: : A Shared Vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole

e Our vision
and ambitions

* People and places are connected by sustainable and modem infrastructure
* Our communities have pride in our streets, neighbourhoods and public spaces

Our place
and environment

* Our inclusive, vibrant and sustainable economy supports our communities to thrive
+ Revitalised high streets and regenerated key sites create new opportunities
Vibrant places where s + Our green spaces flourish and support the wellbeing of both people and nature

people and nature flourish, . ) ) - )
Climate change is tackled through sustainable policies and fice
with a thriving economy 9 9 ot prac
in a healthy, natural

environment '

and secure

Our people | » Working together,
ags * High quality of life for all, v
and communities -
Everyone leads a C
fulfilled life, maximising ) _
opportunity for all * Employment is available for everyone and helps create value
+ Skills are continuall and people can access lifelong leaming

n be active, healthy and independent

2 who need support receive it

* Local communities shape the senvices that matter to them

* Using data, insights and feedback to shape services and solutions

* Intervening as early as possible to improve outcomes

E dic dil OPE d Pdi e dl U ely with partr ng barriers and empowering others
vices, showing c our approach

g a passionate, proud, valued and diverse workforce

* Creating an e

roni

nt for innovation, learning and leadership

* Using our resources sustainably to support our ambitions

18. The Shared Vision is supported by delivery plans which set out high level actions and SMART
objectives to work towards the ambitions. Key performance indicators, published in a delivery
plan, will help the councilto monitor progress and identify trends.

19. Despite facing a persistently challenging economic climate, the council has advanced key
priorities aimed at positively impacting residents, businesses and the local area. For instance:

e We have transformed Children’s Services from ‘Inadequate’ to ‘Good’ in just three years
when rated by Ofsted, keeping children safe and supported.

e The council continues efforts to reduce the number of families temporarily housed in Bed
and Breakfasts (B&Bs). The number of children in B&Bs over Christmas was reduced by
90% compared with last year, thanks to Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP)
Council’s partnership efforts to address homelessness and the need for emergency
accommodation. Additionally, despite an increase in demand, the council is on track to meet
end-of-year targets.

e Targeted initiatives continue to focus on reducing the number of people rough sleeping
across Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole, with particular attention given to those who
have been living on the streets long-term.

e Support remains consistent for individuals with learning disabilities and mental health
conditions to ensure they are able to live independently, and where possible, are supported
into employment. The Supported Employment Review has been recognised as one of six
priorities in the co-produced Day Opportunities Strategy. Furthermore, the BCP Council-led
Shared Lives scheme, which matches adults and young people with care and support needs

89



20.

with skilled carers to become part of their home and local community, was rated as ‘Good’
by the Care Quality Commission (CQC).

e The council has also collaborated with partners to deliver a new vision to support carers,
outlining a commitment to improving the future for nearly 69,000 unpaid carers across
Dorset, coordinated by the Pan Dorset Carers Steering Group. This group includes BCP
Council, Dorset Council, carers across Dorset, and NHS Dorset.

e The council’'s School Attendance Team has been working closely with all schools across
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole to identify priority pupils who are missing out on
education.

e The council continues to invite the input of communities on local matters, seeking views from
neighbourhood groups, community organisations, and individuals as part of a Community
Governance Review. This review supports the establishment of elected parish and town
councils, which can make decisions about their own communities, invest in facilities,
manage local assets such as recreation grounds, play parks, and community buildings, and
organise events and festivals.

e The council was also given a clean bill of health by the Government in August 2024 following
the removal of the ‘Best Value Notice’ meaning it had met all standards for delivering best
value for residents. The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government noted the
council’s work since the notice was given to update its transformation plan, work to improve
its budget position, provide direction by delivering a corporate strategy, strengthen its
leadership team and undertake governance reviews of subsidiary companies.

e The council also continues to prioritise its commitment to improve local highstreets and town
centres, becoming one of only four areas across the UK to trial the High Street Rental
Auctions scheme, leading the way and setting an example for other local authorities in filling
empty shops.

¢ The unigue heritage of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole has been a focus, with the
restored Scaplen’s Court and Garden, and renovated and reopened Poole Museum,
preserving culture and history in Poole Town Centre and providing residents and visitors
with a free destination. Upton Country Park has successfully completed the first phase of a
£2.3 million Discovery Project, which celebrates the heritage of Upton Country Park by
restoring, conserving, and interpreting its historical features and landscapes. This initiative
has been made possible by the Parks for People Programme supported by The National
Lottery Heritage Fund and The National Lottery Community Fund, alongside additional
funding from BCP Council and the Friends of Upton Country Park. It aims to create a more
accessible, sustainable, and vibrant attraction that will engage visitors through opportunities
for learning, participation, and inclusive interpretation. Public access to the historic
Hamworthy Lake Pier was also returned, securing its future towards its 100th year.

e Workto protect the areas coastline from erosion and flooding continues, with upgrades to
the Hengistbury Head Long Groyne completed in October 2024, protecting up to 6,000
homes and providing new and improved habitats for our local wildlife.

e 2024/5 saw an acceleration in our reduction in the council’'s carbon emissions, achieving an
overall 21% reduction in CO2 emissions since declaring a Climate Emergency in 2019, with
14% in 2024/25.

An updated Shared Vision is attached at Appendix 1b. The foreword has been updated to reflect
the new political and officer leadership, and the list of milestones has been updated to reflect
progress made in the last two years. The vision, ambitions and priorities remain unchanged.

90



Financial Strategy

21.

A financial strategy designed to support the setting of a legal and robust budget for 2026/27
focused on a prudent approach to the council’s financial management was approved by Cabinet
in May 2025. Developed by Senior Officers working with Cabinet Members, the strategy was
focused on the following summarised workstreams.

a)

b)

c)

d)

f)

g9)

h)

)

Delivery of the February 2025 approved Medium Term Financial Plan

Emphasis on delivering the £7.9m of transformation and service specific savings proposals
assumed for 2026/27 as part of the February 2025 Council approved budget for 2025/26 and
MTFP.

Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND) & Dedicated Schools Grant

Encouraging government to honour its commitment to return the SEND system to financial
sustainability and set out how any such expenditure is to be funded moving forward.

Financial outturn 2024/25

Was the council able to deliver its 2024/25 financial outturn within the parameters of the
February 2024 Council approved budget for 2024/25.

Savings plans based on cash limited budget targets for 2026/27

Working with Portfolio Holders services were requested to develop saving plans based on a
cash limited budget for 2026/27 which also recognises savings already committed to. The
following activities will be considered in support of this approach.

a. Investto save proposals
Use of Al technology
Level of fees and charges
Service harmonisation

Service rationalisations

-~ o 2 o0 T

Market analysis
g. Voluntary redundancy programme
Deliver apipeline of capital receipts from asset disposals

Continue with the development of an ongoing programme of sales from assets no longer
needed for service or strategic reasons.

Generation of additional resources

Develop and consider any proposals which would be able to increase the permanent or
temporary resource base of the council.

Minimise capital programme requirements

Limit new capital requirements/bids by only considering fully externally funded schemes or
those were there is a legal requirement. Additionally, consideration will be given to robust
self-financing business cases that use the council’s ability to borrow to invest in capital
infrastructure which in turn drives down operational costs or avoids demand pressures.

Government policy reforms

Ongoing monitoring of the impact of various government proposals which will have a direct
impact on either the cost base or income sources available to the council.

Review of the council’s balance sheet

To include a fundamental review of Earmarked Reserves and to benchmark items such a
bad debts provisions to compare with the levels and policies of other local authorities

Comparisons with other local authorities

Reflecting on best practice and the responses of other local authorities to the overall
financial challenge and specifically any learning that BCP Council might want to consider
implementing.

91



22.

In essence, the financial strategy has been designed to improve the overall financial resilience
of the council, to provide more overall financial stability, and to ensure that the Council can seta
balanced budget and manage the medium-term financial strategy, and to avoid what is referred
to as a s114 report being issued. A brief explanation of a s114 report is provided in Appendix 1c.

Public Consultation

23.

24.

In support of the process for setting a budget for 2026/27, and as part of its commitment to
being open and transparent, the council undertook a consultation asking residents and
stakeholders for their views on the importance of council services, the level of council tax
increase and priorities for spending. An open consultation document was produced and
available online and in paper format. The consultation was widely promoted through a press
release and social media channels. The consultation was sent to residents and stakeholders
signed up to the council’s consultation register. The consultation ran from 18 November through
to 14 December 2025.

In total we received 869 responses to the consultation survey. A summary of the consultation
and sample survey findings and the full analysis report can be found in Appendix 1d.

Key Issue: Quarter 3 Budget Monitoring Report —2025/26

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

The December projection for the current 2025/26 financial year is that the council is currently
forecasting that it will overspend its 2025/26 approved budget by £4.6m (1.3% of its net service
budget) after the release of the budgeted contingencies. Overall, the position has deteriorated
by £0.4m compared to the quarter two reported position and reflects the ongoing challenges
facing local government from children’s social care.

As the overspend has grown through the year Cabinet implemented a freeze on all non-
essential expenditure and vacancies (Quarter One, October) and requested the council’s senior
leadership team and portfolio holders to consider what further action can be taken including the
extent to which any previously agreed savings for 2026/27 can be brought forward (Quarter
Two, November). It should be borne in mind that no officer has approval to incur expenditure
outside the approved budget framework for 2025/26.

It is intended to fund this forecast overspend from the one-off additional business rates
resources being made available in 2026/27 following the fundamental review of councils
collection funds in accordance with the approved financial strategy. This approach also
recognises that some of the previously assumed use of these funds are now profiled into
2026/27 later years.

As a matter of principle should any improvement be delivered in the final quarter then
consideration with be given to.

a. Further supporting unearmarked reserves and improving the financial health of the council
which has been impeded by the 2025/26 forecast overspend.

b. Ensuring that the council can continue to fund its regeneration service after 31 March 2027.
c. As recognised in the Treasury Management Strategy, to the voluntary repayment of debt.

Full details of the quarter three Budget Monitoring report and latest forecast for 2025/26 were
presented as a separate report to Cabinet as part of its 4 February 2026 agenda.

Key Issue: Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2026/27

30.

On 17 December 2025, Alison McGovern, the Minister of State for Local Government and
Homelessness, announced the 2026/27 provisional local government finance settlement.
Alongside the information for 2026/27 illustrations were provided for 2027/28 and 2028/29 which
is the first time in a decade the government have provided multiple years information and should
assist future financial planning and commissioning although it should be emphasised that future
year’s allocations will be subject to change as part of the annual process. The main headlines of
the provisional settlement can be set out as follows.

a. Introduction of the new fair funding formula.

The overall enormity of the change in approach cannot be understated with the impact on

BCP Council of the new formula is set out in figure 1 above. It should also be borne in mind
that the first time the council saw its formal funding allocation from MHCLG was a little over
5 weeks before it was due to issue the budget report, and this huge uncertainty has caused

92



31.

significant issues in formally balancing the 2026/27 budget. In regard to the position as
presented to Cabinet in December 2025 the funding gap for 2026/27 which was £8.9m, was
worsened as a result of the settlement by a further £2.5m, in year 2 (2027/28) it was
marginally unchanged, and in year 3 (2028/29) there was an improvement.

Introduction of a complete business rates reset, revaluations and multiplier reforms.

Includes a calculation of the minimum amount of business rates the council will be able to
retain.

Council tax

A referendum limit for unitary councils in each of the next 3-years will be 4.99% made up of
a 2% basic increase plus 2% as a social care authority. There will continue to be no
referendum limit for Town and Parish councils. The Government also confirmed it will
consider local requests for council tax flexibility where a local authority is facing significant
financial difficulty and views council tax increases as critical to managing financial risk. In
considering these requests the Government will consider a local authority’s specific
circumstances and will take account of an authority’s Band D council tax level in relation to
the average council tax levels. The Government will “not agree to requests for additional
flexibilities from authorities where council taxpayers are already paying more than average
which they believe will be £2,060 in 2026/27. BCP Councils average council tax with a
4.99% increase will be £1,947.99 in 2026/27, 5.4% below the assumed national average.

. Adult social care funding

All funding for social care authorities has been redistributed as unringfenced funding under
the fair funding formula. The Department of Health and Social Care will though publish
“notional” adult social care amounts which will be their expectation of how much council
funding should be spent on adult social care. It is unclear how this approach reconciles with
the unringfenced nature of the revenue support grant and what level of pressure they will
apply to any disparities.

. Consolidation grants

Four new consolidated grant streams have been created to simplify funding from a range of
previous funding streams.

¢ Homelessness, Rough Sleeping and Domestic Abuse Grant
Homelessness prevention grant, rough sleeping funding, DA safe accommodation grant
e Children, Families and Youth Grant

Children’s social care prevention grant, supporting families funding within the Children’s and
families grant, holiday activities and food grant, transformation funding, pupil premium plus
post-16 grant

e Public Health Grant

Main public health grant, drug and alcohol treatment and recovery improvement grant, local
stop smoking service and support grant, swap to stop scheme funding.

e Crisis and Resilience Fund

Household support fun and discretionary housing payments

In presenting the provisional settlement government reference was made to providing for a 23%
increase in “spending power” which is an extra £93.4m in the years leading up to 2029. This
indicator captures the main streams of government funding to local authorities but can be
confusing as it also includes.

a.

100% of the extra resources that the council would generate by increasing council tax by the
maximum permitted 4.99% in each of the next 3-years 2026/27, 2027/28 and 2028/29.

100% of the extra resources that the council generated by increasing council tax by 4.99% in
2025/26.

100% of extra resources we will generate by future assumed increases in the number of
properties within the BCP area in the 3-years to 2028/29.

93



d. 100% of the extra resources that the council generated from extra properties in 2025/26 and
the implementation of the 100% second homes premium from 1 April 2025 onwards.

It should be unquestionable therefore that the analysis of the settlement indicates that BCP local

council taxpayers’ resources is being redistributed and used to fund services in other parts of the
country.

Key Issue: Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

32. As set out earlier in this report the most significant risk to the council’s financial sustainability
continues to be the current and growing deficit on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)
specifically regarding the annual revenue expenditure on the high needs block which, year on
year, is more than the annual grant being made available by the government. The predicted
£73.5m annual funding gap for 2025/26 (114%) is forecast to grow to an annual funding gap of

£95.7m (148%) in 2026/27.

Figure 4 Forecast High Needs Revenue Expenditure 2024/25 to 2027/28

Revenue

Original Actual Original Q3 Original Initial

Budget Qutturn Budget Forecast Budget Estimate

Expenditure Estimate

2024/25 2024/25 2025/26 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
£m £m £m £m £m £m
DSG - Grant Funded Expenditure 62.3 62.0 65.7 64.5 64.5 64.5
Additional Budgeted Expenditure 28.0 28.0 57.5 57.5 957 100.0

Further Additional Expenditure 21.8 16.0

Total Estimated Expenditure 90.3 111.8 123.2 138.0 160.2 164.5
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Funding -62.3 -62.0 -65.7 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5
Total DSG Grant Funding -62.3 -62.0 -65.7 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5

Net Overspend / Unfunded 28.0 49.8 57.5 73.5 m

Prior Year Adjustment non High Needs Related 1.9
Other elements of the DSG 1.3
| Accumulated DSG Deficit |
31.3.24 31.3.25 31.3.26 31.3.27 31.3.28
63.5 113.3 183.6 279.3 3793

33. Although government have announced that they will take over the responsibility for day-to-day
funding of SEND from 1 April 2028 onwards it is clear the council will retain the current £113.3m
deficit (as at the 31/3/25) and the additional £266m estimated deficit that will accumulate over
the 3-years to 31 March 2028. It is anticipated that there will be support for these accruing
deficits however the only certainty at the time of writing this report is that they will come with
strings attached including the production of a Local SEND Reform Plan.

34. Consequentially what is known is that from 31 March 2025 the council was technically insolvent
as the DSG deficit was greater than the councils total general fund reserves. Ordinarily any
council in this position would be required to issue what is referred to as a s114 report which
would put the council into effective administration and in turn lead to government intervention.
However, this action is currently not necessary as the government have put in place, to 31
March 2028, a statutory override which enables the council to ignore the DSG deficit for the
purposes of a s114 assessment. The issue is what the government intends to happen on 1 April
2028 when the statutory override falls away. As it stands the deficit will remain greater than the
councils general fund reserves and a s114 will need to be issued.

94



35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

Previously the council has also acknowledged that despite not having the government grant to
fund these SEND bills they still need to be paid, and all councils are prohibited from borrowing to
fund the day-to-day operational/revenue expenditure. Currently the council is using what is
referred to as its “treasury management headroom” to enable the relevant invoices to be settled.
Generally, this headroom is the timing difference between receipts for council tax or business
rates arriving and the date when the actual bills they fund are paid, alongside any cash-backed
balance sheet items such as reserves and provisions.

Forecasting indicates that we will come into close proximity to the threshold in 2026/27, but it is
unlikely that it will be fully exhausted until the 2027/28 financial year. Robust management of,
and slippage within, the capital programme has deferred this position from the end of the
2025/26 financial year. As part of the original 2025/26 budget process government provided the
view that councils can exceed its borrowing limits provided it is only temporary. They were also
clear they would advise Ministers that they believed the council would not be breeching the
Prudential Code while the government works with councils on a long-term resolution. Council will
need to keep this issue on its agenda and reflect as to how it will be impacted by any support for
historic and accruing DSG deficits once the government make any announcements on this
issue.

It should also be recognised that if the council did not have to cover this deficit this cash would
be earning interest or would enable a lower level of external debt to be held. Therefore, cash
flowing the DSG deficit is estimated to cost the councilin the region of £8.1m in 2025/26
increasing to £10.5m in 2026/27, a costincurred due to mostly external factors beyond the
council’s control and one that the council has had limited power to tackle. It has consistently
been raised with government that the councils general fund bearing these implications does not
appear consistent with the spirit and intent of the Children’s and Families Act 2014 which
introduced the Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs).

Focusing on the service aspects, the number of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs)
continues to rise to 4,921 in November 2025 compared to 4,343 in November 2024 (3,683 in
November 2023), representing a percentage increase of 13.3% since November 2024 (17.9%
increase from November 2023 to November 2024). This is having an impact on our ability to
maintain timeliness and service the annual requirements of the volume of plans in the system
due to the available budget. Improvement work continues to focus on the process and pathways
in use to streamline processes and make efficiencies where possible.

When comparing to the demand in the South Westregion (95.9) and England nationally (88.1),
BCP is slightly above comparators with rates of 99.4 per 10k and new assessment request
levels.

20-week timeliness for new assessments (ECHNA) has declined since last year with a year to
date performance of 52.8% at the end of November 2025. This remains above the national
average of 46.4%, South West region (25.5%) and statistical neighbours (31.0%). The increase
in service demand means that there is an increased pressure on timeliness with a risk of further
decline. Arrangements will be made to prioritise and protect the most vulnerable children i.e.
those with an elective home education or known to social care. It should be noted that the
SEND service’s caseload is now 13% higher than this point last year. This creates pressure on
the ability to manage new requests and service the plans already in the service; this is the case
for the SEND assessment and review service and the SEND strategic service area; particularly
the educational psychology service and appeals and mediation processes and service area.

Key Issue: Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR)

41.

42.

This government policy is designed to help achieve environmental goals such as recycling by
making producers responsible for their products along their entire lifecycle including the post-
consumer stage. In 2025/26 BCP council were given a guaranteed allocation of £9.447m to help
offset costs associated with waste collection and disposal.

During November 2025 the Council was notified of a £9.703m allocation for 2026/27 however it
is worth stressing that this amount is not guaranteed and therefore there will be a high degree of
uncertainty in regard to the final amount eventually receivable. It is clear that the Scheme
Administrator (PACK UK) will be required to assess the effectiveness of the council’'s waste
management services via an audit process. If it is deemed that we are not compliant then the
council can be fined part of our ERP payment (up to 20% i.e. £1.941m) and also instructed in
what we need to do to become efficient and effective. For example, this could involve PACK UK

95



deciding, at the council’s cost, that we should introduce a separate paper/cardboard collection

process.

Key Issues: Council Tax

43. In proposing a Council Tax for 2026/27 the Cabinet has reflected on the fact that it is

government policy to fund cost pressures in local government principally through the ability to
raise council tax, including the social care precept. Recognition has also been made of the need
to ensure that every step is being taken to align the council’s expenditure with the resources at

its disposal.

44.  The proposal is to increase council tax by 4.99% in 2026/27. This increase can be broken down
into a 2.99% increase in relation to general inflationary pressures and an additional 2% relating
to the social care precept.

45, The financial planning assumption for future years continues to be that council tax will be
increased by 4.99% per annum in line with the information provided as part of the provisional
local government finance settlement for 2026/27 including the illustrations for future year

alongside the June 2025 Comprehensive Spending Review which set out the medium-term path
for public finances and included departmental settlements to 2028/29.

46. The strategic approach taken by government since the 2015 spending review is that local
councils can increase council tax as a mechanism for funding cost and demand pressures in
local services. For the last 11 years in a row (since 2016/17), this has included the use of the
Adult Social Care council tax precept as a means of asserting national direction on how such

resources should be applied. From 2025/26 the social care precept is not shown separately on

the actual council tax bills.

47. As a reminder the table below sets out the levels that government legislated for BCP Council to
increase its council tax by in comparison to the actual levels of council tax set over the last 6-

year period. Note, the 2021/22 Social Care precept was identified as being available to be
taken in either 2021/22 or 2022/23. BCP Council chose to defer the full increase to 2022/23.

Figure 5: BCP Actual Council Tax Increases compared to Government Thresholds

Government Assumed Increases (thresholds)

BCP Council Actual Increases

Basic % Social Care Total Basic % Social Care Total
2021/22 Financial Year 1.99% 3.00% 4.99% 1.55% 0.00% 1.55%
2022/23 Financial Year 1.99% 1.00% 2.99% 0.00% 4.00% 4.00%
2023/24 Financial Year 2.99% 2.00% 4.99% 2.99% 2.00% 4.99%
2024/25 Financial Year 2.99% 2.00% 4.99% 2.99% 2.00% 4.99%
2025/26 Financial Year 2.99% 2.00% 4.99% 2.99% 2.00% 4.99%
2026/27 Financial Year 2.99% 2.00% 4.99% 2.99% 2.00% 4.99%

- Please note social care precept for 2021/22 could be carried forward info 2022/23

48. Previously the council has requested, but not been granted, the flexibility to increase council tax
by the additional 2.43% that it could now be charging if it had increased its amounts in line with
government policy across the two-year time horizon 2021/22 and 2022/23. If government had
sanctioned this adjustment, it means the council would have been able to avoid approximately
£6.9m per annum of the service reductions that it has otherwise had to put forward over the last

few years.

49, As part of the a January 2026 Exceptional Financial Support application designed to support the
council with its 2026/27 budget and specially the historic and accruing deficits on its Dedicated

Schools Grant, the council has reiterated its desire to be granted the flexibility to increase

council tax by the 2.43% it has previously decided not to increase council tax by.
50. The BCP Band D council tax for 2025/26 is £1,855.41. The equivalent council tax for our nearest

neighbour Dorset Council was over 13% higher at £2,001.15. This equates to approximately

96



51.

£22m per annum in additional resources BCP Council could be generating based on the BCP
2025/26 tax base (151,574.2) if it had Dorset Council’s level of Council Tax. It should be
recognised that in comparison to other unitary councils BCP Council has a council tax level
which is also below the average and would have still been below the average if it had increased
its Council Tax by the 2.43%. For 2025/26 BCP Councils council tax is 2.6% below the average
which in resources terms is equivalent to £7.6m per annum.

Figure 6: Unitary Authorities 2025/26 Average Council Tax Levels

UA Average Council Tax charge including ASC Precept (Band D) 2025/26

£2,400
£2,200
£1,855.41 £1,905.51
£2,000
AN A A AN D I O L R
£1,800
£1,600
£1,400
£1,200
£1,000
ERC e 5005 ECGT el SE PR REREELRPRDTRERPRRPERDTERRREERER P5E8SE¥ERDE
gggﬁéggéggggf§§§§E§QE§EESEE§223§§Lzmz§z§§§z§ze=§zzg§§§8§?g§§3§
I IR T £e%5§235§§§8§°§ﬁsg§§§§§ 34
£ [l L 2 0 0 0% % 0 L £0 0 £ o =
§ EUsfzsl odzoCogsdf SPEIY g EESEfgEde 2TEAY cfpEAfOct §F,¢
2 E RUEGR 2¢ 653 3 £f $3 @y 0g 2% 0@ g3 s0% "32 £§ E£5 E¥G5
t 0 =X 3= «I. x 2 ] 0 2 2 Iﬁ -] °° so “'tﬂ'!o:
g o £E3} 8 8°E B 98 3 28 2 ¥ £ £3 20 wniE"xs
L S I I s § EoSg B8 CE ? 5
%Iﬁo [ § 5 £ g - 8 =9 = "4
i £ 2 5 2 0 P9 ol -
o 2z 0 g ; 0o
g ; w Ze
o i
mmmm Average council tax for the authority including ASC precept (Band D) 2024/25 ~ +«++++ Average

Figure 7 below demonstrates that if the council tax had been harmonised in April 2019, as the
new Dorset Council did, and followed government guidelines and applied the maximum
increases since then, then cumulatively our council tax would have been £1,937.42 in 2025/26
which is 4.4% higher than the cumulative £1,855.41 actual rate set. We are therefore clear that
this council has locally decided not to generate and therefore forfeit the £12.4m per annum
extra revenue that we could have been generating. While this is an annual benefit to our local
council taxpayers it will have had a direct impact on the level of services the council has been
able to provide.

97

Windsor & Maidenhead



Figure 7: BCP actual council tax levels compared to permitted levels.

BCP Council Actual Council Tax Compared to Permitted Levels

£2,020.00

Lo 5199742
£1,920.00 Pls

- £1855.41

£1,820.00

£1,720.00

-
-
-

£1,620.00 ','1'17655‘50

£1,520.00

747130

£1439.38

£1,420.00
2019120 202011 202122 202223 2023124 2024125 202526

e Bournemouth (actual) s Christchurch (actual) -Poole (actual) === BCP Actual = == BCP ifharmonised 01/04/2019

2026/27 Proposed Budget

52.

53.

54.

Council has a legal responsibility to set an annual balanced budget (Local Government Finance
Act 1992) presenting the plan for how its financial resources are to be allocated and utilised. In
that context the budget for 2026/27, and the MTFP, it should be seen in the context of a rolling,
evolving process structured to enable the ongoing proactive management and prioritisation of
the council’s resources. It is therefore a developing document which will be constantly changing,
and which will require regular monitoring with actions taken to mitigate variations as they occur.
As such Cabinet have been clear that work will remain ongoing in relation to efforts to materially
improve the council’s financial sustainability and resilience.

As a sector local authorities have been grappling with sustained financial pressures since 2010.
Recently councils have had to become more efficient in navigating the uncertainty and volatility
caused by global macro-economic factors, the legacy and long-term consequences of the Covid-
19 pandemic, alongside those caused by the recent cost-of-living crisis, and changes in public
policy. Stability in financial planning has been impacted by a financial framework historically
characterised by one-year local government funding settlements.

The budget planning process and timetable in support of the 2026/27 budget were approved by
Cabinet in May 2024. A high-level summary can be shown as follows.

Figure 8: High level summary of the budget planning process

June to
October
Nov 2025
May 2025 SPeNri;;.S & gg:,%bn?;;é? Local
s : O io
Initial savings tiolders Public G%\;i;r:‘ncw:nt

confirm Exercise S 286"2657266 nt

budget
options

Dec 2025

Cabinet February

2026

Membe
5 e Full Council

Budget
Approval

t - H
esstgglies?'éd identify and Engagement

Finalise
Proposals

98



55.

56.

57.

58.

The key dates in the 2026/27 budget setting process can be set out as follows.

May 2025 Cabinet - MTFP update report (including financial strategy).
July 2025 Cabinet — MTFP update report

July 2025 Cabinet - Quarter 4 / Financial Outturn 2024/25.

October 2025 Cabinet - Quarter 1 - 2025/26 budget monitoring.

October 2025 Cabinet - MTFP update report

October 2025 All Members — Budget Conversations

November 2025 Budget Consultation Exercise Opens

November 2025 Cabinet — Quarter 2 — 2025/26 budget monitoring
December 2025 Budget Consultation Exercise Closes

December 2025 All Members — Draft developing 2026/27 Budget Presentation
December 2025 Cabinet - MTFP update report

January 2026 Cabinet — Council Tax 2026/27 taxbase report

January 2026 Audit & Governance Committee (Treasury Management Strategy)
February 2026 All Member — Final proposed 2026/27 Budget Presentation
February 2026 Presentation to representatives from Commerce and Industry
February 2026 Cabinet — Quarter 3 — 2025/26 budget monitoring

February 2026 Cabinet — 2026/27 proposed budget and MTFP

February 2026 Council — 2026/27 proposed budget and MTFP

In support of the 2026/27 budget process Overview and Scrutiny Board members worked with
the Leader and Deputy Leader on a series of budget conversations held on the 17 October 2025
in an attempt to support proactive budget engagement and scrutiny. This event provided the
opportunity to discuss key areas of council service in greater depth supported by a pack of
relevant budget/financial information made available in advance. The five areas covered by the
event were.

e Library Strategy

e Remaining Play Strategy Phases
¢ Enhancing Youth Services

e Funding to support Regeneration

e Funding to support and develop a programme of Public Events

Feedback from the event was presented by relevant Overview and Scrutiny Chairs to the 29
October Cabinet meeting as follows:

e The Overview and Scrutiny Board recommend to Cabinet that as part of the Budget
setting process. consideration be given to utilising receipts from the existing surplus
asset disposal programme for 2026/27 to address some of the repairs and maintenance
of publicly facing assets.

In addition, a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Chairs in November highlighted that they
would appreciate.

¢ In support the Overview & Scrutiny Board consideration of the 2026/27 budget a request
that the Corporate Directors attend the meeting on the 9 February 2026 to set out the
consequences to the community, residents and staff of the key proposals within their
areas.

¢ In support of the Overview & Scrutiny Boards consideration of the 2027/28 budget a
request that the detailed list of savings, efficiencies etc that are being assumed in each
of the MTFP Update reports is included which each of those reports.

99



59.

60.

Figure 3 below sets out the current Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) to 2029. As a reminder
to Cabinet, the table sets out changes in the revenue budgets on an annual basis, either positive
numbers which represent additional costs to be met, or negative numbers which represent
forecast cost reductions, savings or additional income. The variances are shown in the year in
which they are expected to be first seen and are then assumed to recur on an ongoing basis in
each of the following years. One-off changes will be seen as an entry in one year and will then
be reversed out in a following year.

Key features of the 2026/27 proposed budget as presented include.

e £22m planned increase in council spending across all service areas excluding pay related costs, this
includes including.

o £11.5m (6.5% increase) to cover demand and inflationary cost pressures in wellbeing services
including adult social care and homelessness services.

o £9.2m (8.2% increase) to cover demand and inflationary cost pressures in children’s services.

e £14m of savings, efficiencies, service reductions, and additional fees and charges across services
including £4.4m which has been established as transformation and invest to save related.

e 2.8% assumed pay award for 2026/27.

e 4.99% increase in council tax for 2026/27 made up off 2.99% for the basic amount and 2% for the
social care precept. Please note from April 2025 onwards the social care precept is no longer shown
as a separate line on the council tax bills. The financial planning assumption for future years is also
4.99% in line with the assumptions with the governments 3 years local government financial
settlement.

e Continuation of the utilisation of the one-off business rates collection fund surplus as per the 2024/25
approved budget. In 2025/26 these resources are being used to continue to facilitate the delivery of
council regeneration activity and the externalisation of the Russell Cotes Museum ambitions, as well
as assisting with the one-off costs associated with Pay and Reward, fund the in-year forecast
overspend, and steps to improve the robustness of the budget proposal. Additional resources are
also being applied to support the 2026/27 budget and MTFP.

e Drawndown of £4.8m from unearmarked reserves.

¢ Significant funding gaps in future financial years amounting to £30m over the two year period 2027/28
and 2028/29. This is after £15m of assumed future savings over this same time period.

100



Figure 9: Medium Term Financial Plan to 31 March 2029
Updated
Budget
2025/26
Service Pressures (net of any specific grant changes) £m

February 2026 MTFP Position

26127 27128 28/29 Total
£m £fm £m £m

Wellbeing Directorate
Children's Directorate
Operations Directorate
Resources Directorate
Service Pressures (net of any specific grant changes)

Savings, Efficiencies, Fees & Charges

Wellbeing Directorate (
Children's Directorate (
(
(

) [ (1) 09 | (1)
) 0.0 0.0 (1.4)
) | (22 (13 | (13
) 01 | (16

Operations Directorate
Resources Directorate

o O B

3.
1.
4.
1.

Transformation (4.4) (7.5) (1.2) (13.1)

Savings, Efficiencies, Fees and Charges (13.9) (11.1) (3.6) (28.6)
Corporate ltems - Cost Pressures m 10.0 4.6 6.6 21.2

Funding -Changesl (4328) N (165  w@6) (67  (379)
Debt interest due to accumulated SEND deficitl] 81 || 24 25 1.7 65
40

11.8 11.5 21.3

Annual - Net Funding Gap m

\Application of one-off business rates resources to MTFP H (2.8) H (4.0) \ 6.8 \ 0.0 \ 2.8 \
Annual - Net Funding Gap 00 f 00 187 115 304

Cumulative MTFP - Net Funding Gap (0.0) 18.7 30.1

Full details of the service pressures, corporate costs pressures and funding changes, where not
referenced elsewhere in this report, are as set out in Appendix 3. A summary of the key
assumptions can be set out as follows.
Figure 10: Key Budget & MTFP Assumptions
2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

Council Tax (Includes 2% Social Care Precept) 4.99% 4.99% 4.99%
Pay Award 2.8% 2.0% 2.0%
Mininum Increase in Fees & Charges 2% 2% 2%
National Living Wage (NLWVVW) 4. 1% 2% 2%
% Increase in the Natfional Living Wage

Dec-25 Dec-26 Dec-27
Bank of England - Base Rate 3.75% 3.25% 3.25%

Please note:

a) The increase in fees and charges should be regarded as a minimum increase to those
not set by statute. The principle of full cost recovery may mean increases above these
levels for example based on the specific cost profile of the service.

101



Savings and Efficiencies

62.  Across the first eight years of BCP Council the savings have flowed from reduced staffing, lower
operational costs, from creating common and consistent charging policies or from reduced
service levels. A detailed schedule of all the assumed savings supporting the proposed budget
for 2026/27 is presented as appendix 5a, which includes those savings previously outlined in in
the 2026/27 budget report or the July 2025 Pay and Reward council report. It also includes
those savings attributed to the council’s various transformation and invest to save programmes.

63. The scale of the ongoing challenge faced by BCP and all other local authorities means that
difficult choices concerning service changes must be made by the Council to ensure a legally
balanced budget for 2026/27 can be set. Although focused primarily on discretionary services,
consideration has also been given to statutory services and reducing service levels towards the
statutory minimum.

64. It should also be highlighted that as a matter of policy, the budget assumes that all locally set
fees and charges will be increased at least in line with inflation and/or be adjusted to ensure
they are set at a level which guarantees full cost recovery including the impact of the National
Living Wage increase and any impact from the councils pay and reward project.

65. The table below sets out the level of savings which have been put forward since 2019 as part of
the process of balancing the annual budgets. This demonstrates that the savings have been
particularly focused on the 2023/24 and 2024/25 financial years as the council strove to manage
its way out of the government Exceptional Financial Support programme as well as the
Administration’s attempt to improve the council’s financial health.

Figure 11: Annual Service based savings since 2019 (shown on an incremental basis)

Budgeted Budgeted Budgeted Budgeted Budgeted Budgeted Budgeted Estimate

2019720 202021  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26  2026/27 Total
£m £m ) £m £m £m £m £m £m

Total (11.2) (94) (20.7) (6.6) (34.0) (38.0) (7.8) (14.0) (141.7)

Capital Investment Programme (CIP) - Overview
66. The capital strategy is based on the following core principles:

e Capital projects are supported by appropriate business cases, that clearly identify funding
sources and are approved in accordance with the council’s financial regulations. No project
that relies on government grant, external funding (including third party contributions) or
capital receipts can commence until the council has complete assurance the funding will be /
has been received or has otherwise explicitly agreed to accept the risk.

67. The use of prudential borrowing for capital projects where no alternative source of funding is
identified must comply with published HM Treasury PWLB borrowing restrictions. Business
cases must demonstrate the debt is affordable, prudent, and sustainable and that the council
is able to meet annual borrowing repayments. The council’s overall borrowing capacity is set
out in its treasury management strategy.

68. Audit and Governance Committee places an extra layer of governance between Cabinet and
Council consideration, to test the robustness of borrowing proposals to ensure that debt
repayments can be met.

e Interest rates from the council’s invest-to-save framework (which provides a framework
through whichto recognise an appropriate level of risk for each project) are applied to all
business cases that rely on future income streams from which to meet annual borrowing
repayment costs. Such business cases are required to show the impact on affordability by
reference to the current prevailing and the invest to save interest rates.

e BCP Council’'s capital resources (community infrastructure levy (CIL), developer s106
contributions, capital reserves, capital receipts) are prioritised towards:

o commitments under the council’s flexible use of capital receipts strategy (FUCR).

102



69.

70.

71.

72.

73.

o schemes which require a local contribution to leverage in capital grants or external
capital contributions.

o schemes which enable delivery of the savings assumed within the MTFP.
o schemes which enable the council to exploit its assets.

o schemes which protect key infrastructure.

o schemes considered a corporate priority.

e Capital receipts from the disposal of any of the council’s general fund lodges will be
earmarked for the provision of additional affordable housing.

¢ No resources are earmarked within the capital strategy for the consequential impacts of
capital investment on the council’s revenue budget (for example programmed maintenance).
These must be identified and managed within revenue budgets set as part of the MTFP.

e Funding earmarked for delivery of the capital strategy (including external government grant
and new borrowing facilities) is only recognised within the capital programme as these funds
are used / allocated to approved capital projects.

Capital receipts, besides the funding of the council’s various transformation programmes and
invest to saves via the FUCR strategy will also be considered for application as part of the
Treasury Management Strategy towards the voluntary repayment of debt.

Capital project approved by predecessor authorities or over 5 years old but not yet commenced
have been removed from the capital investment programme. New updated business cases

should follow the normal investment approval process.

Figure 12 below presents a high-level summary capital spend over the next 4 years. It is
forecast that £107.5 million will be spent in 2026/27 and a further £132 million in the following 3
years making a total 4-year programme of £239.6 million spend on assets and infrastructure
across the conurbation.

Figure 12: Capital investment programme MTFP

Capital investment Programmme MTFP
2026 to 2030

£000 £000 £000

2026/27 2027728 2028/29 2029/30

In line with the Council Financial Regulations which allow capital budgets to be reprofiled
between years following activity slippage, £74 million has been reprofiled and carried forward
from 2025/26 to 2026/27 based on forecast expenditure in December 2025. Further reprofiling
may be necessary at year end depending on actual expenditure incurred to that point. In the
event that more expenditure than anticipated is incurred for reprofiled projects, the budget will
be taken back to cover the 2025/26 spend in full.

The Department for Transport has announced a new local transport funding system for Local
Transport Authorities and confirmed the capital funding allocations for the next spending review
period (2026/27 to 2029/30). Figure 13 below shows the £77.7 million to be spent on local
transport delivery. This represents 32% of the current capital programme over the next 4 years.
The funding comes with a new accountability and reporting system. The settlement letter

103



74.

75.

76.

77.

78.

commissions each local transport authority to produce a local transport delivery plan (LTDP)
with details of schemes and interventions or programmes and packages of spend to be
submitted in draft by 20 March 2026 with the final LTDP submitted by 18 September 2026.

Figure 13: Local Transport capital consolidated funding settlement

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Active Travel 22497 22497 22497 22497  8,998.8
Highways Maintenance 77630 91440 98600 112730 38,040.0
LA Bus Grant (LABG) 30188 30795 31402 32009 12,4394
Loca transport Grant (LTG) 33459 36203 49612 63020 18,229.4
Total 16,377.4 18,0935 20,2111 23,025.6  77.707.6

For Children Services the Department for Education has indicated that BCP Council will receive
in the region of £9 million over the next 3 years for Special Education Needs and Disabilities
(SEND) above the normal annual allocation. Estimating the normal annual allocation is not easy
as there is no real trend in prior years allocations. For the purpose of the MTFP we have
assumed £4 million SEND grant for the first 3 years and £1million normal annual allocation for
2029/30. The Education capital programme will be updated in the spring when the grants
allocations will be announced.

The MTFP also includes over £11 million High Needs grant reprofiled from prior years bringing
the estimated total funding available for SEND to approximately £25m over the next 4 years.
The estimated profile for children services capital expenditure can be seen in Figure 14 below
for a total of nearly £33 million including the schools conditions grant. This represents 14% of
the capital investment MTFP.

Commercial Operations has approximately 18% of the capital programme. Over £27 million is
planned to be spent on seafront and flood and coastal erosion activity in 2026/27 and 27/28
mainly on Poole Bay beach management and Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill flood defence funded
from environment agency grant, CIL contributions and prudential borrowing. Further £15 million
is planned for expenditure on the seafront and cliff management mainly funded from government
grant.

The IT infrastructure underpinning the council services requires replacement including critical
hardware and core wide areas networking equipment which will reach its end of life in 2026/27.
Additional funding of £764,000 is required for this equipment. It is recommended that Cabinet
approve the additional £195,000 borrowing per annum over the next 5years included in
the MTFP for this purpose ahead of a 4-year IT infrastructure replacement plan which will
come forward for approval in due course. The MTFP also shows the estimated next 3 year
desktop replacement requirement of £3.7 million. Council approval for this investment will also
be sought in due course.

The 2026/27 totals include grants carried forward from previous years but not yet committed.
Services will bring forward strategies to utilise these in due course.

104



Figure 14: Capital Investment Programme Expenditure profile to 31 March 2030

Capital Investment

Programme 2026127 2027128 2028729 2029/30 Total

General Fund 2026130
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

OPERATIONS
Customer Arts and Property

(Museums; Engineering: Assets,
Road Maintenance, Highway, 18,333 4,344 1,774 1.5M1 26,042

bridges, TCF* Estates)
Commercial Operations

(Flood & coastal erosion risk _ _
management, Seafront, Culture, 26,964 15,622 42,586
Leisure)

Environment

(Waste & recycling, green spaces & 18.923 7,832 410 410 27,515

coservation, parks, fleet)
Investment and
Development 3,300 2,697 - - 5,997
(Housing Delivery, Regeneration)
Planning and Transport

(Sustainable travel, Network 18,653 19,651 20,383 23,026 PEIRAK]
management, Transport

Improvement)

Total Operations Directorate 86,173 50,146 22,567 25,027 183,913

CHILDREN SERVICES

Basic needs, schools
conditions, Special Education 14,414 10,895 5,922 1,746 32,977
needs and disabilities

Total Children Services Direc 14,414 10,895 5,922 1,746

WELLBEING

Housing and Community 1,775 1,775 1,775 1,775 7,100
Adults Social Care 2672 2684 2,701 2640 10,707
Total Wellbeing Directorate 4,447 4,459 4,476 4,425
EXECUTIVE

IT and Programmes 2.408 1,222 1,246 -

Total Executive Directorare 2,408 1,222 1,246 -

107,442 31,198

" Transforming Cities Fund

The capital investment programme (CIP) consists of capital schemes that have either already
been approved or that are progressing through the approval process in accordance with the
council’s financial regulations and governance framework including some rightsizing of schemes
funded from the Transforming Cities fund and other transport funding ICT hardware and
networking equipment replacement. It also includes expenditure funded from government grants
announced or estimated that has yet to be allocated to specific scheme. Service areas will report
on specific allocations in their individual capital strategies in due course in line with the financial
regulations approval framework. It excludes potential new projects that have not yet progressed
to a stage where they have been fully costed. Full details of the Capital Investment Programme
are presented in Appendix 7 and 7a.

The CIP continues to be funded from a combination of government grant and other external
funding sources (s106 contributions, CIL, and third-party contributions) and prudential
borrowing. 75% of the funding to support capital expenditure is from Government grants. 16% is
funded from prudential borrowing.

105



Figure 15: Capital Investment Programme Funding profile to 31 March 2030

Capital Investment
Programme 2026127 2027128 2028129 2029/30 Total
General Fund 202530
Funding Profile £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Prudential Borrowing (15,960) (17,682) (3,022) (1.543) (38,207)
Revenue Reserve Funding (1.291) (518) (518) (518)

Capital Receipts (General Fund - - - -
Revenue Contribution to Capital

BCP Funding Requirement {17,251) {18,200} (3,540) {2,061)

Government Grants (74,267) (45,952) (30,671) (29.137)
CIL (13,416) (2,508) - -
Mon-government grants (1,353) -
3106 (648) -
Third party contributions (507) (B2)
External Funding Contributio (90,191) (48,522) {30,671) (29,137)
{107,442) (66,722) (34,211) (31,198)  (239,573)

81. The main financial risks associated with the CIP are associated with inflation and continuing high
interest rates which may affect the assumptions made for the schemes funded from prudential
borrowing. Senior Responsible Officers (SROs) for all projects are required to review their
projects and assess their viability considering the current cost of material and labour and to
allow appropriate contingencies for uncertainty moving forward. As a result, projects such as
Canford Cliffs beach huts and pavilion which were approved by a predecessor authority have
been removed from the CIP requiring new business cases.

82. The Council has a strategy to replace fuel vehicles with electric vehicles which are more
expensive, therefore it will see a further revenue pressure in future years not yet included in the
MTFP.

Asset Management Plan (AMP)

83.  An asset management plan (AMP) is the foundation to ensuring the council’s portfolio of assets
is being managed in the most efficient and cost-effective way. It is a time-bound commitment to
action that ensures that the council’s property assets are proactively managed to fully meet both
its current and future requirements, with an increasing focus on long term financial and climate
sustainability. Attached as Appendix 8 is an update on the summary AMP for the council
produced as part of previous budget reports. This recognises the documents evolution into a
comprehensive and traditional full asset management plan, as advocated by best practice.

Treasury Management Strategy (TMS)

84. The council’'s Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) is subject to regular review and was last
reported to the Audit & Governance Committee for monitoring and update purposes in January
2026. The council is required to setits prudential indicators in the context of the overall strategy
on an annual basis. The TMS and prudential indicators for 2026/27 are set out in Appendix 9 for
approval by Council.

85. A significant element of the TMS is the council’s approach to balancing the risks associated with
its need to borrow, namely:

a) Credit Risk: Which is the risk associated with an institution failing and the council’s investment
being reduced due to bank bail-in arrangements. An approach to managing this risk is to use
internal balances before undertaking external borrowing which will also provide a better return
for the council as the cost of borrowing exceeds any value the council could earn on these
internal balances

b) Interest Rate Risk: This is the exposure to interest rate movements on its borrowing and
investments. The council is susceptible to upward movements in long term rates given the
amount of borrowing still required over the next 5 to 10 years

¢) Re-financing Risk: Focuses on managing the exposure to replacing current financial
instruments (borrowings) as and when they mature

106



86.

87.

d) Liquidity Risk: This aims to ensure the council has enough cash available as and when
needed.

The strategy is significantly influenced by the requirements of the devolved system of council
housing (HRA) finance. This includes the operation of a two-pool approach to debt management
with the debt of the HRA (council house tenant account) and that of the General Fund (council
taxpayers account) separated. All external debt is taken out by reference to the relevant pool
although it should be noted that there is still flexibility to transfer debt between the two if
required.

In order to ensure that the council is compliant with CIPFAs 2021 Prudential and Treasury
Management codes the prudential indicators, including the approved borrowing limits, have
been amended to incorporate the assumption that £95.75m of additional borrowing will be
undertaken in 2026/27 to enable the excess SEND expenditure over the DfE grant to be
financed. In addition, the borrowing headroom provided the flexibility to cover a government
capitalisation direction (permission the capitalise revenue expenditure) to cover the interest on
the SEND borrowing should it had been required. Provision within the borrowing limits has also
made for the reprofile of phase 1 and the new phase 2 borrowing to support the vehicle fleet
replacement strategy.

Reserves

88.

89.

90.

91.

92.

93.

The council holds reserves as part of its approach to maintain a sound financial position and to
demonstrate that there are no material uncertainties about the council as a going concern. The
requirement for financial reserves is linked to legislation such as the Local Government Act
1992, which requires councils to “have regard” to the level of reserves needed to meet future
expenditure when calculating a budget. As part of his formal annual section 25 report the
council’s Director of Finance is required to report on the adequacy of reserves. This assessment
is summarised later in this report.

It may be worth emphasising that reserves should not be seen in a short-term context. They
should not only be placed in the context of significant uncertainty in respect of the impact on the
council of increases in commissioning costs due to the governments national living wage,
general inflationary pressures, and the relentless increase in service demands particular social
care and homelessness, but also in the context of the future.

In general councils hold two main forms of reserves.

Unearmarked Reserves

Are set aside to help manage the risk to the council’s financial standing in the event of
extraordinary or otherwise unforeseen events and to mitigate the underlying risk associated with
the operation of the council and the management of service expenditure, income, and the
council’s funding.

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) previously advised that
general or unearmarked reserves should be 5% of net revenue expenditure (NRE) as an
absolute minimum. Our nearest unitary neighbour, Dorset Council, has a policy of trying to
maintain their unearmarked reserves at 10% of NRE. Benchmarking demonstrates that steps
taken up to 31 March 2025 have moved the council into the mid-range compared to other
unitary councils.

As a reminder the council has taken proactive steps to improve its financial health and
sustainability across both 2023/24, 2024/25 and 2025/26 which has included increasing its
unearmarked reserves by over 60% to £29.3m. They now represent 8% on a net revenue
expenditure basis (RA 2025/26). The 31 March 2026 forecast position includes.

a. the transfer in of £2m from a previous earmarked reserve to cover transformation related
redundancy costs which could not be funded via the flexible use of capital receipts (FUCR).
During 2025 the legislation has been changed which means all such costs can now be
funded via the FUCR and consequentially the resources can be redirected into unearmarked
reserves.

The forecast position as of 31 March 2027 is that they will now decrease to 6% based on a
2026/27 net revenue expenditure basis which reflects an increase in this denominator due to the
government rolling in over £70m of specific grants into unringfenced revenue support grant. The
31 March 2027 position includes.

107



b. the transfer out of £4.8m to support the setting of a legally balanced budget for 2026/27. The
intent is that this item is reversed by the extent of any support for historic or accruing DSG
deficits which the government are expected to announce in February 2026.

94, Earmarked Reserves:
Are set aside to meet identified spending commitments and can only be used for the purpose for
which they have been created. These reserves will continually be reviewed, and any resources
not needed as intended transferred into unearmarked reserves. They include reserves in
support of various partnerships where the council is the accountable body, reserves which
represent government grants received in advance of the associated expenditure, reserves held
on behalf of third parties and several reserves the council is required to hold in line with statute
or its own governance requirements. The council had earmarked reserves of £55.7m as of 31
March 2025. Details of the councils earmarked reserves are presented at Appendix 10a.

Figure 14: Latest Reserve Forecast

Balance Balance Balance Q3 Estimate Budget

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-26 31-Mar-27

£fm £m £fm £fm £fm
Unearmarked Reserves 17.9 26.1 27.3 293 245
Earmarked Reserves 68.5 39.0 55.7 325 26.3

Total Reserves

Dedicated Schools Grant -183.6 -279.3

Net Position 50.6 1.6 -30.4 -121.8 -228.5

CIPFA Financial Health Indicators

95. In developing the budget strategy for 2026/27, and the medium-term financial plan, the council
has been reflective of the outcomes of the annual CIPFA Financial Resilience Index and other
financial benchmarking. In determining the strategy, it is essential to ensure the council
manages its financial resilience to meet unforeseen demands and pressures on services.

96. The latest CIPFA Financial Resilience Index benchmarking is based on the Revenue Outturn
information for 2024/25, and figures submitted for each local authority reflecting their position on
31 March 2025. In respect of BCP and in comparison, to our nearest neighbour grouping, the
index was adverse in the areas listed below:

a) Children’s Social Care Ratio
b) Adult Social Cate Ratio
¢) Homelessness Ratio

The proportion of budget spent on these areas is seen as high. They are considered as
inflexible costs because it is considered difficult to reduce them in the shortterm and they impact
on the council’s ability to respond with agility to changing demands

In addition, the percentage change in unearmarked reserves over the previous three years is
seen as an indicator of higher risk and reflects the use of reserves to support the delivery of
legally balanced budgets in 2022/23 and 2023/24.

This analysis is less stark when the comparison is made with other Unitary Authorities and there
has also been a noticeable improvement in the level of unearmarked reserves which is a credit
to the council’s financial strategy aimed at rebuilding its financial health.

Sensitivity analysis

97. A key determinate as to the adequacy of reserves is the sensitivity within the budget and how
quickly the demands that the council is required to manage, and their associated cost, can
change. It continues to be the case that relatively minor changes or shifts in key planning

108



98.

99.

100.

101.

assumptions can have a significant impact on the council’s financial position as highlighted in
figure 15 below.

Figure 15: Council sensitivity to potential changes in assumptions

Description £000s
Children in Care (average high cost - residential) per child per annum 579
Children in Care (average top 10 independent fostering) per child per annum 131
Intensive homecare package for a disabled person 314
(average top ten excluding proportion of Heailth funding)

Yulnerable adult {learning disability - residential <65) 114
(average excluding proportion of Heailth funding)

Yulnerable adult {learning disability - residential <65) 246
(average top ten excluding proportion of Health funding)

Older person's supported residential care 51
(average excluding proportion of Health funding)

Older person's supported residential care 133
(average of the top ten excluding proportion of Health funding)

Increase in adults' cost of care for every 1p increase in the National Living VWage 164
Increase in the £7.75m cost of the concessionary fare scheme (per 1% increase a7
journey numbers}

Change in the Pay Award by 1% from 202528 2,015
Change in the Revenue Support Grant by 1% from 202528 (44)
Change in the level of Council Tax by 1% from 2025/28 (2,812)

In being mindful of these key sensitivities, it should be established that the cost of a child in care
or vulnerable adult can exceed £1m per year for a single case, which the council is responsible
for paying in the first instance. It is only subsequently able to reduce the amount to those shown
in figure 15 above once it has negotiated a contribution from National Health Service Dorset.
The risk associated with achieving this outcome is held by the council. It is also worth bearing in
mind that every £100,000 is equivalent to the council tax generated on 54 homes (2025/26 band
D equivalents).

Also, of relevance to the sensitivity of the budget is the robustness of the estimates made to
underpin the budget. As per the position on reserves the councils Director of Finance is formally
required to report on their robustness as part of his formal annual section 25 report.

Officers will have factored into their assumptions numerous matters such as government
announcements, economic forecasts, trend analysis and professional judgement. Of relevance
is the uncertainty at this time due to the inflationary environment and any new programmes,
initiatives or approaches being adopted for the first time which inevitably carry a greater level of
risk than business as usual activity.

As per recommendation (c) of this report it is proposed that any changes between the
provisional 2025/26 Local Government Finance settlement, issued in December 2025, and the
final settlement due in early February 2026, will be delegated to the Chief Executive in
consultation with the Director of Finance, Leader, and Portfolio Holder for Finance to allocate.

Director of Finance advice on the robustness of the budget and adequacy of reserves

102.

The Local Government Act 2003 (Section 25) requires the Director of Finance to report on the
following matters to members when agreeing its annual budget and council tax levels.

e the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the budget calculations, and
e the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves.

109



103.

104.

105.

106.

107.

Council must have regard to this report when making its decisions around the annual budget
and the level of council tax.

For members of the Council the Section 25 statement provides critical context for budgetary
discussions. The provision of this information is a legal requirement and ensures that all
members have regard to the professional advice provided by the authority’s Director of Finance
when final budget decisions are made being made. To give a level of additional assurance to
this report it has also been prepared in consultation with the Chief Executive.

It should be emphasised that councils can and do experience significant financial difficulties.
Section 114 (s114) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the S151 Officer, in
consultation with the council’s Monitoring Officer and Head of Paid Service, to report to all the
authority’s members if they believe the council is unable to set or maintain a balanced budget, or
if unlawful expenditure is identified. Such a notice is only given in the gravest of circumstances
and is most likely to be required in a situation in which reserves have become depleted, and it is
forecast that the council will not have the resources to meet its expenditure in a particular
financial year. In such circumstances a full council meeting must then take place within 21 days
to consider the notice and during this period no new agreements involving spending can be
entered into, unless approved by the s151 Officer.

Since the legislation came into force in 1988, 19 s114 notices have been issued with 14 of these
having been issued since 2018. Although they remain rare it is clear they are not as rare as they
used to be. Recent high-profile cases include those at Barnet Council, Birmingham Council,
Croydon Council, Northamptonshire County Council, Northumberland County Council,
Nottingham City Council, Slough Borough Council, Thurrock Council, and Woking Council.

The formal s25 report of the s151 Officer is included as Appendix 10 to this report. In conclusion
to his report the Director of Finance considers that the estimates used for the purposes of the
proposed 2026/27 budget are robust given a clear understanding by members and senior
management of the following:

a) That Corporate Directors, Service Directors and Budget Holder have provided the Chief
Executive with direct assurance that they have accepted their budgets and have agreed to
deliver their services within its financial parameters including the realisation of approved
savings.

b) That over the next 3-years the council will receive less Revenue Support Grant than it is
receiving in 2025/26. This, alongside the inevitable changes in demand and cost pressures will
require the senior leadership team and Cabinet portfolio holders to bring forward further options
for reducing the net cost of services, including additional transformation and invest to save
programmes. Alongside this Cabinet will need to receive a report in the spring of 2026 providing
assurance that the current transformation and invest to save programmes will deliver the level of
savings promised when the investment was approved and to the currently approved timescales.

c) That the new pay and reward structure implementation was based on a range of financial
assumptions including the increase in the annual incremental drift exposure from £1.5m to £4m
per annum and the exclusion of any provision for vacant posts, casual employees, apprentices,
agency staff or as a result of any future re-mapping outcomes. These are all costs which will
need to be managed by the relevant services however the council report recognised that these
issues would challenge the ongoing viability of a number of services.

= The robustness of this statement is on the clear understanding that where Corporate
Directors, Service Directors and Budget Holders believe they cannot manage the impact
of the additional incremental drift exposure, or the cost of any re-mappings since the 21
April 2025 date which unpinned the Council report, that they will provide the Chief
Executive and Portfolio Holder with options for mitigation by 31 March 2026.

d) Directors will continue to diligently identify and rigorously apply mitigation strategies for their
identified in-year 2025/26 budget pressures.

e) Children’s Services continue to acknowledge the fiscal consequences of their service decisions
around SEND by doing all they canto contain the cost of services within the grant made
available by government.

110



108.

109.

)

9)

Effective governance arrangements will be maintained at Portfolio Holder, Executive, Senior
Management, Directorate, and budget holder level to monitor the overall delivery of the 2026/27
budget.

That the council will steel a march on the process of delivering the necessary savings to enable
the 2027/28 budget to be legally balanced including.

a. Going back to basics with a review of every item of expenditure to determine if it is
absolutely necessary and value for money. This will include a continuation of the current
year’'s expenditure freeze until sufficient savings to balance the £18.7m funding gap for
2027/28 have been identified.

b. Ongoing development of invest to save and service specific transformation programmes
supported by the ICT Programme Management Team.

c. Star Chamber events for each and every service whichinclude the line-by-line analysis of
the budget, the detail of every post, the detail of every contract supported by the budget and
relevant benchmarking information.

d. A presumption will apply that every vacancy triggers a review of the post and its function —
whether statutory or non-statutory — to determine whether the role is still required in its
current form. This review will include:

= assessing whether the duties can be re prioritised, absorbed within the existing team, or
delivered differently.

= fully exploring opportunities to use existing technology and capabilities developed
through the significant investment in Transformation over recent years.

=  Where appropriate, considering internal recruitment only, where a genuine need for the
role remains.

The overarching aim is to improve the productivity of the organisation by managing down the
overall headcount and pay bill through natural turnover and redesign, avoiding the need for a
large-scale redundancy programme.

However, the Director of Finance also concludes that the level of reserves cannot be considered
adequate given a clear understanding by members and senior management of the following:

a)

b)

c)

h)

That on 1 April 2025 the council was technically insolvent as it had negative general fund
reserves due to the deficit on its DSG as pertaining to expenditure on the Special Educational
Needs and Disability service. This DSG deficit is growing by more than £95m per annum which
is the amount the expenditure on the High Needs Block continues to be more than the annual
government grant being made available. Although government will take responsibility for the
day-to-day operational costs of the service from 1 April 2028 onwards the historic and accruing
deficits will be retained by the council. Without government support for these retained deficits the
council will actually become insolvent from 2028/29 whichis when the current statutory
instrument that allows them to be ignored, falls away.

That the use of unearmarked reserves to balance this budget is contrary to the strategy of the
Administration to improve the financial health and sustainability of the Council.

That at around 6%, unearmarked reserves are only just sufficient to cover an unexpected single
event such as a cyber-attack or significant in-year overspending. Any such single event would
then require drastic action to restore such reserves to the minimum recommended level. They
would clearly be insufficient for the realisation of multiple risks.

Earmarked reserves should be supported by a clear plan held by the service which details the
profile of when the resources will be drawn down. Any resources identified as not needed for
their original purpose will be redirected into unearmarked reserves.

That all opportunities will be taken for the level of unearmarked reserves to be enhanced and for
the overall financial sustainability of the council to be improved.

Councillors should also carefully consider the risks set out in the summary of risk assessment
section of this report.

111



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

110. Areport on the HRA and rent setting is included as a separate item on the agenda for this
meeting and should be considered alongside this report to councillors in setting the budget for
2026/27.

Chief Officers’ Pay Policy Statement

111. Further to the provisions of the Localism Act 2011, the council is required to publish its local
Chief Officers’ Pay Policy on an annual basis for consideration by council before 31 March each
year.

112. The council’s pay policy has been duly prepared by the People and Culture service and is
attached as Appendix 12 to this report to ensure the council is able to consider it this year in
accordance with the statutory timetable as prescribed by government.

113. For 2026/27 the policy has been updated to reflect changes associated with the implementation
of Pay and Reward which took effect on 1 December 2025.

Scheme of councillor allowances

114. The council is required to adopt an annual scheme of councillor allowances as specified under
the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003.

115. On 22 July 2025, Council approved a revised scheme of members’ allowances for 2025/26,
which included a provision for allowances to be increased in line with the Employees’ National
Pay Award when determined, with adjustments backdated to 6 May 2025. The agreed pay
award applicable to the scheme of allowances was 4.5% for 2024/25 and 3.2% for 2025/26. The
proposed budget for 2026/27 allows for a further pay award-based increase and includes
provision for the potential reinstatement of members’ pension entitlement.

116. As part of the proposed budget, provision has been made for a total cost of £2.129m in 2026/27
Consultation

117. Under Section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, councils have a statutory duty to
consult with representatives of business rate payers on its proposed expenditure for the
following year. Business leaders across Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole were invited to
attend a presentation held on 6 February 2026 on the budget for 2026/27 and Medium-Term
Financial Plan from the BCP Council Leader, Chief Executive, and the Director of Finance.

118. The necessary additional resources, savings and efficiencies required to balance the budget
over the next three years will each need to be reviewed to determine the extent to which they
may require consultation. Consideration will also need to be given to the relevant period,
stakeholder groups and method of consultation.

Options Appraisal

119. Numerous alternative permutations are possible around budget savings proposals and council
tax strategies for 2026/27. Any alternatives considered will need to be supported by a robust
evidence base detailing the sustainable substitute funding strategies. Any alternative will also
require the appropriate level of due diligence and the advice of the statutory officers.

120. In respect of alternative savings strategies there would be countless combinations and those
proposed will reflect the priorities of the Administration and other political groups may have
arrived at a legally balanced budget by alternative preferences. Some examples of items
considered but not put forward include.

a. Reduce or scale back the support for cultural activities. Over £750k per annum is spent
supporting National Portfolio Organisations (NPOs) such as the Lighthouse, Bournemouth
Symphony Orchestra and Pavilion Dance.

b. Reduce or scale back the amount of spend on Libraries. For example the council could
reduce the number of individual Libraries by say 3 and still be meeting statutory and this
would save circa £200k.

c. Increase fees and charges higher than those assumed in the proposed budget as put
forward. Most increases reflect current inflationary rates and changes in the cost profile of
the service for example those due to the implications of Pay and Reward. However, it is

112



121.

122.

123.

124.

always possible to increase the charges recognising the potential for variation linked to the
elasticity of demand.

d. Closure of public facilities such as Leisure Centres.

e. A range of non-statutory prevention measures for example in Children’s and Wellbeing
services.

f. Increase CCTV savings (£50k): Reduces monitoring capacity, increasing risks to community
safety and staff. Weakens partnerships with police and limits proactive operational work.

Also, in proposing the budget as put forward there would always be areas were additional
investment could have been considered such as the councils arboriculture services, or
addressing the backlog maintenance to council owned assets. Another example is that because
of the uncertainty around any government support for historic and accruing DSG deficits no
provision has been made to utilise receipts from the existing surplus asset disposal programme
to address some of the repairs and maintenance of publicly facing assets as per the Overview
and Scrutiny Board request.

It is not an acceptable alternative not to agree a legally balanced budget for 2026/27, and to
advocate a circumstance which leads to a s114 report being issued accompanied by an
assumption that commissioners would be appointed to make the necessary difficult decisions.

Only a decision to increase council tax by the maximum 4.99% can be considered consistent
with government policy for the funding of local government both now and into the future.

A decision to increase council tax in line with the maximum will best protect the current and
future financial sustainability of council and will best preserve service delivery levels into the
future.

Summary of financial implications

125.

126.

Any financial implications of the report’s recommendations are considered, alongside alternative
options, elsewhere within this report.

Councillors should consider how effective the 2026/27 proposed budget will be in supporting the
financial sustainability of BCP Council.

Summary of legal implications

127.

128.

129.

130.

The council is required to set a council tax for 2026/27 before 11 March 2026. It may not be set
before all major precepts (i.e. precepts from the Police and Fire Authorities) have been issued or
before 1st March 2026, whichever is the earlier. The decision to set the level of council tax is
reserved to Council and cannot be taken by Executive or delegated to officers, although the
Executive must recommend a budget to Council.

Before determining the level of the tax, the Council must estimate its proposed revenue
expenditure, considering amounts required by way of contingency, any need to raise reserves
and any other amounts which the Council is legally required to transfer between funds. It must
also estimate its anticipated income, any relevant transfer between funds and any proposed use
of reserves. It must then calculate the difference between the two which is the council tax
requirement.

The Council’s Director of Finance (under s151 Local Government Act 1972) is required to report
to the Council on the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the calculations, and
the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. The Council must have regard to the report
when making decisions about the calculations in connection with which it is made. The Director
of Finance has a statutory duty under section 114 Local Government Finance Act 1988 to issue
a written report if he considers that a decision taken by the Council would be unlawful and likely
to cause a financial deficiency.

In reaching decisions on these matters, Members are bound by the general principles of
administrative law. Lawful discretions must not be abused or fettered, and all relevant
considerations must be taken into account. No irrelevant considerations may be taken into
account, and any decision made must be one which only a reasonable authority, properly
directing itself, could have reached. Members must also balance the interests of service users
against those who contribute to the Council’s finances. The resources available to the Council
must be deployed to their best advantage.

113



131.

132.

133.

134.

135.

136.

137.

138.

Members must also act prudently. Members must also bear in mind their other statutory duties
to have regard to certain matters when making decisions. Members must have regard to their
Public Sector Equality Duties and the impact decisions, if approved, may have on those who fall
within the protected characteristics under the Equalities Act 2010. Members must consider the
Equalities Impact Assessment prepared in support of this report and the need to eliminate
discrimination, to mitigate against negative impacts where these are known and to promote
equality when making decisions. A failure to follow these principles could open the Council to
judicial review.

Members have a fiduciary duty to the council taxpayers and others in the local authority’s area.
This means that members must behave responsibly in agreeing the budget. Members have no
authority to make anything other than a balanced budget.

Among the relevant considerations which Members must take into account in reaching their
decisions are the views of business ratepayers and the advice of officers. The duty to consult
representatives of non-domestic ratepayers on the Council’s expenditure plans is contained in
Section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

In considering the advice of officers, and the weight to be attached to that advice, Members
should have regard to the personal duties placed upon the s151 Officer. Members are obliged
under the Code of Conductto have regard to the advice of the s151 Officer and Monitoring
Officer. The Council may take decisions which are at variance with their advice, providing there
are reasonable grounds to do so. However, Members may expose themselves to risk if they
disregard clearly expressed advice, for example as to the level of provision required for
contingencies, bad debts, and future liabilities. In addition, if Members wish to reinstate savings
recommended by the Director of Finance in order to balance the budget, they must find
equivalent savings elsewhere.

The Director of Finance is required by Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and by the
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 (as amended) to ensure that the council’s
budgeting, financial management, and accounting practices meet relevant statutory and
professional requirements. This is in addition subject to the requirements set out above.

Members must also have regard to, and be aware of, the wider duties placed upon the council
by various statutes governing the conduct of its financial affairs. These include the distinction
between revenue and capital expenditure and the requirement to set prudential indicators in line
with capital investment plans that are prudent, affordable, and sustainable.

Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 makes it a criminal offence for any
Member with arrears of council tax which have been outstanding for two months or more to
attend any meeting at which a decision affecting the budget is to be made, unless the Member
concerned declares at the outset of the meeting that he or she is in arrears and will not be voting
on the decision for that reason. The Member concerned must not vote but may speak. The
application of Section 106 of the 1992 Act is very wide, and Members should be aware that the
responsibility for ensuring that they act within the law at all times rests solely with the individual
Member concerned.

If a referendum is held after the beginning of the relevant financial year, the higher rate of
council tax will be payable unless and until it is overturned by a ‘no’ vote in the referendum. It
must also provide “substitute calculations” which need to be presented to Council setting out
what the alternative budget would be. This means that that if a party proposes a council tax
above the referendum limit, they must also produce “substitute calculations” within the
referendum limit, to be used in the event that the referendum would reject the increase. In the
event that a referendum rejects the increase, the billing authority would be able to issue new
bills, offer refunds at the end of the year or allow credits against liability the following year,
although individual council taxpayers would be entitled to a refund on demand.

Summary of human resources implications

139.

The 2026/27 budget will have a direct impact on the level of services delivered by the council,
the mechanism by which those services are delivered and the associated staffing establishment.
It is inevitable that the 2026/27 budget proposals we lead to a further reduction in the workforce.
Not all these posts will currently be filled. Some will be vacant posts, some will currently be
provided via agency staff arrangements, and some will be filled with staff on short term

114



140.

contracts. Where a redundancy is necessary action has been taken to ensure that they will be a
voluntary redundancy in sofar as is possible.

This report acknowledges that various transformation programmes and the actions necessary to
manage future years budgets are also likely to have an impact on future staffing levels.

Summary of sustainability impact

141.

142.

143.

144.

Consideration has been given as part of this budget for 2026/27 of ways in which BCP Council
could contribute to environmental improvements / targets and by example encourage this
approach in those with whom it deals. The budget continues to protect the staffing resources
associated with climate change and ecological emergency activity. In addition, as at the 31
March 2025 £0.962m was available in an earmarked reserve to support project activity.

The accommodation and business transformation programmes underpinning the MTFP will
make the council more environmentally friendly through a reduced estate and different ways of
working, including the continued ability for staff to work effectively from home. This will reduce
energy consumption and pollution levels as well as produce savings to protect services. The
budget as presented also assumes a further investment in greening the council’s vehicle fleet as
set out in a report to Council in February 2025.

An Environment & Place Overview & Scrutiny Budget Working Group in the Autumn of 2024 set
out that based on current understanding that £64m may be required to meet the council’s net
zero targets by 2030 although a proportion of this would be delivered through strategic
partnerships and securing external funding. The ongoing challenge to the council will be bridging
the gap between the resources needed and the £0.962m available in the earmarked reserve.

In addition to the environmental and social impacts of climate change, there is also a risk to BCP
Council of significant financial consequences if it fails to meet its declared climate targets.
Council has pledged to become carbon neutral by 2030 as an organisation and lead the area to
become net zero carbon ahead of the 2045 UK100 target. Based on forecasts from the London
School of Economics the council would have to incur costs of over £3m per annum to purchase
the necessary offsetting carbon credits to meet the carbon neutral pledge in 2030. Clearly this
costwill act as an incentive to the council to prioritise the activity and investment necessary to
meet this priority.

Summary of public health implications

145.

146.

The Department of Health and Social Care public health grant allocations for 2025/26 was
£23.379m for BCP Council which was an increase of 5.87% from the 2024/25 allocation. It has
been agreed that £10.988m would be contributed towards shared contracted services with
Dorset Council as part of the phased transition away from shared public health service.

In addition to the basic allocation, the council also received the following additional allocations.
e £3.023m drug & alcohol treatment and recovery improvement grant (DATRIG)
e £429.9k for the local stop smoking and support grant (LSSSASG)

Summary of equality implications

147.

148.

149.

In this budget the council has sought to maintain appropriate services for the most vulnerable as
well as improve the sustainability of services important for the wellbeing of all residents.

The impacts of the council budget for 2026/27 have been assessed considering the nine
protected characteristics (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership,
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and other
characteristics including low socio-economic status, carers and care leavers. The Equality and
Human Rights Commission’s six domains of equality measurement framework have also been
considered, identified as the areas of life that are important to people and that enable them to
flourish. These are: Education, Work, Living standards, Health, Justice and personal security,
and Participation.

The cumulative impact of the proposals indicates that low-income households and individuals
will be most negatively affected, followed by older age groups and disabled people. However,
the investments and mitigating actions aim to support these groups and promote equality within
the community.

115



150.

151.

152.

As part of the budget, council tax is being raised to support increased service provision, which
will have a positive impact on many residents. Mitigating actions have been identified to support
those who would be most negatively affected.

Individual equality impact assessments have or will be carried out to support individual savings
where a potential negative impact has been identified for service users or the workforce. This
will ensure conscious consideration is given to the Public Sector Equality Duty and mitigating
actions are put in place to minimise any potential or actual negative impacts.

An overarching EIA is included as Appendix 11 to this report.

Summary of risk assessment

153.

Throughout this report and the accompanying formal s25 report of the Director of Finance,
presented at Appendix 10, reference has been made to several key risks to which the council is
currently exposed. Members are reminded that these can be summarised as follows.

Financial Outturn 2025/26

Quarter 3 2025/26 budget monitoring sets out that the council is currently forecasting that it will
overspend its 2025/26 approved budget by £4.6m (1.3% of its net budget) after the release of all
the budgeted contingencies.

The risk will be that although the Quarter 3 forecastis based on trend analysis and professional
judgement it is only based on activity from 75% of the financial year. Predications and estimates can
and will change over the remaining 25% of the financial year. Assurance can be taken from the
financial performance in previous year’s (the outturn has been within budget for each of its first 6
years), from 2025/26 in year monthly service reporting and the fact that it is hoped that the current
controls on expenditure will continue to bear down on service expenditure.

The intent is to fund this forecast overspend from the one-off additional business rates resources
being made available in 2026/27 following the fundamental review of council’s collection funds in
accordance with the approved financial strategy. There is however no further flex in these business
rates resources so any extra deterioration in the forecast overspend would have to be funded from
unearmarked reserves. As a matter of principle should any improvement be delivered in the final
quarter then consideration will need to be given to.

e Further supporting unearmarked reserves and improving the financial health of the council
which has been impeded by the 2025/26 forecast overspend.

e Ensuring that the council can continue to fund its regeneration service after 31 March 2027.

e As recognised in the Treasury Management Strategy, to the voluntary repayment of debt.

Local Government Funding Formula

Although a 3-year settlement has been announced it should be emphasised that the second and
third years 2027/28 and 2028/29 are illustrations only and will only be confirmed as part of the
annual local government finance process. It is clear that the current funding formulas do BCP
Council no favours.

Accumulating Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Deficit.

Special Educations Needs and Disability expenditure by BCP Council of cE96m more annually
than the government grant being made available to fund such services is not sustainable. The
historic accumulating deficit already means that the council became technically insolvent as of
31 March 2025. The statutory override that allows the council to ignore the accumulated DSG
deficit in relation to the assessment of its financial solvency will expire on the 31 March 2028.
Without government support for our historic and accruing DSG deficits it is difficult to see how a
legally balanced budget for 2028/29 can be set. The government have committed to providing
details of such support later in the Local Government finance settlement process.

Cashflow Crisis

BCP Council has been cash flowing the annual payment of SEND invoices in excess of the
annual DSG high needs grant by what is referred to as its “treasury management headroom”.
Generally, this headroom is the timing difference between receipts for council tax or business
rates arriving and the date when the actual bills they fund are paid, alongside any cash-backed
balance sheet items such as reserves and provisions. The use of this headroom has a direct

116



impact on services the council can otherwise provide as it means less earned interest or higher
external debt costs whichin 2026/27 is forecastto be around £10.5m.

Robust management and slippage within the capital programme has deferred the likely date on
which the council is likely exceed the threshold on borrowing in financing its DSG deficit until
early in the 2027/28 financial year. Council will need to keep this issue on its agenda and reflect
as to how it will be impacted by any support for historic and accruing DSG deficits once the
government make any announcements on this issue.

New Pay and Grading Structure

A key requirement following the establishment of BCP Council was to create a single new pay
and grading structure. This position was resolved when Council on 16 July 2025 agreed to the
enhanced Pay and Reward offer post a further ballot of trade union members and agreement to
move towards a collective agreement. The report set out the intent to increase the permanent
pay bill of the authority by £4.545m (2.44% increase on the pay base). These calculations
related to the individual appointments and salaries of staff as they were known as of 21 April
2025 and related to filled paid permanent posts and excluded any provision for vacant posts,
casual employees, apprentices, agency staff or as a result of any future re-mapping outcomes.
The report also emphasised that the annual incremental drift exposure of the council, which the
financial planning assumption, has been and continues to be, that it will be managed by
services, has increased from £1.5m to £4m per annum due to the additional head room within
grades from the revised structure.

Council has therefore taken a qguantum leap forward in 2025 in mitigating the risks associated
with not having a single pay and grading. However, the increase in base salary costs
implemented via this project and the additional incremental drift will challenge the ongoing
viability of numerous council services. The approach will be a particular challenge in managing
services which operate on a full cost recovery basis, who cover their costs by fees and charges
or third-party contributions, or who recharge their costs to either capital or the Housing Revenue
Account. Services partly funded by theses mechanisms will only receive corporate resources to
reflect the proportion of their service funded directly from a source other than those listed.
Additionally, it should be emphasised that no corporate resources were provided to cover any
vacant or casual posts or for any service re-mappings after the 21 April 2025.

An emerging risk is associated with how staff were assimilated into the newly approved pay
structure which was at the bottom of the grade and market pressures to secure new staff at
spinal column points higher up within the pay band. Cabinet working with the Senior Leadership
Team will need to keep this issue under constant review.

Pay Award

A 2.8% provision for the 2026/27 pay award has been made as part of the proposed budget.
Any deviation from the amount provided will require £2m for every 1% variation. Trade unions
tabled a pay claim in December 2025 for 2026/27 which included demands for an increase of at
least £3,000 or 10% (whichever is greater) across all spinal column points, a two-hour reduction
in the working week and an increase of one day’s annual leave. In 2025/26 a 3.2% pay award
for local government works was agreed by the National Employers Organisation which can be
compared to the 2.8% provided for locally. Government’s initial evidence to pay review bodies is
for a 2.5% increase in 2026/27.Benchmark comparisons indicate other local authorities across
the southwest are assuming around 3% with our nearest neighbour at 3.2%.

The adequacy or otherwise of the 2.8% provision presents a clear risk to the budget.

Uncertainty.

High levels of financial planning unpredictability exist at this time caused principally by the
ongoing implications of various inflationary factors on the costs of goods and services procured
by the council with geopolitical factors continuing to have a particular influence.

Delivering savings, efficiencies, and additional income generation.

Combination of delivering the £14m of additional savings, efficiencies and additional income
assumed in presenting the 2026/27 budget with the relentless requirement to identify further
potential proposals to support the ongoing need to balance future year budgets.

117



Realisation of capital receipts to fund transformation and invest to save programmes.
£18.5m of capital receipts from the disposal of assets needs to be delivered across the 4-year
period to the 31 March 2029. This is to fund currently approved transformation and invest to
save programmes including the service specific programmes in Children’s and Adult services
alongside a provision for future costs that will need to be put forward to directly reduce the net
service expenditure budget of the council and in doing so contribute towards the necessary
annual corporately budgeted savings, efficiencies and service reductions. This risk will grow if
the council is granted a capitalisation direction to fund the 2026/27 and 2027/28 borrowing costs
/ lost interest on the DSG deficits via the sale of assets. Currently the risk is mitigated by the fact
that as of early January 2026 £11.5m of the £18.5m target has already delivered with a further
£5.8m anticipated before the 31 March 2026.

Adult Social Care Services.

Ongoing costs and demands on the service including the impact on the cost of commissioned
care due to the announced increase in the national living wage as well as the capacity in the
care market, the introduction of a sector wide Fair Pay Agreement in 2028, and guidance that
that people should not be paying for services which meet their mental health needs.

For 2026/27 there is the additional risk introduced via the Fair Funding Formula that the
Department of Health and Social Care will be publishing “notional” adult social care amounts
which will be their expectation of how much council funding should be spent on adult social
care. It is unclear how this approach reconciles with the unringfenced nature of the funding and
what level of pressure they will apply to any disparities.

Adult Social Care Sector — Fair Pay Agreement

As a result of legislative changes the Fair Pay Agreement (FPA) via Adult Social Care Pay
Negotiation Body will set a minimum standard for pay and other terms and conditions in Adult
Social Care market. The agreement is aimed to improve the whole care market workforce and
ASC workforce pay conditions, staff retention and make the sector more attractive as an
employment opportunity. This, however, will limit the ability of funding bodies, local and health
authorities, to minimise the impact of sector pay expectations on their own budgets. The FPA
consultation runs till mid-winter 2026, but what is understood so far is that the government’s plan
is to devolve £500 million of grant funding in 2028/29 to local authorities to initiate the FPA.
However currently there is no detail as to what the agreement will result in — higher wages,
establishing sector pay floors, pay spines, increase in care worker annual leave allowance and
subsequent need to employ higher number of employees by care providers.

One of the illustrative potential outcomes suggests an increase in basic pay to care workers by
5.1% in April 2028. For BCP Council such an increase would mean a pressure of £4.9 million in
addition to already reported MTFP growth. It needs to be assumed that such additional pressure
would be entirely covered from the new external DHSC grant. Whether the grant would be on-
going, and whether local authority allocation would equal the additional pressure from pay
negotiations, remains unknown at this time.

Additional pressures willemerge from private care sector, with self-funders depleting their own
resources faster and accessing local authority funded care much quicker. There are no tools to
guantify this impact on the BCP Council budget. FPA could also potentially pose a risk of pay
increase disputes where local authority in-house care workers annual pay award, negotiated by
National Joint Council, would differ from sector pay increases required by newly formed
negotiation body.

Adult Social Care — Section 117 (6) Mental Health Act 1983 Accommodation Plus
Guidance issued by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman and legal advice
clarified that people should not be paying for services which meet their mental health needs
under Section 117, including specialist accommodation/supported living. Where accommodation
costs form an intrinsic part of the aftercare arrangement, the Council and/or Integrated Care
Board (ICB) should pay for this, and the person should not be expected to claim housing benefit.

This legal position may affect as many as 110 people currently in specialist accommaodation in
BCP Council who may be entitled up to 6 years back pay. There will be an expectation that NHS
Dorset will pay part of the costidentified in line with their agreed contribution to the after-care
provision for each individual. BCP potential risk after NHS Dorset contribution could be as high
as £2.4m in backpay and over £396,000 as an ongoing net pressure. In 2025/26 financial year

118



Adult Social Care recorded circa 60 service users with Accommodation Plus needs having
impact on the ASC 2025/26 budget position. It is felt legality remains a key factor in potential
retrospective claims however the current provision related to Accommodation Plus is recognised
to be sufficient (£1.052m). Any further changes to the provision will be a result of ongoing work
pertaining to historic cases from the perspective of 6 years liability limitation period.

Housing: Temporary Accommodation including Bed and Breakfast

Ongoing costs and demands on supporting the 3,300 households on the councils housing
register and 601 households in temporary accommodation of which 64 are in Bed and Breakfast
including 5 families.

Children’s Services.

Ongoing costs and demands on the service including the impact on the cost of commissioned
care due to the announced increase in the national living wage, alongside the relentless
increase in the home to school transport budget for pupils with Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities.

Extended Producer Responsibility

This government policy is designed to help achieve environmental goals such as recycling by
making producers responsible for their products along their entire lifecycle including the post-
consumer stage. In 2025/26 BCP council were given a guaranteed allocation of £9.447m to help
offset costs associated with waste collection and disposal. The allocation for 2026/27 is
£9.703m however this amount is not guaranteed and there is a high degree of uncertainty in
regard to the final amount eventually receivable. It is clear that the Scheme Administrator (PACK
UK) will be required to assess the effectiveness of the council’s waste management services via
an audit process. If it is deemed that we are not compliant then the council can be fined part of
our ERP payment (up to 20% i.e. £1.941m) and also instructed in what we need to do to
become efficient and effective. For example, this could involve PACK UK deciding, at the
council’s cost, that we should introduce a separate paper/cardboard collection process.

Waste Strategy

A current significant uncertainty in the context of the council’'s medium term financial plan is the
impact of the national waste strategy and the possible implications of policies such as the plastic
film collection (April 2027), and Deposit Return Scheme (October 2027) for each of which there
is likely to be an additional recycling cost and savings in the volume of black bin waste. There is
then the Emissions Trading Scheme (January 2028) which is likely to lead to a general increase
in waste disposal costs. At this stage the MTFP includes estimates of the impact of the waste
strategy in 2027/28 and 2028/29 based on work undertaking by industry experts. However the
potential impact will need careful monitoring as the level of uncertainty reduces closer to actual
implementation dates.

Council Owned Companies and Joint Ventures.

BCP operates several companies and third-party arrangements with these organisations
exposed to their own set of financial and operational risks. As such the council would only
provide for its share of suchrisks in circumstances were therisk is likely to materialise.

Carters Quay.

Payments of £15.3m have been made towards the development of the agreed 161 new homes
with ancillary ground floor amenity and commercial space scheme. Inland Partnership the
contractor entered administration late in 2023. Officers are currently in negotiation with the
Administrators for the developers to recover the land at Carters Quay. BCP Council have a
registered charge on the land to cover the monies paid but are negotiating a release fee to
obtain the freehold title and take possession of the land. Until the current position is resolved
with the administrator and the scheme fully developed there is a clear risk the arrangement will
cost more than has been allowed for as part of the previously approved business case.

Loss or disruption to IT systems and Networks from a cyber-attack.

Such actions can incapacitate essential networks by encrypting or destroying data on which vital
service depend. Financial loss is common through both direct loss of funds as well as recovery
costs and reputational damage. Recent ransomware attacks are reported to have cost councils
between £10m and £12m in damage. The industry adage is when, not if, an attack will happen.

119



In January 2024 three councils in Kent, Canterbury City Council, Thanet District Council and
Dover District Council were referencing disruption to their services as a result of an attack. In
November 2025, three central London councils, Hammersmith and Fulham, Kensington and
Chelsea, and Westminster were all citing similar problems. Attacks on Marks & Spencer,
Heathrow Airport, Transport for London, Jaguar Land Rover, and the Co-op Group during 2025
emphasise that even the country’s largest organisations are at risk and that all companies and
councils should do all they can to counter threats and protect themselves.

Microsoft Licensing Costs

Significant pressure associated with the Councils Microsoft licenses specifically related to the
human resource arrangements and a requirement to have a full Dynamics license allocation to
process timesheets. Work with our licensing reseller, Microsoft, and peers have identified the
issue as a bug that it is anticipated will be fixed by an update process in late January 2026.

Should the fix not be successful then the council will have a £1m unavoidable cost exposure
which has not been provided for as part of the proposed 2026/27 budget or MTFP and will also
be required to fundamentally rework by the 15 April 2026, the date by which these licenses need
to be renewed, on how the council operates to avoid even further additional licensing cost
exposure

Legal Claims.

Covering various matters such as planning, highway, car parking, social care, or staffing,
numerous legal claims have been logged against the council. The risk includes exposure to
legal costs in defending the councils position in excess of the normal provision made as part of
the legal service budget alongside any settlements or costs awarded against the council.

Background papers

154.

155.

156.

157.

158.

159.

160.

161.

162.

163.

164.

February 2025: Budget 2025/26 and Medium-Term Financial Plan report.
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=284&Mid=6294&Ver=4
May 2025: Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) Update report.
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=285&Mid=6062&Ver=4
July 2025 Financial Outturn 2024/25
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=285&Mid=6064&Ver=4
July 2025: Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) Update report
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=285&MId=6064&Ver=4
October 2025: Quarter One Budget Monitoring Report 2025/26
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=285&MIid=6066&Ver=4
October 2025: Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) Update report
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=285&MId=6067&Ver=4
November 2025: Quarter Two Budget Monitoring Report 2025/26
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=285&MId=6068&Ver=4
December 2025: Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) Update report

December 2025: Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) High Needs Expenditure Forecast 2025/26
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=285&MId=6069&Ver=4

January 2026: Council Tax - Taxbase report 2026/27
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=285&MId=6070&Ver=4

January 2026: Treasury Management 2025/26 monitoring and strategy 2026/27
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=287&Mid=5985&Ver=4
February 2026: Quarter Three Budget Monitoring Report 2025/26

February 2026: Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget setting 2026/27

February 2026: Early Years and Mainstream Schools Funding 2026/27
120



https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=284&MId=6294&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=6062&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=6064&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=6064&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=6066&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=6067&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=6068&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=6069&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=6070&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=287&MId=5985&Ver=4

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=285&MId=6071&Ver=4

165. The full budget consultation report is available on the council’'s engagement website

Appendices
Appendix 1a Corporate Strategy (A4 format)

Appendix 1b Updated Shared Vision

Appendix 1c Consideration of s114 report

Appendix 1d Analysis of Budget Consultation Exercise

Appendix 2  Schedule of Council Tax Charges 2026/27

Appendix 3  Key Assumptions

Appendix 4  Absolute MTFP

Appendix 5  Budget Summaries

Appendix 5a Savings Schedule 2026/27 Onwards

Appendix 5b Beach Chalets discount removal

Appendix 6  Transformation Investment Programme including Flexible Use of Capital Receipts
Appendix 7  Capital Investment Programme (CIP) Overview & Narrative

Appendix 7a CIP Individual Project Listing

Appendix 8  Asset Management Plan

Appendix 9  Treasury Management Strategy

Appendix 10 s25 Report of the CFO (Robustness of the budget adequacy of reserves)
Appendix 10a Reserves Summary and Detail Statement

Appendix 10b Reserves Risk Assessment

Appendix 11 ENIA

Appendix 12 Chief Officer Pay Policy 2026/27

121


https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=6071&Ver=4

This page is intentionally left blank

122



XA

Where people, nature, coast and
towns come together in sustainable,
safe and healthy communities

Our place
and environment

Vibrant places where
people and nature flourish,
with a thriving economy
in a healthy, natural
environment

Our people
and communities

Everyone leads a
fulfilled life, maximising
opportunity for all

We are an open, transparent and
accountable council, putting our
people at the heart of our services

Our vision
and ambitions

¢ People and places are connected by sustainable and modern infrastructure

e Our communities have pride in our streets, neighbourhoods and public spaces

e Our inclusive, vibrant and sustainable economy supports our communities to thrive
¢ Revitalised high streets and regenerated key sites create new opportunities

e Our green spaces flourish and support the wellbeing of both people and nature

e Climate change is tackled through sustainable policies and practice

¢ \Working together, everyone feels safe and secure

¢ High quality of life for all, where people can be active, healthy and independent
¢ Those who need support receive it when and where they need it

¢ Good quality homes are accessible, sustainable and affordable for all

e Employment is available for everyone and helps create value in our communities
e Skills are continually developed, and people can access lifelong learning

¢ | ocal communities shape the services that matter to them

¢ Using data, insights and feedback to shape services and solutions

* |ntervening as early as possible to improve outcomes

¢ \Working closely with partners, removing barriers and empowering others
¢ Providing accessible and inclusive services, showing care in our approach
¢ Developing a passionate, proud, valued and diverse workforce

e Creating an environment for innovation, learning and leadership

e Using our resources sustainably to support our ambitions

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028



This page is intentionally left blank

124



BCP

Council

A shared vision | ?%*=°

for Bournemouth,
Christchurch and Poole

bcpcouncil.gov.uk



This page and page 5:
Arts by the Sea Festival

James Bridle, HotShot Creative

Contents

Messages from the Leader
and Chief Executive of
BCP Council

Introduction

Our vision and ambitions
Our recent successes

Our place and environment
Our people and communities
Our approach

What we are focusing on
over the next two years

Together we will work
with renewed energy and
focus to deliver our vision

for Bournemouth,
Christchurch
and Poole.

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028




B
N
\l

Millie

BCP Council Leader

In 2024 we set out a vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole that
described how we would make the most of our three towns’ potential, deliver
effective services and champion our residents, businesses and visitors. Over the
last two years we have made substantial progress, overcome challenges and

been recognised for our achievements.

We have strived to improve services for our most
vulnerable residents so they can live fulfilled

and happy lives. In January 2025, OFSTED
recognised the significant progress made by our
Children’s Services and gave us a ‘good’ rating
— making BCP Council one of only two local
authorities to move straight from ‘inadequate’

to ‘good’. Our efforts to tackle homelessness
have been recognised nationally, with more than
£9 million of funding secured and Bournemouth
selected as a trailblazer by HRH Prince of Wales’
Homewards initiative. And we’ve worked to
move families out of unsuitable temporary B&B
accommodation.

We’ve listened to our residents who want to see
improvements to our town centres and local

highstreets, investing £358,000 to enhance
public spaces, upgrade lighting and put on
events. Businesses, from national chains to local
independents, are opening across our towns
and major employers recognise our local talent
and potential. We've protected and improved
our beautiful green spaces and supported our
cultural heritage, including renovating Poole
Museum.

I’'m proud of what we’ve achieved so far and
excited about what we are yet to do. While our
vision and ambitions remain the same, we have
updated the activity plan for the next two years
to ensure we maintain momentum and continue
to deliver for those we serve.

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028

BCP Council Chief Executive

| had long admired BCP Council’s fierce and energetic commitment to
transformation and continuous improvement before | joined as Chief Executive
in September 2025, and | am proud to now be part of a trailblazing council.

The commitment to be a modern, forward
thinking council set out in this document is
becoming a reality. We’ve delivered new systems
across HR and Finance, put our council on a
stable financial footing and our Senior Leadership
Team has been recognised with a national
award. We are on the right trajectory.

Our transformation programme has not only
introduced efficiencies and saved money, it has
also helped us establish a new way of working
that is transparent, accountable and anchored
by our values of respect, integrity, passion,
pride and innovation.

When we introduced this strategy in 2023,

we promised to put people at the heart of
what we did, seek and listen to feedback and
work with partners to make the most of all our
strengths. And these remain our priorities now.

The landscape in which we operate remains
challenging — demand for our services is
increasing while funding is squeezed. But |
remain optimistic that, with our clear vision and
action plan, we can continue to work with our
partners to deliver for our residents, visitors and
businesses.




Our vision

Where people, nature,
coast and towns come
together in sustainable,
safe and healthy
communities

AR 1T B .
N YA

INntroduction

People are at the centre of our vision and ambitions and
we recognise that the area’s unique geography, natural
environment, diverse communities and regeneration
aspirations are important parts of creating a thriving place
where everyone can reach their full potential.

This strategy is our plan of action focusing in on what we need to do to
deliver our ambitions and monitor progress.

It provides a single set of key priorities for the whole council and sets the
scene for working with our partners.

Having a clear vision and set of ambitions ensures we are purpose-led and
not task-led, giving a focus for delivery. This strategy sets the direction for
all our policy and strategy development, service planning, budget setting
and service delivery.

Our priorities are:

Our place and environment

Vibrant places, where people and nature flourish, with a thriving
economy in a healthy, natural environment

Our people and communities
Everyone leads a fulfilled life, maximising opportunity for all

These priorities are underpinned by our approach, to be open, transparent
and accountable, putting our people at the heart of our services, with a set
of clear guiding principles by which we will work.

In setting our vision, ambitions, and plan of action, we have ensured the
themes of sustainability, inclusion and equality and diversity run through all
that we do.

We have mapped our priorities to the UN Sustainable Development Goals,
a universal blueprint for all countries to end poverty, protect the planet and
ensure prosperity for all.

We have also aligned with the Purpose Goals, a leading UK-based
framework for organisations to articulate their purpose and the social
impact they are seeking to achieve.

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028



6T

Where people, nature, coast and
towns come together in sustainable,
safe and healthy communities

Our place
and environment

Vibrant places where
people and nature flourish,
with a thriving economy
in a healthy, natural
environment

Our people
and communities

Everyone leads a
fulfilled life, maximising
opportunity for all

We are an open, transparent and
accountable council, putting our
people at the heart of our services

Our vision
and ambitions

¢ People and places are connected by sustainable and modern infrastructure

e Our communities have pride in our streets, neighbourhoods and public spaces

e Our inclusive, vibrant and sustainable economy supports our communities to thrive
¢ Revitalised high streets and regenerated key sites create new opportunities

e Our green spaces flourish and support the wellbeing of both people and nature

e Climate change is tackled through sustainable policies and practice

¢ \Working together, everyone feels safe and secure

¢ High quality of life for all, where people can be active, healthy and independent
¢ Those who need support receive it when and where they need it

¢ Good quality homes are accessible, sustainable and affordable for all

e Employment is available for everyone and helps create value in our communities
e Skills are continually developed, and people can access lifelong learning

¢ | ocal communities shape the services that matter to them

¢ Using data, insights and feedback to shape services and solutions

* |ntervening as early as possible to improve outcomes

¢ \Working closely with partners, removing barriers and empowering others
¢ Providing accessible and inclusive services, showing care in our approach
¢ Developing a passionate, proud, valued and diverse workforce

e Creating an environment for innovation, learning and leadership

e Using our resources sustainably to support our ambitions

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028



Our recent successes

In this document we outline the key things we are going to
focus on for our residents, businesses and communities
over the next few years. Below we have set out just some
of the achievements of the last year in 2024-2025.

J X

Transformed Children’s Reduced the number of Recognised as White

Services from ‘Inadequate’ families and children in B&Bs Ribbon Accredited,
to ‘Good’ in just three from 140 households to zero highlighting our
5 years when rated by and maintained a ‘functional commitment to creating
© Ofsted, keeping children zero’ for more than nine a safe community for

safe and supported. consecutive months. women and girls.

—1

Launched a new Adult Successfully integrated a Declared the UK'’s first ever
Social Care Strategy, in new Public Health service  ‘Nature Town’, highlighting
which we are supporting into BCP Council, delivering collaborative working to

people to live fulfilled lives. a BCP-focused service. protect and restore nature.

0 s

Launched a new Children Delivered a more visible Published our Urban
and Young People’s Community Safety Forest Strategy, paving

Partnership Plan, working Accreditation Scheme the way for our towns
with partners to ensure all (CSAS) Officers across our to support a sustainable
children and young people three towns, resulting in an urban forest, benefitting

have the best possible 18% reduction in anti-social people and wildlife in

opportunities in life. behaviour in the past year. every neighbourhood.

10 A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028

) B Tm

Installed 116 electric Awarded ‘Green Flag’ status Restored public
vehicle charging points recognising the outstanding access to the historic
since March 2024, management and Hamworthy Lake Pier,
bringing the total to 220 maintenance of Poole Park securing its future
across the BCP area. and Upton Country Park. towards its 100th year.

é/ Z\H
Completed upgrades Secured ‘Blue Flag’ status Formed BCP Leisure,
to the Hengistbury Head for nine of our beaches bringing management
Long Groyne, protecting for their water quality, of five leisure centres
up to 6,000 homes safety, accessibility nature in-house, to encourage

and providing new and and sustainable coastal healthy living habits
improved habitats for management. and community sport.

our local wildlife.

g

S

Restored Scaplen’s Bournemouth town centre  Accelerated our reduction
Court and Garden, and accredited with the ‘Purple in the council’s carbon
renovated and reopened Flag’ award for the 15th emissions, achieving an
Poole Museum, preserving year in a row, recognising overall 21% reduction
culture and history in Poole  a safe and vibrant night- in CO. emissions since

declaring a Climate
Emergency in 2019, with
14% in 2024/25.

Town Centre and providing time economy, delivered
residents and visitors with through effective
a free destination. partnership working.

2955

Harmonised pay and
benefits for all staff.

2

Awarded the Municipal Appointed a new
Journal (MJ) Senior Chief Executive
Leadership Team of the after a rigorous

Year award. recruitment process.

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028

11



Our place
and environment

T Vibrant places where
= people and nature flourish,
“+ with a thriving economy . -
' in a healthy, natural -~ *#
environment.

A

-
e

1/=5] /5] I
I 1]

(/i (

Our place and
environment

People and places are connected by sustainable
and modern infrastructure

Our communities have pride in our streets,
neighbourhoods and public spaces

Our inclusive, vibrant and sustainable economy
supports our communities to thrive

Revitalised high streets and regenerated key sites
create new opportunities

Climate change is tackled through sustainable
policies and practice

Our green spaces flourish and support the wellbeing
of both people and nature




14

CeT

Nature

& )

2,500 19

hectares of Sites of Special Scientific
greenspace (approx) Interest (SSSI’s)

19%

of the BCP Area is
covered in trees (approx)

1S miles 2nd

of sandy beaches

SHOP

~ /-A
™1 ITIT1

15,555

businesses in heritage
the BCP area conservation areas

<@

10m

visitors annually
spending over £5681m
with 12,000 tourism jobs

‘ Sustainability

.:9:.
o o —
—r I

549,

decrease in council CO.emissions
between 2005-2020

Signed up to the UK100
Network for ambitious
climate leaders

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028

{:ﬁ Focus

N\ areas

People and places are
connected by sustainable and
modern infrastructure

Provide a safe, accessible, sustainable
and convenient transport network that
meets the needs of all residents.

Improve digital connectivity for residents
and businesses.

Our communities have pride in our streets,
neighbourhoods and public spaces

Improve the accessibility and appeal of our
beaches, parks and public spaces.

Improve the cleanliness of our towns.
Preserve and enhance our local heritage.

Reduce street-based antisocial behaviour (ASB).

Our inclusive, vibrant and sustainable
economy supports our communities to thrive

Encourage and increase local and sustainability-
minded businesses.

Support local areas to thrive by enabling
community-led activities and events across the
BCP area.

Revitalised high streets and regenerated key
sites create new opportunities

Create vibrant and appealing high streets for
shopping, leisure and community and
cultural activities.

Explore options for regenerating key sites,
creating opportunities for the local area.

& "
=
=

Climate change is tackled through
sustainable policies and practice

Deliver a carbon neutral council by 2030,
area wide by 2045.

De-centralise energy networks by 2028, locating
energy production closer to energy demand in
our homes and buildings.

Increase the amount of renewable electricity
generated across the BCP area.

Mitigate effects of climate change on key sites.

Ensure the BCP area has sufficient fit-for-
purpose waste infrastructure to manage all the
waste it produces.

Tackle the effects of climate change with
our partners.

Our green spaces flourish and support the
wellbeing of both people and nature

Develop greenspaces to improve the accessibility
and quality of play.

Improve biodiversity across Bournemouth,
Christchurch and Poole.

Create a pipeline of greenspace and ‘urban
greening’ improvements to improve biodiversity.

Engage and work with partner organisations to
support the quality and care of our greenspaces.

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028 15



16

O i

Measures of progress
People make the place,

¢ Increase the percentage of residents who are

satisfied with their local area as a place to live i and a‘t B( ;P ( ;OUHC” we
¥ . 111 -'- 1T &
¢ Increase the number of businesses in the | eLs ~-,€-1L o= e Q F -:éﬂ. o L i 41
BCP area l: RO b < < ’_ ' _;_: : ;sTI-J-___'JI
| | B & o
S [ O y

¢ |ncrease footfall across our three Town
Centres

* Increase the percentage of physically active
adults, children and young people

¢ Reduce the tonnes of greenhouse gas
emissions from our vehicles and buildings

¢ Increase the total number of sustainable
passenger trips in the BCP area per year

¢ Increase the number of publicly available
Electric Vehicle (EV) charge points

¢ Increase the percentage of waste diverted
from landfill

¢ Increase residents’ satisfaction with street
cleaning

¢ Increase the number of Fixed Penalty Notices
served for fly tipping and littering offences

* |ncrease the percentage of planning
applications determined on time

Baselines, targets and intervention levels have
been set for each of these measures. This helps to
monitor progress and provides useful insights for
service planning and decision-making.

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028




Our people
and communities

Everyone leads
a fulfilled life,
maximising
opportunity
for all.

Our people and
communities

Ambitions

High quality of life for all, where people can be active,
healthy and independent

Working together, everyone feels safe and secure

Those who need support receive it when and where they
need it

Good quality homes are accessible, sustainable and
affordable for all

Local communities shape the services that matter to them

Employment is available for everyone and helps create
value in our communities

Skills are continually developed, and people can access
lifelong learning

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028

19



People

80000 &0

403,600 24%

predicted population expected to be
size by 2028 over 65 by 2028

80+

languages spoken across BCP

Health
N —
w
ol
Overall health and Educational
wellbeing as good attainment at all

or better than key stages above
national average national average

v
82%

of adults in good health

of residents felt
safe after dark

20

Focus

\\ areas

High quality of life for all, where people
can be active, healthy and independent

Support people to live independent, fulfilled
lives, staying healthier for longer.

Work with partners to improve residents’
health and wellbeing outcomes and reduce
health inequalities.

Increase physical activity in communities
through access to leisure centres, parks and
encouraging active travel.

Working together, everyone feels safe
and secure

Reduce and tackle incidents of serious violence
and domestic abuse.

Work with communities to improve
neighbourhood safety.

Keep young people and adults at risk of harm
safe from exploitation, including online risks.

Those who need support receive
it when and where they need it

Right support at the right time for
children and families.

All children and young people have
the best opportunities in life and are
supported to flourish and grow.

Enhance social care and support
arrangements, increasing understanding and
reducing inequalities for those receiving care.

Ensure people impacted by homelessness
receive the help they need to access a
settled home.

Recognise the valuable contribution that
carers make to our communities and support
their wellbeing.

Continue to work with partners as part of the
Access to Food Partnership enabling people to
feed themselves and their family nutritious food,
all of the time.

Ensure households are supported with information
to help with the cost of living situation.

Supporting care experienced young people to
transition into adulthood.

Good quality homes are accessible,
sustainable and affordable for all

Continue working with partners to end
homelessness in BCP by ensuring everyone has
a safe place they can call home.

Enhance the support available to those in
temporary accommodation.

Continue improving our planning service so it
delivers meaningful outcomes for the local area.

More high quality, affordable and sustainable
homes to meet residents’ needs.

Ensure our 10,000 council homes are of good
quality, well managed and our service is
resident-led.

Local communities shape the services that
matter to them

Use engagement, consultation, co-production
and lived experience to help inform the decisions
we make.

Develop a council-wide approach to empowering
communities to do more for themselves and
develop solutions around the things that matter
to them.

Employment is available for everyone and
helps create value in our communities

Encourage local job creation through links with
universities, Bournemouth and Poole College,
schools and businesses.

Skills are continually developed, and people
can access lifelong learning

All children and young people have access to
education, skills and employment opportunities.

Work with families and schools to reduce exclusion.

Develop more opportunities and rewards for
inclusive volunteering.

Provide lifelong learning opportunities for people
to gain rewarding employment.

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028 21



22

Measures of progress

Increase the percentage of residents who have good life satisfaction
Increase the percentage of residents who feel safe in their local area

Reduce the number of children who are missing out on education and excluded
from school

Reduce the attainment gap and improve learning outcomes for vulnerable children and
young people at all key stages

Increase the number of people with a learning or mental health disability living
independently

Increase the uptake of supported employment for those with learning or mental health
disabilities

Increase the number of registrations from people in the most deprived areas accessing
health and wellbeing support (LiveWell Dorset)

Increase the percentage of Education Health Care Plans issued within 20 weeks

Increase the percentage of adult social care users and carers who are satisfied with the
care and support they receive

Reduce the number of people rough sleeping
Increase the number of both completed new affordable homes and social rented homes
Reduce levels of serious violent crime

Reduce levels of Anti-Social Behaviour, increase enforcement outcomes relating to
street-based ASB

Increase the number of individuals entering drug treatment
Reduce the number of homeless households in bed and breakfast

Increase the percentage of residents who feel they can influence decisions affecting
their local area

Increase the percentage of residents who have engaged in civic participation in the last
12 months

Increase the number of jobs created or safeguarded through Government or other
external funding

Baselines, targets and intervention levels have been set for each of these measures.
This helps to monitor progress and provides useful insights for service planning and
decision-making.

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028

Creating a safe
and healthier place,
where residents and

visitors feel safe

and welcome.




LET

Our approach

We are open,
transparent and
accountable, putting
our people at the heart
of our services.

Our approach

Principles for how we work

Working closely with partners, removing barriers and
empowering others

Providing accessible and inclusive services, showing care in
our approach

Using data, insights and feedback to shape services
and solutions

Intervening as early as possible to improve outcomes
Developing a passionate, proud, valued and diverse workforce
Creating an environment for innovation, learning and leadership

Using our resources sustainably to support our ambitions

Our values

l@‘ We treat everyone with respect

N4
:' We are passionate about our communities

@p We have integrity
(o] . .
We embrace innovation

@ We take pride in what we do
(]

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028

25



8€T

Our council

]
o)
£54m 76

in transformation Councillors
savings delivered as representing
of March 2025 33 wards

A

5,000+ 63%

staff of staff are female

<:X Focus

\\ areas

Working closely with partners, removing
barriers and empowering others

Exploring options of a governance model that
allows communities to make local decisions
and take action.

Implement a model of successful and productive
partnerships to deliver shared objectives.

Work in partnership with businesses to
generate funds to promote the local area as a
destination and encourage tourism.

Work with the Local Government Association
(LGA) and other industry partners to set out our
key asks to Government.

Providing accessible and inclusive
services, showing care in our approach

Provide accessible and inclusive services,
putting people at the heart of what we do.

Improve the customer journey so enquiries can
be resolved quickly and satisfactorily.

Using data, insights
and feedback to shape
services and solutions

Put in place systems to create services
with improved reporting and response rates.

Continue transforming our services to make
improvements and deliver efficiencies.

Intervening as early as possible to
improve outcomes

Develop strategies and actions that improve
access to early support.

Act early to provide resettlement support and
prevent homelessness.

Continue developing a more flexible and
responsive approach for children, young people
and families who need support.

Developing a passionate, proud, valued
and diverse workforce

Be competitive in our total rewards offer with an
equitable and harmonised pay structure and set
of terms of conditions.

Foster an inclusive work culture where people
can be themselves at work, feel included and
have a sense of belonging.

Build a reputation for excellence and innovation
and take a long-term approach to recruit people
with the skills, attitudes, and knowledge we need
now and in the future.

——

—
-

e, —

-w—— . e - i*.

Be fair and consistent in how we recognise,
value and celebrate success, ensuring that our
values and behaviours are of equal importance to
skills and experience.

Creating an environment for innovation,
learning and leadership

Have an improved and recognised governance
structure in place fit for a modern local
democracy .

Create a high performance culture that
encourages effective and inspiring leaders.

Lobby and influence as innovative sector leaders
to advance and improve services.

Using our resources sustainably to support
our ambitions

Take tough decisions to ensure the council has a
sustainable financial future.

Deliver sufficient asset disposals to finance our
transformation investment programme 2024/25.

Implement the dedicated schools grant
management plan to ensure high needs
expenditure projections are in line with the
delivery plan submitted to Government.

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028 27



Measures of progress

¢ Increase satisfaction with the way we run things
¢ |ncrease levels of trust in the council

¢ Increase the percentage of residents who think we
provide value for money

¢ [ncrease the proportion of people who use care
services who find it easy to find information
about services

¢ Increase the number of successful candidates
from underrepresented groups for council jobs

¢ Increase the levels of employee engagement

¢ |ncrease the number of assets transferred to
communities

¢ Increase the percentage of successful grant
applications

¢ Increase the percentage of equality monitoring
data collected from staff

¢ Increase customer interactions via our digital
platforms

¢ Reduce the number of upheld Ombudsman
complaints per 10,000 of the population

* Increase the percentage of business rates

collected LN Y e g ;

* Increase the percentage of council tax collected R s A Lt = ; oy We are wo I’klﬂg to

* Increase the percentage of staff who feel they Sl i ) g AN tranSfO F'Mm our Orgaﬂlsatlon 0
are valued for the work they do and feel proud to 7 7 A S :

iNto a modern, accessible,
S e, and accountable councill
Baselines, targets and intervention levels have been B : -j. .' I_ i 3 fOr our CO”eagueS and

set for each of these measures. This helps to monitor
progress and provides useful insights for service CUStOmerS .
planning and decision-making.

work for the council

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028




30

orT

What we're focusing on 2025-27

Investing £4.4million into over 120 play
spaces, beginning major works to repair and
refurbish existing areas and create improved
and inclusive community play spaces.

Implementing simpler recycling legislation,
including new food waste collections to
reduce landfill and support sustainable
options.

Improving the seafront for our residents and
visitors including upgrades and repairs to
Bournemouth Pier to expand its lifespan for
another 25 years.

Through the Bus Service Improvement

Plan, upgrading key bus routes, including
Bournemouth Bus Station to Bournemouth
town centre, to make it easier and more
convenient for residents and visitors to reach
jobs, enjoy the beach, and leave their cars
at home.

Completing the installation of 25 solar power
projects, increasing sustainable energy use
across our three towns.

Launching a pilot scheme to make electric
vehicle charging easier from homes with no
driveway, and installing an additional 500
public charge points.

Supporting 500 households to access
funding for insulation and free energy
advice through the Healthy Homes
Dorset scheme.

Implementing Dorset’s Local Nature
Recovery Strategy to ensure wildlife
across Bournemouth, Christchurch
and Poole can thrive for years to come

Establishing the BCP Growth Board, which
aims to increase footfall, jobs, and business
across our three towns.

Developing a Heritage Strategy to protect
assets for the future and secure funding

Repair and improve Poole Bridge, ensuring it
works well for our residents and visitors.

Deliver the implementation of a Library
Strategy, ensuring they remain at the heart of
communities.

First residents moving into 110 new
sustainable council-owned homes in
Hillbourne, Poole, offering high-quality places
to live for individuals, couples, and families in
the local community.

Put residents first by delivering a Residents’
Card that makes parking, shopping and
eating in Bournemouth, Christchurch and
Poole more accessible.

Developing a 30-year plan for the
management and maintenance of our
housing stock, ensuring council homes are
maintained to appropriate standards for our
10,000+ tenants.

Shaping and contributing to the Wessex
devolution programme, championing our
residents and the area’s unique urban context
and strategic assets.

Working with partners to increase
employment rates and earnings and reduce
youth unemployment through upskilling in
key areas such as English and Maths, IT,
leadership and management.

Deliver the Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy, preventing instances of
homelessness or ensuring that they are rare,
brief, and not repeated.

Strengthening and refining our approach to
performance measurement by improving our
impact measurement.

Embracing the opportunities of evolving
technology, such as championing the safe
and sustainable use of artificial intelligence to
ensure our work is efficient.

Embedding a culture of continuous
improvement to get the best value for money
for our residents.

Delivering a balanced and resilient medium
term financial plan.

Delivering robust elections for Town Councils
in 2026 and BCP Council in 2027.

These are just a handful of some of our key
activities over for 2025-27, building on the
achievement so far to continue creating a thriving

place where everyone can reach their full potential.

31



32

T

National Frameworks

UN Sustainable Development Goals

The United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals (SDG’s)
are a framework for the major
global challenges of economic,
environmental, and social
sustainability. Every country in
the world has agreed to deliver
these goals by 2030. They

are a set of 17 interconnected
goals with 169 targets beneath
them. Every priority within

this strategy contributes to
achieving the SDG’s.

Purpose Goals

The Purpose Goals offer a way

to address key obstacles to
opportunities in the UK. The
Purpose Coalition developed the
14 goals, which target different
social and economic challenges,
from early childhood development
to workplace inclusivity and health
and wellbeing. They share common
ground with the UN Sustainable
Development Goals and help the
council to pursue social mobility.

They align with the UN
Sustainable Development Goals
and support our efforts to advance
social mobility. Every priority

within this strategy contributes

to achieving these goals.

NO IERD GOOD HEALTH QUALITY GENDER
POVERTY HUNGER AND WELL-BEING EDUCATION EQUALITY

Pl

6 CLEAN WATER DECENT WORK AND
AND SANITATION ECONOMIC GROWTH

L

11 SUSTAINABLE CITIES 1 2 RESPONSIBLE ‘I CLIMATE 'I LIFE
AND COMMUNITIES CONSUMPTION ACTION BELOW WATER

AND PRODUCTION
aba
(g ]+ +]55152]

1 PEACE, JUSTICE 'I PARTNERSHIPS
AND STRONG FOR THE GOALS
INSTITUTIONS

Y,

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION

1 0 REDUCED
AND INFRASTRUCTURE INEQUALITIES

15 oo

Stron Open
foundations recruitment
in Early Years

Extendin, Closing the
9 enterprisg ]O digital divide

‘I '| Infrastructure '|2 Building homes
for opportunity & sustaingle
communities

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028

The table below shows our key priorities
mapped to the corresponding SDGs and
Purpose Goals. This demonstrates how the

principles of sustainability, social mobility and
equality of opportunity runs through everything
we do.

Priority SDGs

Purpose Goals

Our Place and Environment

0700DDOEEDOD ®PBPi M

Our People and Communities 099069@0@@

@2 3456 7814

Our approach

0000000

4 56 78014

UK100 Network

Our council leaders have taken further steps to
combat the effects of climate change, by signing
up to the UK100 Network. This is a network of
ambitious local leaders who have pledged to lead
a rapid transition to Net Zero, with clean air in their
communities ahead of the UK’s legal target.

This pledge aligns with our commitments made in
2019 when we declared a climate and ecological

emergency and committed to make BCP Council
carbon neutral by 2030.

Being part of UK100 helps us to reach our
climate goals as we can draw on the experiences
of other councils to help us deliver better
outcomes for our residents.




34

44"

How we operate

as a councll

Our operating model shows how we work

as an organisation to deliver services to our
communities. It ensures all council activities

are led by the shared vision and priorities,
underpinned by core values for the way in which
we do things — essential foundations for being
open, transparent and accountable, putting our
people at the heart of our services.

At the heart of our operating model are centres of
expertise, driven by data and insight, best practice
and shared knowledge to improve the quality of
services across the council.

We will continue moving towards digital and
automated processes to deliver efficiencies

How we work

and improved access to our digital services,
whilst keeping a focus on more personalised
approaches where digital does not work.

We will continue to learn from best practice,
ensuring our policies and operating frameworks
are aligned to national drivers and our services are
positioned to achieve our shared vision.

Where people, nature, coast and
towns come together in sustainable,
safe and healthy communities

Centres of expertise

Towards digital and automated

Driven by data and insight

Data and insight

Our values

A shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 2024-2028




Key strategies

Some of the key strategies linked to this shared vision for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.

Adult Social Care Strategy

BCP Housing Strategy

BCP Local Plan

Community Safety Partnership Strategy

Economic Development Strategy

Green Infrastructure Strategy

People and Culture Strategy

Working better together - Integrated Care Partnership Strategy

All council strategies, plans and policies can be found here.

Appendix

Find more details on this strategy here.



This page is intentionally left blank

144



Consideration of the possible need to issue a Section 114 Report
- Often mistakenly referred to as a council declaring bankruptcy)

A report issued under s114 (3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 is one
made by a councils Chief Finance Officer (CFO) if in their opinion they believe that
the expenditure to be incurred during a financial year is likely to exceed the available
resources. It is considered good practice to consult the Chief Executive and
Monitoring Officer before such a report is issued. A copy of the report must be sent
to all councillors and the external auditor.

Such areport is only issued in the gravest of circumstances and is most likely to be
required in a situation in which reserves have become depleted, and it is forecast
that the council will not have the resources to meet its expenditure in a particular
financial year.

The report triggers a short-term statutory prohibition on entering into any new
agreement which may involve the incurring of expenditure without the permission of
the CFO. Statutorily the CFO can only consent to new agreements or to terminate
existing agreements during this period if they will prevent the situation getting worse,
improve the situation, or prevent a recurrence.

The report must be considered at a meeting of the Council within 21 days of the
report being issued. At the meeting the authority must decide if it agrees or
disagrees with the views in the report and the actions it proposes to take. If Council
cannot still agree a balanced budget position, then the authority is required to call in
the external auditor who must then try to set a balanced budget.

In addition, the Government can intervene on how services are run by a council
following the issuing of a s114 Report. Most councils in this situation have been the
subject of such intervention via Commissioners or members of an intervention board
who are usually experts with lengthy experience in local government. Ultimately,
they have the power to direct a council over budgetary and other decisions.

This process has often been, mistakenly, likened a council declaring bankruptcy. In
practice it is more like the process of a company entering administration in that core
statutory services are maintained but the government will place commissioners in
the Council to make the decisions that are needed to balance the budget, generally
by cutting all non-statutory expenditure

A budget may become unbalance due to any significant alteration to either
expenditure or income including for example from a sudden policy change,
demographic pressures, unexpected funding pressures, a failure to realise planned
savings, or from a natural disaster.

The council should find an alternative way to balance the budget, such as an
emergency savings programme or applying for Exceptional Financial Support (EFS)
from the government. Where EFS is approved this normally takes the form of a
capitalisation direction, whereby government allow revenue expenditure to be
capitalised and funded from debt. Conditions attached to EFS applications vary but
usually involve the sale of capital assets and using the receipts to reduce the debt
increased via the EFS borrowing. If a budget cannot be balanced a s114 notice must
be considered by the s151 officer.

Nineteen s114 notices have been issued since the legislation came into force in
1988. Since 2018 there have been fourteen s114 notices issued by nine councils as

APPENDIX 1c
145



set out below. This clearly demonstrates they can occur in different types of
councils, in different geographical regions and in councils under different political

control.
Notice at time of S114
Northamptonshire  Feb 2018 and East Midlands County council Conservative
July 2018
Croydon Nov 2020 and London London borough Labour
Dec 2020
Slough Jul 2021 South East Unitary council Labour
Nottingham Dec 2021 East Midlands Unitary council Labour
Northumberland May 2022 North East Unitary county Conservative
Croydon Nov 2022 London London borough ~ NOC
Thurrock Dec 2022 East of England Unitary council Conservative
Woking May 2023 South East District council Lib Dem
Birmingham Sep 2023 (twice)  West Midlands Metropolitan Labour
District
Mottingham MNov 2023 East Midlands Unitary council Labour
Barnet Jan 2025 London London borough Labour

10. S114 notices remain rare, but they are not as rare as they used to be.

APPENDIX 1c
146



BCP Council Budget Consultation 2026/27

1.1

2.1

2.3

24

Summary

We want to understand our residents’ and businesses’ views to help us set our 2026/27
budget and medium-term financial plan (MTFP). We launched a consultation on Tuesday 18
November 2025 asking for views on the importance of council services, priorities for spending
and levels of council tax.

Methodology

This report looks at the results from the open consultation conducted in 2025 and the sample
survey conducted in November 2024. We undertook an open consultation survey so that we
could inform residents and stakeholders about the current position with the council’s finances
and give everyone a chance to have their say on how the council should prioritise its
spending. Open surveys by their nature often don’t receive a representative response (e.g.
they tend to attract more responses from residents over the age of 65 compared to those
residents under the age of 30). This is why we have chosen to provide the results of the
sample survey conducted in 2024 alongside the results of the 2025 consultation. The sample
survey, although a year old provides insight from a representative sample of residents, and we
can ensure, to a certain degree of confidence, that the results would be the same if we were to
survey every resident over the age of 18 living in our area. Generally, sample survey data can
be relied upon for up to 3 years dependent on the rate of change in the environment (e.g.
survey data ages faster when services and policies have changed or external shocks occur
e.g. cost of living pressures, pandemics). Sample survey from 12 months ago can be
considered reliable evidence to use alongside other information to support decision making.

Open consultation

A survey and an accompanying information document were produced and available online
and in paper format. The consultation was widely promoted through a press release, social
media channels and in all local libraries. The consultation was sent to residents and
stakeholders signed up to the council’s consultation register. The consultation closed on
Sunday 14 December 2025. A total of 869 responses were received.

Sample Survey

In 2024 the council commissioned a research company to run a sample survey. A knock-and-
drop paper survey method was used. This is where teams of trained staff call on residents
door-to-door and ask for co-operation with the survey. Support is offered to the resident if
needed, for example if they have sight loss or need help with reading/writing, and the
interviewer is then able to help them at their door. If support is not required, the interviewer
arranges a time to come back and collect the survey. To ensure the survey sample was
representative by area, a random sample was drawn from a ranked list of Lower Super Output
Areas (geographies that comprise between 400 - 1,200 households and have a resident
population between 1,000 and 3,000) and surveys were conducted in those selected LSOAs.
The sample was selected so that it closely resembled the wider BCP Council population in

" The Indices of Deprivation are a unique measure of relative deprivation at a small local area level
(Lower-layer Super Output Areas). The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) ranks every small area in
England from 1 (most deprived area) to 32,844 (least deprived area). There are 240 LSOAs in the BCP

area.

1
Appendix 1d

147



24

2.5

3.1

3.2

41

5.1

terms of the Bournemouth, Christchurch, and Poole area and IMD quintiles 1 - 5. Interviewers
were given quotas of certain numbers of surveys they had to get completed so that the
sample was representative by sex, age, and ethnicity.

A sample of 750 was achieved which provides a confidence level of +/-3.6% at a 95%
confidence level.

Throughout this summary the terms open consultation and sample survey will be used to
distinguish between the results of both methods.

Profile of respondents

Open consultation

Compared to the overall BCP Council resident population, the open consultation received a
higher proportion of responses from those aged 45 and older and fewer responses from those
under the age of 44. It also received a higher proportion of respondents from a White Other
ethnic background.

Sample survey

The research company was asked to meet a quota so that the survey sample was
representative of sex, age, (area Bournemouth, Christchurch, and Poole) and the index of
multiple deprivation and ethnicity. The data was weighted to improve its representativeness
further within an accepted tolerance.

Awareness of the Council’s financial situation

In the sample survey 15% of respondents said that they felt informed of the council’s financial
situation. This compares to 56% of respondents to the open consultation. Some open survey
respondents may feel more informed because they are more likely to engage with council
communications, for example newsletters or social media. Due to how the open survey is
promoted e.g. through the council e-newsletters, social media etc, the sample survey provides
better insight into whether the BCP population feels informed about the council’s financial
situation.

Council Tax

63% of the open consultation respondents said that their first choice for level of council tax
would be to raise it by less than 4.99%, 35% said their first choice would be to raise council
tax by 4.99% and 10% said their first choice would be to raise council tax by more than 4.99%.
Whereas 81% of respondents to the sample survey said their first choice would be to raise it
by less than 4.99%, 16% said their first choice would be to raise council tax by 4.99% and 4%
said their first choice would be to raise council tax by more than 4.99%.

Sample Survey Open
Consultation
First choice would be to raise Council tax by less o o
than 4.99% 81% 63%
First choice would be to raise council tax by o o
4.99% 16% 35%
First choice would be to raise council tax by more o o
than 4.99% 4% 10%
2
Appendix 1d

148



6.1

Importance of council services

Respondents were asked ‘thinking generally about the local area and council services which
five services do you feel are most important.’ The cells highlighted in green show the top five
selected services for each of the methods and the orange show the five services thought by
respondents to be least important. The five most important services to respondents of the
sample survey were children’s social care, adults social care, supporting schools and
education, community safety and anti-social behaviour and maintaining roads and pavements.
For the open consultation maintaining roads and pavements, collecting rubbish and recycling,
adults social care, maintaining parks and open spaces and children’s social care were seen as

the top five most important services.

Table 1: Importance of council services

Sample | Sample Open Open
survey Survey survey survey
% rank % rank

_(1=most (1=most

important) important)
Providing children’s social care services 58% 1 48% 4
Providing adult social care services 57% 2 50% 3
Supporting schools and education 48% 3 31% 7
Community safety and anti-social behaviour 44% 4 37% 6
Maintaining roads and pavements 42% 5 56% 1
Maintaining parks and open spaces 38% 6 48% 4
Collecting rubbish and recycling 36% 7 52% 2
Helping people who are homeless 36% 7 23% 10
Affordable decent housing 32% 9 19% 11
Managing the road network to address 26% 10 27% 8
congestion
Tackling the climate emergency 21% 11 9% 14
Keeping streets clean 18% 12 27% 8
Job prospects 17% 13 8% 15
Community services 11% 14 8% 15
Providing sports and leisure facilities 10% 15 12% 13
Providing libraries 6% 16 15% 12
Supporting cultural activities and venues 5% 17 6% 18
Providing planning and building control 3% 18 7% 17
services

3
Appendix 1d

149



Figure 1: The importance of council services (sample survey and open consultation)

o
Maintaining roads and pavements 56%

42%

Collecting rubbish and recycling 52%

36%

50%

57%

Providing adult social care services

o]
Maintaining parks and open spaces 48%

38%

48%

Providing children's social care services

58%
37%

44%

Community safety and anti-social behaviour

[0}
Supporting schools and education 31%

48%

. 27%

Keeping streets clean m%
. 27%
Managing the road network - 26%

23%

Helping people who are homeless

36%

Affordable decent housing 19%

32%

- . . 15%
Providing libraries 6%
- . i 12%
Providing sports and leisure facilities 10%
(o]

o
Tackling the climate emergency %

21%

Community services

X
—
=
X

Job prospects 17%

7%
%
6%
5%

Providing planning and building control
services

.

Supporting cultural activities and venues

m Open (2025) m= Sample (2024)

7. Service improvement

7.1 Respondents were asked to select up to five services that they felt were most in need of
improving. The cells highlighted in green show the top five selected services for each of the
methods and the orange show the five services thought by respondents to be least in need of
improvement. In both the sample survey and the open consultation ‘maintaining roads and

Appendix 1d

150



pavements’ and ‘community safety and anti-social behaviour’ were seen as most in need of

improvement.

Table 2: Council services most in need of improvement

Sample | Sample Open Open
survey Survey survey survey
% rank % rank
(1=most (1 = most

improving) improving)
Maintaining roads and pavements 53% 1 65% 1
Community safety and anti-social behaviour 46% 5 499, 2
Helping people who are homeless 41% 3 27% 7
Providing children’s social care services 40% 4 239, 10
Providing adult social care services 37% 5 29% 6
Affordable decent housing 36% 6 27% 7
Managing the road network to address congestion 359% 7 41% 3
Supporting schools and education 32% 8 21% 11
Maintaining parks and open spaces 22% 9 37% 4
Keeping streets clean 22% 9 37% 4
Job prospects 18% 11 8% 16
Collecting rubbish and recycling 17% 13 25% 9
Tackling the climate emergency 16% 13 11% 12
Community services 14% 14 9% 14
Providing sports and leisure facilities 8% 15 9% 14
Supporting cultural activities and venues 5% 16 6% 18
Providing planning and building control services 5% 16 79, 17
Providing libraries 4% 18 10% 13

5
Appendix 1d

151



Figure 2: Council services most in need of improvement (sample survey and open

consultation)

Maintaining roads and pavements

Community safety and anti-social behaviour

Managing the road network to address
congestion

Keeping streets clean

Maintaining parks and open spaces

Providing social care services for elderly /
disabled people

Affordable decent housing
Helping people who are homeless

Collecting rubbish and recycling

Providing social care services for vulnerable
children

Supporting schools and education
Tackling the climate emergency
Providing libraries

Community services

Providing sports and leisure facilities

Job prospects

Providing planning and building control
services

Supporting cultural activities and venues

m Open (2025)

15

53%

42%

46%
41%

5%

37%

22%
37%

22%

%
37%

36%

N
3
>~

41%

7%

N
N
>

40%

32%
1%
16%

-bo
ICOO\_\
23
3~

14%

2
R

8%

\o‘l°8

3 X
—
2
X

Ao O
X e X

m Sample (2024)

N

65%

Appendix 1d



8.2

8.4

8.5

Service priorities

The analysis of the importance and the improvement of services can help the council prioritise
which services it should look to improve and which services it should look to sustain or
possibly reduce if funding is limited.

The council should look to improve these services and should strive for a high standard of
service as these services are most important to residents and are seen as most in need of
improving.

Sample survey

+ Affordable decent housing

Open consultation

+ Collecting rubbish and recycling

« Community safety and anti-social
behaviour

» Community safety and anti-social
behaviour

* Helping people who are homeless » Keeping streets clean

» Maintaining roads and pavements » Maintaining parks and open

* Providing adult social care spaces

services Maintaining roads and pavements

* Providing children's social care
services

Managing the road network to
address congestion

» Supporting schools and education Providing adult social care

services

There are two different services that scored above average for importance but below average
for needing improvement for both the open consultation and the sample survey. These are the
areas where the council could look to sustain performance as they are important to residents
but are not seen as a priority for improvement.

Sample survey
* Collecting rubbish and recycling

Open consultation

* Providing children's social care

« Maintaining parks and open services

spaces » Supporting schools and education

There is one service which scored above average for improvement but below average for
importance from the sample survey and two from the open consultation. Although this is not
seen as important compared to other services residents want to see improvements in this
area.

Sample survey Open consultation

* Managing the road network to
address congestion

+ Affordable decent housing
* Helping people who are homeless

Appendix 1d

153



8.6 There are eight services from the sample survey and seven from the open consultation which
score below average for importance and improvement.

Sample survey

« Community services
» Job prospects

» Keeping streets clean
* Providing libraries

Open consultation

« Community services

» Job prospects

* Providing libraries

* Providing planning and building
control services

* Providing planning and building
control services

* Providing sports and leisure
facilities

» Supporting cultural activities and
venues

+ Tackling the climate emergency

* Providing sports and leisure
facilities

» Supporting cultural activities and
venues

» Tackling the climate emergency

9. Spending priorities

9.1 Respondents to both the open consultation and the sample survey were given a list of council
service areas and information about how much of its revenue budget the council currently
spends within that area. Respondents were given the total cost but also how many pence in
one pound was spent on that service. They were also given a brief description of what was
included within each of the services.

9.2 Open consultation
For nearly all the spending areas the most popular answer was ‘to retain the same level of
funding,” except for highway services where the most frequent answer was ‘increase a little’
and support services where the most frequent answer was ‘decrease a little.’

9.3 Each response was given a value of +2 for ‘increase a lot’ through to -2 for ‘decrease a lot’. A
mean score was calculated to indicate which services respondents would like to spend more
on and which they would like to spend less on.? The service areas with the highest mean
score for the open consultation were:

* Highway services (0.72)

» Street cleaning (0.48)

+ Parks and open spaces (0.36)
» School Services (0.27)

* Children’s Social Care (0.25)

2 The mean of a set of numbers in a data set is obtained by adding up all the numbers then dividing by
the size of the data set. When people use the word 'average' in everyday conversation, they are usually
referring to the mean. Source: Newcastle University

8

Appendix 1d

154


https://www.ncl.ac.uk/webtemplate/ask-assets/external/maths-resources/statistics/descriptive-statistics/mean-median-and-mode.html
https://www.ncl.ac.uk/webtemplate/ask-assets/external/maths-resources/statistics/descriptive-statistics/mean-median-and-mode.html

94

9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

The service areas with the lowest mean score were:

» Support Services (-0.72)
» Cost of running our operational premises (-0.65)
» Customer Service (-0.35)

Sample survey

Similarly to the open consultation, for most spending areas the most common answer was
‘retain the same level of funding’ except for children’s social care and school services where
‘increase a little’ was the most popular answer.

Again, each response was given a value of +2 for ‘increase a lot’ through to -2 for ‘decrease a
lot’. A mean score was calculated to indicate which services respondents would like to spend
more on and which they would like to spend less on. The service areas with the highest mean
score for the sample survey were:

+ School services (0.76)

+ Children’s social care (0.71)
+ Highway services (0.68)

+ Street cleaning (0.57)

The service areas with the lowest mean score were:

* Cost of running our premises (-0.45)

+ Other central items and accounting (-0.37)
* Support services (-0.22)

* Planning (-0.20)

For both the open and sample survey, most respondents want the council to retain the same
level of funding for most of its service areas. If there was additional budget, the open survey
respondents prioritised highway services, street cleaning and parks and open spaces as the
services where they would like to see more money spent. The sample survey respondents
said they would like to see an increase in spending for school services, children’s social care,
highways, and street cleaning. If the council were to look at reducing spending in any service
area, both the open and sample survey respondents said that the council should look at the
cost of running its premises and support services costs to make savings.

Key points to consider

Overall, residents in the representative sample survey do not feel informed about the council’s
financial situation, while respondents to the open survey feel more informed. Some open
survey respondents may feel more informed because they are more likely to engage with
council communications, for example newsletters or social media.

Most respondents want council tax levels to be increased below 4.99% sending a strong
message that residents expect the council to keep any council tax level increases to a
minimum.

When it comes to service importance and improvement, the insight from the open consultation
and sample survey varies with a few similarities but more differences. The council should look

9

Appendix 1d

155



10.4

10.5

1.

1.1

at the findings of the sample survey if it wants to understand what the population think about
which services are most important and what needs improving as this is the data that is most
representative of the BCP population. The council should consider the findings alongside other
information e.g. service performance, costs etc. and consider whether it can prioritise these
services:

» Affordable decent housing

+  Community safety and anti-social behaviour
* Helping people who are homeless

» Maintaining roads and pavements

» Providing adult social care services

» Providing children's social care services

» Supporting schools and education

When it comes to how the council spends its money, most respondents would like the council
to retain the same level of funding for most of its services. If savings are to be made, then
respondents expect the council to make this from looking at the cost of running its premises
and back-office functions. Residents want the council to prioritise front line services. There are
some front-line services where residents would like to increase spending, for the sample
survey this was school services and children’s social care and for the open survey it was
highway services and street cleaning.

Throughout this summary we can see there are differences between the sample survey and
open consultation results. This emphasises the importance of conducting sample surveys
alongside open consultations to inform big decisions the council must make.

Further information

Please see the full analytical report on our consultation website.

10
Appendix 1d

156


https://haveyoursay.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/en-GB/projects/budget

BCP Schedule of Council Tax Charges 2026/27

Actual Proposed
Council Tax Change 26/27 Council Tax
2025/26 % 2026/27
£ £
Christchurch
Christchurch Town
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 4.99% £1,947.99
Christchurch Town £72.35 2.89% £74.44
Christchurch Town Total £1,927.76 £2,022.43
Burton & Winkton Parish
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 4.99% £1,947.99
Burton & Winkton Parish £18.27 0.82% £18.42
Burton & Winkton Parish Total £1,873.68 £1,966.41
Hurn Parish
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 4.99% £1,947.99
Hurn Parish £34.90 4.47% £36.46
Hurn Parish Total £1,890.31 £1,984.45
Highcliffe and Walkford Neighbourhood
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 4.99% £1,947.99
Highcliffe and Walkford Neighbourhood £32.86 2.74% £33.76
Highcliffe and Walkford Neighbourhood Total £1,888.27 £1,981.75
Bournemouth
Bournemouth Town (exc Throop and Holdenhurst)
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 4.99% £1,947.99
Bournemouth Chartered Trustee £2.24
Bournemouth Town £29.47
Bournemouth Town (exc Throop and Holdenhurst) Total £1,857.65 £11,331.54
Throop and Holdenhurst Village
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 4.99% £1,947.99
Throop and Holdenhurst Village £38.72 2.53% £39.70
Throop and Holdenhurst Village Total £1,894.13 £1,987.69
Poole
Poole Town (exc Broadstone)
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 4.99% £1,947.99
Poole Chartered Trustee £2.14
Poole Town £32.56
Poole Town (exc Broadstone) Total £1,857.55 £1,980.55
Broadstone Town
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 4.99% £1,947.99
Broadstone Town £60.34
Broadstone Town Total £1,857.55 £2,008.33
157

APPENDIX 2



This page is intentionally left blank

158



Key Assumptions

Service Pressures, Corporate Cost Pressures & Additional Resources,
Savings, and Efficiencies

Updated

Service Pressures (net of any specific grant changes)

Wellbeing Directorate
Children's Directorate
Operations Directorate
Resources Directorate
Service Pressures (net of any specific grant changes)

Savings, Efficiencies, Fees & Charges

Budget
2025/26

26/27

£m

February 2026 MTFP Position

27128 28/29

£m

Wellbeing Directorate (3.1) (1.1) (0.9) (5.1)
Children's Directorate (1.4) 0.0 0.0 (1.4)
Operations Directorate (4.0) (2.2) (1.3) (7.9)
Resources Directorate (1.0) (0.5) (0.1) (1.6)
Transformation (4.4) (7.5) (1.2) (13.1)
(139)  (111) (36 (286
Transformation Base Revenue Cost 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Debt Capital Repayment - Minimum Revenue Provision 12.1 0.4 0.4 0.4 1.2
Debt Interest on Borrowings 1.3 0.6 0.2 0.9 1.7
Treasury Management Income 0.7) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Pension - Back funding 3.7 (0.2) 0.4 0.2 04
Provision for the Pay Award 0.3) 59 42 43 14.4
Pay and Grading Project 1.7 3.4 (1.4) (0.2) 1.9
Benefits (1.3) 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.7
Investment Properties Income (4.7) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Miscellaneous including levies (3 4) (1 9) 0.9 0 9 (0 1]
Contingency (0.0)

Corporate Items - Cost Pressures m 46 ﬁﬁ

Funding - Changes m
T e ——— T “ 24 25 17 65
Annual - Net Funding Gap m

(16.5)

(4.6)

11.8

(16.7)

1.5

(37.8)

21.3

\Application of one-off business rates resources to MTFP

L 28 || 49 |

6.8

| 28

Annual - Net Funding Gap

Cumulative MTFP — Net Funding Gap

(0.0
(0.0

Marked as CONTF%SELED - INTERNAL

18.7
18.7

Appendix 3

1.5

30.1

30.1




The 2026/27 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) as presented is based on numerous
key assumptions that although they have been informed by many factors such as government
announcements, economic forecasts, and trend analysis, are also based on professional
judgement. These can be listed as follows.

1. Wellbeing

Service Pressures £11.5m for 2026/27 (6.5% increase over the 2025/26 budget as
adjusted for the government fair funding review) for demand and inflationary
increases.

Adult Social Care and Commissioning

The MTFP makes provision for an additional gross £27.2m investment in adult social care
services over the 3-year period to March 2029 (£11.4m in 2026/27). Funding support towards
these pressures has been assumed at the level of £0.4m in 2026/27 and £0.4m of growth each
year afterwards. The pressures, which exclude the impact of the pay award on the services
staff, arise from a combination of:

1) Assumptions around inflationary pressures within the care market. These pressures relate
mainly to increases for providers in staffing costs where a significant driver is the consequential
impact of changes in the national living wage (NLW) with this estimated at £11.8m over the 3
years.

2) It is worth noting that ringfenced grants (market sustainability and Improvement fund and the
social care support grant) currently built into the adult service are being rolled into the non-
ringfenced revenue support grant (RSG) in the government’s fair funding review process from
2026/27. Cost of services funded via rolled grants remains within Adult Social Care at the same
level as budgeted in 2025-26 financial year.

3) Demographic growth for all client groups is provided for at £11.5m over the 3-year period.

The NLW remains a key driver for the cost of care services affecting 70% of the cost of
providing home care and 65% for residential fees. The government supported the Low Pay
Commission’s suggestion that the NLW hourly rate is to grow to £12.71 from April 2026, which
translates into a 4.1% increase. The cost of care in the MTFP has been taken forward from this
base.

The remaining 30%-35% of the cost of providing care is driven by other cost of living factors
assumed to increase in 2026/27 by £1m and by a further £1.2m and £1.4m in 2027/28 and
2028/29, respectively.

The Health Secretary has announced plans to improve care workers pay along with the
introduction of a new sector-wide negotiation body to lead on pay conditions between
employers, trade unions and employees. These changes are to come into force in 2028 with
£500m of new funding from government for the sector. The current MTFP does not yet factor in
these changes.

Housing & Public Protection

The Housing & Public Protection service continues to face challenges across the 3-year MTFP,
with £0.5m of growth included in 2026/27 and recurring pressures forecast through to 2028/29.
These pressures reflect the ongoing impact of inflation on housing related support and
community safety contracts, alongside the need to meet statutory obligations and maintain
essential services.

From 2026/27, under the government’s fair funding review, key ringfenced grants for Housing &
Public Protection — namely the Homelessness Prevention Grant (HPG), Rough Sleeping

Appendix 3
Marked as CONTRBLLED - INTERNAL



Prevention and Recovery Grant (RSPARG), and Domestic Abuse Safe Accommodation Grant —
will be consolidated into a single ringfenced grant. In addition, a significant proportion of the
former HPG will transfer into the non-ringfenced Revenue Support Grant (RSG). While the
funding routes change, service costs supported by these grants are assumed to remain at
2025/26 budgeted levels.

2. Children’s Services

Service Pressures of £9.2m for 2026/27 (8.2% increase over the 2025/26 budget as
adjusted for the government fair funding review) for demand and inflationary
increases)

The MTFP makes provision for an additional gross £25.5m investment in children’s services
over the 3-year period to March 2029 (after additional specific grants). This pressure, which
excludes the impact of future pay awards on the services staff, is a combination of:

1) Children in care costs: Extra £7m uplift in 2026/27 followed by further annual uplifts of £6m
in each and every year thereafter.

a. Nationally the numbers of children in care during 2025/2026 have shown a slight decline
which has been contributed to by a drop in Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children
(UASC) entering the care system. During the same period BCP has seen an increase in
the number of children entering care, overall, an increase of 13.8% when compared to
2024/2025 outturn. UASC entering our care for the same period increased by 20.5%.

b. BCP Council places a higher proportion of children in in-house care (48%) than its
statistical and neighbouring comparators (43-44%). Recent increases since 2024 have
been driven primarily by growth in kinship care, with placements now almost evenly split
between mainstream and kinship carers. Without a sustained growth in approved
mainstream carers, BCP’s capacity to meet future placement demand is at risk.

c. The local registered parent assessment units and residential / supported children’s home
market has increased significantly providing more choice of provision for children in care.
Providers received an average fee increase of 4% for 2025/2026 which has contributed
to budget pressure.

d. The complexity of children in care continues to be a concern, there is an emerging trend
for providers to request additional funding to support the child once placed.

e. A children in care (CIC) strategy is being developed to support these issues.

2) School Transport for pupils with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND): Annual
uplifts of £2.2m in each and every year moving forward.

SEND transport costs are directly linked with the increasing number of education, health, and
care plans (EHCPs) and the pressure that continues in the high needs block of the dedicated
schools grant (DSG). The allowed annual growth of £2m has now been increased to £2.2m to
reflect current realities. This growth is before considering the impact of the Council approved
transformation project planned to deliver savings from 2026/27.

3) Grants

The social care grant provided since 2020/21 is assumed to continue along with all other
children’s social care funding throughout the 3 years of the plan. It is worth noting that the
Social Care Grant has been rolled into the non-ringfenced Revenue Support Grant (RSG) while
Children and Families Grant have been rolled into the ringfenced Consolidated Children’s
Families and Youth Grant from the 1 April 2026 onwards.

Appendix 3
Marked as CONTROLLED - INTERNAL



3. Operations

Service Pressures of £1.3m for 2026/27 representing an increase of 2.2% on the
2025/26 budget (largely driven by inflationary increases, changes to service
provision, and prudential borrowing costs related to capital schemes.

The MTFP provides for additional investment over the 3-year period to March 2029 of £11m
across operations services.

The on-going pressures over the 3 years are a combination of:

1) Inflationary pressures for waste disposal and recycling services linked to contracts and
market movements. Consequences of the governments waste strategy including the
arrangements for the roll out of food waste collection services to Poole residents in
2026/27 to ensure services are harmonised across the conurbation and adhere to the
legislative framework. Additional waste strategy implications have been included in the
MTFP including plastic film collection (April 2027), Deposit Return Scheme (October 2027)
alongside the anticipated upward impact on waste disposal costs of the Emissions Trading
Scheme (January 2028).

2) Fuel inflation has been allowed for along with reprofiled and additional prudential borrowing
repayments in line with the Fleet Replacement Strategy to ensure that the rolling capital
programme for fleet vehicles is maintained.

3) Inflationary pressures allowed for within sustainable transport for concessionary fares
increases following the recent rebase to reflect the current trend of journeys undertaken.

4) Other inflationary increases added to contracts across Operations including cleaning,
RNLI, seafront, intelligent traffic systems and abandoned & untaxed vehicles.

4. Resources

There are no net service pressures identified for 2026/27.

The Resources directorate continues to face financial challenges across the three-year
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), most notably a £1.5m pressure in 2028/29 driven by
increased Microsoft licensing costs. Other pressures span multiple service areas and
primarily reflect the impact of inflation on contracts and income challenges in areas such as
marketing.

The directorate remains committed to managing these pressures through service
efficiencies and cost controls, ensuring continued delivery of corporate support functions
and compliance with statutory responsibilities.

5. Pay Award

Local government agreed pay awards for 2018/19, 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 were 2%,
2%, 2.75% and 1.75%, respectively. The National Employers organisation took a different
approach in agreeing the pay awards for 2022/23, 2023/24 and 2024/25.

For 2022/23 a flat rate increase of £1.925 on every spinal column point was agreed. For
2023/24 agreement with the Trade Unions was reached on a flat rate increase of £1,925 on
every grade up to SCP43 and 3.88% above this level. For 2024/25 the agreement was based
on a flat rate increase of £1,290 on every grade up to SCP43 and a 2.5% increase above this
level. This equates to approximately an average increase of 4% which was 0.5% below the
budgeted amount for 2024/25.

Appendix 3
Marked as CONTRBELED - INTERNAL



Every 1% variation is estimated to require a £2m provision in the general fund once allowance
is made for recharges (for example to capital) and external contributions (such as adjusted fees
& charges etc.)

For 2025/26 the budget was drawn based on a 2.8% provision for the pay award in 2025/26.
This was in line with the 2.8% proposed 2025 pay award for public sector workers announced
by the government in December 2024. The February 2025 MTFP then made provision for
annual pay awards of 2% from 2026/27 onwards.

On the 23 July 2025 the National Employers Organisation agreed a 3.2% pay award for the
financial year 2025/26. This, alongside the fact that inflation currently remains stubbornly above
both 3% and the government’s 2% inflationary target, and the government’s initial evidence to
pay review bodies for a 2.5% increase has meant that the pay award provision for 2026/27 has
been drawn based on a 2.8% pay award with 2% assumed annually thereafter. Benchmark
comparisons indicate other local authorities across the southwest are assuming around 3% with
our nearest neighbour at 3.2%.

The provision for a 2.8% pay award should be assessed against the Trade Unions pay claim for
2026 received in early December 2025 which included.

e Anincrease of at least £3,000 or 10% (whichewer is greater) across all spinal column points.

e A two-hour reduction in the working week.

e Increase of one day annual leave

Additionally, as part of the savings and efficiencies proposals underpinning the 2023/24 budget,
provision was made for only 95% of each service’s employee establishment to allow for the
impact of turnover and other matters on the actual cost of the service. Previously the
assumption varied between services, of between 95% and 98%. Monitoring of the 95%
assumption is ongoing however the indications are some areas, particularly small teams with
low turnover, find it difficult to achieve this target. In addition, services continue to be expected
to manage the impact of any incremental drift in their services pay base.

6. New Pay and Grading Structure

A key requirement following the establishment of BCP Council was to create a single new pay
and grading structure. In setting a 2025/26 Budget a single pay and grading structure supported
by standard terms and conditions applied across all posts was not in place. Potential risks
associated with this position increased the longer it took to achieve this outcome however
officers were committed to achieving a single pay and grading and terms and conditions
outcome.

The position was resolved when Council on 16 July 2025 agreed to the enhanced Pay and
Reward offer post a further ballot of trade union members and agreement to move towards a
collective agreement. The report set out the intent to increase the permanent pay bill of the
authority by £4.545m (2.44% increase on the pay base) which was a further £1.752m above the
amount included in the 2025/26 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan as agreed by Council
in February 2025. These calculations related to the individual appointments and salaries of
colleagues as they were known as of 21 April 2025 and related to filled paid permanent posts
and excluded any provision for vacant posts, casual employees, apprentices, agency staff or as
a result of any future re-mapping outcomes. The report also emphasised that the annual
incremental drift exposure of the council, which the financial planning assumption continues to
be that it will be managed by services, has increased from £1.5m to £4m per annum due to the
additional head room within grades from the revised structure. The report included and Council
approved a list of savings proposals to cover the further additional £1.752m cost.

Appendix 3
Marked as CONTROLLED - INTERNAL



7. Pension Fund

BCP Council is a member of the Dorset Local Government Pension Scheme administered by
Dorset Council. The funds actuary Barnett Waddingham are required to revalue the fund every
three years (tri-annual revaluation) to determine both the value of its assets and liabilities and
the contributions rates for each employer in the fund.

The fund was last revalued as of April 2025, and the preliminary results were provided to each
employer in November 2025. The March 2025 position for BCP Council was a funding deficit of
£53.1m with a resulting funding level of 96.4% compared to a funding deficit of £53.9m as of 31
March 2022 equating to a funding level of 95.8%. Generally, the back-funding payments over
the last 3 years, improved market conditions and changes to life expectancy have acted to
reduce the deficit (increase the funding level) whereas assumptions of higher inflation and
salary costs have acted to leave the overall position unchanged as set out below.

Figure 1: BCP Pension Fund — funding levels

Funding Level

Local Authority 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-25
Bournemouth Council 79%
Christchurch Council 88%
Dorset County Council 80%
Foole Council 86%
BCP Council 82% 92% 96% 96%

In respect of the ongoing (primary) and secondary (back funding) contribution rates agreed with
the fund actuary these are set out in figure 2 below. BCP Council was required to satisfy itself
as to the reasonableness of these contribution rates. As part of that process, we challenged the
fund actuary around the discount rate used as a measure of prudence which reflects the funds’
ability to successfully deliver the assumed rates of return on investments, the approach to
stabilisation of contribution rates, and the deficit recovery period being used.

Compared to the initial proposal from the actuary the ongoing primary rate is unaltered however
the secondary rate contribution is £2.8m lower in 2026/27.

Figure 2: BCP Pension Fund contributions agreed with the actuary:

2019/20 202021 2021/22 202223 2023/24 2024125 2025/26  2026/27 2027/28  2028/29

Ongoing (Primary) Rate 196% | 162% | 16.8% [ 174% | 190% | 19.0% [ 19.0% | 16.3% [ 163% | 163%

Secondary (Backfunding) Rate | £943m | £5.8%9m | £610m | £6.32m [ £397m | £413m | £420m | £444m | £461m | £4.78m

Overall, compared to 2025/26 the consequential impact on the General Fund base revenue
budget was an annual positive impact of £3.2m from the reduced ongoing (primary) rate. This
positive impactis then slightly diminished by the increase in the secondary (back funding)
element

In comparing pay rates with those of other employers, it is important that everyone recognises
including current and prospective employees, that the council has a total contribution rate of
more than 19%. Many private sector companies will be making only a 3% minimum pension
fund contribution.

Appendix 3
t

Marked as CONTF’\Lg LED - INTERNAL



8. Inflationary Costs

Inflation is only provided for in service directorate budgets where it can be demonstrated that it
will be needed due to either market or contract conditions. Inflation as of September 2025,
which is applied or factored into several 2026/27 contractual uplifts, was 3.8% as measured by
the (CPI) Consumer Price Index. For comparison purposes the annual rate of CPI inflation was
1.7% in September 2024.

CPI Inflation as of December was 3.4% (November 3.2%) this was the first time in five months
that it had actually increased. RPI Inflation as of December 2025 was 4.2% (3.8% November
2025)

The government’s inflation target remains at 2% on an annual basis.

9. Treasury Management — Interest Cost

The MTFP assumes an additional £3m pressure on the treasury management function
related to the increasing need to borrow. Of the additional pressure, £2.4m is in relation to
the accumulated SEND deficit forecast to be over £183m by March 2026. In total the
Council will be servicing debt in relation to the deficit of £10.5m per annum by 2026/27.

The Council also needs to borrow cash to manage it overall cash position with decreasing
level of balances available to invest. The Council continues to employ an internal borrowing
policy which has avoided taking out additional external long-term debt and the associated
high interest rates payable however this is becoming harder to maintain as interest rates
are not falling as quickly as expected. The likelihood is temporary borrowing which has
maintained the cash position for a number of years will be switched to longer term
borrowing to allow greater security of cash on a daily basis.

10. Previous government specific grants as related to Adult and Children’s Social
Care transferred to non-ringfenced RSG from 2026/27

The Social Care Grant was introduced in 2020/21 and ringfenced to support social care for
adults and children and now includes the Independent Living Fund. The allocation to BCP
Council in 2025/26 amounted to £39.6m and locally split between Adult Social Care:
£29.3m and Children Social Care: £10.3m. The current Adults and Children MTFP assumes
no changes to this allocation within the RSG over the MTFP timeframe.

The Local Authority Better Care Grant, comprising former Improved Better Care Grant and
Adult Social Discharge Grant, allocated to BCP Council Adult Social Care is assumed to
remain frozen in 2026/27 at the level £16.6m.

The increase for the Better Care Fund of £0.4 million in 2026/27 is yet to be confirmed by
NHS Dorset ICB. Workis being undertaken by both partners within Better Care Fund to
establish envelope for this pool in 2026/27 and estimate NHS minimum contribution to local
authority commissioned care.

The Market Sustainability Fund initial allocation for 2025/26 was £7.7m. The Adult services
MTFP does not include any changes to this allocation, as the grant is being rolled into the
RSG with the impact uncertain.

Children Services specific Grants

The newly consolidated and ringfenced Children, Families and Youth Grant is made up of
existing grants which includes the Children Social Care Prevention Grant introduced in
2025/26, the consolidated Children and Families Grant, Holiday Activities & Food
Programme and Pupil Premium Post-16. Funding for this grant has been confirmed for the
next 3 years though final settlement for 2026/27 is yet to be announced.

Appendix 3
Marked as CONTRGDLED - INTERNAL



11. One-Off Resources

As part of the normal annual budget process the council is required to review the brought
forward and forecast position on each of its collection funds (business rates and council tax)
and make provision for the forecast year end surplus or deficit as part of the following years
budget.

Based on a 2023 fundamental review undertaken in respect of the business rates collection
fund a forecast surplus was treated as an exceptional one-off resource rather than as just
as part of the standard budget setting arrangements for 2024/25. This process was then
repeated in 2025 as part of both the financial strategy supporting the 2026/27 budget and a
precursor to the governments fundamental business rates reset timed to coincide with the
introduction of the governments new national fair funding formula.

Consequentially a further £10.330m has been released which is a combination of a
£11.449m Business Rates collection fund surplus reduced by a £1.169m Council Tax
collection fund deficit.

A schedule of how these resources is being applied is set out in figure 3 below. In summary
it continues to be applied to the delivery of outcomes in support one-off issues and the
financial health and sustainability of the council.

Appendix 3
Marked as CONTRBPLED - INTERNAL



Figure 3: Application of one-off business resources

Orginal
Application of Resources Total
El]l]l]s

Resources Available - Collection Funds [Surplus)

a) Resources set aside to support regeneration ambitions
Includes resources bo fund the staff transferred by BCP FuturePlaces Led over 2 d-pear period.

b] RBussell Cotes Museum /rooanate FFabnan SU58 S abinat ranont!

£2m One-off dowry payment + £250k one-off maintenance dowry payment,

£626k Base budget removed from 1 April 2024 but da not became self sufficient until 1 0ce 2026,

£50k Bage budget for corporate mainkenance removed from 1 April 2024 therefore £75k provision 1H02E,

¢] Climate Change and Ecological Emergency
Rezources use to bop up the project budget bo £1m, via an Earmarked Feserve, in 2024125,
d] Children’s Services - Improvement Expenditure

One-off investment in the Children's Services, Building Stronger Faundations Pragramme, December 2023
Cabinet,

&) Bournemouth Air Festival
£200k One-off funding Far 2024{25 anly.
Further one-off contingency bo underwrite the 2024025 event [£54k of £100k uzed]

f] Poole Events
Application of unused Air Festival contingency - in light of the decizion made on the ABID

gl Christmas Events
£200k One-off funding For 202425 only,

h] Pay and Reward

One-off implementation costs for 2024425,
One-off implementation costs for 2025026 and 2026427
Additional costs following 2025 ballot in 202526

il Transitional implementation of specified savings proposals
Rezaurces to cnable 24025 specific savings proposals ba be implemented aver a transitianal period.

il Poole Civic Centre
Halding costz

k] Contingency
Rezources set azide bo support the potential optimizm biaz in the £38m of 24125 zavings,

1] Miscellaneous
ICT Investment Plan expenditure which cannot be capitalized

Riedhill Paddling Paal consumables suppart - one gear extension ba securs spansarship

m) Resources to support the balancing of the 2024125 Budget & MTFH

Bazed on (12 2024/25 Budget Monitoring reduced flexibility to carry Forward contingency resources inko
Future years

n] Resources to cover the 2025126 forecast overspend
Bazed on Guarter Thres Budget Monitaring report ta Mavember Cabinet

o] Resources to support the balancing of the 2026/27 Budget & MTFP

Bazed on December provizanal budget pasition

4,000

£.250
333
TS

52

522

200
54

16

200

263
1.082
1.115

1.805

228

5,654

215
10

6,165

0

0

Balance Carried Forward

12. Council Tax — Taxbase

Cabinet at its meeting on 14 January 2026 agreed to the determination of 152,481.7 as its

25,281

Latest

Toral
£000s

3.000

Z.250
333
TS

452

522

200
54

16

200

263
1.082
1.115

1.805

166

5.654

205
10

6,165

4,573

6.823

35.6M

Latest profiled application of resources

20225 | 2025126 2026127 2027128

£000=

353

G26
S0

452

2ez

200
54

200

263

1705

2,654

3,373

14,066

£000=

1.041

333
313
25

db

611
T3

100

166

al

0

2,730

4,573

10,808

£000= £000=

1,000

1912

471
400

125

B.823

10,737 ]

council taxbase for 2026/27 which is the number of Band D equivalent properties over which the
council’s council tax for the year will be charged. It is based on the principle that every domestic

property is valued by the Valuation Office Agency and placed in one of the eight valuation

bands, based on its value as of 1 April 1991 (houses built after this date have their value as of

Marked as CONTF%SZLED - INTERNAL

Appendix 3



April 1991 estimated at the time of their first sale). The amount of council tax paid varies
according to the valuation band as follows:

Figure 4: Council Tax Valuation Bands on 1 April 1991 and calculation

Band Value at1 April 1991 Ratio Ratio as a percentage

Up to £40,000 67%
B £40,001 to £52,000 7/9 78%
Cc £52,001 to £68,000 8/9 89%
D £68,001 to £88,000 9/9 100%
E £88,001 to £120,000 11/9 122%
F £120,001 to £160,000 13/9 144%
G £160,001 to £320,000 15/9 167%
H More than £320,000 18/9 200%

A comparison of the BCP Council Taxbase between years is set out in figure 5 below.
Figure 5: Analysis of the council tax taxbase between Towns.

Council Tax - Taxbase

2024/25 2025/26 % Variance 2026/27 % Variance
Bournemouth 65,603 68,076 3.8% 67,553 -0.8%
Christchurch 20,976 21,665 3.3% 21,754 0.4%
Poole 59,763 61,834 3.5% 63,176 22%
Total 146,342 151,574 3.6% 152,482 0.6%

Please Note: 2025/26 Increase included the introduction of a 100% premium on second homes.

It should also be noted the reduction in Bournemouth’s tax base is due to the community
governance review boundary changes, which changed a number of areas but principally areas
of Bearwood which switched into Poole.

The 0.6% council tax, taxbase growth between 2025/26 and 2026/27 is due to additional
properties being built, a lower number of dwellings claiming the local council tax support
scheme as well as the removal of the current discretionary council tax discount applied to the
beach chalets at Mudeford Sandspit and Hengistbury Head. These beach chalets have been
charged council tax for over 30 years and in 2025/26 receive a 50% discretionary discount. It
may also be worth highlighting that over 2/3rds of the owners of these beach chalets live
outside the BCP Council area.

13. Schools Forum

Schools Forum is a statutory body of the counciland must be consulted on all school funding
budget allocations. It also has a range of decision-making powers regarding the level of budgets
held centrally and whether any funding provided for mainstream schools can be transferred to
other budget areas.

Appendix 3
Marked as CONTRBELED - INTERNAL



The BCP Schools Forum has a complement of twenty-four members with representation from
all categories of schools. Two meetings were held over the autumn and one in early January
2026, with recommendations and decisions made for the BCP Council budget regarding school
funding through the ring-fenced DSG.

14. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

The gross DSG of £426m provides funding for mainstream schools for pre 16 pupils, private,
voluntary, and independent nursery providers, a small range of central school services (for
example, school admissions) and specialist provision for children and young people with high
needs. High needs budgets include funding for mainstream schools and specialist providers to
support pupils with education, health, and care plans (EHCPs) aged 0-25, and those educated
out of school, for example due to permanent exclusion or medical needs. Academies are funded
from the gross DSG allocation but with amounts subsequently recouped by the DfE to enable
the budget share for pre 16 pupils to be paid directly by government.

The DSG is allocated to the council through four funding blocks, each with its own national
formula methodology: early years, mainstream schools, high needs, and central school
services. Distribution to councils linked to historic allocations has now largely ended, with some
funding protection mechanisms in place to reflect that expenditure patterns once well-
established cannot be changed quickly.

The issue of local authorities incurring expenditure greater than the resources made available
by government for the high needs block of their Dedicated Schools Grant has been an issue
ever since the introduction of Education, Health, and Care Plans (EHCPs) under the Children’s
and Families Act 2014. These EHCPs are legal documents which set out a child or young
person’s special educational needs and the support that is required to meet those needs.

The council brought forward a DSG accumulated deficit of £113.3m in April 2025 due to the now
recognised national underfunding of the high needs budget. The deficit was budgeted to grow
by £57.5m during 2025/26 with the quarter three forecast a net funding gap of £70.3m. The
deficit arises from the restrictions in how funding can be moved between blocks with it not
possible to reduce expenditure to balance the account as well as meet the statutory education
entittements of pupils identified with high needs. The projected accumulated deficit is as follows:

Figure 6: Summary position for dedicated schools grant of March 2026 and 2027
Dedicated Schools Grant | £m ‘

Accumulated deficit 1 April 2025 113.3
Prior year additional funding — early years (2.9)
Budgeted high needs funding shortfall 2025-26 57.5
High needs funding reduction 2025-26 0.5

High needs forecast overspend 2025-26 155
Other blocks (1.3)

Projected accumulated deficit 31 March 2026
Projected high needs funding gap 2026/27

Projected accumulated deficit 31 March 2027

The government’s November 2025 Budget Statement:

e Confirmed that the DSG statutory Override, which keeps the accumulated deficit out
of the general fund, will stay in place until the end of the March 2028.

e Set out that from 2028/29, central government support to councils for SEND will be
at a level that means further deficits need not accrue. Funding for that in 2028/29
will be absorbed within the overall government budget, not the core school’s budget.

Appendix 3
Marked as CONTROGLLED - INTERNAL



¢ Noted that budgets from 2028/29 onwards will be confirmed in the 2027 Spending
Review

¢ Indicated that further detail on support for historic and accruing deficits, up to
2028/29, and conditions for accessing such support, will be set out in the Local
Government Finance Settlement in December 2025.

¢ Indicated that further detail on SEND policy changes will be set out in the Schools
White Paper, expected in early 2026.

A joint letter from the DfE and NHS England on 15 December 2025 noted that support provided
to local authorities will be linked to assurance that they are taking steps to make a new system a
reality, in conjunction with government confirming the detail of SEND reform. Best practice and
case studies from previous programmes are being disseminated, with a focus on efficient
spending, such as from Safety Valve and Delivering Better Value, and providing all local
authorities with SEND and financial advisers to help consider how these learnings can be
applied. These advisers will also play a key role in supporting the preparations for reform,
reviewing data, embedding best practice and driving progress toward the delivery of high-
quality, inclusive services for children and young people.

Provided with the above letter was an early version of a maturity assessment tool for local area
partnerships to assess the maturity of current practice, and plan the changes needed to
strengthen the local system. This will be an integral part of the local SEND reform plan.

The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement received on 17 December 2025 did not
set out how local authorities with large deficits are to be supported, as indicated in the
November Budget Statement, but that further information will be provided later in the process.

The DSG Settlement, received also on 17 December 2025, announced that the high needs
national formula (NFF) to allocate funding to authorities has been suspended for 2026/27 with
no increase in funding to be provided. This is also the expectation now for 2027/28. Relatively
small changes to allocations will be made in summer 2026 to reflect pupil movements between
local authorities, and to adjust funding that is to be passed on to schools. The funding gap for
2026/27 was already set to grow and this DfE approach will widen it further unless further
government financial support becomes available in-year.

The progress of the DSG deficit over 2027/28, the remaining year before the government take
on responsibility for SEND expenditure, will be assessed once the government has released
further details of the support available over the next two years. In the meantime, a funding gap
for that year is assumed to be in the region of £100m as expenditure growth slows due to the
government support and advice to be received during the year as described above. Without
government support for the current deficit and the predicted funding gap over 2026/27 and
2027/28, the accumulated deficit will be in the region of £379m by March 2028. This is higher
than presented last year as the growth in expenditure has not shown any indication of slowing
down over 2025/26 and DSG funding for high needs is no longer expected to increase annually.

The estimated accumulated deficit, in the absence of DfE action to reset the high needs system,
is shown in table 7 below.

Figure 7: Accumulating deficit on the Dedicated Schools Grant

Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance
Actual Actual Actual Estimate Estimate| Estimate

31/3/23 31/3/24 31/3/25 31/3/26 31/3/27  31/3/28

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Dedicated Schools Grant (36) (63) (113) (184) (279) (379)
Appendix 3

Marked as CONTF’\LéeLED - INTERNAL



15. High needs block - £68.4 million

The pay grants for specialist providers allocated by the DfE in-year in 2025/26 have been
subsumed into the DSG for 2026/27 with equivalent funding to be passed on to schools again
with no increase in funding through the NFF for other expenditure. It is likely that pay grants for
providers will again be made in-year once national pay awards have been agreed.

16. Early years block - £62.2 million

The early years block funds the local early years single funding formula (EYSFF) as well as a
range of council services supporting the early years free entitlements.

The significant expansion of childcare support, aimed to remove barriers to work for parents
with children under three, completed the final phase from September 2025. Working parents
became entitled to up to 30 hours childcare support for every child over the age of 9 months.
The funding for 2026/27 includes the full year costs of this expansion.

17. School’s block - £293 million

The national funding formula (NFF) for mainstream schools has subsumed the separate
2025/26 school pay grants as for specialist providers noted above. The funding has increased
by only £1m due to uplifted national formula values and updated local school data but reflecting
a reduction in pupil numbers and growth fund allocations.

A separate paper for 4 February Cabinet included proposals for Council decisions on 10
February regarding the mainstream school’s formula.

18. Central school services block - £2.2 million

The funding is provided largely through a national formula for on-going functions with the per
pupil rate increasing annually. There is also funding for local historic commitments. Funding in
this block supports specific central services for all schools and the DSG budgeting system. The
School’'s Forum agreed in January that the council budgets can be set at the level of funding.

19. Maintained schools

BCP will have 14 maintained schools (out of 95 in total) on 1 April 2026. Funding to continue
statutory services for maintained schools is to be provided from central retention of maintained
school budget shares through agreement of maintained schools representatives at School’s
Forum. Consultation on the proposed retention of £0.2m is in progress at the time of writing this
report. A separate decision regarding de-delegation of mainstream school funding to support
school improvement functions, which remain the responsibility of schools, is also in progress.
Budgets and activities supporting mainstream schools will need to reduce where possible if
funding is not secured.

20. Academies

Academies are independent organisations. Their funding and expenditures are not contained
within the council’s budget, but the overall DSG budget reported to the DfE is set inclusive of
their funding allocations.

Appendix 3
Marked as CONTROLLED - INTERNAL



This page is intentionally left blank

172



Medium Term Financial Plan 2025/29 (based on absolute budget)

Adjusted
Net

Budget
2025/26
£000

2026/27
£'000

Net

Budget
2026/27
£'000

2027/28
£'000

Net

Budget
2027/28
£'000

2028/29
£'000

Net

Budget
2028/29
£'000

Total Funding

Annual - Net Funding Gap
Cumulative MTFP — Net Funding Gap

(427,135)

[1}

(24,648)

(0)

173

(451,783)

(0)
(0)

(3,347)

18,660

(455,130)

18,660
18,660

Wellbeing Directorate 194,564 6,298 200,862 3,084 203,946 6,547 210,493
Children's Directorate 111,787 5,825 117,612 4,540 122,152 7,625 129,777
Operations Directorate 60,280 (2,719) 57,561 1,899 59,460 4,261 63,721
Resources Directorate 50,216 (904) 49,312 101 49,413 1,761 51,174
Net cost of services 416,847 8,500 425,346 9,624 434,970 20,194 455,164
Contingency 2,200 1,128 3,328 (26) 3,302 3,302
Investment Income (655) (655) (655) (655)
Investment Properties (4,728) (208) (4,936) (4,936) (4,936)
Minimum Revenue Provision 12,102 746 12,848 753 13,601 755 14,356
Interest Payable 9,409 2,973 12,382 2,616 14,998 2,600 17,598
Pay and Grading Project (468) 5,255 4,787 (990) 3,797 (150) 3,647
Pay and Grading Project Implementation Cost 2,197 (1,826) 371 (371) 0 0
Pay Award & Pension (338) 2,680 2,342 4,227 6,569 4,279 10,848
Pension Backfunding 3,716 (243) 3,473 379 3,852 215 4,067
To and (From) Reserves (8,440) 4,131 (4,309) 5,540 1,231 (1,543) (312)
Levies 658 25 683 25 708 25 733
Benefits (1,323) 710 (613) (613) (613)
Contribution from HRA (3,744) (3,744) (3,744) (3,744)
Dividend Income (516) (516) (516) (516)
Apprenticeship Levy 782 782 782 782
Admin Charged to Grant Income (1,820) (1,820) (1,820) (1,820)
Other Corporate ltems 1,257 777 2,034 230 2,264 260 2,524
Net Budget 427,135 24,648 451,783 22,007 473,790 26,635 500,425
Council Tax Income (281,232) (15,801) (297,033) (16,381) (313,414) (17,285) (330,699)
New Homes Bonus (246) 246 0 0 0 0
Revenue Support Grant (69,003) 3,696 (65,307) (12,690) (77,997) 3,315 (74,682)
Local Authority Better Care Grant (16,579) 0 (16,579) 16,579 0 0 0
NNDR Net Income (43,243) (18,874) (62,117) (1,185) (63,302) (1,185) (64,487)
NNDR 31 Grants + Renewable Energy (16,154) 15,737 (417) (417) (417)
Estimated (Surplus) / Deficit on the Collection Fund - NNDR (678) (10,821) (11,499) 11,499 0 0
Estimated (Surplus) / Deficit on the Collection Fund - CTAX 0 1,169 1,169 (1,169) 0 0

(15,155)

11,480

(470,285)

30,140
30,140

APPENDIX 4



This page is intentionally left blank

174



GENERAL FUND BUDGET SUMMARY 2026/27

Wellbeing 200,862
Childrens 117,612
Operations 57,561
Resources & Executive 49,312
Minimum Revenue Provision 12,848
Interest Payable 12,382
Investment Income (655)
Pay Award & Pension 2,342
Pension Backfunding 3,473
Pay and Grading Project 4,787
Pay and Grading Project Implementation Cost 371
Contingency 3,328
Levies 683
Apprenticeship Levy 782
Investment Properties (4,936)
To and (From) Reserves (4,309)
Contribution from HRA (3,744)
Admin Charged to Grant Income (1,820)
Benefits (613)
Dividend Income (516)
Other Corporate Items 2,034
26,436

Other funding before Council Tax Requirement
Collection Fund Surplus Distribution (NNDR) (11,499)
Collection Fund Deficit Distribution (Council Tax) 1,169
Net Income from Business Rates - inc S31 Grant (62,534)
Revenue support grant (65,307)
Local Authority Better Care Grant (16,579)
(154,750)

175 Appendix 5



Wellbeing Budget Summary 2026/27

Adult Social Care
Commissioning

Housing & Public Protection
Public Health and Communities

165,382
24,559
9,671
1,250

Access & Carers

ASC Management Team

ASC Transformation

Care & Direct Services

Long Term Conditions

Mental Health & Learning Disabilities
Statutory Services

2,762
(12,466)
1,637
2,798
98,698
68,192
3,761

Director of Commissioning
Strategic Commissioning - Disabilities
Strategic Commissioning - Long Term Conditions

337
1,918
22,303

Asset Investment

Housing & Communities Management

Public Protection - Regulatory Services and Safer Communities
Strategic Housing & Partnerships

(2,295)
226
3,418
8,323

Community Engagement and Community Safety
Public Health

1,250

176

Appendix 5



Children's Services Budget Summary 2026/27

Children's Services Management 536
Children's Social Care 70,230
Commissioning, Resources and Quality 21,025
Education & Skills 25,822
CSM General (594)
Management CSC 1,129
Child Health & Disability 4,571
Children & Families First, PLO & Court 8,491
Children In Care and Care Experienced Young People 46,748
Children's Social Care Management 1,014
Early Help & Targeted Intervention Services 3,728
MASH, Assessment & Out of Hours 5,186
Youth Justice Service 692
Net MTFP still to be allocated (199)
Adoption 0
Aspire Adoption 2,083
Children's Commissioning 1,490
Commissioning, Resources and Quality 1,025
Fostering & Supported Lodgings 13,032
Performance, Management Information & Governance 1,159
Quality Assurance, Safeguarding & Partnership 2,236
Adult Learning and Skills (0)
EDU Management (302)
Education improvement 453
Music & Arts Partnership 0
School Organisation 20,002
Vulnerable Learners 5,669

177

Appendix 5



Operations Services Budget Summary 2026/27

Commercial Operations (28,202)
Customer and Property 33,007
Environment 35,739
Investment and Development 1,390
Planning and Destination 15,627
Director of Commercial Operations 255
Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management 1,123
Head of Commercial Operations 103
Leisure and Events (1,784)
Parking Services (20,079)
Seafront (7,168)
Net MTFP still to be allocated (651)
Business Support 8,268
Culture 3,275
Customer Services and Libraries 9,426
Engineering 5,282
Facilities Management 7,937
Property Maintenance (1,157)
Telecare 158
Net MTFP still to be allocated (182)
Environment Management 569
Neighbourhood Services & Grounds 17,288
Passenger Transport 260
Sustainable Waste, Green Infrastructure & Bereavement 10,726
Transport & Operating Centres 7,067
Net MTFP still to be allocated (171)
178

Appendix 5



Operations Services Budget Summary 2026/27

Housing Delivery 139
Operations Strategy 78
Regeneration Delivery 1,050
Smart Place 122
Planning Management 487
Planning Operations 930
Planning System 122
Strategic Planning 1,158
Transport Policy & Sustainable Travel 12,931
179

Appendix 5



Resources and Executive Budget Summary 2026/27

Finance 17,337
IT and Programmes 18,504
Law & Governance 5,883
Marketing, Comms and Policy 2,539
People and Culture 4,123
Executive 925
Accountancy 4,888
Audit & Management Assurance 6,053
Estates 968
Procurement 1,239
Revenues & Benefits 3,991
Service Director Finance 198
Data & Analytics 2,598
Development & Digital 1,390
IT Infrastructure 3,163
Modern Office 10,228
Programmes & Project Management 1,124
Democratic Services 2,746
Electoral Services & Land Charges 4)
Legal Services 3,237
Registrars (401)
Service Director Law and Governance 305
Commercial Marketing 368
Corporate Communications 1,110
Policy, Sustainability and Inclusion 600
Research and Consultation 462
People & Culture Management 290
Resourcing, Employee Relations & Change 920
Service Centre Systems and Payroll 1,042
Talent and Business Partnering 1,872
Executive 925

180

Appendix 5



Growth Pressures on 2026/27 BUDGET - £34.5m

SEND Interest.
£2.4m-7%

£11.5m-33%

Corporate Items.
£10.0m - 29%

Operations Director:
£1.3m-4%

Children's Directorate.
£9.2m-27%

181

Wellbeing Directorate.

Appendix 5



This page is intentionally left blank

182



ASCS1

Status Directorate

Feb 25 Adult Social Care

Adult Social Care

Adult Social Care

Adult Social Care

Adult Social Care

Adult Social Care

Adult Social Care

H&PPS1

ASCS8 New 26/27
ASCS2 Feb 25
ASCS9 New 26/27

ASCS3 (P&R) | July 25
ASCS4 New 26/27
ASCS5 New 26/27
ASCS7 New 26/27

Adult Social Care

Housing & Public

Feb 25 9
Protection

Housing & Public

H&PPS4 (P&R) | July 25 e
Housing & Public

H8&PPS6 (P&R) | July 25 e
LSRN AT Yed  Housing & Public

Protection

H&PPS11

Housing & Public

New 26/27 9
Protection

H&PPS13

Housing & Public

New 26/27 9
Protection

H&PPS14

PH&CS1

Housing & Public

New 26/27 9
Protection

Public Health &

Feb 25 pos
Communities

PH&CS2

Public Health &

Feb 25 pos
Communities

PH&CS3

Cs1 (P&R)

Public Health &

New 26/27 pos
Communities

RTCRl Children's Services

CS2 (P&R)

RICRl Children's Services

CS3 (P&R)

RICRl Children's Services

CS4 (P&R)

RTCRl Children's Services

Cs5

New 26/27 [MeQIIIEHIEERVIES

Cs6

New 26/27 [eQIIIEHIEERVIES

cs7

New 26/27 (eI IEHIEERVIES

Ccs8

New 26/27 eI IEHIEERVIES

Ccs9

New 26/27 (eI IEHIEERVIES

Cs10

New 26/27 [eQIIIEHIEERVIES

cs11

New 26/27 (eI IEHIEERVIES

Cs12

New 26/27 (eI IEHIEERVIES

Cs13

New 26/27 [MelIIIEHIEERVIES

COs1

New 26/27 (eI IEHVEERVIES

Commercial

b 25
e Operations

Commercial
Operations

Commercial
Operations

Commercial
Operations

Commercial
Operations

Commercial
Operations

Commercial
Operations

Commercial
Operations

Commercial
Operations

Commercial
Operations

C0os2 Feb 25
COP3 Feb 25
COos4 Feb 25
COSs5 Feb 25
COSsé Feb 25
cos7 Feb 25
Ccos8 Feb 25
COS9 (P&R) July 25
COs10 New 26/27
COS16 New 26/27

Commercial
Operations

Environment

New 26/27

Planning and
Transport

P&TS2

Planning and

Feb 25
Transport

P&TS3

Feb 25 Planning and

Transport

Savings, Efficiencies, Additional Income, Service Rationalisations and Service Harmonisations

Category of the Proposal

Fees and Charges

Description of the Proposal

Additional income - client contributions and deferred payments

2026/27 £000s

(569)

2027/28 £000s

(583)

2028/29 £000s

(597)

Total £000s
(1,749)

(507)
(609)
(55)
(450)
(260)
(216)
(180)

oo
(45)
(385)
(375)

(20)

(70)

(54)
(50)

(20)

(50)

@)

(97)

(412)

(657)

(150)

(10)

(150)

(35)

(G

(21)

(50)

(20)

Fees and Charges Additional income - client contributions and deferred payments — Autumn Budget 25 revision (280) (113) (114)
Fees and Charges NHS Inflationary increase for contribution to Sec117 after care costs (189) (203) (217)
Fees and Charges NHS Inflationary increase for contribution to Sec117 after care costs — Autumn Budget 25 revision (44) (11) 0
Fees and Charges Rebase Budget - Additional income - Contributions from Health (450)

Service Efficiency Saving in Extra Care Housing costs following re tender (130) (130)

Fees and Charges Increase income via NHS to reflect cost of care extra NLW increase (216)

Fees and Charges Section 117 case review. (180)

Saving Total - Adult Social Care Directorate (2,058) (1,040) (928)
Fees and Charges Additional garages income (15) (15) (15)
Sein Sy [ B o B oot =
Service Efficiency Base budget reduction through increased reliance on grant funding (375)

Fees and Charges Recovery of cost of furnished Temporary through service charges (20)
Service Efficiency Service efficiency (70)
Service Efficiency Pest Control (13)
Service Reduction Service Reduction - Environmental Protection (40)

Saving Total - Housing & Public Protection (918)
Service Reduction Removal of Ward Improvement Fund (7)
Fees and Charges Allowance for increased fees and charges in future years - Communities (1)
Service Efficiency Public Health Grant — Corporate 5% (140)

Saving Total - Public Health & Communities (148)
Service Efficiency Travel subsidy decrease for parents and carers 45p to 9p. (10)
Service Efficiency Benefit claims for UASC LTR (43)
Service Effici Rationalisati ies posts ( not included in NSDM) (40)
Service Efficiency Reduced budget against posts Education (20)
Service Reduction Reallocation from other funding streams (275)
Service Efficiency MASH Reallocation (54)
Service Efficiency Domiciliary Care (50)
Service Efficiency Translation Fee (20)
Service Efficiency The Access Group Contract Re-negotiation (50)
Service Efficiency Children’s Agency Staff Budget Reduction (500)
Service Efficiency Additional Increase Children’s Commissioning Savings (200)
Service Efficiency Staffing roles being re-aligned to High Needs Budget Block — Inclusion Manager (25%) (23)
Service Reduction Service Reductions — Non-Statutory Service (SIT) 7
Service Efficiency Transferring the Care Leavers Hub into Locality working model (97)

Saving Total - Children's Service Directorate (1,388)
Fees and Charges Beach hut prices as per December 2022 Cabinet report (193)
Fees and Charges Harmonisation of beach huts fees and charges as per December 2022 Cabinet report (219)
Service Reduction Reduce Council contribution for the arts by the sea festival (150)
Service Efficiency Rebalance of events and business support functions (10)
Fees and Charges Parking cashless app fee (150)
Service Reduction Reduction in Pay and Display machines across BCP (35)
Service Efficiency Parking operational changes (610)
Service Reduction Hawkwood Road — Car Park expenditure (21)
Service Efficiency Rebalance of heritage teams to support efficiencies across operational areas (50)
Service Efficiency Rebalance of Visitor Service (20)
Fees and Charges Parking Places charges increase in 26/27 and 27/28 (500) (500)

Saving Total - Operations - Commercial Operations (1,958) (938) (219)

Fees and Charges Rebase recycling budget in line with rates payable

I

(1,000)

(20)

(713)

(15)

Saving Total - Operations - Environment (20) 0 L]
Service Reduction Bus Subsidy: Option 4: Phase out no impact BSIP (583) (130)
Service Efficiency Replace school crossing patrols with 24/7 pedestrian crossings (15)
Fees and Charges Increased income generation (25) (25) (25)

(75)

183

Appendix 5a



Status Directorate Category of the Proposal Description of the Proposal

2026/27 £000s 2027/28 £000s 2028/29 £000s  Total £000s

Planning and
Transport
Planning and
Transport

New 26/27 Fees and Charges Introduction of highways searches charging

Raise discretionary planning fees and charges to highest i levels (inc. ber
phase)

New 26/27 Fees and Charges

Saving Total - Operations - Planning & Transport

Customer, Arts &
Property
Customer, Arts &
Property
Customer, Arts &
Property
Customer, Arts &
Property
Customer, Arts &
Property
Customer, Arts &
Property

CA8PS1 (P&R)

Fees and Charges

July 25 Uplift in staff parking charges

CA&PS4 New 26/27 Service i Busi Support staff re

CA&PS6 New 26/27 Service Efficiency Review Facilities Management team

CA&PS7 New 26/27

Service Reduction Remove window cleaning (complete removal)

CA&PS8 New 26/27 Service Efficiency Infrastructure Review

CA&PS9 New 26/28 Service Efficiency Street Lighting

Saving Total - Operations - Customer, Arts & Property

Operations -
General
Operations -
General
Operations -
General
Operations -
General

Fees and Charges Allowance for increased fees and charges in future years - Commercial Operations

081 Feb 25 Fees and Charges Allowance for increased fees and charges in future years - Infrastructure

0s1 Feb 25 Fees and Charges Allowance for increased fees and charges in future years - Customer, Arts and Property

Fees and Charges Allowance for increased fees and charges in future years - Environment

Saving Total - Operations - General

ES1 (P&R) July 25 Executive Service Efficiency Reduction in Senior Leadership costs (Corporate/Service Directors) - turnover based

Saving Total - Executive

Law & Governance Fees and Charges Legal Services Review of Fees and Charges

Law & Governance Fees and Charges Registrars Service Review of Fees and Charges

Saving Total - Law & Governance

Marketing, Comms
and Policy
Marketing, Comms
and Policy

MC&PS2 New 26/27 Service Efficiency Energy Efficiency Bill Validation

MC&PS3 New 26/27 Service Efficiency Residents Survey Cost — Public Health

Saving Total - Marketing, Communications and Policy

W\EPLTPI8 People and Culture Service Efficiency Annual saving following Payroll System Replacement

P&CS2 \EYPLTPAd People and Culture Service Efficiency People & Culture: Mandating employee self service for payslips via new payroll system

\EPLTP4d People and Culture Service Efficiency Employee Assi: F (contract rationalisation)

Saving Total - People and Culture

FS3 (P&R) July 25 Finance Service Efficiency Increase levels of insurance self-funding. Vehicles and Unoccupied Properties

FS4 (P&R) July 25 Finance Service Efficiency Archiving of the Fusion finance system

FS5 (P&R) July 25 Finance Service Effici Efficiencies in corporate Stationery

FS6 New 26/27 Finance Fees and Charges Assets leased to AFCB

Fs8 New 26/27 Finance Service Efficiency Corporate merchant tender

FS9 New 26/27 Finance Service Efficiency Physical Cash Collection Service

Saving Total - Finance

IT&PS1 (P&R) RTCR I T and Programmes Service Effici in corporate T Mobiles, Printing and Photocopying

IT&PS2 \CPLIPAd I T and Programmes Service Efficiency Cross Council Al Translation Agent (In addition to MTFP)

IT&PS4 \CPLIPAd IT and Programmes Service Reduction Service Reduction — IT Infrastructure Role (targeted VR)

Saving Total - IT and Programmes

Recharges to Housing Revenue Account of charges in line with impact of inflation, particularly
those associated with the pay award costs. Bournemouth and Poole Neighbourhood Account

RS1 Feb 25 [ENMIRErNE Recharges

RS3 Feb 25 [RENMCREEYE Recharges Recharges to Dorset Adult Learning

Resources - General R to Bournemouth Ce

Saving Total - Resources General

Overall Total - Service Based Savings and Efficiencies (2,364) (15,726)

Directorate Category of the Proposal Description of the Proposal

Total £000s

2027/28 £000s
(54)

2028/29 £000s

2026/27 £000s

ASCTS1 (211)

Feb 25 PXCIREROCICM  Transformation - Invest to Save |Investment in care technology

ACSTS2 Feb25 [MUNHIEICEKe=Ml Transformation - Invest to Save |ASC Transformation - Fulfilled Lives (959) (1,060) (317) (2,336)

ACSTS3 Feb 25 [WNMEIEE W= Transformation - Invest to Save |FutureCare Transformation - January 26 Onwards - Net Savings (1,000) (2,500) (3,500)

ASCTS4 New 26/27 [CHEEISEReEI M  Transformation - Invest to Save |ASC additional prevention strategy (proof of concept) (150) (180) (350) (680)

(2,266) (3,794) (667) (6,727)
CsTs1 Feb 25 NeRILERSSERVIEN

Saving Total - Wellbeing - ASC

(2,501)

Transformation - Invest to Save |Transformation - New delivery models

184 Appendix 5a



Status Directorate Category of the Proposal Description of the Proposal

2026/27 £000s 2027/28 £000s 2028/29 £000s  Total £000s

(LIRS Transformation - Invest to Save |Transformation - Commissioning

New 26/27 [MeEIEWVRT W=l Transformation - Invest to Save |Transformation - Home to School Transport

Saving Total - Children's Services , (3,641)

Commercial
Operations
Commercial
Operations
Commercial
Operations

New 26/27 Transformation - Invest to Save |TIC repurpose

New 26/27 Transformation - Invest to Save (Smugglers golf

New 26/27

Transformation - Invest to Save (New Beach Huts

Saving Total - Operations - Commercial Operations

P&TTS1 Feb 25 P‘?:'a"r":g::d Transformation - Invest to Save |Capital investment in alternative to School Crossing Patrols at specific locations

Saving Total - Operations Planning & Destination

CAPTST New 26/27 gf;;g’:yer UL Transformation - Invest to Save |Poole High Mast Street Lighting
Saving Total - Operations Customer, Arts, and Property

IT&PTS1 New 26/27 QREENGRENIEINES]  Transformation - Invest to Save |WAN Circuit Replacement - Invest to save

Saving Total - Resources - IT and Programmes (80)

Overall Total - Service Based Savings and Efficiencies (4,383) (1,239) (13,073)

Overall Total - Service Based Savings and Efficiencies

Directorate Category of the Proposal Description of the Proposal 2026/27 £000s 2027/28 £000s 2028/29 £000s  Total £000s

Adjustment to previously assumed Saving Total - Housing and Public Protection

Adjustment to previously assumed Saving Total - WELLBEING DIRECTORATE

Adjustment to previously assumed Saving Total - Operations - Customer, Arts & Property

Adjustment to previously assumedf Saving Total - OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE

MC&PS1 Feb 25 Marl;er:gn%oﬁsymms Residents’ Survey conducted every other year

Adjustment to previously assumed Saving Total - Marketing, Comms and Policy

Ret
Customer, Arts & Service Reduction Savings from amalgamating services to provide community hubs with transitional funding provided
Property for 2025/26 which defers implementation until 1 April 2026

Adjustment to previously assumedf Saving Total - OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE

Adjustment to previously assumed saving - Total

Overall Total - Service Based Savings, Efficiencies and Adjustment to previously assumed savings (13,905) (11,129) (3,603) (28,637)

Directorate Category of the Proposal Description of the Proposal
2026/27 £000s 2027/28 £000s 2028/29 £000s  Total £000s

Saving Total - Corporate Items - Funding (211)

Overall Total - Service Based and Funding Savings and Efficiencies (14,116) (11,129) (3,603) (28,848)

185 Appendix 5a



This page is intentionally left blank

186



BCP

Council

BCP Council determination of local discounts for Beach Chalets

Date: effective from 15t April 2026 Author: Darren Vickers, Head of Council Tax

Purpose/introduction

To ensure the categorisation of Beach Chalets is consistent across the
BCP area.

Summary

This report reviews the categorisation of the Beach Huts on the
Mudeford Sandspit and Hengistbury Head and amends the current
discount structure.

Recommendation

It isrecommendedthat Council:

a) Regularise the classification of Beach Chalets at Mudeford
Sandspitand Hengistbury Head to Class A (second home with
planning restrictions) from 1 April 2026.

b) Approve that the Beach Chalets on Mudeford Sandspit and
Hengistbury Head do not attract a local discount from 01 April
2026 onwards.

Reasons for the
recommendation

The legacy Councils charged 50% Council Tax for the beach chalets
(huts) at Mudeford Sandspit and Hengistoury Head under different
categorisations

e the Beach Chalets in legacy Bournemouth were specifically excluded
from Class A and B second home and awarded a ‘local discount’ of
50% by legacy Bournemouth Borough Council

e the Beach Chalets in legacy Christchurch were classified as a pitch
occupied by a caravan, which allows a 50% reduction inthe charge.

The technical opinion from leading professional bodies is that the
Chalets should be classified as Class A second homes (ones with a
planning restriction) and therefore liable for a charge of 100% Council
Tax. There is no discount for a Class A second home change, but as
they are subject to a planning restriction, they are excluded from
attracting a second home premium.

The reclassification of the Chalets is required, to ensure they are
classified in accordance with professional opinion.

187




BCP

Council

BCP Council determination of local discounts for Beach Chalets

If the Chalets were classified as Class A from 1 April 2026, they will
attract a 100% Council Tax charge. This could create an additional
£211,000 in annual income for BCP Council.

Supporting
Information

There are 342 Beach Chalets within Mudeford Sandspit and
Hengistbury Head. 111 of these have their sole or main residence in the

BCP Council area.

Each chalet is a Council Tax band A. In accordance with the rest of
England, this is based on the value of the property as at 01/04/1991.
This cannot be altered or amended as the Valuation Office Agency will
not revalue properties in a defined area, they will only revalue specific
properties provided there has been a material change in the structure.

There are planning restrictions on these chalets preventing overnight
sleeping between 1 November and 1 March (120 days).

As part of the consolidation of 3 databases into a single one, for
2025/26, all the Beach Chalets were classified as a pitch occupied by a
caravan, which professional bodies consider to be incorrect.

Details of Advice

Institute of Revenues, Rating & Valuation (IRRV) technical panel
advised:

“There is (I assume) a planning restriction on the use of the beach huts,
they will not be subjected to a higher amount (premium).

The level of council tax which should be payable on these beach huts
should be at whatever tax your billing authority has set with regard to
Class A to SI1 2003/3011 (as amended) as long as | am correct about
the planning restriction.”

The IRRV suggested that we do not need to give notice of the
termination of any discount, but the backdating of any removal is not
recommended. However, they have suggested sending a letter to the
taxpayers concerned advising of the re-categorisation due to a point of
law and confirming they will not be subject to the premium.

Airey Consultancy Services Ltd advised:

“It is clear that beach huts are included within the definition of ‘second
homes’ for the purposes for Council Tax and will be subject to any
charge which appliesto Class A second homes.

188




BCP

Council

BCP Council determination of local discounts for Beach Chalets

Should the Councilwish to apply a standard charge (as appliesto other
second homes) then a charge of 100% should be applied to this
category of dwelling. No premium could be applied in accordance with
Council Tax (Prescribed Classes of Dwellings and Consequential
Amendments)(England)Regulations 2024 .”

189




This page is intentionally left blank

190



Flexible Use of Capital Receipts

Transformation and Invest to Saves

Flexible Use of Capital Receipts (FUCR)

1. As part of 2015 Spending Review (SR15), the government announced that to support
local authorities to deliver more efficient and sustainable services it would allow local
authorities to spend up to 100% of their fixed asset receipts on the revenue costs of
service reform and transformation. Guidance on the use of this flexibility stipulated
that it applied to the three financial years to end March 2019. However, this was
extended for a further three years to 31 March 2022 as part of the 2018/19 local
government finance settlement, for a further three years to 31 March 2025 in April
2022, and for a further 5 years to 31 March 2030 as part of the 2024/25 local
government finance settlement.

2. The current guidance makes it clear that local authorities cannot borrow to finance
the revenue costs of service reforms or improvements. In addition, local authorities
can only use capital receipts from the disposal of property, plant and equipment
assets received in the years the flexibility is offered. Local authorities may not use
any existing stock (pre-2016) of capital receipts to finance the revenue costs of
reforming their services. Set up and implementation costs of any new processes or
arrangements that will generate future ongoing savings and/or transform service
delivery to reduce or improve the quality-of-service delivery in future years can be
classified as qualifying expenditure. Costs associated with business-as-usual activity
and the council’s statutory duty to improve cannot be classified as qualifying
expenditure. The ongoing revenue costs of any new processes or arrangements can
also not be classified as qualifying expenditure. In addition, the guidance issued by
the Secretary of State under section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003
specifies that.

e The key determining criteria to use when deciding whether expenditure can be
funded by the new capital receipts flexibility is that it is forecast to generate ongoing
savings to an authority’s net service expenditure.

¢ In using the flexibility, the council will have due regard to the requirements of the
Prudential Code, the CIPFA Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and the
current edition of the Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice

3. BCP Council has previous engaged with both CIPFA Consultancy and the External
Auditor to provide assurance that any such costs which it wishes to fund from the
FUCR accords with the statutory guidance.

4. Figure 1 below provides a summary table of the return on investment for the service
specific transformation and invest to save programmes. This indicates that as at the
end of the 2028/29 financial year the council’s one-off investment of £7.673m should
be delivering annual recurring savings of £14.294m per annum.

Appendix 6
Marked as CONTROLLED - INTERNAL



Figurel: Service Specific Transformation and Invest to Save programmes

Service Specific Investment Programmes & Invest fo Saves 0324 200425 Total g 202526 Sub § 20267 202028 202829 Overll
- Absolute amounts Actual  Actial Actuals {§ Forecast Tofal | Budget Estimate Estimate Tofal
im iIm fm fmfm fm  fm fm  fm

Expenditure

Children's Senvice - New Senice Delivery Model (Councl September 2023) | 0656 | 0595 WA | 0454 [SRNAGES | 0000 | 0000 | 0000 Al
Children's Senice - Hometo School Transport (Council December 2025) | 0000 | 0000 QOMDNRS | 0000 (SN | 0558 | 0497 | 0430 RS

Adult Social Care - Assistive Technology 0203 | 0158 MRl | 0039 WREUONS | 0000 | 0000 | 0000 AL
Adult Social Care -Transfer of catering senices to Tricuro 0440 | 0070 MRSl | 0000 PRORALNS | 0000 | 0000 | 0000 AL
Adutt Social Care - Fulfiled Lives (Council July 2024) 0086 | 0514 PRUKIDN | 1404 WREAUESS | 0935 | 0000 | 0000 QRA
Adut Social Care - Preventation Strategy (Council December 2026) 0000 | 0000 (MO | 0000 MRUODDINN | 0147 | 0447 | 0147 QIEEY
Operations - Investto Save - Tourism Information Centre 0000 | 0000 QCAODARR | 0020 WRODAS | 0000 | 0000 | 0000 (AL
Operafions - Invest o Save - Smugglers Goff 0000 | 0000 QAUDARR | 0050 (SOUES | 0000 | 0000 | 0000 (AL
Operations - Invest to 5ave - Beach Huts 0000 | 0000 QAOOARR | 0020 WOUES | 0000 | 0000 | 0000 (AL
Operafions - Investto Save - Paddle Tennis 0000 | 0000 QAUNRR | 0100 (RIS | 0000 | 0000 | 0000 [URIL
Operafions - Investto 3ave - 3t Lighting - High Mask Latems Poole 0000 | 0000 QAOOARR | 0000 (SOOI | 0225 | 0000 | 0000 (UM

Operations - Investto Save - One Officer/ Consolidated Control Rooms 0000 | C000 WSOAUAON | 000 BROALOSS | 0067 | 0000 | 0000 (UM
(065 | 1300 peRysm | 2007 ERIUMM | 1933 | 0644 | 0566 pRIE
Funding
Funding from the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts (1.083) | (1.338) [ReEZAim | (2007) WEMIUN | (1933) | (0.644) | (0.586) UAE
LEORREEN (2423) pEUALHE (4510) JRESERDERIEGR (7.67)

Savings and efficiencies
Children's Senice - New Senice Defivery Model (Councl September 2023) | 0000 | (0.222) WR(R#24R | (0560) WRUMEAN | (1455) | (3061) | (3.061) RS
Children's Senice - Hometo School Transport (Council December 2025) | 0000 | 0000 WSO (0000 WSURCEES | (0576) | (2611) | (3.167) RIS

Adutt Social Care - Assisfive Technology 0000 | (0.069) WEUMEIN | (0432) WOEIAN | (0589) | (0643) | (0.643) WERLD)
Adult Social Care -Transfer of catering senices to Tricuro 0000 | (0.022) pUORem | (0.022) WUREEYE | (0.022) | (0.022) | (0.022) MURAL)
Adut Social Care - Fulfiled Lives (Council July 2024) ooy | oo RO | (12t1) WERARTM | 270) | (3230) [ (3547) RO
Adutt Social Care - FufureCare 0000 | 0000 JOMOAOM | (0.100) WRCRUAM | (1.100) | (3600) | (3.600) WEELL)
Adult Social Care - Preventafion Strateqy (Council December 2025) 0000 | 0000 KR | 0000 (OIS | (0.150) | (0.330) | (0.680) PRREL)
Operafions - Investto Save - Tourism Information Centre 0000 | 0000 (AR | 0000 (OIS | (0.020) | (0.020) | (0.020) ML)
Operafions - Investto Save - Smugglers Goff 0000 | 0000 AR | 0000 QOO | (0.020) | (0.020) | (0.020) AR
Operafions - Investto Save - Beach Huts plus £300 capital receipt 0000 | 0000 OAOIRs | 0000 (OIS | (0.008) | (0.008) | (0.008) MURE
Operafions - Investto 3ave - 3t Lighting - High Mask Latems Poole 0000 | 0000 OAORs | 0000 QOO | 0.000 | (0.016) | (0.032) WUREE)

[T Programmes and Projects - Invest to Save -Wide Area Network 0000 | 0000 ke | 0.000 WOV | (0.080) | (0.080) | (0.080) M{URED)
D000 | (0313) UNINI | (2.375) VKRGV | (6190) | (13641) | (14.800) QL]
Net Position of Service Specific Transformation & Investto Saves | 1085 | 1025 WARIM | (038) WIS | (4257) | (12997) | (14.204) RERLL)

Appendix 6
Marked as CON'FI?(;LLED - INTERNAL



It should be highlighted that the investments within Operations in respect of Paddle
tennis and One Officer / Consolidated Control Rooms are at feasibility stage and
therefore the expenditure will need to be written off to revenue if a viable business
case is not then implemented.

In addition, the proposal is to setaside £3m per annum, including an annual £1m
redundancy provision, across the MTFP timeframe to finance the transformation and
invest to save costs that will need to be put forward to directly reduce the net service
expenditure budget of the council and in doing so contribute towards the necessary
annual corporately budgeted savings, efficiencies and service reductions. The
previous closure report for the original Transformation Investment Programme set out
that the council had laid strong foundations but in areas such as data, technology
and innovation there will be further opportunities as the organisation matures. This
approach aligns with our corporate ambitions and corporate digital strategy and will
ensure we are well-positioned to deliver sustainable savings through a structured
and evidence-led programme and in support of the Council’s financial resilience.

A financial strategy to set aside this funding should not be confused with actual
authority to incur this expenditure. Robust business cases will need to be established
which set out the expenditure required and the savings that will be delivered
alongside a delivery plan. These business cases will then need approval in line with
the council’s constitution for example Council approval will be required if the
investment is more than £1m.

It should also be referenced that based on previous approvals there will be £1.990m
in one-off residual costs associated with the completion of the original post local
government review, authority wide transformation investment programme

For 2023/24 the Council funded £11.558m of revenue expenditure on its various
transformation programmes and invest to saves via the FUCR as set out as follows.

(£8.362m) 31.3.23 Brought Forward Capital Receipts

(E4.545m) Delivered capital receipts 2022/23.

£0.029m Costs of disposal

£7.211m Transformation Investment Programme expenditure

£3.262m Redundancy costs

£0.656m Children’s Services service specific transformation expenditure
£0.429m Adult Social Care service specific transformation programme
(£1.320m) 31.3.24 Capital Receipts carried forward.

Capital receipts delivered included the councils share of the Bargates site, 35 Willis
Way Fleet Industrial Park Poole and 3 of the remaining units previously owned by the
council on the Airfield Industrial Park in Christchurch.

Appendix 6
Marked as CONTROLLED - INTERNAL



10. For 2024/25 the Council funded £5.177m of revenue expenditure on its various
transformation and Invest to Save programme funded via the FUCR as follows.

(£1.320m) 31.3.24 Forecast Brought Forward Capital Receipts
(£6.992m) Delivered capital receipts 2024/25.

£0.175m Costs of disposal

£2.460m Transformation Investment Programme expenditure

£1.379m Redundancy costs

£0.596m Children’s Services service specific transformation expenditure
£0.742m Adult Social Care service specific transformation programme
(£2.969m) 31.3.25 Capital Receipts carried forward

Capital receipts delivered included those from Southbourne Crossroads Car Park and
Christchurch Civic Centre.

11. For 2025/26 the Council is planning to spend £4.030m of revenue expenditure on its
various transformation and Invest to Save programmes funded via the FUCR as
follows.

(£2.969m) 31.3.25 Forecast Brought Forward Capital Receipts

(£8.478m) Delivered in-year capital receipts 2025/26.

(E5.775m) Forecastin-year capital receipts 2025/26.

£0.360m Costs of disposal

£0.190m Capital Expenditure commitments in support of Invest to Saves
£1.990m Residual original Transformation Investment Programme expenditure
£0.143m Redundancy costs

£0.454m Children’s Services service specific transformation expenditure
£1.443m Adult Social Care service specific transformation programme
(£12.642m) 31.3.26 Capital Receipts carried forward

Capital receipts delivered included those from the sale of Wessex Fields, Christchurch
By-pass Car Park, and Westbourne Plus Day Centre.

Forecast capital receipts still to be delivered in 2025/26 include those from the sale of
Poole Civic Centre.

Appendix 6
Marked as CON%LLED - INTERNAL



12. For 2026/27 the Council is planning to spend £4.641m of revenue expenditure on its
various transformation and Invest to Save programmes funded via the FUCR as
follows.

(£12.642m) 31.3.26 Forecast Brought Forward Capital Receipts

(E7.704m) Estimated in-year capital receipts 2026/27.

£0.207m Costs of disposal

£1.842m Capital Expenditure commitments (approval required as per gov erance framework)
£1.000m Provision for future redundancy costs

£2.000m Provision for future transformation costs

£0.558m Children’s Services service specific transformation expenditure
£1.083m Adult Social Care service specific transformation programme
(£13.656m) 31.3.27 Capital Receipts carried forward

Estimated capital receipts expected to be delivered in 2026/27 include those from
Broadwaters, the South Part of Beach Road Car Park, Roeshot Nursery the restructure
of the head lease of Kingland House. The intent is also that the purchase of the
leaseholder’s interest in Upton Park Farm will be financed from the sale of acquired
buildings deemed surplus to requirements.

13. For 2027/28 the Council is planning to spend £3.644m of revenue expenditure on its
various transformation and Invest to Save programmes funded via the FUCR as
follows.

(£13.656m) 31.3.27 Forecast Brought Forward Capital Receipts
(£3.00m) Estimated in-year capital receipts 2027/28.
£1.000m Provision for future redundancy costs
£2.000m Provision for future transformation costs
£0.497m Children’s Services service specific transformation expenditure
£0.147m Adult Social Care service specific transformation programme
(£13.012m) 31.3.28 Capital Receipts carried forward
Appendix 6

Marked as CONTROLLED - INTERNAL



14. For 2028/29 the Council is planning to spend £4.641m of revenue expenditure on its
various transformation and Invest to Save programmes funded via the FUCR as
follows.

(£13.012m) 31.3.28 Forecast Brought Forward Capital Receipts
(£1.00m) Estimated in-year capital receipts 2028/29.

£1.000m Provision for future redundancy costs

£2.000m Provision for future transformation costs

£0.439m Children’s Services service specific transformation expenditure
£0.147m Adult Social Care service specific transformation programme
(£10.426m) 31.3.29 Capital Receipts carried forward

15. It is important that the council continue to develop and deliver a pipeline of capital
receipts as conveyancing is a notoriously difficult and time-consuming process and
therefore alternative and additional receipts maybe needed to supplement those
already approved for disposals. Additionally, further demands on capital receipts may
materialise for example capital expenditure/works or to support requests to the
government for financial support. As a good example of this on 6 January 2026 the
council applied for Exceptional Financial Support to cover the interest on the historic
and accumulating Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficit. The fallback position,
should council tax flexibility be declined, is for a capitalisation direction which allows
the council to finance revenue expenditure from capital receipts. In this scenario the
amount required would be £23.5m over the 2-year period 2026/27 and 2027/28 and
this has not been included in the above analysis.

Appendix 6
Marked as CON'ﬂI?éLLED - INTERNAL



Appendix 7
CAPITAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME (CIP) OVERVIEWBY DIRECTORATE

Please find below a summary of the Capital Programme for the 2026-2030 period. The
figures reflect the latest understanding but will be impacted by any slippage from 2025/26
depending on the progress of schemes in the run up to 31st March 2026 and new schemes
that will be approved in the future.

The MTFP capital investment programme of £239,6 million over 4 years is broken down as
follows:

OPERATIONS - £86.2m 2026/27 (£184m 4-year plan)
Commercial Operations - £27m 2025/26 (£42.6m 4-year plan)

Seafront development:

This comprises of the ongoing delivery of the £20m Seafront ‘Levelling Up Fund’, which was
awarded to the Council in 2023/24. This grant has been consolidated with the Towns Deals
Fund into one simplified fund called Local Regeneration Fund. This is intended to give local
authorities more control and flexibility. There has been no change in the allocation of the
funding to BCP Council. The usage period has been extended to March 2028 with £14
million remaining to be used by this deadline. The fund aims to upgrade and improve critical
seafront infrastructure, such as at Bournemouth Pier and East Cliff stabilisation planned to
be delivered during 2026/27 as well as some repair and upgrades to seafront beach huts
and promenade infrastructure.

The seafront service is committed to developing new health and wellbeing facilities, and
delivering the key objectives recently set out through the revised Seafront Development
Strategy which was approved by Cabinet in July 2024. Each project is subjectto an
individual business case which will need to demonstrate a positive outcome for any funding
investment and achieves prudential fiscal growth whilst also aligning with the corporate
objectives of the Council. Capital investment is currently planned for Mudeford Beach House
café improvements and sea cliff and chine management.

Flood and coastal erosion risk management (FCERM):

This programme is delivered in partnership with the Environment Agency (EA) and is
primarily funded by government grant. The programme from 2026/27 onwards consists of
currently approved funding over £27 million mainly for two main schemes.

Poole Bay Beach Management Scheme - an ongoing scheme designed to provide long term
coastal erosion protection to thousands of properties and infrastructure via cyclical beach
replenishment and ongoing groyne renewal works. More than £8 million is planned over the
next two years for this scheme.

Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill scheme (PB2HH) approved in 2020/21 is a flood defence
scheme which will provide long term tidal flood risk management for parts of Poole town and
the Twin Sails regeneration area. Additional CIL funding of £7.3 million was approved during
2025/26 for this scheme, as well as additional £6.2 million from the Environment Agency, to
maintain affordability. The total scheme funding since 2021 is now above £29 million of
which the remaining £17.6 million is planned for 2026/28.

Leisure

The work to stabilise the front of Upton House to preserve the Grade 2* listed building is
underway, the 3G artificial Pitch at Rossmore Leisure centre is also progressing. The
Service is now working on the next leisure centres investment strategy which will include
options for sustaining the leisure centres offer in BCP Council and new proposal will come
forward for approval in due course.

Appendix 7
197



Investment and Development - £3.3m 2026/27 (£6m 4-year plan)
Towns Fund:

This includes the Towns Fund investment in Boscombe supporting a range of initiatives
including Events, Transport, improvements to the High Street, and a Skills and Digital hub.
Current projected spend for 2026/28 is £5.9m funded by MHCLG. This grant has been
consolidated with the Towns Deals Fund into one simplified fund called Local Regeneration
Fund. This is intended to give local authorities more control and flexibility. There has been
no change in the allocation of the funding to BCP Council. The spending timeline has been
extended to March 2028.

The Hawkwood Road Community Centre project within the Towns Fund Masterplan is
progressing into 2026/27.

The Hawkwood Road residential housing development in the Housing Revenue Account and
the ground floor commercial unit in the general fund are subject to further approvals to
continue following the withdrawal of occupancy support by the NHS.

Housing Delivery: The housing delivery team will concentrate on delivery of HRA schemes
covered in the HRA capital appendix.

Regeneration projects: There is no approved capital investment for regeneration projects in
the current MTFP. Below is an update for the schemes where work continues to bring
forward full business:

Carters Quay: Legal advisors are considering the action needed to recover the land if this
cannot be resolved. As the acquisition price was based on a private rented scheme the
viability of the scheme will be predicated on what the preferred tenure is going forward.
Based on current build costs, the project as designed is not viable and therefore a new
planning and investment strategy will be needed.

Holes Bay: The delivery of the former Power Station site remains a priority and the ongoing
dialogue will enable the Council to deliver on that commitment to residents. This is a site
which has many environmental benefits and any project will need to be designed around the
ecological diversity. Homes England are demonstrating their support by engaging
consultants who can design solutions which address the BNG and flood risk constraints as
well as working with us to develop our wider place making vision. Work is underway to
develop a phasing and place-based vision with adjacent landowners to understand the scale
of delivery of the next few years and this will feed into the emerging Local Plan. Options will
be prepared in early Spring 2026 once Homes England have confirmed what role they would
be looking to have — funder, enabler or delivery partner. The Council could consider a sale or
a joint venture to complement any funding package to prepare the site for development.

Winter Gardens: The project is currently in the process of completing concept design for
redevelopment of the Winter Gardens site. A cabinet report will be prepared for submission
in 2026/2027 to seek approval for the Site Development Plan, the project viability and, if
agreed, seek consentto proceed to the planning application stage. In addition, the Site
Development Plan will need to demonstrate there is a funded strategy for the Winter
Gardens development. To support this, Muse are exploring a forward funded model for
affordable housing, the build to rent and keeping a flexible tenure approach to open market
sale given the volatility in the housing market.

Poole Dolphin Leisure Centre: Currently the development options do not provide a sufficient
return, to fund the refurbishment or replacement of the leisure centre. The size and shape of
the available development site limits design options. Available grant funding options are

Appendix 7
198



insufficient to bridge the viability gap and other local authorities delivering leisure centres,
have seen costs double at build from concept stage. The Leisure team are reviewing the
whole BCP Leisure portfolio to establish an investment strategy which will include options for

sustaining the three leisure centres. This reflects the priority in balancing the Council’s
budget for 2026/27, whilst supporting the ongoing operations of this facility.

Customer Arts and Property - £18.3m 2026/27 (£26m 4-year plan)

Museums:

The Poole Museum redevelopment programme is now complete. Further development of
£1.5 million is planned for the Russell Cotes MEND4 project mainly funded with Arts Council
grant and CIL contributions.

Engineering services:

The Port of Poole bridges programme is profiled to be delivered over the next two years
using £6 million CIL contributions.

The department for Transport has announced a new local transport funding system for Local
Transport Authorities and confirmed the capital funding allocations for the next spending
review period (2026/27 to 2029/30) of £77.7 million to be spent on local transport delivery
including active travel, highways maintenance, local authority bus grant and local transport
grant. This funding is initially shown under Planning and Transport services as the lead
commissioner for the local transport delivery plan (LDTP). Once the details of individual
schemes and interventions have been through the approval process, budgets will be
allocated to the Engineering team for the relevant projects.

Transforming Cities Fund:

The South-East Dorset (SED) Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) Programme is now in the final
stages of delivering the infrastructure funded from the £79.3m of Department for Transport
(DfT) Capital grant funding to BCP Council. The remaining grant estimated to be spent
during 2026/27 is £10.9 million. The largest scheme planned to be completed is Ringwood
Road Seaview to Manning Heath.

Estates Management:

£0.518m per annum represents the Council’s ongoing contribution to asset management of
the BH Live estate.

Planning and Transport - £18.7m 2026/27 (£81.7m 4-year plan)
Local Transport Delivery Plan (LTDP) 2025/26:

The Department for Transport has announced a new local transport funding system for Local
Transport Authorities and confirmed the capital funding allocations for the next spending
review period (2026/27 to 2029/30). The table below shows the £77.7 million to be spent on
local transport delivery. This represents 34% of the current capital programme over the next
4 years. The funding comes with a new accountability and reporting system. The

settlement letter commissions each local transport authority to produce a local transport
delivery plan (LTDP) with details of schemes and interventions or programmes and
packages of spend to be submitted in draft by 20 March 2026 with the final LTDP

submitted by 18 September 2026.

Once the details of individual schemes have gone through the approval process, budgets will
be allocated accordingly. It is estimated that the majority of the works will be delivered by the
Engineering teams.

Appendix 7
199



2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30 Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Active Travel 2,249.7 2,249.7 2,249.7 2,249.7 8,998.8
Highways Maintenance 7,763.0 91440 98600 112730  38,040.0
LA Bus Grant (LABG) 30188 3,0795 3,1402 3,2009 124394
Loca transport Grant (LTG) 3,345.9 3,620.3 4,961.2 6,302.0 18,2294
Total 16,377.4  18,093.5 20,2111 23,025.6  77,707.6

Environment - £18.9m 2025/26 (£27.6m 4-year plan)

Strategic waste and recycling:

Planned spend in this area includes continued investment in the Council’s waste bin
replacement strategy represented by £0.41m per annum across the MTFP funded by
borrowing.

There remains £5.7m uncommitted Waste Infrastructure grant. The intention is to utilise this
to support the redevelopment of the authority’s waste sites including the Transfer Station at
Hurn. Approval(s) will be sought at the appropriate time.

Green space and conservation:

The implementation of the Plan for Play strategy is the most significant scheme with £1.5
million profiled in 2026/27 with likelihood of slippage from 2025/26 which will be carried
forward. This scheme is mainly funded from CIL plus various planning obligations and
reserves.

Other schemes in the programme relates to several smaller investments mainly funded from
CIL and Section 106 contributions which will see enhancements and improvements to parks
and open spaces, including Hengistbury Head visitor centre, Milhnams Mead, Bourne Valley
and Bernard Mead and Mudeford Woods infrastructure improvements.

Transport and operating centre:

The Fleet service management is progressing phase two replacement strategy. There is
approximately £4.7 million expected slippage from year one (2025/26) which is being
reprofiled to 2026/27 increasing the expected spend for 2026/27 to £9.1 million.

There is also approximately £290,000 investment in countryside vehicles which will take
place during 2026/27 mainly funded from reserves and Section 106 contributions.

CHILDREN SERVICES -£14.4m 2026/27 (£33m 4-year plan)

The Department for Education has indicated that BCP Council will receive in the region of £9
million over the next 3 years for Special Education Needs and Disabilities (SEND) above the
normal annual allocation. Estimating the normal annual allocation is not easy as there is no
real trend in prior years allocations. For the purpose of the MTFP we have assumed £4
million SEND grant for the first 3 years and £1million normal annual allocation for 2029/30.
The Education capital programme will be updated in the spring when the grants allocations
will be announced.

The MTFP also includes over £11 million High Needs grant reprofiled from prior years
bringing the estimated total funding available for SEND to approximately £25m over the next
4 years. The estimated available funding for children services capital expenditure over the

Appendix 7
200



MTFP period is a total of nearly £33 million including the schools conditions grant. This
represents 14% of the capital MTFP.

Children services are working on the children capital strategy to prioritise the use of available
funding.

WELLBEING - £4.4m 2026/27 (£17.8m 4-year plan)
Disabled Facilities Grant:

The allocation of the Disabled Facilities Grant is maintained at £4.4 million, the 20205/26
level for the MTFP period. The grant is used by Adults Social Care on community equipment
to meet social care needs and by Housing and Community for housing adaptations. We
understand that the national formula for the allocation of the DFG is being revised, the MTFP
will be updated when the new allocation is received.

EXECUTIVE - £2.4m 2026/27 (£4.9m 4-year plan)
IT and Programmes - £2.4m 2026/27 (£4.9m 4-year plan)

ICT investment plan:

The main area of investment within the ICT plan is the rolling programme of laptop
replacement for officers and members. This will ensure that equipment meets the needs of
the organisation and remains supportable for IT & Programmes. This runs across the MTFP
period to 28/29. Additional funding of £764,000 is required for critical hardware and core
wide areas networking equipment which will reach its end of life in 2026/27. Cabinet is
requested to approve the additional £195,000 borrowing per annum over the next 5 years
ahead of a 4-year IT infrastructure replacement plan.

Appendix 7
201



This page is intentionally left blank

202



Capital Investment programme 2026/30 project list

CHILDREN - CAPITAL
Education and Skills Capital

2026/2030

2026/27 Total

2027/28 2028/29 2029/30

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Basic Needs Grant - uncommitted 826 - - - 826
Schools Devolved Formula Capital (DFC) 88 90 93 96 367
School Conditions Grant - Uncommitted 1,306 1,255 631 650 3,842
High needs Grant - Uncommitted 9,700 9,000 5,148 1,000 24,848
Basic Needs Surveys 50 50 - - 100
Condition Surveys (Children's Strategy) 50 50 50 - 150
CS Urgent Work 100 100 - - 200
Old Town & Baden Powell Caretaker property sale reimbursement 80 - - - 80
Advanced Design Fees SEND 200 200 - - 400
Burton Primary School - planned R&M 318 - - - 318
Christchurch Learning Centre - planned R&M 138 - - - 138
Highcliffe St Mark - planned R&M 107 - - - 107
Linwood - planned R&M 887 - - - 887
Mudeford Infant School - planned R&M 165 - - - 165
Climate Change/Low Carbon Reduction 50 50 - - 100
Somerford Primary School - planned R&M 178 - - - 178
Winchelsea School - planned R&M 71 - - - 71
SEND Adaptations 100 100 - - 200
Education and Skills Capital Total 14,414 10,895 5,922 1,746 32,977

Children Capital Total

EXECUTIVE - CAPITAL

IT and Programmes Capital

14,414

10,895

Enterprise Comms (WAN Migration) 509 - - - 509
Enterprise Storage & Data 200 - - - 200
Enterprise Compute (Platform Modernisation) 56 - - - 56
Enterprise Endpoints (Desktop Replacement) 1,643 1,222 1,246 - 4,111
IT and Programmes Capital Total 2,408 1,222 1,246 - 4,876

Executive - Capital Total

OPERATIONS - CAPITAL

Commercial Operations Capital

Contingency for Poole Bay Beach Management (Phase 1 underspend) 650 - - - 650
Jurassic Coast FCERM Mitigation Study (revenue) 172 150 - - 322
South West Storms Analysis 35 - - - 35
Poole Bay Beach Management 2020-2031 1,875 6,372 - - 8,247
Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill (PB2HH) 13,312 4,290 - - 17,602
Sterte Flood Defence Works (pumping station) 70 - - - 70
Poole Bay, Harbour and Wareham FCERM Strategy 200 200 - - 400
SEAFRONT (LUF) Seafront Beach Huts (Repairs & Upgrades) 700 - - - 700
SEAFRONT (LUF) Promenade Infrastructure (Utility & Digital) 300 - - - 300
SEAFRONT (LUF) East CIiff Lift (Stabilisation Works) 3,799 - - - 3,799
SEAFRONT (LUF) Bournemouth Pier (Structural Engineering) 4,610 4,610 - - 9,220
SEAFRONT (LUF) Bournemouth Pier (Future Leisure Offer) 100 - - - 100
SEAFRONT (LUF) Boscombe Pier (Feasibility) 26 - - - 26
SEAFRONT (LUF) Alum Chine Cloisters (Feasibility) 5 - - - 5
Mudeford Beach House Café 550 - - - 550
Sea Cliff and Chine management 560 - - - 560
Commercial Operations Capital Total 26,964 15,622 - - 42,586
Customer, Arts and Property Capital

Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) Unallocated 3,200 - - - 3,200
Russell Cotes MEND 4 Project 1,498 62 - - 1,560
Programme Management 80 - - - 80
Port of Poole Bridges Programme 3,350 2,508 - - 5,858
Cycle Corridor Section C2-3A-B Glenferness Ave Bridge 70 - - - 70
Capitalised maintenance Neighbourhood Services (Pru borrowing) 900 900 900 900 3,600
Road Safety Improvements 20mph schemes 150 - - - 150
Kings Park (inc crossings on Ashley) 14 - - - 14
Wimborne Road - Serpentine to New Inn 41 - - - 41
Ringwood Rd Sea View to Manning Heath 6,930 - - - 6,930
Castle Lane West - Muscliffe to Broadway 438 - - - 438
Ringwood Rd - Controlled crossing only 187 - - - 187

203

APPENDIX 7A



Highcliffe Road Toucan Crossing 300 - - - 300

Library Replacement ICT Programme 183 - - - 183
Telecare 474 356 356 173 1,359
BH Live 518 518 518 518 2,072

Residential PEEPs Social Housing - - - - -

Customer, Arts and Property Capital Total 18,333 4,344 1,774 1,591 26,042

Environment Capital

Waste Infrastructure Grant Unallocated 5,700 - - - 5,700
Plan for Play - Refurbishment, Replacement & New Play Spaces 1,395 - - - 1,395
Plan for Play - Repurpose & Review Ownership 112 - - - 112
Plan for Play - Staff costs 102 - - - 102
Plan for Play - Surveys and Consultation Materials 35 - - - 35
Canford Heath (East & West) Open Space improvements 65 - - - 65
Branksome Rec 45 - - - 45
Street Tree Planting initiative 62 - - - 62
Waste Bin Replacement 410 410 410 410 1,640
Fleet Management 9,105 7,422 - - 16,527
Countryside Vehicles 290 - - - 290
Harbourside Masterplan (Whitecliff and Baiter) 46 - - - 46
Hengistbury Head Visitor Centre 200 - - - 200
Muscliff Natural Burial Ground 107 - - - 107
Newtown - Turners Nursery 52 - - - 52
Poole Park - delivery phase 17 - - - 17
Throop Nature Park (Hicks SANG) 90 - - - 90
Christchurch Legacy Play areas 88 - - - 88
Turbary Common Mire water quality imp 33 - - - 33
Mudeford Woods infrastructure improvements 140 - - - 140
Harbourside Park Open Space improvement 60 - - - 60
Milhams Mead HIP 320 - - - 320
Bourne Valley HIP 166 - - - 166
Kinson Common HIP 61 - - - 61
Milhams Common HIP 40 - - - 40
Bernards Mead HIP 125 - - - 125
The Meridians HIP 27 - - - 27
Contingency for projects Milhams Common, Bernards Mead and The Meridians HIP 30 - - - 30
Environment Capital Total 18,923 7,832 410 410 27,575

Investment & Development - Capital

Towns Fund - Masterplan Contingency 154 - - - 154
Towns Fund - Hawkwood Road - Medical Centre 290 2,697 - - 2,987
Towns Fund - Boscombe Digital Connectivity - Phase 2 125 - - - 125
Towns Fund - Hawkwood Road Community Centre 2,731 - - - 2,731
Investment & Development - Capital Total 3,300 2,697 - - 5,997

Planning & Transport Capital

Local Transport Plan - Integrated Transport Block Unallocated 3,346 3,620 4,961 6,302 18,229
Local Transport Plan - Highways Maintenance Unallocated 7,763 9,144 9,860 11,273 38,040
Pokesdown Railway Station 1,275 1,282 - - 2,557
Active Travel Fund - Unallocated 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 9,000
Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 400 275 172 - 847
BSIP unallocated 3,019 3,080 3,140 3,201 12,440
BSIP Bournemouth Interchange to Station Roundabout bus priority on slip road 600 - - - 600
Planning & Transport Capital Total 18,653 19,651 20,383 23,026 81,713

Operations - Capital Total 50,146 183,913

WELLBEING - CAPITAL

Adults Commissioning Capital

Disabled Facilities Grant - Integrated Community Equipment Store (BCP) 2,591 2,591 2,591 2,591 10,364
Care technology service - equipment 81 93 110 59 343
Adults Commissioning Capital Total 2,672 2,684 2,701 2,650 10,707

Housing & Communities Capital
Disabled Facilities Grant - Housing 1,775 1,775 1,775 1,775 7,100

Housing & Communities Capital Total 1,775 1,775 1,775 1,775 7,100

Wellbeing - Capital Total 4,447 4,459 4,476 4,425 17,807
|

Grand Total 107,442 66,722 34,211 31,198 239,573

204
APPENDIX 7A



Strategic Asset
Management Plan

2026-2031

becpcouncil.gov.uk



90¢

Contents

1.0 1] 1o o 11 o 1o T o PRSP 4
2.0 21O e B LY g gToTe =T o] a1 o3-SR PP PRSP 5
3.0 COrPOrate SIrAtEOY SUMIMAIY .ottt e ettt oo e e ettt e e e e e ee e et e et e e e eeeeee s e e etsa e eeaaeessesstaa e eeeaesessstaa e eeeeeeesssstaa e eeeaeessssssannaaeeeaeees 6
4.0 (70T g1 (=) (e It TSI = O = 7= = PSSP 7
5.0 Property Management POIICIES SUMMAIY ... 8
6.0 Property and ASSEE ACHON PIaN ...... ..o et et e e et e e et et e e e e ettt e e e e et e e e e eta e e e e ta e ee et a e ee e et e e e eet e eeeeta e aeean e aaera s 10
7.0 Y £= 1 E TS @Y= Y oS PTPPTTRR 12
8.0 ACQUISITION & DISPOSAIS ......veiiieeeee ettt e oo ettt e e e e e e et e e ettt e e e e e e e et eeee s e e e e e eeeeeesss e e e e eeeeeess s s a e e e eeeeeessss s aeeeeeeeeesnsnnnaaeeeeeeensnnnn s 15
8.1 oo [ 1171 17
8.2 1] 0101 = | PP 19
9.0 Facilities management building maintenance POIICY SUMMAIY.........oooi i 21
10.0 Challenges, opportunities, and future asSet FEQUITEMENTS .......ccoiii i e et e e e e e e e e e e e et a e e e eeeeeeessss e e e aeeeeeeesnsnnnnnns 23
O IS O 1= T = Ty g = SR 23
10.2  Transformation / RegeNeration / PlaCe SN@DiNg ... ... . i i ueuieeiuiuuiiutuuuueuueeeeauaeaeeaeaeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesesssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnsnnssnnnnnsnnnnnnnnnnnnnnns 24
10.3  Climate action & building SUSTAINADIITY ...ttt e e e oo oottt et e e e e e e e e s s bbb et e e e e e e e e e nbbbb e e e e eeeeaaanns 29
L0 S 1Y Tt =Y Yo 32
10.4.1 Assessing a sample Of the @State - LIDFAriEs ..........ooi ettt e oottt e e e e e e e e bbb et e e e e e e e e e abbbe e e e e e e e eaaanns 32
10.5 Maintaining the Council’s assets & ensuring they are safe & COMPIIANT...........uu i i saansenannnnnnne 34
OIS T o | YN 10 £ =TS e = T o PSR 35
L PO I @7 o T = (= F= T o |To o I 4o o = 36
12.0  Property Data ManagEmMENT ... ....oooiiiiiii it e et et e e e e ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e eee et e ettt e e eeeeeee et eetaeeeeeeeeetataaeeeaeeeetarr e aaeaaeeenraa s 38
2

Appendix 8



L0¢

13.0
14.0
15.0
16.0

F Y o] o] oY= Ted T (o T € To 1YY g =T o o PSP 39
T a1 6] alT oA o Ty {1 s o PSSO PPPPPPPRR 42
Approach to developing the Asset Management Plan — NEXE StEPS. ... e e e e e et e e e e et e e e e e e e e earaans 43
(€[S T PP PPPPPPPPPPP 45
3

Appendix 8



80¢

1.0 Introduction

An Asset Management Plan (AMP) is the foundation to ensuring a portfolio of assets is being managed in the most efficient and effective way. An AMP
maps out aspirations, goals and actions against timebound commitments that shows how the Council’s property assets are proactively managed to fully
meet both its current and future requirements, with an increasing focus on long term financial and climate sustainability.

The Council’s Financial Regulations set out the responsibilities of the Corporate Property Officer which include “establishing an asset management plan
that details short-, medium-, and long-term use of assets, and establishes arrangements for monitoring and reporting asset performance”. The inclusion
of this section on Asset Management within this Financial Paper helps set the tone for how the Council will take this forward.

The Council has set out its key priorities within the Corporate Strategy. Part of the AMP’s role is to establish a golden thread, linking the Council’s
priorities and ambitions through the management of and investment in its assets.

The AMP should also be developed and read in conjunction with other strategies and plans including Regeneration, Housing, Highways, Seafront, and
transformation. For noting, the management of the HRA is set out in the annual HRA Budget Papers. The AMP focuses on corporate ‘general fund’ land
and property assets. All relevant appendices are listed at the end of this document to highlight their relevance and inclusion in this policy.

The AMP has an important role to play regarding the Council’s Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP). For example, surplus assets can
contribute to funding the capital programme and in turn capital expenditure can support the provision of new asset requirements identified by services
or council priorities. Surplus assets can also be used to fund transformation expenditure via the governments Flexible Use of Capital Receipts regulations.
The AMP should also horizon scan, identifying asset requirements that might require capital investment to deliver and maintain them in the future.

Appendix 8



60¢

2.0 BCP Demographics

BCP Council has a mix of high and low
deprivation areas. Some areas, such as
Sandbanks, Canford Cliffs, Christchurch and
Broadstone fall within the least deprived areas
nationally.

In contrast, there are communities
experiencing some of the highest levels of
deprivation in Turlin Moor, Alderney, Turbary
Common and West Howe, Boscombe and
Somerford.

Deprivation is strongly linked with many
adverse health outcomes.

BCP Council is made up of 76 members
representing 33 wards with a population of
400,000 people.

IMD Overall Rank 2019 [233]
[ Decile 1 (10% most deprived) [9]
[ Decile 2 [17)

7] Decile 3[18)

[ Decile 4 [27)

[ Decile 5 [26)

[ Decile 6 [26)

[ Decile 7 [33]

[7] Decile 8 [26]

[ Decile 9[27)

[ Decile 10 (10% least deprived) [24]
Source: Index of Deprivation,

Created by the Insight Team © Crown Copyright - All rights
reserved, BCP Council 100019829, 2021

Appendix 8



0T¢

3.0 Corporate Strategy Summary

bepcouncil.gov.uk

Principles for how we work

Working closely with partners, removing barriers and empowering others.
Providing accessible and inclusive services, showing care in our approach.
Using data, insights and feedback to shape services and solutions.
Intervening as early as possible to improve outcomes.

Developing a passionate, proud, valued and diverse workforce.

Creating an environment for innovation, learning and leadership

Using our resources sustainably to support our ambitions

Appendix 8



TT¢

4.0 Context of the BCP Estate

BCP (Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole) Council has a wide-ranging portfolio of property assets inherited from the four legacy authorities in 2019.

In November 2025 the portfolio was valued at a total of circa £2.16bn. This total includes housing, schools, libraries and community centres, specialist
centres providing adult day care and residential care and a range of support for children and young people, administrative and civic buildings, cemeteries
& crematoriums, the regional mortuary, public conveniences, and maintenance depots.

The Council also has several heritage assets that
include Museums, a Castle and Parks, the maintenance
of such sites is a continuous challenge and only the
most urgent works are currently being carried out. BCP
also maintains and develops many entertainment
venues such as the Bournemouth International Centre
(BIC), Pavilion and Poole Lighthouse; sports centres,
sports pitches, and pavilions; car parks, investment
properties, and a range of seafront assets including
beach huts and cafes.

Property assets can become liabilities as they need on-
going maintenance and investment to ensure they
remain fit for purpose. It is therefore essential that the
assets held by the Council are the right ones, efficiently
supporting the provision of quality services, helping
deliver our strategic aims, and making a positive
difference within the community they serve.

It is important that the Council constantly challenges the
use of its assets to ensure the principles set out in this
document are maintained and the estate re-shaped

accordingly. This is set out in our Asset Re-Use 0 2.5 5 km
E @ Crown Copyright and Dalﬂ]b:ﬂs:&s:;n;l 2025 - Ordnance Survey
Procedure.

Appendix 8



A4

5.0 Property Management Policies Summary

BCP’s Property Policy outlines our aims and aspirations, methods and principles so we can manage our land and buildings across the corporate
property portfolio (excludes housing revenue assets and highways). The Strategy covers 2025-2035 and is reviewed regularly to ensure it is relevant to
what we are striving to achieve, this supports a flexible approach to work with corporate drivers and service needs.

Identifying and classifying our assets
The activity of improved alignment across our processes, systems, people, finances and data to work towards a single objective.

Ensuring maintenance and compliance
Whilst ensuring health and safety, compliance and optimised use are the priority we must also consider the entire asset lifecycle from
acquisition, operation and management to disposal.

Monitoring financial performance
With aligned data the strategic objectives and added value can ensure a clear financial analysis at all relevant levels of the portfolio.

Managing risks
H&S Compliance, maintaining risk registers, working collaboratively and improving our goals helps to manage risks alongside improvements
and meeting the strategic objectives.

Using data to inform decisions for long-term value in alignment with strategic objectives
Asset Management outputs are supported by ensuring our core data and other systems can be examined from all angles.

Appendix 8



€re

Customer needs

as ment
Palitical Vision
engagen‘uent
Outcomes
Asset
. . . Palicies strategy
Strategic and Operational Interactions - &
Capital and
revenue ch Collabaoration
The benefit of the policy is to align property management with business strategy, strategy maFne;Z:ﬁan g
which will enable us to operate more efficiently, enhance decision making, control -
cost, increase tenant satisfaction. The reason of using one system will be to make Performance Acquisitions and
data-driven decisions, better access and improved accuracy of statistics and measurement disposals
reports and to utilise the datasets available and this will lead to quicker access to Service/customer Benefits
financial projections like revenue forecasting and project cost estimates. This will liaison management

Risk

lead to savings and increased opportunities for profit-making avenues, the diagram management

to right also helps to complement this by proving some of the tangible areas to .
consider. Procurement

User feedback

Outputs

Compliance

Photo Ref.(right): RICS Practice Information: Strategic public sector

asset management — Global 3rd edition, Sept 2021.
Utilisation
Health and

Figure 1: Interface between strategic and operational property asset management

Appendix 8



1474

6.0 Property and Asset Action Plan

The BCP action plan that is set out ensures the Council can transparently track and align its goals to the values and principles that it follows.

MANAGE PROPERTY ASSETS AS A CORPORATE RESOURCE FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE COMMUNITY

- Document and track the Asset Management action plan

- Develop and utilise the corporate asset register data

- Complete the library pilot project under landlord model approach
- Complete the Christchurch digitisation

- Review and update the terms of ref for Corporate Property Group

A

N

DELIVER THE RIGHT PROPERTY, OF GOOD STANDARD, IN THE RIGHT PLACE, TO MEET CURRENT AND FUTURE NEEDS

- Produce place-based cluster projects to ensure the relevant services are available in the right areas

- Review the facilities management maintenance policy
- Produce valuation guidance and process documentation

- Reduce unique property reference number (UPRN) gaps for sites and buildings

Y

10

Appendix 8



GgT¢c

EFFECTIVELY MANAGE AND MAINTAIN PROPERTY IN A SUSTAINABLE MANNER, WHILST IDENTIFYING COMMERCIAL OPPORTUNITIES
AND OPTIMISING FINANCIAL RETURN FROM THE RATIONALISATION AND DISPOSAL OF BUILDINGS AND LAND

- Focus on asset rationalisation and re-use

- Focus on estates and accommodation project including community hubs.
- Asset valuations process and data alignment review

- Review the BCP acquisition and disposal policy.

STIMULATE DEVELOPMENT AND GROWTH OF LOCAL BUSINESSES IN THE USE OF OUR LAND AND BUILDINGS

- Review community asset transfer (CAT) policy and manage summary and updates in
the corporate register. ® ;

[ 4
- Focus on delivery of the depot project ’- ‘

- Improve and document the rent review and lease renewal process

SAFEGUARDING VALUE FOR MONEY BY INCREASING AWARENESS AND WORKING COLLABORATIVELY TO IMPROVE SERVICE DELIVERY

- Align finance records with corporate register
- Align service assets lists with corporate property register

® 00
- Review project and property decision and approval process W

11

Appendix 8



9T¢

7.0 Estates Overview

Since 2023 the property estate has been continually reviewed and there is an on-going set of objectives to ensure core data gaps are reduced and
data interaction is recognised. The alignment and standardisation of property Use and Type’s is vital to support service strategies and projects such
as area clustering, where assets are analysed from a geographical perspective alongside the documentation of long-term service needs. The
suitability of property and its purpose is now questioned and assessed through the corporate landlord model (CLM) function. This landlord approach
ensures that property decisions are made by the relevant teams within the estates and facilities management (FM) departments. There are 2,620
asset entries on the corporate asset register, this is a breakdown of sites and specific establishments.

The data and strategic outline held on the Corporate Estate is now structured to help the underlying principles that support future decision-making,
representing a checklist to assess new estate-related business cases against. So, in the future the BCP Council estate should be: -

- Relevant - in a strategic sense.

- Resilient — protecting BCP operations and our communities.
- Fit for purpose / Safe / Compliant.

- Transformation - digitally enabled.

- Connected — accessible to customers.

- Flexible — to accommodate future changes and targets.

- Sustainable — carbon neutral / environmentally.

- Sustainable — financially in the medium to longer term.

An output from a piece a work by Avison Young in 2021 was a recommendation to implement a more centrally controlled organisational structure for all
aspects of land and property management. This is now being actioned with the implementation of a Corporate Landlord Model which is detailed more
in the section below.

12

Appendix 8



LTC

- The Asset Management Plan sits within an Asset Management Framework which responds to our corporate drivers and uses other inputs and

enablers to support its delivery:

Sum of Asset Total

TOTAL

Tenure Type &

B Agreement or Interest
M Freehold
M Leasehold

m Other Interest

% of Buildings/Land and Land
only assets

13

Appendix 8



8T¢

Corporate Drivers

BCP Corporate
Strategy

Medium Term
Financial Plan

Evidence base and Inputs

Corporate Landlord
Model

BCP Planning
Framework

Asset Data and
Performance

Property Management
Standards & Processes

Sustainability
Action Plan

Corporate Property
Groups
Strategic & Operational

Asset Management Strategies

Area Based Asset
Actions Plans
Area Clustering
and identify
apportunities

Asset Individual
Management Sarvice

Plan Strategy’s
Aszset Overview, Current and

Key Objectives, Future Provision
principles and

act ons

- In conclusion, the Framework sets out a series of actions to move the Council towards a strategic (and corporate best practice) approach to estate
management, and a more targeted, needs led approach to identifying estate re-alignment and rationalisation opportunities.

- The final section of this initial Asset Management Plan summarises some of the key themes as part of a high-level action plan, listing the challenges
and opportunities that will have an impact on the management of the Council’s assets over the next few years. These all provide context to the

shaping of the AMP.

14

Appendix 8



6T¢

8.0 Acquisition & Disposals

This summary of the acquisition and disposal process reflects the separate policy that interact with this overarching AMP, alongside all other relevant
council property and other policies. The purpose of the document is to make the Council's policies, guidance and procedures transparent and public. It
is intended for use by Council officers and to inform stakeholders and members of the public.

The recognition and disposal of surplus property and the consequential reinvestment of capital receipts have been and remains a key part of the
council’s capital strategy and asset management planning process. A disposal of land means land and/or building(s) and is either a freehold disposal
by sale or exchange of land in perpetuity, or by the granting of a lease for a period greater than seven years. Leases of seven years or less are not
covered by this policy document, as they do not meet the definition of a disposal as categorised by the Local Government Act 1972 s123. In this
context it is recognised that all council property is a corporately owned resource, even though it may be occupied by a specific service.

Legal Framework — Best Consideration

A local authority has the power to dispose of land and property as it sees fit, so long as it achieves the best consideration reasonably obtainable (s.123
of the Local Government Act 1972).

The duty is to achieve the best overall consideration reasonably obtainable, which can be the best price in the open market (market value), but not
always. For example, a better (more certain) outcome maybe obtainable for a lower price when evaluating bids.

Where an opinion of market value (and/or market rent) is required to assist with evidencing best consideration, a valuation report compliant with the
RICS Valuation — Global Standards (Red Book) will be commissioned.

Land can be disposed of for less than consideration if:

= Secretary of State consent is sought and granted or
= General Disposal Consent 2003 is relied upon. This permits the disposal of sites at less than best consideration in certain circumstances,
provided the undervalue is below £2 million.

15

Appendix 8



0¢e

Authority — BCP Constitution

BCP’s constitution sets out the levels of authority to approve the acquisition and disposal of land and property. These reflect the capital value of the

asset in question.

Acquisition of freehold & leasehold land &
buildings.

The acquisition of a freehold, leasehold, or any
other interest in

Up to £350k (capital value)

Corporate Property Officer

‘Special Purchaser’ assumptions cannot be
made.

land or buildings subject to the purchase being £350k to £500k (capital value) | Cabinet / Cabinet Member
no more than

market value unless ‘Special Purchaser’ Over £500k ital val Full C i

assumptions can be made ver (capital value) uit ounci

Acquisition of freehold & leasehold land &

buildings at more than market value and Any Value Full Council

Disposal of freehold & leasehold land &
buildings. Disposal by way of a sale, lease,
licence, wayleave, easement, deed of variation,
renewal, surrender, modification of covenant, or
other disposal of an interest in land or buildings
using any method that achieves best
consideration.

Up to £350k (capital value)

Corporate Property Officer

£350k to £500k (capital value)

Cabinet / Cabinet Member

Over £500k (capital value)

Full Council

Agreeing disposals of any land or building asset
not to the highest bidder or where there is a
difference between the estimated open market
value (or best consideration) and the actual
sales price. (Seek legal advice if land is open
space).

Up to £350k (capital value)

Corporate Property Officer in consultation with the Chief
Finance Officer

£350k to £500k (capital value)

Cabinet / Cabinet Member

Over £500k (capital value)

Full Council

The Corporate Property Office has powers to delegate authority for the sign off transactions to BCP officers. The current scheme of delegation enables
the Heads of Estates to sign off acquisitions and disposals (at best consideration) up to a capital value of £350,000.

16

Appendix 8



Tece

8.1 Acquisition /\
e

Our aim for acquiring property is to ensure the following stages are considered, whilst ensuring it is relevant. It's important to be transparent and clear
when following these objectives for the purchase of property, this may include expanding public infrastructure, promoting economic development,
meeting community needs, or other specific goals. It is important to note that BCP estates must be involved and have sight of all aspects of property
purchase within the BCP Council. BCP Homes are an integral part of housing provision, so it is imperative that potential acquisitions from both parties
are communicated to each other.

1. Criteria for Acquisition: Determine the criteria for identifying properties suitable for acquisition. Consider factors such as strategic location,
community impact, availability, and alignment with the council's long-term plans.

2. Needs Assessment: Conduct a thorough needs assessment to identify the specific requirements or gaps that the council aims to address through
property acquisition. This could involve engaging with various stakeholders, analysing demographic data, and understanding community feedback.

3. Budget and Funding: Establish a clear budget for property acquisition and identify potential funding sources. This may include allocating funds from
the council's budget, seeking grants, or exploring partnerships with external organizations.

4. Evaluation and Due Diligence: Develop a comprehensive evaluation process to assess potential properties. This should involve conducting due
diligence, including property inspections, legal assessments, environmental impact considerations, and financial evaluations.

17

Appendix 8



c¢cee

5. Public Engagement: Encourage public engagement throughout the property acquisition process. Seek input from community members, residents,
and relevant stakeholders to ensure transparency and gather diverse perspectives.

6. Negotiation and Acquisition: Outline the procedures for negotiating property acquisitions, including establishing fair market value, negotiating
purchase agreements, and finalizing legal documentation. Consider engaging professional real estate agents or legal advisors if necessary.

7. Property Management:

- Define the guidelines for managing acquired properties, including maintenance, renovations, leasing, or disposal if required. Ensure the council's
property holdings are managed efficiently and in line with the intended objectives.

8. Review and Monitoring:

- Regularly review the effectiveness of the property acquisition policy and monitor its outcomes. Adjust as needed to ensure it continues to meet the
council's objectives and aligns with changing community needs.

18

Appendix 8



€ac

8.2 Disposal

This summary helps to explain the interaction against the Asset Management Plan, our focus at the moment is to follow the asset re- A
use process, this will include working with individual services to understand their longer-term requirements, work with community ﬁ
organisations and partners to maximise the use of assets where savings and profits can be made. The process helps us to create an

efficient and time-constrained process to ensure properties are not left unused for long periods of time without good reason.

BCP Council follow 6 underlying disposal principles, these tie into Asset Management Plan, appendices and processes

Principle 1

We will ensure sufficient assets disposals are secured to enable the council’s transformation programme costs to be fully funded by the Flexible Use of
Capital Receipts. This will require disposal of assets where completion can be guaranteed by the 31 March of the relevant financial year and to the
required amount.

Principle 2

Pursuant with s123 of the Local Government Act 1972, we will ensure best consideration is achieved in respect of any asset disposal by ensuring the
value achieves the red book valuation as a minimum. We will also consider the use of overage clauses, where appropriate, to benefit from any future
uplift in value.

Principle 3

We will constantly challenge ourselves as to the basis for holding any asset to ensure our portfolio is managed in an efficient and effective way.
Holding costs and ability to reduce carbon footprint will be salient factors.

19

Appendix 8



1444

Principle 4 Step 1. Asset identified as under-used or surplus

We will look to dispose of surplus, under-used, vacant land & buildings unless there is a |
strong strategic rationale for holding them for example - support future service delivery, X
regeneration, housing or place making.

W

Step 2. Under-use or surplus notified to the Corporate Property
Group (Cross Authority Officer Group)

Principle 5 B
.
Provided consistently with other principles, we will support the acquisition of assets by
community organisations and other public sector bodies such as Town and Parish Step 3. Corporate Property Group consider following courses of
Councils. action
-
P

Principle 6 . : . . .
Step 4. Cabinet/CMB Bi-weekly Strategic Planning Meeting

Estates Team capacity will be focused on the delivery of the required asset disposals. —’

The model to the right shows the process map for asset disposal. . 4

Step 5. Consultation with ward Councillors

B

N
Step 6. Cross Party Strategic Asset Disposal Working Group

.
W
Step 7. Cabinet Decision

¥

Step 8. Council Decision

20

Appendix 8



T4

9.0 Facilities management building maintenance policy summary

Our strategic objective is to maintain the corporate estate to an adequate standard that supports operational efficiency, employee

well-being, and long-term asset value. However, current resource constraints require prioritisation of repairs that directly impact health

and safety compliance and to ensure that a service can operate from that site. While this approach ensures legal and compliance obligations are met,
it does present a challenge between our broader goal of proactive estate management and the reactive focus on health and safety issues.

The core values of the maintenance policy are to manage safety, risk and priority in our buildings

Facilities management principles:

e Specify the minimum requirements for the management of maintenance.

e Ensure that building assets are adequately maintained.

o Ensure that the property-related risks to the councils are effectively managed.

o Ensure that health, safety and security objectives are met.

o Ensure that the council have the necessary information for monitoring the maintenance, condition and performance of building assets.

o Keep all premises managers (within operational departments) informed through the provision of appropriate & timely information, to help them
identify their responsibilities and comply with all current policies, strategies, management procedures, property-related health & safety matters
& associated compliance issues.

o Improve the efficiency and effectiveness of maintenance.

o Achieve appropriate financial savings by efficient procurement, economies of scale, and rationalisation of contracts.

21

Appendix 8



The policy recognises and acknowledges the collaborative management relationships between all Council operational services regarding the
maintenance of Council owned building assets.

It's crucial that BCP FM teams know which buildings are directly maintained as the Council own over 2300 sites but directly maintain over 1200
properties.

9¢¢

22

Appendix 8



Y XA

10.0 Challenges, opportunities, and future asset requirements

10.1 Financial climate

The Council’s assets have a key role to play regarding responding to the unprecedented financial
challenges the Council faces over the next few years. Assets can directly affect both the revenue
and capital positions of the Council.

The Council must ensure that its land and property assets deliver value for money in terms of service
benefit, operating costs, financial returns, and regeneration. The Council must therefore continually
challenge whether its assets are required, fit for purpose, and contribute to the delivery Council
services and priorities. The transformation programme will support this by improving utilising the
space within our buildings and continue to encourage co-location and integration. By monitoring and
challenging property use and maintenance spending BCP will identify opportunities for performance
improvement, thus optimising financial return and commercial opportunities.

2024-25
expense figures
for the General
Fund

Financial efficiencies are directly linked to the implementation of the corporate landlord model, this is
particularly relevant to the annual budget which will aim to reduce revenue operating costs. Further
work has also begun to utilise the corporate property and asset register to ensure that all property Maintenance
expenditure is initiated within the system that can interact with the finance system. £9.89m

Currently not all financial costs can be linked to individual assets, so our aim is to ensure that all
costs shown below can be linked back to this level of detail. To the right is a summary of financial
costs.

23

Appendix 8




8¢¢

10.2 Transformation / Regeneration / Place Shaping

The Council has committed to revitalising the towns and neighbourhoods across Bournemouth, Christchurch, and Poole, and has several key delivery
partners.

The Bournemouth Development Company has been a key player in regenerating Bournemouth Town Centre for the last 14 years. Most recent
developments include ‘Treetops’ in St Stephens Road and ‘West Cliff Mansions’, both utilising council land formerly used as surface car parks. More
efficient multi-storey car provision has been provided to offset the loss of these car parks. To date, four projects have been completed with Madeira
Road, The Citrus Building, Berry Court and St Stephen's Road schemes, which has seen an overall increase in spaces in the area.

The Boscombe Towns Fund is using £22m as part of the Government’s Town Deal programme to turbo charge ambitious regeneration plans for
Boscombe.

The identification and redeployment of under-used and surplus assets is an important driver for regeneration, and critical to the success of these
endeavours. Equally, there is a need to consider how active land and property management can of itself deliver regenerative benefits ahead of and as
a precursor to the development of land and property. Asset Management is also about understanding what future services might look like and the
assets required to support services. This valuable information can feed into the place shaping work led by these partners.

Supporting the community to find opportunities in our assets through the CAT Policy and creating resources such as the Invest in BCP resource online
to guide new and existing businesses thrive. https://www.investinbcp.co.uk/

24

Appendix 8


https://www.bournemouthdevelopmentcompany.com/
https://www.investinbcp.co.uk/

6¢¢

The Council is undertaking an extensive transformation programme which has three elements: how and where we work, how we are organised; and

how we support our colleagues through these changes.

Whilst the Council will continue to support customers face to face, a new operating model of investment in technology, digitalisation, and automation of
services with 24/7 access will have a significant impact upon the Council's operational estate.

The Council has already acted delivering Phase 1 of
its Estates & Accommodation (E&A) Programme with
the reconfiguration of the former Bournemouth Town
Hall Complex into the new BCP Civic Centre.
Significant work has also been undertaken at Poole
Customer Hub & Library and Christchurch Customer
Hub & Library to provide more modern and agile
environments for both customers and staff. This has
facilitated the closure of the other two civic centre sites
which are now progressing towards disposal.

Estates and Accommodation core objectives

+|dentify and deliver rationalisation and reuse of sites
*Supporting Council Priorities and Service Delivery
Establishing a Single Council Identity

*Financial Efficiency and Value for Money
*Modernisation and Accessibility
*Community-Focused Service and Customer Hubs

*Support the councils virtual landlord model and strategic asset management

25

Appendix 8



0€c¢

Critical Path - Rationalisation

Assets

Produce list
of assets for
review and
decision

Identify

Service areas
identify assets
for release

CMB
Approval

Approves asset
rationalisation

list

Develop

Detailed plan is

required in order.

o proceed

Deliver

HR consultation
process takes 45
days (where
required)
External
providers require
90 day notice

Asset

Handover

Ensuring service
work is sustained
in new locations
and disruption
keptto a
minimum

Phase 2 of the E&A programme commenced to primarily focus on the administrative buildings out in the conurbation so that the whole office estate is
rationalised, this work focusses on identifying space utilisation and service opportunities as often buildings are shared spaces, this process is shown
above. The asset clustering project focusses on properties and their demand for an improved service in the relevant areas across BCP, a process map
can be found below that helps to understand a place-based approach. The corporate landlord principles help to ensure the review is effective, by
highlighting what assets are a frontline service and recommending more efficient ways of utilising those properties, while still providing an acceptable
level of service to customers with a direct professional property advice.

26

Appendix 8



T€C

Critical Path -

Exploration

Identify assets for
consideration

Clustering

Create
leadership
and project
team

Involve all relevant
stakeholders

Workshops

Hold workshops to
consult, develop
realistic plans and
work through risks

and issues

Seek Approval
{CMB/ Cabinet)

Implementation
plan

Finalise project
scope, delivery
project objectives,
keep to
project timelines,
develop comms

project.

Launch

Identified assets
are handed back
to a variety of
integrated services

27

Appendix 8



[AXA

The council ambition is to continue with vacating, repurposing and disposal of relevant buildings across the conurbation.

The outcome from this will likely see more shared space and long-term consideration of use and requirements from the services, in turn creating
buildings fit for their purpose with better operational alignment and efficiencies. Whilst also reducing the number of assets used to deliver these

services.

The model’s below help to visualize how this approach is achieved and the model to the right present the process followed relating to the place-based
and service clustering project approach, also summarised above.

Tier 1 (Strategic

Assets)

g D

A locality in the
conurbation which
the asset need is
great due to
multiple factors.

Location:
+ Bournemouth
+ Poole

+  Christchurch

- J

Tier 2 (Asset
Rationalisation)

4 N

Assets which host
services and are
needed in the
locality but can be
rationalised and
new clusters could
be identified.
Possible
Community Hub/
Customer

Hub thinking.

N /

Tier 3 (Asset
Release)

4 )

Assets which have
gone through the
clustering
methodology and
been identified as
surplus.

N J

28

Appendix 8



€ee

10.3 Climate action & building sustainability

BCP Council declared a climate and ecological emergency in July 2019. This set a commitment as an organisation to become JE
carbon neutral by 2030, and then the conurbation of Bournemouth, Christchurch, and Poole by 2050.

The Council’s assets have a significant role to play in us achieving these targets. An asset management plan (AMP) that sets out clear direction in
terms of which assets are required in the future by each service, can in turn help direct the maintenance of and investment in those assets to improve
their energy efficiency and reduce their carbon emissions. The climate impact of each asset needs to be built in as one of the key performance
indicators for our portfolio alongside running costs, backlog maintenance and utilisation. Adaption is another area that needs consideration for the
portfolio, so future proofing our assets from floods, extreme heat, fire, and wind.

There is an urgent need to consider both the performance of assets from a resource consumption, fabric first and circular economy, perspective; as
well as considering how the physical disposition of council and public assets interacts with trip generation both for staff and for customers.

When the Council pursues new build or acquisition programmes in the future it will be guided by the framework within the Local Plan. However, the
Council will aspire to meet its own sustainable construction principles in the future. Our aim will be to ensure that our buildings are as sustainable as
possible in design, construction, operation and maintenance.
Where possible BCP will reduce energy and water
consumption, CO2 emissions and use renewable energy
where appropriate.

This could ensure a consistently high standard across
everything it does itself and in collaboration with its partners.

Highcliffe St Mark Primary School (above photo)

29

Appendix 8



1494

Integrating a sustainability approach

Y ! 7’
Reduction in buildings to manage and run reduces the Council’'s emissions. ‘(;‘.';;;
7’

A project is underway to identify further opportunities to install solar photovoltaic (PV) panels.
A Clustering programme has been initiated and has highlighted potential spaces within our estate that can be shared or utilised in a better way, this
has now been fed into the business-as-usual transformation process under projects and programme teams across BCP Council.

The improved sustainability of BCP buildings is an integrated aspiration and driver of change for the BCP asset estate, our teams have gained more
knowledge and access to the corporate register in order to improve interaction with core data and energy information. Ther aim is to link energy data to
the relevant asset level to ensure we maintain the necessary bespoke technology that the energy database provides, our aim is to align relevant
energy data across to the asset register to enable quick easy reporting and decision making to come from one place and remove the risk of duplication
or incorrect or out of date data coming from different sources.

BCP’s carbon reduction goals will naturally bind with physical assets, the asset register is then structured to hold Land, Buildings and room level
locations, when necessary, all with codes that should be used across the organisation. All reference codes should be reflected in the energy system,
and finance system. The aim is to concentrate on the corporate assets first, as recognised in BCP’s corporate landlord approach.

Asset and energy aspirations will include the following:

- Adopt all relevant Corporate Property Asset Register (Civica) codes into the energy system.

- Conduct a meter location survey based on floor plans that FM maintain, this could be at Building level or room level. Desktop and site-based surveys
will be the method as a good majority are already held on the energy system.

- Continue to improve floor area data to improve estimations on emissions and a long-term improvement goal is to gather room height information
where relevant, providing the cubic mass of the spaces.

- Improve records on key energy consuming/generation installations e.g. lighting, heating/cooling systems, generation over a certain size and
consuming units over a certain size number, and key aspects of the building relating to energy/energy efficiency such as whether there is wall or loft
insulation, the capability of the roof to support renewable energy installation, whether the windows are single, double or triple glazed etc.

- Gathering further info on the building type/ material and age, this will be an ongoing process of improvement and refinement focusing on the key sites
and missing information first.

30

Appendix 8



GEC

Y d

How can carbon be reduced in our buildings ‘,

Our initial aim is to focus more upon the highest consuming and used buildings and apply focus there which is why cross comparison is important. The
benefit of improved accuracy in measurements and easier access for monitoring of our emissions profile will help identifying energy efficiency
improvements that would provide the greatest carbon and cost saving potential for the Council ready for investment and provide a baseline and
framework from which to systematically improve precision over time towards the ultimate goal of becoming carbon neutral.

The following general improvements tend to have the greatest impact:

Payback of 1-3 years: Behaviour change in the use and operation of the site, loft/ceiling insulation, energy monitoring and control systems,
replacement of tungsten or fluorescent bulbs with LEDs, upgrade of very inefficient equipment or units with more efficiency versions, behind
radiator insulation, draft excluders

Payback 3-7 years: Cavity wall insulation; Solar PV, Underfloor heating
Payback over 7 years: Exterior wall insulation, heating system upgrade, window replacement, battery storage.

This information can be referred to in more detail in the following document, it relates to building energy efficiency and what actions will help to support
carbon reduction in our buildings — Local Area Energy Plan_In order to consider the open space and building balance across the estate the following
public report refers to the Dorset Local Nature Recovery Strategy

31

Appendix 8


https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s58982/Appendix%201%20for%20Local%20Area%20Energy%20Plan.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s60923/Dorset%20Local%20Nature%20Recovery%20Strategy.pdf

9¢¢

10.4 Service need

Council services are dealing with many challenges from financial, demographic, legislative, to service improvement and this is on top of bringing
together 4 legacy authorities and learning to live with worldwide pandemics, such as Covid. Whilst the provision of quality services is front and centre
in their thinking, the Council’s Estates team, working within the context of a Landlord Model, will support services to ensure the built estate is
considered in that thought and design process, and where possible the most appropriate assets are retained and invested in. Estates will guide and
develop individual service property strategy’s and where necessary by type and locality, this will ensure the ownership of all property assets and the
responsibility for their management and maintenance is transferred from the service departments to the corporate landlord, which is a centralised
function of the Council.

Service Strategies will need to align to the relevant individual Service Property Strategy, this will require services to state best practice and identify next
practise and future demand, this will involve seeking opportunities to reduce revenue expenditure and must be conducted with a sensitive approach as
most services have a high level of complexity to how and where they run their services from.

The focus is currently on assets that are no longer needed for their current use and to help improve how we serve the community, therefore BCP looks
to repurpose them for services such as Housing and Special Educational Needs and Disabilities.

o
+\\: 7+

10.4.1 Assessing a sample of the estate - Libraries m

To use the library department as an example of how to analyse an individual service, we have worked with teams to align property expenditure back to
property departments where decision on property spend can be made with a broader consideration for the entire corporate estate. Information has
been gathered to help provide long-term thinking and planning to the service, this has included identifying major condition defects that present high risk
of the building failing or not being able to open to the public. Work has been carried out to understand accessibility and alignment of systems that help
manage the data has helped to make data more accessible. Compliance information, utility emissions and cost data.

32

Appendix 8



LEC

Libraries at a glance

= &

Planned _ Responsive
Maintenance Rates & Utilities Cleaning Maintenance
£57k £834k £247k E25Tk

>z

Kinson Hub (Library,
CastlepointiLibrary;

Northmead H Rossmore Community Library, 624!
S Library And Learning
CharminsterLibrary, Highcliffe Library,
E@P Hubjand
Library,
(Christchurch))

Library/ office/
. o Centre

- child centre)
®Canford Heath
Library

L
siagele Libenny. Branksome Library Springbourne 'Southbourne Library;
L]
Wosthoume Boscombe|Library Ubnry
Flats

“Parkstone Library
and Depot Library,

Hamwom)y Community
oy Poole Central

O Library & 4th Floor
Admin Offices

Canford Cliffs °
Library and Offices

© Crown Copyright and Database Right 2025 — Ordnance Survey
100019829

2.5 5km

33

Appendix 8



8€¢

10.5 Maintaining the Council’s assets & ensuring they are safe & compliant.

An asset can quickly become a liability if not repaired, maintained, and managed properly. Like all local authorities, BCP Council has a substantial
maintenance backlog to address within its estate. Maintenance budgets are focussed on ensuring inspections are carried out and statutory
responsibilities maintained so buildings are safe for staff and visitors.

Buildings are being maintained on a reactive basis, this has its risks as we don’t hold a full set of live condition information as budgets are stretched to
only ensure the regular servicing and compliance is upheld. However, funding opportunities are being explored to see how buildings can become more
efficient and how old plant can be replaced with much more low carbon and sustainable solutions. Ongoing consideration is also being given to which
buildings are no longer needed for service deliver and can then be sold or redeveloped. In doing so the resources available to the council can then be
spread more effectively over less buildings. The corporate landlord Model will have a vital effect on prioritising budgets using a more direct approach to

our professional property and asset teams

34

Appendix 8



6€C

10.5 HRA Business Plan

The Housing Revenue Asset (HRA) portfolio exceeds 10,000 assets and is a piece of the BCP puzzle that often gets siloed, but we need to ensure
that the overall AMP considers and helps govern the HRA business plan, which is summarised below.

The HRA strategy aims to complement the BCP’s corporate strategy and the BCP Homes strategy which sets out two key priorities:
e Our place and environment: vibrant places where people and nature flourish, with a thriving economy in a healthy, natural environment
e Our people and communities: everyone leads a fulfilled life, maximising opportunity for all.

Key priorities within the BCP delivery plan relevant to this strategy include: BCP Homes

e Meeting future growth needs

e Preventing homelessness and rough sleeping
e Improving housing options, opportunities and choice for all

e Empowering and co-creating neighbourhoods where residents wish to live and be part of the
community

e Improving safety and sustainability across Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole’s housing.

Here are the six key objectives to help drive the council’'s work over the next five years:

e Ensure homes and communal areas are fit for purpose and comply with Decent Homes Standards
e Ensure homes are safe to live in and are free from hazards

e Ensure homes help meet housing needs

e Help contribute to social and environmental wellbeing

e Reduce carbon emissions and environmental impact

o Ensure there is effective financial control overseeing our work.

35

Appendix 8



ove

11.0 Corporate landlord model

The Council is in the process of introducing a Corporate Landlord Model (CLM) to improve the way it manages its land and property assets. The
different routes and scenarios are being mapped out and reviewed to ensure a more seamless approach is found that meets the needs and flexibility of
our property management systems. This means bringing together the different functions and activities into one single centre of excellence or service
directorate. From Strategic Asset Management, Estate Management, Facilities Management, Compliance, Repairs & Maintenance and Design &
Construction. This consolidation of technical and professional resources and budgets will help the Council operate more efficiently. CLM should infuse
corporate best practice.

The Facilities Management team, Estates and Property team’s act as the Virtual Landlord function, by managing the stages of the property life cycle
they can efficiently support a more financially sustainable and flexible approach for service delivery and community improvement. This approach
supports services with standardised professional advice and ensures their focus remains solely on service improvement whilst investing time for long-

e Property ‘owned’ by individual Services /Directorates
e Inconsistent standards of accommodation
o Pockets of data, and what there is, is held by directorates
¢ Workplace risk assessment position unclear
o Data inconsistent, out of date & no audit trail.
¢ No Whole Life Cost analysis
e Cost of occupation unknown
e« Unable to develop corporate strategies because

e Space utilisation unknown

Space standards inconsistent

Maintenance position unknown

Maintenance prioritised by reaction

Capital investment not prioritised corporately

Statutory obligations / Legislative testing programmes unknown

Inadequate training for achieving a Landlord Approach

people will still do their own thing.

Asset plans not aligned to service business
planning

Chasing funding
Piecemeal approach to procurement
No coordination between services on assets

Inability for wider coordination with public sector

36

Appendix 8



e

term service strategies. BCP aims to reduce and/or remove the risks and trends lit below: -

The aim of the Virtual Landlord model is to improve, consider and identify risks and benefits on the above points but also more locally for BCP, we
need to: -

Manage and maintain property centrally

Manage the property list and the strategic data directly in the Property System.
Invest in property maintenance with a programme of works

Improve income generation

Ensure the right balance of smart business decisions and community improvement.

Centralise property budgets, adopt a single shared property reference such as a UPRN in Property, Finance and Utility systems to obtain a
single property cost analysis.

Pilot a centralised budget approach in April 2025 by linking corporate register assets with their associated costs in the finance system.
Improve accessibility of information in the property system and other corporate software for all relevant stakeholders to view.
Re-structure asset data from Christchurch digitisation project.

Ensure decision making maps are clear and followed at the appropriate boards and groups.

Strategies are adopted and policies are accessible.

"The concept of a Corporate Landlord is that the ownership of all property assets and the responsibility for their management and maintenance is
transferred from the service departments to the Corporate Landlord, which is a centralised function of the Council”

37

Appendix 8



(A4

12.0 Property Data Management

The Council’s Corporate Property Management System is now a single system where multiple departments utilise the asset structure and hierarchy
that is maintained by the Property Records Team, this means that Projects and Facilities Teams can be confident that defects and jobs are linked to a
shared asset register that helps support surveys such as building condition, inspections, asbestos, and water management.

Project teams and ICT are also currently working on projects to bring the asset register data into a single IT system and associated mapping system.
These are significant pieces of work and essential to having an efficient and up to date data set of the council’s ownership records. These records
include the core property ownership data and estate management data which includes Unique Property Reference Number alignment, leases, rent
review dates and break & expiry dates.

This data is critical not only to the safe and efficient day to day running of the estate, but also for supporting regeneration and other transformational
activities.

Keeping up to data is vital and we rely on our services and teams to
provide on the ground information to our estates teams to fulfil this Corporate Property G hical M .
obligation. In turn the data is required to be publicised to ensure the Asset System €ograpnica apping
assets can be viewed across the public domain in line with the Data
Transparency Code 2015. Whilst BCP has previously worked with
neighbouring Councils to achieve this, BCP are now ensuring a more
direct route to this data via its own website. Dashboard

Reporting

HM Land Registry BCP Financial System

38

Appendix 8



eve

13.0 Approach to Governance

When property decisions are made it is important that there is good governance. Most land and property decisions are discussed at Corporate
Property Group (CPG) Meetings as a starting point. It is a group that is accountable for governing asset management activity to deliver Council
priorities. The Corporate Property Group is comprised of officers/managers from all service units. These meetings are set up every other month to
ensure that communication on properties etc is up to date, and any changes are known.

A Site, Building, space or land parcel is
identified as underused or surplus to
requirements

It is communicated immediately to
Property Records and highlighted at the
next CPG Operations Group meeting
and if relevant at the next Strategic CPG
Meeting too.

4.

Any service then has a 6-month window
of opportunity to bring forward proposals
or a business case for their need to use

the site inline with their Service Property
Strategies and requirements.

-

If no service comes forward or wishes fo
adopt the site within the 6 months it will
be planned for an appropriate disposal.

During this
timeframe, there
maybe multiple
applications for the
asset and this will
be scrutinised by
the CPG Group
and the Corporate
Landlord Group.

The CPG meetings must have a representative from each relevant
service that occupies a BCP property asset or has an interest in its
management and use as it is the mandatory avenue to raise the
awareness of surplus assets and the re-use or disposal of such.
The intention is to ensure that buildings and land are utilised as
effectively as possible and where needed challenged on its purpose
and suitability in line with service demands for the benefit of the
community. The CPG group manages the tracking of projects and
ensures that realistic timescales are followed to reduce the risk of
assets being vacant for too long. The maximum time period from an
asset becoming highlighted to the group and decision on final re-
use or disposal is 6 months, during this time service’s expressing
interest or wishing to adopt the building and/or land can put forward
business plans and carry out feasibilities if it becomes an
increasingly feasible option.

The suggestion of taking a high level approach to a business case
is preferable to ensure spend on proposals is kept to a minimum. *It
is important to note that all services should be aware of
communicating their interest or not to the Estates and Property
Records Group as soon as possible to ensure that any necessary
re-use or disposal can be taken forward in an efficient manner.

39

Appendix 8



1444

Once service transfer has been achieved and the relevant teams adopt the site/building/s, all relevant costs to manage that building will also be
transferred to that service.

The process for identifying under-used assets or their re-use or disposal is shown below and relates to the BCP Asset Re-Use document.

The governance from a corporate landlord
perspective has a two-pronged approach
that is used to manage the estate’s
projects, a strategic CPG group covers the
review and management of policies and
procedures and any governing
documentation that helps support the
running of the BCP portfolio and when
necessary, discusses final decisions on
larger scale projects. The operational CPG
group tracks the projects in more detail and
ensures any assets that require monitoring,
business proposals, service demand and
agreement on re-use are highlighted to the
group and analysed by the group.

From there, decisions or proposals are then
taken to Cabinet and if necessary, Council.

40

Appendix 8



e

The purpose of the Corporate Property Group is to

a) Liaise with the Corporate Management Board to ensure all asset and property related
activity is steered and governed by The Group*;

b) Provide governance on all service led asset management activities and strategic asset
management.

c) Govern asset management decisions within council Financial Regulations.

d) Develop Asset Management Strategies and Policies.

e) Develop, review, and implement an annual action plan to deliver strategic priorities.

f) Report annually to Members on performance of asset and property management action
plan.

9) To approve the re-use of any surplus or under-used asset for a different purpose or for

disposal, even if the alternative use is within the same service structure.

h) To be kept apprised by services of any service redesign, policy or strategy development or
proposal that might impact on the use or future of a council asset. Ideally this should be at
an early stage to ensure technical and professional expertise can be offered.

i) Maintain oversight of the management of the Council’s property records.

Council

Cabinet

Cross Party
Working Group

Estates &

Accomodation

41

Appendix 8



ove

14.0 Partnership Working

Across the County of Dorset there is a range of public sector services from Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust, Dorset Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG), South West Ambulance Trust, Dorset Police, Dorset & Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service, The Ministry of Defence
(MoD), Dorset Council, and Town and Parish Councils. All these organisations have their own portfolio of assets as well as share those of others.

The council is keen to find opportunities for collocation with partners where that supports integrated working between agencies. This is now taking
place within the BCP Civic Centre with the NHS sharing office space with Adult Social Care. Furthermore, where council surplus assets can support
the requirements of partner agencies this is also being explored on a commercial basis, with Northmead House currently being considered by the NHS
as a more cost-efficient solution to meeting its local office requirements.

So, it is incumbent on all partners including BCP Council, to make the best use of these assets and work together delivering services. A Dorset Public
Estate Board has been set up to ensure a more cohesive approach to the use of assets by these organisations and BCP will play an active role in this
group.

It is also important to recognise the role of third parties and community groups. This Council is keen to enable communities more with regards the

retention and provision of services.
m Ambulance Service (&g .i. Partnership -
NHS Foundation Trust Y W“J :

South Western
Dorset
Dorset

Council

DORSET & WILTSHIRE ‘
FIRE AND RESCUE

N

%)ie Homelessness Partnership

s

Appendix 8



YA L

15.0 Approach to developing the Asset Management Plan — next steps.

Accepting the themes highlighted above, it's essential that the Council resources and sets out a more detailed asset management plan for the medium
to long term. This includes developing:

Improved inter-departmental working is helping to progress the collection of procedures and standards, these principles are being established
to structure a Handbook which sets out the nuts and bolts for how we do asset management, including policies, processes, and procedures.

A Performance Review — this should include a suite of performance indicators to allow the Council to measure how its assets are performing,
and detail the key areas for change that will affect future asset requirements across services; and

A detailed Asset Strategy and Action Plan which sets out all the asset related activity over the next 3 — 5 years in support of the Council’s
priorities and services

The short-term focus is very much on direct support to the Council’s Financial Strategy. In particular:

bringing forward the disposal of non-strategic assets to help fund current and future years of the Council’s transformation programme; and

continuing the fundamental review of buildings occupied by BCP Council with a view to further consolidating the staff in the Civic Centre and
considering future options for owned buildings or passing back leasehold properties as soon as practical.

Review and continue to streamline the Community Asset Transfer process.
Pilot the corporate landlord model for the library service, test recommendations and communicate outcomes for the service.
The extent to which the community would be better placed to manage council assets (An Enabling Council — Strength Based Approach)

Consideration of the performance and location of assets through the lens of regeneration and climate adaption.
43

Appendix 8



8v¢

Currently the Council has two Corporate Property Groups (CPG) which meet monthly. The CPG Operations Group focusses on operational matters
and trying to find solutions to new asset requirements. It also provides the forum for highlighting an asset that might be under-used or surplus to that
service’s requirements. The group can then discuss whether there might be alternative operational needs that could be met from that asset, or it could
be recommended as surplus. CPG Strategic maintains an overview for how the Council’s assets are being managed and approves any changes to
how assets are deployed. Essentially, these CPGs act as the conduit for all asset related activity, although it is important to note that asset activity
must still comply with the Financial Regulations and Constitution.

From a record management perspective BCP have improved its data to enhance access to information in the public domain and helped remove data
gaps and alignment of services. Type and Use naming has been redefined to a set standard which will in turn create a simple way of reporting and
analysing size, use, location and expenditure at service level.

The Facilities Management team following the formation of BCP Council have a single view of the servicing and inspection activity across the whole of
the corporate estate having centralised the data from the legacy authorities into the single asset management system.

Single policies and procedures have been adopted for the compliance work with support from the Health and Safety team.

The Council will continue to manage the estate on a day-to-day basis with a common-sense approach and to the benefit of the council and services
provided.

44

Appendix 8



6v¢

16.0 Glossary

AMP - Asset Management Plan

CPG - Corporate Property Group

CCG - Clinical Commissioning Group

CLM - Corporate Landlord Model

CPWG - Cross Party Working Group

E&A - Estates and Accommodation

HRA - Housing Revenue Assets

ICT - Information and Communication Technology
MTFP - Medium-Term Financial Plan

UPRN - Unique Property Reference Number

45

Appendix 8



This page is intentionally left blank

250



Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP)
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2026/27

Introduction
Background

1  The Authority is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury
management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with
cash being available when it is needed. Surplus monies are invested in low-risk
counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Authority’s low risk appetite,
providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return.

2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the
Authority’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need
of the Authority, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that it can
meet its capital spending obligations. This management of longer-term cash may
involve arranging long or short-term loans or using longer-term cash flow surpluses.
On occasion, when it is prudent and economic, any debt previously drawn may be
restructured to meet risk or cost objectives.

3  The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Authority is
critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the
ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue
or for larger capital projects. The treasury operations will see a balance of the
interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from cash deposits
affecting the available budget. Since cash balances generally result from reserves
and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as
a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance.

4 CIPFA defines treasury management as:

“The management of the local authority's borrowing, investments and cash flows,
including its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum
performance consistent with those risks.”

5 Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising
usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the day-to-day treasury
management activities.

Reporting Requirements
Capital Strategy

6 The CIPFA 2021 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local
authorities to prepare a Capital Strategy report which will provide the following: -

e a high-level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing
and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services

e an overview of how the associated risk is managed

APPENDIX 9
251



e the implications for future financial sustainability

The aim of the strategy is to ensure that all the Authority’s elected members fully
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting Capital Strategy
requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite.

This capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management Strategy
Statement; non-treasury investments will be reported through the former. This
ensures the separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity and
yield principles, and the policy and commercialism investments usually driven by
expenditure on an asset.

Treasury Management Reporting

9 The Authority is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three

main treasury reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates
and actuals.

a) Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) -
The first, and most important report is forward looking and covers: -

e the capital plans, (including prudential indicators)

e a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital
expenditure is charged to revenue over time)

e the Treasury Management Strategy, (how the investments and borrowings
are to be organised), including treasury indicators; and

e an Annual Investment Strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to
be managed)

b) A mid-year treasury management report — This is primarily a progress
report and will update members on the capital position, amending
prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require
revision. In addition, this Authority will receive quarterly update reports.

c) An annual treasury report — This is a backward-looking review document
and provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury
indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates within
the strategy.

Scrutiny

10

11

The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being
recommended to Full Council. This role is undertaken by the Audit and
Governance Committee.

Quarterly reports — In addition to the three major reports detailed above quarterly
reporting (end of June/end of December) are also required. However, these
additional reports do not have to be reported to Full Council but do require to be
adequately scrutinised. This role is undertaken by the Audit and Governance
Committee. (The reports, specifically, should comprise updated Treasury/Prudential
Indicators.)

APPENDIX 9
252



Treasury Management Strategy for 2026/27

12

13

The strategy for 2026/27 covers two main areas:
Capital issues

e the capital plans and the prudential indicators;

e the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy.
Treasury management issues

e the current treasury position;

e treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council;

e prospects for interest rates;

e the borrowing strategy;

e policy on borrowing in advance of need;

e debt rescheduling;

e the investment strategy;,

e creditworthiness policy; and

e policy on use of external service providers.

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, DLUHC
Investment Guidance, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential Code and the
CIPFA Treasury Management Code.

Training

14

15

16

17

The CIPFA Treasury Management Code requires the responsible officer to ensure
that members with responsibility for treasury management receive adequate
training in treasury management. This especially applies to members responsible
for scrutiny.

Furthermore, pages 47 and 48 of the Code state that they expect “all organisations
to have a formal and comprehensive knowledge and skills or training policy for the
effective acquisition and retention of treasury management knowledge and skills for
those responsible for management, delivery, governance and decision making.

The scale and nature of this will depend on the size and complexity of the
organisation’s treasury management needs. Organisations should consider how to
assess whether treasury management staff and board/ council members have the
required knowledge and skills to undertake their roles and whether they have been
able to maintain those skills and keep them up to date.

As a minimum, authorities should carry out the following to monitor and review
knowledge and skills:

e Record attendance at training and ensure action is taken where poor
attendance is identified.

e Prepare tailored learning plans for treasury management officers and council
members.

e Require treasury management officers and council members to undertake self-

APPENDIX 9
253



18

19

20
21

assessment against the required competencies (as set out in the schedule that
may be adopted by the organisation).

e Have regular communication with officers and council members, encouraging
them to highlight training needs on an ongoing basis.

In further support of the revised training requirements, CIPFA’s Better Governance
Forum and Treasury Management Network have produced a ‘self-assessment by
members responsible for the scrutiny of treasury management’, which is available
from the CIPFA website to download.

The following training has been undertaken by members on the 20th November
2025 and further training will be arranged as required.

The training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed.

A formal record of the training received by officers central to the Treasury function
will be maintained by the Finance Manager - Techincal. Similarly, a formal record
of the treasury management/capital finance training received by members will also
be maintained by the Finance Manager - Techincal.

Treasury management consultants

22
23

24

The Councils Treasury Management advisors are MUFG Corporate Markets.

The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not
placed upon our external service providers. It also recognises that there is value in
employing external providers of treasury management services in order to acquire
access to specialist skills and resources.

It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury
management services to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The
Authority will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which
their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented and subjected to
regular review.

The Capital Prudential Indicators 2026/27 — 2028/29

25

The Authority's capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury
management activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the
prudential indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and confirm
capital expenditure plans.

Capital expenditure and Financing

26

This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans,
both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. Members
are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts:

254

2024125 2025126 2026127 2027128 2028123
Capital expenditure Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£°000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £'000
General Fund 102 652 33.917 107 517 BE.T22 34,21
HRA 23,123 44,451 43,053 43,835 35,305
Total 131,781 143,398 150,600 110,557 T2.513
APPENDIX 9




27 The following tables summarise the above capital expenditure plans and how these
plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall of resources
results in a funding borrowing need.

General Fund Capital Expenditure

2024125 2025126 2026127 2027128 2028129
Capital expenditure Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

General Fund Total 102,652 ag. 917 107,517 66,722 3421

Financed by:

Capital receipts - 1,287 - - -

Capital grants & Contributions o57.554 72,532 76,153 45,352 30,671

Revenue, 5106 and CIL financing 3,703 T.834 15,338 3,088 513

Prudential Borrowing 41,353 14,144 15,360 17 682 3022

Total inancing for the year 102,652 93,917 107 517 66, T22 3421

HRA Capital Expenditure
2024125 2025176 Z0ZBIZT Z0ZTIZE 2028123
Capital expenditure Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

HRA Total 29129 44 481 43 083 43 835 38.308
Financed by:
Capital receipts 2107 5.261 3.564 2744 1732
Capital grants & Contributions 10,658 B.660 1,733 5,253 2,595
Rewernue, 5106 and CIL financing 3122 B, 1dd B.640 3,500 5,000
Majar Repairs Allaw ance 13,202 16,806 16,434 16.435 TF025
Prudential Borrowing - 3,610 4,712 16,440 11,353
Total financing for the year 29129 44 481 43 083 43 835 38.308

The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement)

28 The second prudential indicator is the Council's Capital Financing Requirement
(CFR). The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which
has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a
measure of the Council's underlying borrowing need. Any capital expenditure
above, which has not immediately been paid for through a revenue or capital
resource, will increase the CFR.

29 The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP)
is a statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in
line with each asset's life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital
assets as they are used.

30 The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance leases).
Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’'s borrowing requirement,
these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and so the Council is not
required to separately borrow for these schemes.

APPENDIX 9
255



31 The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections:

2024125 2025126 2026127 2027128 2028123
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Capital Financing Requirement
CFR - General Fund
405,452 07,330 10,934 416,380 407,106
CFR-HRA 137,752 146,332 150,104 165,544 176,437
Total CFR 543,264 553.722 561,098 581,924 583.603
Movement in CFR 26,005 10,458 T.376 20,526 1673
Movement in CFR represented
Met movement in barrowing for the 41389 23 754 0ET2 34 122 14 975
year [above] - . . . .
Less MRPVEF and ather financing [12.307] [13,2986) (13,298 (13,298 (13,298
movements
Movement in CFR 29,082 10,458 7.376 20,626 1.679

32 A key aspect of the regulatory and professional guidance is that elected members
are aware of the size and scope of any borrowing in relation to the authority's
overall financial position. The capital expenditure figures and the details above
demonstrate the scope of this activity and, by approving these figures, consider the
scale proportionate to the Council’'s remaining activity.

Liability Benchmark

33 The Authority is required to estimate and measure the Liability Benchmark for the
forthcoming financial year and the following two financial years, as a minimum.

34 There are four components to the LB: -

a)

b)

d)

Existing loan debt outstanding: the Authority’s existing loans that are still
outstanding in future years.

Loans CFR: this is calculated in accordance with the loans CFR definition
in the Prudential Code and projected into the future based on approved
prudential borrowing and planned MRP.

Net loans requirement: this will show the Authority's gross loan debt less
treasury management investments at the last financial year-end, projected
into the future and based on its approved prudential borrowing, planned
MRP and any other major cash flows forecast.

Liability benchmark (or gross loans requirement): this equals net loans
requirement plus short-term liquidity allowance.

35 Appendix 4 to this strategy illustrates the graphical estimate of the liability
benchmark for the general fund and HRA separately. It confirms both funds have
net loan requirement supported by the internal borrowing capacity of the authority.
This benchmark will continually be updated and referred to as new borrowing is
considered in the medium term.

APPENDIX 9
256



Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances

36

The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital
expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an
ongoing impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year from
new sources (asset sales etc.). Detailed below are estimates of the year-end
balances for each resource and anticipated day-to-day cash flow balances.

2024125 2025126 2026127 2027126 2028129
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Fundbalances ! resemes 33,636 33,636 33,636 93,636 93,636
Capital receipts 1.535 N.335 1.333 N.335 1.333
Prowisions 26,633 26,633 26,633 26633 26,633
Dther [43.553] M3.226) [210,77E] [345.107) [554.053)
Total core funds 88 784 18,941 [72.609) {209, 934) [415.922)
'warking Capital” [335.736] [33,7386) [33,73E) [33,736] [33,73E]
Inderlaver borrawing 167,066 122,405 61,753 14,605 [51.714)
Expected Internal Investments 67 270 22 612 [(38.013) [85.188) [151.510)

*Working capital balances shown are estimated year-end; these may be higher mid-year

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy statement

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

The Authority's MRP policy was amended in 2023/24 following a comprehensive
review of MRP charges and methodology. This updated policy reflects the new
MRP calculation methods to be implemented.

For supported capital expenditure incurred before 1st April 2008, the Authority will
apply the Asset Life Method using an annuity calculation.

Unsupported borrowing will be subject to MRP under option 3 of the guidance
(Asset Life Method). MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets in
accordance with the statutory guidance using the annuity method, calculated on a
weighted average basis, where appropriate.

MRP in respect of unsupported borrowing taken to meet expenditure, which is
treated as capital expenditure by virtue of either a capitalisation direction or
regulations, will be determined in accordance with the asset lives as recommended
by the statutory guidance.

The interest rate applied to the annuity calculations will reflect the market conditions
at the time, and will for the current financial year be based on PWLB annuity rates

Where applicable, repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied
as MRP.

MRP Overpayments - The MRP Guidance allows that any charges made in excess
of the statutory minimum revenue provision (MRP), i.e. voluntary revenue provision
or overpayments, can be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent.
In order for these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy must
disclose the cumulative overpayment made each year. The cumulative amount of
VRP overpayments made between 1 April 2023 and 31st March 2025 was £12.8m.

MRP will commence in the year following the year in which capital expenditure
financed from borrowing is incurred, except for asset under construction where the
MRP will be deferred until the year after the asset becomes operational.

APPENDIX 9
257



Borrowing

45

The capital expenditure plans set out earlier provide details of the service activity of
the Authority. The treasury management function ensures that the Authority's cash
is organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient
cash is available to meet this service activity and the Authority's Capital Strategy.
This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans
require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities. The strategy covers the
relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions,
and the Annual Investment Strategy.

Current portfolio position

46 The overall Treasury Management portfolio as at 31 March 2025 and for the
position as at 31 December 2025 are shown below for both borrowing and
investments.

Actual Actual Current Current
31/03/2025 31/03/2025 31/12/2025 31/12/2025

Treasury investments £'000 % £'000 %
Money Market Funds 650 25% 7,825 11%
Bank Deposits 0 0% 0 0%
DMADF 1,900 75% 0 0%
Local Authorities 0 0% 65,000 89%
Total Treasury Investments 2,550 100% 72,825 100%
Treasury External Borrowing
PWLB 188,896 51% 188,896 44%
Local Authorities 121,500 33% 181,000 42%
Private Sector 60,563 16% 58,388 14%
Total External Borrowing 370,959' 100% 428,284 100%
Net treasury investment / (borrowing) (368,409) (355,459)

47 The Authority’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised below. The table

shows the actual external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing need (the
Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.

202425 2025126 ZD26I2T 2027128 2028129
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£000 £000 £000 £000 £°000
External Debt
Treasury Debt 1zt April 295,126 370,960 126,718 495,361 564,004
PFl and Finance Leasze Liability 0.235 4,536 3.954 3.312 2,670
Expected change in Debe 75,834 55,758 B5,643 55,5643 65,643
Actual gross debt at 31 March 376,198 131,314 499,315 567.316 635,317
E‘E _ Capital  Financing 543 264 553,722 561,098 581,924 583,603
equirement
Under { [over] borrowing 167 066 122 408 61,783 14 _6038 [51.714]

48

Within the range of prudential indicators there are several key indicators to ensure
that the Authority operates its activities within well-defined limits. One of these is
that the Authority needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short-
term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any
additional CFR for 2026/27 and the following two financial years. This allows some

APPENDIX 9
258




flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years but ensures that borrowing is
not undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes.

49 The S151 officer reports that the Authority complied with this prudential indicator in
the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future. This view takes
account of current commitments, existing plans and the proposals in this budget

report.
Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity

50 The operational boundary. This is the limit beyond which external debt is not
normally expected to exceed. In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the
CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt.

51 The authorised limit for external debt. A further key prudential indicator

represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing. This represents a limit
beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by
the full Council. It reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, could
be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.

a This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either the
total of all Councils’ plans, or those of a specific Council, although this power
has not yet been exercised.

b  The Audit and Governance Committee is asked to approve the following
authorised limit:

2024125 2025126 2026127 2027128 2028129
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Dperational Boundary =) 800 825 850 850
Buthorised Limit a0 835 860 895 895

Prospects for interest rates

52 The Council has appointed MUFG Corporate Markets as its treasury advisor and
part of their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.
MUFG Corporate Markets provided the following forecasts on 11.08.25. These are
forecasts for Bank Rate, average earnings and PWLB certainty rates, gilt yields

plus 80 bps.

MUFG Corporate Markets Interest Rate View 11.08.25

Sep-25 Dec-25 Mar-26 Jun-26 Sep-26 Dec-26 Mar-27 Jun-27 Sep-27 Dec-27 Mar-28 Jun-28 Sep-28

BANKRATE
3 month ave earnings
6 month ave earnings
12 month ave earnings
5yr PWLB
10 yr PWLB
25yr PWLB
50yr PWLB

4.00
4.00
4.00
4.00
4.80
5.30
6.10
5.80

4.00
4.00
3.90
3.90
4.70
5.20
5.90
5.60

3.75
3.80
3.70
3.70
4.50
5.00
5.70
5.40

3.75
3.80
3.70
3.70
4.40
4.90
5.70
5.40

3.50
3.50
3.50
3.50
4.30
4.80
5.50
5.30

3.50
3.50
3.50
3.50
4.30
4.80
5.50
5.30

3.50
3.50
3.50
3.50
4.30
4.80
5.50
5.30

3.50
3.50
3.50
3.50
4.20
4.70
5.40
5.20

3.25
3.30
3.30
3.30
4.20
4.70
5.40
5.20

3.25
3.30
3.30
3.40
4.20
4.70
5.30
5.10

3.25
3.30
3.40
3.50
4.20
4.70
5.30
5.10

3.25
3.30
3.40
3.60
4.10
4.60
5.30
5.00

3.25
3.30
3.40
3.60
4.10
4.60
5.20
5.00

Additional notes by MUFG Corporate Markets on this forecast table: -

53 Our last interest rate forecast update was undertaken six months ago, in February
2025. Throughout the intervening period we have successfully forecast a gradual
reduction in Bank Rate, although we were not overly persuaded that a cut in
August was the correct policy, given even the Bank of England anticipates CPI
inflation hitting 4% in the autumn. As it happened, a 5-4 split vote for a rate cut to

APPENDIX 9
259



56

57

58

4% laid bare the different views within the Monetary Policy Committee, with the
accompanying commentary noting the decision was “finely balanced” and that
future rate cuts would be undertaken “gradually and carefully”.

54 What we also know after last week’s release of the Bank of England’s Quarterly

Monetary Policy Report is that annual UK GDP is expected to be in the region of
1.2% for Q3 2025, rising to 1.7% by Q3 2028. The Bank anticipates wage growth
to moderate to a sustainable 3.75% and CPI inflation to return to 2% in around 18
months’ time.

55 With the August rate cut now done, we are comfortable revising our previous

forecast for a November rate cut, instead pushing that back to February 2026, on
the basis that CPI inflation should have peaked by then and will be on a slow
downwards trajectory back to 2% by 2027. Further gradual reductions in Bank
Rate to 3.25% are then anticipated but, and it is a big BUT, only if inflation and
employment data are supportive of such cuts.

Borrowing strategy

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position. This means that
the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully
funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council's reserves, balances and
cash flow have been used as a temporary measure. This strategy is prudent as
medium and longer dated borrowing rates are expected to fall from their current
levels, albeit only once prevailing inflation concerns are addressed by restrictive
near-term monetary policy. That is, Bank Rate remains relatively elevated in 2026
even if further rate cuts arise.

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be
adopted with the 2026/27 treasury operations. The Director of Finance will monitor
interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing
circumstances:

e if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing
rates, then borrowing will be postponed.

e if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in
borrowing rates than that currently forecast, fixed rate funding will be drawn
whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in the next few
years.

Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the next
available opportunity.

Policy on borrowing in advance of need

59

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to
profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in
advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement e stimates,
and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be
demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.

APPENDIX 9
260



60

Risks associated with any borrowing in advance of activity will be subject to prior
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting
mechanism.

Debt rescheduling

61

62

Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio may be considered whilst
premature redemption rates remain elevated but only if there is surplus cash
available to facilitate any repayment, or rebalancing of the portfolio to provide more
certainty is considered appropriate.

If rescheduling was done, it will be reported to the Audit and Governance
Committee, at the earliest meeting following its action.

Approved Sources of Long- and Short-term Borrowing

On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable
PWLB ° °
Community municipal bonds o o
UK Municipal bond agency L4 L4
Local authorities L4 L4
Banks o o
Pension funds ® L4
Insurance companies L L
UK Infrastructure Bank o L4
Market (long-term) o L4
Market (temporary) o L4
Market (LOBOS) o L4
Stock issues ® ®
Local temporary ® o
Local Bonds o

Local authority bills ® L
Overdraft L4
Negotiable Bonds o o
Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances) ® ®
Commercial Paper o

Medium Term Notes o

Finance leases L o

Annual Investment Strategy

Investment Policy

63

64

The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) and CIPFA
have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-
financial investments. This report deals solely with financial investments, (as
managed by the treasury management team). Non-financial investments,
essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital
Strategy, (a separate report).

The Council's investment policy has regard to the following: -
APPENDIX9
261



DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”)

CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and
Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2021 (“the Code”)

CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2021

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second
and then yield, (return).

65

66

In the current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to maintain a degree of
liquidity to cover cash flow needs but to also consider “laddering” investments for
periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, whilst
investment rates remain elevated, as well as wider range fund options.

The above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA places a high priority on the
management of risk. This Authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing
risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means: -

a)

b)

d)

Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of
highly creditworthy counterparties. This also enables diversification and
thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor
counterparties are the short-term and long-term ratings.

Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of
an institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial
sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and
political environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will
also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To
achieve this consideration the Authority will engage with its advisors to
maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and
overlay that information on top of the credit ratings.

Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price
and other such information pertaining to the financial sector in order to
establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential
investment counterparties.

This Authority has engaged external consultants, to provide expert advice
on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, liquidity and yield,
given the risk appetite of this Authority in the context of the expected level
of cash balances and need for liquidity throughout the year.

All investments will be denominated in sterling.

As a result of the change in accounting standards under IFRS 9, this
Authority will consider the implications of investment instruments which
could result in an adverse movement in the value of the amount invested
and resultant charges at the end of the year to the General Fund. (In
November 2018, the MHCLG, concluded a consultation for a temporary
override to allow English local authorities time to adjust their portfolio of
pooled investments by announcing a statutory override to delay
implementation of IFRS 9 for five years ending 31.3.23. Subsequently, a
further extension to the over-ride to 31.3.29 was agreed by Government but
only for those pooled investments made before 1st April 2024.

APPENDIX 9
262



67

68

69

70

71

However, this Authority will also pursue value for money in treasury management
and will monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks
for investment performance. Regular monitoring of investment performance will be
carried out during the year.

Creditworthiness policy

The primary principle governing the Council’'s investment criteria is the security of
its investments, although the yield or return on the investment is also a key
consideration. After this main principle, the Council will ensure that:

a It maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment types it will
invest in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate
security, and monitoring their security. This is set out in the specified and
non-specified investment sections below; and

b It has sufficient liquidity in its investments. For this purpose, it will set out
procedures for determining the maximum periods for which funds may
prudently be committed. These procedures also apply to the Council's
prudential indicators covering the maximum principal sums invested.

The Chief Financial Officer will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with the
following criteria and will revise the criteria and submit them to Council for approval
as necessary. These criteria are separate to which types of investment instruments
that can be used as it provides an overall pool of counterparties considered high
quality which the Council may use, rather than defining what types of investment
instruments are to be used.

Credit rating information is supplied by MUFG Corporate Markets, our treasury
consultants, on all active counterparties that comply with the criteria below. Any
counterparty failing to meet the criteria would be omitted from the counterparty
(dealing) list. Any rating changes, rating watches (notification of a likely change),
rating outlooks (notification of a possible longer-term change) are provided to
officers almost immediately after they occur, and this information is considered
before dealing. For instance, a negative rating watch applying to a counterparty at
the minimum Council criteria will be suspended from use, with all others being
reviewed in light of market conditions.

The criteria for providing a pool of high-quality investment counterparties (both
specified and non-specified investments) is:

Sovereign Ratings
e AAA (non-UK)
(Rating Description: AAA = Prime Rating, AA+, AA, AA- = High Grade Rating)

Appendix 2 sets out the current list of countries that the Council can invest funds
with.

The UK sovereign rating is currently AA. To ensure that the Treasury Function has
capacity to operate effectively no specific minimum UK sovereign rating has been
set out.

Selection Criteria

APPENDIX 9
263



72 Banks 1 - the Council will use UK and non-UK banks which have, as a minimum at
least one of, the following Fitch, Moody's and Standard & Poors credit ratings
(where rated):

73

Fitch Moody’s Standard &
Poors
Short Term F1 P1 A-1
Long Term A- A3 A-

Investments will include term deposits, call accounts, notice accounts and
Certificate of Deposits.

a

o Q o

m

Banks 2 — Part nationalised UK bank — Royal Bank of Scotland ring-fenced
operations. This bank can be included provided it continues to be part
nationalised or it meets the ratings in Banks 1 above.

Banks 3 — The Council's own bankers (HSBC, Lloyds and Barclays) for
transactional purposes if the bank falls below the above criteria, although in
this case balances will be minimised in both monetary size and time.

Bank subsidiary and treasury operation - The Council will use these where the
parent bank has provided an appropriate guarantee or has the necessary
ratings outlined above.

Building societies. The Council will use societies which meet the ratings for
Banks 1 outlined above.

Money Market Funds (MMFs) Constant net asset value (CNAV)
Money Market Funds (MMFs) Low-Volatility net asset value (LVNAV)
Money Market Funds (MMFs) Variable net asset value (VNAV)
Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit rating of at least 1.25
Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit rating of at least 1.50
Cash Plus Funds

UK Government (including gilts, Treasury Bills and the Debt Management
Account Deposit Facility (DMADF))

Local authorities, Police and Fire Authorities, Parish Councils, BCP Council
Companies (Subsidiaries) and Partnerships.

Pooled Funds

Maximum Time and Monetary Limits applying to Investments

74 The maximum amount that can be invested in any one institution at the time of the
investment (including call accounts) as a percentage of the total investment
portfolio has been reviewed and rationalised. All AA- and above rated institutions
have a maximum limit of 25%, all A+, A or A- rated institutions have a maximum
limit of 20%. For practical reasons where the average investment balance falls

APPENDIX 9
264



below £10m it may become necessary to increase the percentage limit to 33% at
the time of investment (this only applies to call accounts and money market funds).

75 The maximum time and monetary limits for institutions on the Council’s
Counterparty List are as follows (these will cover both Specified and Non-Specified

Investments):
Long Term|Money Limit Time Limit
Rating
Banks 1 higher quality AA- 25% 2 years
Banks 1 medium quality A 20% 1 year
Banks 1 lower quality A- 20% 6 months
Banks 2 category — part-nationalised N/A 20%
2 years
Limit 3 category — Council’'s banker Barclays AA- 25% 3 months
UK sovereign Unlimited 6 months
DMADF
rating
Local Authorities N/A 20% 5 years
AAA 0
Money Market Funds CNAV 25% instant
access
0
Money Market Funds LVNAV A 25% Instant
access
AAA 25% Instan
Money Market Funds VNAV S% stant
access
Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds N/A 25% Unlimited

Use of additional information other than credit ratings

76 Additional requirements under the Code require the Council to supplement credit
rating information. Whilst the above criteria relies primarily on the application of
credit ratings to provide a pool of appropriate counterparties for officers to use,
additional operational market information will be applied before making any specific
investment decision from the agreed pool of counterparties. This additional market
information will be applied to compare the relative security of differing investment
counterparties.

Investment strategy
In-house funds

APPENDIX 9
265



77 Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments
up to 12 months).

Investment returns expectations

78 Bank Rate is forecast to over the next two years reaching 3.25% by 2027.

79 The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments
placed for periods up to about three months during each financial year were
updated on 11 August 2025 and are as follows: -

Average
earnings in Previously
each year

% %
2025/26
(residual) 3.90 410
2026/27 3.60 3.60
2027/28 3.30 3.50
2028/29 3.50 3.50
2029/30 3.50 3.50
Years 6-10 3.50 3.50
Years 10+ 3.50 3.50

Investment treasury limit

80 The maximum period for investments will be 5 years.
Ethical Investing

81 This is an area of investing that is becoming increasingly considered by financial
institutions and customers. Products from financial institutions are growing but still
remain limited. To consider investing in sustainable deposits they will still need to
meet our counterparty criteria and parameters set out earlier in the strategy.
Investment guidance, both statutory and from CIPFA, makes clear that all investing
must adopt SLY principles — security, liquidity and yield: ethical issues must play a
subordinate role to those priorities. The Treasury team will continue to explore this
area and report to members of any further developments.

Treasury Management Policy, Practices and Schedules

82 The Treasury Management Policy, Practices and Schedules will be presented
alongside this 2026/27 update of the TM Strategy.

APPENDIX 9
266



Appendices
Appendix 1 - Economic Background
Appendix 2 - Approved Countries for investments
Appendix 3 - The Treasury Management role of the S151 Officer
Appendix 4 - Liability Benchmarking — GF and HRA

APPENDIX 9
267



Appendix 1: Economic Background (provided by MUFG Corporate Markets)

The first half of 2025/26 saw:

- A 0.3% pick up in GDP for the period April to June 2025. More recently, the economy flatlined
in July, with higher taxes for businesses restraining growth, but picked up to 0.1% m/m in
August before falling back by 0.1% m/m in September.

- The 3mlyy rate of average earnings growth excluding bonuses has fallen from 5.5% to 4.6% in
September.

- CPl inflation has ebbed and flowed but finished September at 3.8%, whilst core inflation eased
to 3.5%.

- The Bank of England cut interest rates from 4.50% to 4.25% in May, and then to 4% in August.

- The 10-year gilt yield fluctuated between 4.4% and 4.8%, ending the half year at 4.70%
(before falling back to 4.43% in early November).

From a GDP perspective, the financial year got off to a bumpy start with the 0.3% m/m fall in real
GDP in April as front-running of US tariffs in Q1 (when GDP grew 0.7% on the quarter) weighed on
activity. Despite the underlying reasons for the drop, it was still the first fall since October 2024 and
the largest fall since October 2023. Howewer, the economy surprised to the upside in May and
June so that quarterly growth ended up 0.3% g/g. Nonetheless, the 0.0% m/m change in real GDP
in July, followed by a 0.1% m/m increase in August and a 0.1% decrease in September will have
caused some concern. GDP growth for 2025 and 2026 is currently forecast by the Bank of
England to be in the region of 1.4% before picking up in 2027.

Sticking with future economic sentiment, the composite Purchasing Manager Index (PMI) for the
UK increased to 52.2 in October. The manufacturing PMI output balance improved to just below
50 but it is the senices sector (52.2) that continues to drive the economy forward. Nonetheless,
the PMIs suggest tepid growth is the best that can be expected in the second half of 2025 and the
start of 2026. Indeed, on 13 November we heard that GDP for July to September was 0.1% q/q.

Turning to retail sales wlumes, and the 1.5% year-on-year rise in September, accelerating from a
0.7% increase in August, marked the highest gain since April. On a monthly basis, retail sales
wlumes rose 0.5%, defying forecasts of a 0.2% fall, following an upwardly revised 0.6% gain in
August. Household spending remains surprisingly resilient, but the headwinds are gathering.

With the November Budget edging nearer, the public finances position looks weak. The £20.2
billion borrowed in September was slightly above the £20.1 billion forecast by the OBR. For the
year to date, the £99.8 billion borrowed is the second highest for the April to September period
since records began in 1993, surpassed only by borrowing during the COVID-19 pandemic. The
main drivers of the increased borrowing were higher debt interest costs, rising government running
costs, and increased inflation-linked benefit payments, which outweighed the rise in tax and
National Insurance contributions.

The weakening in the jobs market looked clear in the spring. May’s 109,000 m/m fall in the PAYE
measure of employment was the largest decline (barring the pandemic) since the data began and
the seventh in as many months. The monthly change was revised lower in five of the previous
seven months too, with April’'s 33,000 fall revised down to a 55,000 drop. More recently, howevwer,
the monthly change was revised higher in seven of the previous nine months by a total of 22,000.
So instead of falling by 165,000 in total since October, payroll employment is now thought to have
declined by a smaller 153,000. Even so, payroll employment has still fallen in nine of the ten
months since the Chancellor announced the rises in National Insurance Contributions (NICs) for
employers and the minimum wage in the October 2024 Budget. The number of job vacancies in
the three months to October 2025 stood at 723,000 (the peak was 1.3 million in spring 2022). All
this suggests the labour market continues to loosen, albeit at a slow pace.

A looser labour market is driving softer wage pressures. The 3m/yy rate of awerage earnings
growth excluding bonuses has fallen from 5.5% in April to 4.6% in September. The rate for the
private sector slipped from 4.3% to 4.2%.

APPENDIX 9
268



CPI inflation remained at 3.8% in September, whilst core inflation fell to 3.5%. Senices inflation
stayed at 4.7%. A further loosening in the labour market and weaker wage growth may be a
requisite to UK inflation coming in below 2.0% by 2027.

An ewver-present issue throughout recent months has been the pressure being exerted on medium
and longer dated gilt yields. The yield on the 10-year gilt moved sideways in the second quarter of
2025, rising from 4.4% in early April to 4.8% in mid-April following wider global bond market
wolatility stemming from the “Liberation Day” tariff announcement, and then easing back as trade
tensions began to de-escalate. By the end of April, the 10-year gilt yield had returned to 4.4%. In
May, concerns about stickier inflation and shifting expectations about the path for interest rates led
to another rise, with the 10-year gilt yield fluctuating between 4.6% and 4.75% for most of May.
Thereafter, as trade tensions continued to ease and markets increasingly began to price in looser
monetary policy, the 10-year yield edged lower, and ended June at 4.50%.

More recently, the yield on the 10-year gilt rose from 4.46% to 4.60% in early July as rolled-back
spending cuts and uncertainty over Chancellor Reeves’ future raised fiscal concerns. Although the
spike proved short lived, it highlighted the UK’s fragile fiscal position. In an era of high debt, high
interest rates and low GDP growth, the markets are now more sensitive to fiscal risks than before
the pandemic. During August, long-dated gilts underwent a particularly pronounced sell-off,
climbing 22 basis points and reaching a 27-year high of 5.6% by the end of the month. While yields
have since eased back, the market sell-off was driven by investor concerns over growing supply-
demand imbalances, stemming from unease ower the lack of fiscal consolidation and reduced
demand from traditional long-dated bond purchasers like pension funds. For 10-year gilts, by late
September, sticky inflation, resilient activity data and a hawkish Bank of England kept yields
elevated ower 4.70% although by early Nowvember yields had fallen back again to a little over
4.40%.

The FTSE 100 fell sharply following the “Liberation Day” tariff announcement, dropping by more
than 10% in the first week of April - from 8,634 on 1 April to 7,702 on 7 April. Howewer, the de-
escalation of the trade war coupled with strong corporate earnings led to a rapid rebound starting
in late April. As a result, the FTSE 100 ended June at 8,761, around 2% higher than its value at
the end of March and more than 7% abowe its lewvel at the start of 2025. Since then, the FTSE 100
has enjoyed a further 4% rise in July, its strongest monthly gain since January and outperforming
the S&P 500. Strong corporate earnings and progress in trade talks (US-EU, UK-India) lifted share
prices and the index hit a record 9,321 in mid-August, driven by hopes of peace in Ukraine and
dovish signals from Fed Chair Powell. September proved more wlatile and the FTSE 100 closed
September at 9,350, 7% higher than at the end of Q1 and 14% higher since the start of 2025.
Future performance will likely be impacted by the extent to which investors’ global risk appetite
remains intact, Fed rate cuts, resilience in the US economy, and Al optimism. A weaker pound will
also boost the index as it inflates overseas earnings. In early November, the FTSE100 climbed to
a record high just above 9,900.

APPENDIX 9
269



MPC meetings: 8 May, 19 June, 7 August, 18 September, 6 November 2025

There were five Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meetings in the first half of the financial year.
In May, the Committee cut Bank Rate from 4.50% to 4.25%, while in June policy was left
unchanged. In June’s wote, three MPC members (Dhingra, Ramsden and Taylor) woted for an
immediate cut to 4.00%, citing loosening labour market conditions. The other six members were
more cautious, as they highlighted the need to monitor for “signs of weak demand”, “supply -side
constraints” and higher “inflation expectations”, mainly from rising food prices. By repeating the
well-used phrase “gradual and careful’”, the MPC continued to suggest that rates would be
reduced further.

In August, a further rate cut was implemented. However, a 5-4 split vote for a
rate cut to 4% laid bare the different views within the Monetary Policy
Committee, with the accompanying commentary noting the decision was “finely
balanced” and reiterating that future rate cuts would be undertaken “gradually
and carefully’. Ultimately, Governor Bailey was the casting vote for a rate cut
but with the CPI measure of inflation expected to reach at least 4% later this
year, the MPC was wary of making any further rate cuts until inflation begins its
slow downwards trajectory back towards 2%.

With wages still rising by just below 5%, it was no surprise that the September
meeting saw the MPC vote 7-2 for keeping rates at 4% (Dhingra and Taylor
voted for a further 25bps reduction). Moreover, the Bank also took the
opportunity to announce that they would only shrink its balance sheet by £70bn
over the next 12 months, rather than £100bn. The repetition of the phrase that “a
gradual and careful” approach to rate cuts is appropriate suggested the Bank still
thought interest rates will fall further.

At the 6 November meeting, Governor Bailey was once again the deciding vote,
keeping Bank Rate at 4% but hinting strongly that a further rate cut is imminent.
With GDP for Q3 disappointing, and the September CPI number staying at 3.8%,
the market is split over whether the next rate cut will be in December or
February.

Appendix 1

270



PWLB RATES 01.04.25 - 30.09.25

PWLB Rates 01.04.25 - 30.09.25

7.00%

6.50%

6.00%

5.50% - e : I .
Rt A R R A =l e SeeelT
. l : . .o v 8.1 . . .
IR AT o v
5.00% l
’ s A s
1 Je \ N\ \ 1‘\— [Ad - N po =
f". ’,\'\. iy PR Ea“l"’”"\ ~7 .
“\"\{\-' ‘1'\\\ '. g \.’,1,",—\; SRS
4.50% : T MmN Tl VLI s
\em AL~
4.00% ‘ T T ‘ ‘ ‘ T T ‘ ‘ . . .
o2 o2 & & @ » » N Y T Y
LN \03 ‘19 '3{ ‘1;\’ '\Q 'Lb‘ Q ,1‘} = \%. L ,\6' '*P'

————— lYear = -=5Year = - 10 Year == 25 Year e=50Year ===5(year target %

PWLB Certainty Rate Variations 01.04.25 to 30.09.25

7.00

6.60

6.20 | 1 l 1

RERRRENEE

) I g 44 ” 1
IS EEEEERE

T
4.20
3.80
3.40
3.00 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 + 1 1 1
N \\'v Vv U BN Y 'b‘ A\ f) © :\ S O '\Q ,f) Q M D B ,‘qf’. H O O
\ N N A N N N N N 4 4 :» :L :b :b \ f) 6 \
RN 'Vq' Ay B Vi P P PN SV gV g\ g\ g\ e\ B b’;\'vyg\“v & &
N N 9 7 o LA S Q;Q'
& o
o 1-Apr-25 ® 30-Sep-25 AAverage \0‘5\'
Appendix 1

271



HIGH/LOW/AVERAGE PWLB RATES FOR 01.04.25 —30.09.25

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year
01/04/2025 4.82% 4.94% 5.38% 5.95% 5.63%
30/09/2025 4.58% 4.95% 5.53% 6.23% 5.98%
Low 4.36% 4.62% 5.17% 5.78% 5.46%

Low date 04/08/2025 02/05/2025 02/05/2025 04/04/2025 04/04/2025
High 4.84% 4.99% 5.62% 6.41% 6.14%

High date 02/04/2025 21/05/2025 03/09/2025 03/09/2025 03/09/2025
Average 4.55% 4.82% 5.40% 6.11% 5.83%
Spread 0.48% 0.37% 0.45% 0.63% 0.68%

Appendix 1

272



Appendix 2: Approved countries for investments

AAA
. Australia
. Denmark
. Germany
« Netherlands
. Norway
. Singapore
. Sweden

« Switzerland

AA+
. Canada
. USA.
AA
« Abu Dhabi (UAE)
. Finland
« Qatar
AA-
« UK.
A+
. Belgium
« France
Appendix 1

273



Appendix 3: The Treasury Management role of the section 151 officer
The S151 (responsible) officer

recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing
the same regularly, and monitoring compliance;

submitting regular treasury management policy reports;
submitting budgets and budget variations;

receiving and reviewing management information reports;
reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;

ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective
division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;

ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;
recommending the appointment of external service providers.

preparation of a Capital Strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-
financial investments and treasury management, with a long-term timeframe (say 20+
years — to be determined in accordance with local priorities.)

ensuring that the Capital Strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in the
long term and provides value for money

ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority

ensure that the Authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on non-
financial assets and their financing

ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the Authority does not undertake a
level of investing which exposes the Authority to an excessive level of risk compared to
its financial resources

ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, monitoring
and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long-term liabilities

provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees

ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures
taken on by the Authority

ensuring that the Authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally
provided, to carry out the above

creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non
treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following: -

o Risk management (TMP1 and schedules), including investment and risk
management criteria for any material non-treasury investment portfolios;

o Performance measurement and management (TMP2 and schedules),
including methodology and criteria for assessing the performance and
success of non-treasury investments;

o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5 and schedules),
including a statement of the governance requirements for decision making
in relation to non-treasury investments; and arrangements to ensure that
appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to support decision
making;

Appendix 1

274



o Reporting and management information (TMP6 and schedules), including
where and how often monitoring reports are taken;

o Training and qualifications (TMP10 and schedules), including how the
relevant knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury investments will
be arranged.

Appendix 1

275



9.2

Appendix 4 — Liability Benchmark — General Fund

Appendix 1

Total Amount (£'000)

Liability Benchmark - General Fund

£250,000

£200,000

£150,000

£100,000
I )
\
£50,000 ﬁ
£0

-£50,000
Whko™=mMnLWwWihtroDnr
NN NN M0
[ = T o Y T e e (Y o T o T = |
NN NN NN ONN

= PWLB Loans
LOBO Loans
=== Variable rate loans
== Net Loans Requirement - GF
= == Liability Benchmark - GF

2043
2045
2047
2049
2051

2053

2055

MO ™M UMM WU reEMOURD ™MW
W0 WwwwwwwhnhtHPHRDPRPRRCCDONDOKWWEOEWONOO D
[ R e e R = I = D = I = N =D = =D =D = I = D = =T = = O = O =]
NN NN NN NN NN NN NN NN NN

mmm Market Loans (excl LOBO loans)

mmm Short Term inc LA Temporary Borrowing (<1 year)
== Existing Loan Debt Outstanding - GF

= | 0ans CFR - GF



Ll

Appendix 4 — Liability Benchmark - HRA

Liability Benchmark - HRA

£250,000
£200,000
g
S £1560,000
&
e
c
3
g
< £100,000
=
o
N ||||||||||
£0
Wy =~ ﬁlﬂh Whko>—onWwhHkc~o=—oMmWwhs~ o~ & W
I I | mwur-hhhhmmmmmmmm
GOGDDOGDGGGOOQGODOOD o o oo [ O e Y e R e T e I e Y = ]
SRIAIARARIRARAIR|IAIRRI|AIARARIRAIKA|]IRK|KAI]AIKRR|R
mes PWLEB Loans mmm Market Loans (exc LOBO loans)
LOBO Loans mmm Short Term inc LA Temporary Borrowing (<1 year)
mm Variable rate loans = Existing Loan Debt Outstanding - HRA
== Net Loans Requirement - HRA ===| pans CFR - HRA

= = | jability Benchmark - HRA

Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank

278



BCP Council

4 February 2026

Section 25 Reportof the Director of Finance (s151 Officer)
(Prepared in consultation with the Chief Executive)

Background

The Local Government Act 2003 (Section 25) requires the Director of Finance to report on the
following matters to council members when agreeing its annual budget and council tax levels.

e the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the budget calculations, and

e the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves.

Council must have regard to this report when making its decisions around the annual budget
and the level of council tax.

For members of the Council the Section 25 statement provides critical context for budgetary
discussions. The provision of this information is a legal requirement and ensures that all
members have regard to the professional advice provided by the authority’s chief financial
officer when final budget decisions are being made. To give a level of additional assurance to
this report it is also prepared in consultation with the Chief Execultive.

It should be emphasised that councils can and do experience significant financial difficulties.
Section 114 (s114) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the S151 Officer, in
consultation with the council’s Monitoring Officer and Head of Paid Service, to report to all the
authority’s members if they believe the council is unable to set or maintain a balanced budget,
or if unlawful expenditure is identified. Such a notice is only given in the gravest of
circumstances and is most likely to be required in a situation in which reserves have become
depleted, and it is forecast that the council will not have the resources to meet its expenditure in
a particular financial year. In such circumstances a full council meeting must then take place
within 21 days to consider the notice and during this period no new agreements involving
spending can be entered into, unless approved by the s151 Officer.

Since the legislation came into force in 1988, 19 s114 notices have been issued with 14 of
these having been issued since 2018. Although they remain rare it is clear they are not as rare
as they used to be. Recent high-profile cases include those at Barnet Council, Birmingham
Council, Croydon Council, Northamptonshire County Council, Northumberland County Council,
Nottingham City Council, Slough Borough Council, Thurrock Council, and Woking Council. This
clearly demonstrates they can occur in different types of councils, in different geographical
regions and in councils under different political control.

Figure 1: Analysis of s114 Notices since 2018.

Council Date of S11t Geography Tupe Political control
MNotice at time of S114%

Morthamptonshire Feb 2018 and East Midlands County council Conservative
July 2018

Croydon MNow 2020 amnd Londomn London borough Labour
Dec 2020
Slough ual 2021 South East Umitary council Lalboyar
Mottimghoann Dec 2021 East Midlands Unitary council Labour
Morthumberiamnd May 2022 MNMorth East Unitary county Conservative
Croydon Mow 2022 London London borough N
Thurrock Dec 2022 East of England Unitary council Conservative
Wokimng May 2023 South East District council Li» Dyern
Birmingham Sep 2023 (twice) West Midlands Metropolitan Lalbour
District
Mottimngham MNMow 2023 East Midlands Unitary council Lalbour
Barmet Hanm 2025 London London borough Labour
1 APPENDIX 10

279



Introduction

It is a demanding time for local authorities. They continue to grapple with immense resourcing
challenges ranging from addressing the consequences of government policies such as the
National Living Wage to relentless rising demand for services be that for Children’s or Adult
Social Care or homelessness and these are coupled with recruitment constraints for staff. The
financial resilience of all local authorities is therefore under severe strain. Nationally, although
inflation has fallen, it is currently above the government’s 2% target and with an economy that
shrank by 0.1% in October 2025, debt of around £2.9 trillion, and annual debt payments of over
£100 million future adjustments to public expenditure levels cannot be ruled out. Given local
authorities’ statutory duty to provide a vast range of services where demand is likely to continue
to grow the pressure on council finances and services will just continue.

Reflecting on the financial performance of BCP Council, in each of the six completed financial
years since 2019 its actual financial outturn has delivered an improved position from that
outlined in the original approved budget for the year. That is unlikely to be the case in 2025/26
with a quarter three forecast of a £4.6m overspend. From an external perspective, the Council’s
External Auditor, Grant Thornton in their annual report on the 2024/25 accounts concluded that
the Council remains under significant financial pressure and is not financially sustainable due to
both the current cumulative, and growing, deficit on its Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). In
addition, BCP Council is not considered to have effective arrangements for securing Economy,
Efficiency and Effectiveness due to the statutory direction which remains in place in respect of
the special educational needs and disability service. The two key recommendations in the
2024/25 report can be listed as follows.

Financial Sustainability:

(KR1) The Council should update its DSG management plan and ensure the actions are
embedded and monitored. Further action should be identified if the current actions are
not having the impact as intended to ensure action is taken at pace. In addition, the
council should continue to monitor the impact of the DSG deficit on the cashflow
position and ensure it monitors and manages the level of reserves and increase its level
of reserves where possible.

Improving Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness

(KR2) The Council should address the weaknesses identified by a recent statutory direction in
relation to the SEND (special education needs and disability) services.

The Council were though not issued with a Statutory Recommendation (SR) which would have
had to have been considered by full Council and also referred to the Secretary of State. This,
the reduction in the number of key recommendations from 2023/24, and the fact that for the
second year in a row the External Auditor did not raise any significant weaknesses in respect of
governance is a testament to the work undertaken in responses to the August 2023 Best Value
Notice and that of the Administration in attempting to improve the councils financial rigour.

In respect of key external assessments, Children’s Services were rated “Good” by Ofsted in
December 2024 which was a marked improvement from the 2021 “inadequate” rating.
Additionally, the councilis hopeful that it will receive positive feedback which demonstrates our
improvement journey early in 2026 on the following external inspections carried out in
November and December 2025.

e Adult Social Care assessment by the Care Quality Commission.
e BCP Homes by the Social Housing Regulator.
e Special Educational Needs and Disability by Ofsted.

2 APPENDIX 10

280



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

However, council should be under no illusions. BCP Council cannot be considered to be
financially sustainable until its accumulating DSG deficit has been resolved. The government
may well be taking over the day-to-day cost of the service from 1 April 2028 however by then
the accumulated DSG deficit for BCP could be well in in excess of £350m. | still maintain that it
is inconsistent with the spirit and intent of the original 2014 Children’s and Families Act for the
financial consequences of the introduction of education, health and care plans (EHCPs) to have
to be borne by the council. This costis demonstrated by the £8.1m in lower interest and extra
debt costs that the general fund has had to manage in 2025/26 alone and amounts to £8.1m in
service reductions which would not otherwise have had to be implemented. In 2026/27 this cost
is predicted to rise to £10.5m.

Robustness of Financial Estimates

A summary of key assumptions being used to underpin the 2026/27 budget can be summarised
as setout in figure 2 below.

Figure 2: Key Budget & MTFP Assumptions
2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

Council Tax (ncludes 2% Social Care Precept) 4 99%% 4 99% 4 99%
Fay Award 2.8% 2.0% 2. 0%
Mininum Increase in Fees & Charges 2% 2% 2%
MNational Living WYWage (MNLWW) 4 1% 2% 2%
2& Increase in the National Living Wage

Dec-25 Dec-26 Dec-27
Bank of England - Base Rate 3. T5% 3 25% 3 25%

Please note:

a) The increase in fees and charges should be regarded as a minimum increase to those
not set by statute. The principle of full cost recovery may mean increases above these

levels for example based on the specific cost profile of the service.

The key budget and medium-term issues faced by the council are summarised in the following
sections. In considering these members are reminded that Local Authorities should not put
public money or services at risk.

Financial Outturn 2025/26

The Quarter 3 Budget Monitoring report which appears as a separate item on the 4 February
2026 Cabinet report sets out the councilis currently forecasting that it will overspend its
2025/26 approved budget by £4.6m (1.3% of its net budget) after the release of all the
budgeted contingencies. This position is despite the proactive financial management
demonstrated by the implementation of a freeze on all non-essential expenditure and vacancies
(Quarter One, October 2025) and the request that the council’s senior leadership team and
portfolio holders consider what further action can be taken including the extent to which any
previously agreed savings for 2026/27 can be brought forward (Quarter Two, November 2025).

The risk will be that although the Quarter 3 forecastis based on trend analysis and professional
judgement it is only based on activity from 75% of the financial year. Predications and
estimates can and will change over the remaining 25% of the financial year. Assurance can be
taken from the financial performance in previous year’s (the outturn has been within budget for
each of its first 6 years), from 2025/26 in year monthly service reporting and the fact that it is
hoped that the current controls on expenditure will continue to bear down on service
expenditure.

3 APPENDIX 10

281



16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

The intent is to fund this forecast overspend from the one-off additional business rates
resources being made available in 2026/27 following the fundamental review of council’s
collection funds in accordance with the approved financial strategy. This approach also
recognises that some of the previously assumed use of the amount originally released in
2024/25 and profiled over a four-year period, has now been reprofiled into 2026/27 and later
years.

There is no further flex in these business rates resources so any extra deterioration in the
forecast overspend would have to be funded from unearmarked reserves. As a matter of
principle should any improvement be delivered in the final quarter then consideration will need
to be given to.

a. Further supporting unearmarked reserves and improving the financial health of the council
which has been impeded by the 2025/26 forecast overspend.

b. Ensuring that the council can continue to fund its regeneration service after 31 March 2027.

c. As recognised in the Treasury Management Strategy, to the voluntary repayment of debt.

Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2026/27

Although a 3-year settlement has been announced it should be emphasised that the second
and third years 2027/28 and 2028/29 are illustrations only and will only be confirmed as part of
the annual local government finance process. It is clear that the current funding formulas do
BCP Council no favours. Personally, | do not believe there is enough money in the system to
provide either the quantity or quality of services residents expect to be delivered by local
authorities. Consideration could also be given to establishing an independent body to distribute
resources so that everyone can have confidence that it is entirely fair.

DSG Deficit — Statutory Override

Any private sector organisation which has negative reserves on its balance sheet, is likely to fail
the “going concern” accounting concept unless there are shareholder/directors support or
guarantees in place. In local government a material uncertainty related to “going concern” is
unlikely to exist as the financial reporting framework assumes the council’s services, at least its
statutory services, will continue to be delivered in all scenarios. Therefore, in local government,
the most likely scenario is the council’s Director of Finance (known as the Section 151 Officer)
would have to contact MHCLG to advise them of their financial concerns and the possibility of
issuing a report under Section 114 of the Local Government Act 1988. A s114 report would
result in an immediate and severe restriction of non-statutory services. Even statutory services
may be subject to a reduction in frequency or quality.

Due to the accumulating deficit on our Dedicated Schools Grant, BCP Council had negative
reserves as of 31 March 2025. This means that all things being equal the s151 Officer would
have been required to issue a s114 report. However, to mitigate this position, which is a
problem nationally, the government issued a DSG Statutory Override by way of a statutory
instrument (SI) which became law at the end of November 2020. This means the council cannot
contribute to the deficit, cannot hold a reserve to act as a counterweight and has been required
to move the deficit to an unusable reserve where it will sit as though it did not exist within the
council’'s accounts and is disregarded from a balance sheet perspective. This means a s114
report triggered by the DSG deficit outweighing BCP reserves should not be issued while the
statutory override is in place.

The statutory instrument reads as follows.

Where a local authority has a deficit in respect of its schools’ budget for a financial year
beginning on 1st April 2020, 1st April 2021 or 1st April 2022, the authority

(a) must not charge to arevenue account an amount in respect of that deficit; and

4 APPENDIX 10

282



22.

23.

24.

25.

(b) must charge the amount of the deficit to an account established, charged, and used
solely for the purpose of recognising deficits in respect of its school’s budget.

As part of the Chancellor of the Exchequers 26 November 2025 national budget the
government announced that the government will take over the responsibility for day-to-day
funding of SEND from 1 April 2028 onwards which is when they also propose to end the current
statutory override. This means that from a test of solvency basis the accumulating DSG deficit
can be ignored until the 2028/29 budget setting process.

Also, as part of the November national budget government set out that the current accumulated
deficit and any further increase in the deficit between now and the 31 March 2028 will be
retained by BCP Council and that support for historic and accruing deficits would be announced
as part of the December 2025 provisional local government finance settlement for 2026/27.
This did not happen, instead the provisional settlement was accompanied with a further
statement that further details, and the conditions for accessing such support would be provided
later in the settlement process. That said it became clear that any such support would be linked
to the submission and quality of a Local SEND Reform Plan to be completed within the 2
months after the release of the school’s white paper early in 2026 and based on five principles.

e Early. Children should receive the support they need as soon as possible.
Intervening upstream, including earlier in children’s lives when this can have
most impact, will startto break the cycle of needs going unmet and getting
worse.

e Local. Children and young people with SEND should be able to learn at a school
or college close to their home, alongside their peers, rather than travelling long
distances from their family and community. Special schools should continue to
play a vital role supporting those with the most complex needs.

e Fair. Every school education setting should be resourced and able to meet
common and predictable needs, including as they change over time, without
parents having to fight to get support for their children. Where specialist
provision is needed for children and young people in mainstream, special or
alternative provision, we will ensure it is there, with clear legal requirements and
safeguards for children and parents.

e Effective. Reforms should be grounded in evidence, ensuring all education
settings know where to go to find effective practice that has excellent long-term
outcomes for children and young people.

e Shared. Education, health and care services should work in partnership with

local government, families, teachers, experts and representative bodies to
deliver better experiences and outcomes for all our children and young people

The council will be supported in its development of Local SEND Reform Plans by SEND and
financial advisers in a similar vein as to the support received from the Department for Education
DfE as part the Delivery Better Value in SEND programme (DBV in SEND) and as part of a
subsequent SEND Safety conversation.

This position presents a clear, and dangerous position for the council and its future
sustainability. At the end of 2025/26, the deficit on the DSG is predicted to be £183m. At the

end of the Statutory Override extension period BCP Council is currently forecast to have an
accumulated deficit of around £379m.

5 APPENDIX 10

283



26.

27.

28.

29.

DSG Deficit — Cashflow Crisis

As highlighted above the council’s annual revenue expenditure on the Special Educational
Needs and Disability (SEND) service is significantly higher than the government funding made
available as part of the High Needs Block of the annual Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). This
expenditure is being driven by the council response to the needs assessment of the child as set
out in their Education, Health, and Care Plans (EHCPs) which are a requirement under the
Children’s and Families Act 2014.

Figure 3: Forecast High Needs Revenue Expenditure 2024/25 and 2027/28

Revenue Original Actual Original Q3 Original Initial
Budget Outturn Budget Forecast Budget Estimate
Expenditure Estimate
2024/25 2024/25 2025/26 2025/26 2026127 2027128
£m £m £m £m £m £m
DSG - Grant Funded Expenditure 62.3 62.0 65.7 64.5 64.5 64.5
Additional Budgeted Expenditure 28.0 28.0 57.5 57.5 95.7 100.0
Further Additional Expenditure 21.8 16.0
Total Estimated Expenditure 90.3 111.8 123.2 138.0 160.2 164.5
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Funding -62.3 62.0 -65.7 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5
Total DSG Grant Funding 62.3 62.0 -65.7 -64.5 -64.5 64.5
Net Overspend / Unfunded 28.0 49.8 571.5 73.5 m
Prior Year Adjustment non High Needs Related -1.9
Other elements of the DSG 1.3
Accumulated DSG Deficit
31.3.24 31.3.25 31.3.26 31.3.27 31.3.28
63.5 113.3 183.6 279.3 379.3

The table in figure 3 above demonstrates that in 2025/26 the council is forecasting to spend
£73.5m (1148%) more than the £64.5m High Needs Block grant allocation for this financial
year. This is £16m more than the amount assumed as part of the February 2025 originally
approved budget for the year. The reasons for the increase were set out in detail as part of a
report to Cabinet in December 2025 which sought Council approval for the increase in the level
of the budget. For 2026/27 the Council is forecasting to spend £95.7m (148%) more than the
grant being made available by the Government.

This excess of demand and expenditure over grant has been ongoing nationally since the
introduction of EHCPs. Locally the deficit has been growing exponentially for several years with
the result that the BCP Council forecast accumulated deficit as of 31 March 2027 is now
estimated to be £279m as set out in figure 4 below in the context of the council’s overall
reserves position.

6 APPENDIX 10

284



30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

Figure 4. BCP Reserves including the Accumulated DSG Position

Total Reserves

Balance
31-Mar-23

Dedicated Schools Grant

Net Position

£m £m
65.1

-35.8 63.9

90.6 1.6

Balance Balance Q3 Estimate Budget

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-26 31-Mar-27

£m £m £m

-113.4 -183.6 -279.3
-30.4 VAR -228.5

Despite not having the government grant to fund these SEND bills they still need to be paid,
and all councils are prohibited from borrowing to fund the day-to-day operational/revenue
expenditure. Currently the council is using what is referred to as its “treasury management
headroom” to enable the relevant invoices to be settled. Generally, this headroom is the timing
difference between receipts for council tax or business rates arriving and the date when the
actual bills they fund are paid, alongside any cash-backed balance sheet items such as
reserves and provisions.

Figure 5 below sets out that the latest estimates in respect of BCP Councils treasury
management headroom. This indicates that we will come into close proximity to the threshold at
the tail end of 2026/27, but it is unlikely that it will be fully exhausted until the 2027/28 financial
year which is therefore the latest estimate of when the threshold on borrowing, referred to as its
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is forecast to be breached. In effect this is the point at
which the council runs out of cash to continue to cashflow the DSG deficit on behalf of the
Department for Education. Robust management of, and slippage within, the capital programme
has deferred this position from the end of the current 2025/26 financial year.

Figure 5: Analysis of BCP Councils borrowing

800

700

600

S00

400

£m

300
200

100

=100

-200

Borrowing Analysis 2019-2029

201820

2020v21

202122

—CFR

2022/23 2023/24

External Borrowing

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27T 2027128 2028/29
Est Est Est Est

Internal Borrowing

As part of a process supporting the delivery of a legally balanced budget for 2025/26 the
government provided the view that councils can exceed its borrowing limits provided it is
only temporary. They were also clear they would advise Ministers that they believed the
council would not be breeching the Prudential Code while the government works with
councils on a long-term resolution. Council will need to keep this issue on its agenda and
reflect as to how it will be impacted by any support for historic and accruing DSG deficits
once the government make any announcements on this issue.

7

285

APPENDIX 10



35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

It should also be recognised that if the council did not have to cover the DSG deficit this cash
would be earning interest or would enable a lower level of external debt to be held. Therefore,
cash flowing the DSG deficit is estimated to cost the council in the region of £8.1m in 2025/26
increasing to £10.5m in 2026/27, a costincurred due to mostly external factors beyond the
council’s control and one that the council has had limited power to tackle. In respect of 2025/26
that is £8.1m of savings, efficiencies and additional resources implemented which could have
been avoided if it were not for this issue and which could have been used to otherwise benefit
our residents. It has consistently been raised with government that the councils general fund
bearing these cashflow implications does not appear consistent with the spirit and intent of the
Children’s and Families Act 2014 which introduced the Education, Health and Care Plans
(EHCPSs).

The statutory override is in place to avoid some of the serious consequences of having such a
large and growing DSG deficit but has now itself become a threat to councils’ financial stability
as it is a debt the council is not permitted to tackle proactively, and it is one that the government
have not provided any guidance on how they would expect the councilto manage. This is an
impossible situation. There remains a concernin the sector that the government will be able to
implement the necessary changes to reform the SEND system to achieve financial
sustainability. And even if they do, this appears not to mean that in the process, they will
completely address this councils historic and accruing DSG deficit which needs to happen to
address the existential threat to the council’s future.

New Pay and Grading Structure

A key requirement following the establishment of BCP Council was to create a single new pay
and grading structure. In setting a 2025/26 Budget a single pay and grading structure supported
by standard terms and conditions applied across all posts was not in place. Potential risks
associated with this position increased the longer it took to achieve this outcome however
officers were committed to achieving a single pay and grading and terms and conditions
outcome.

The position was resolved when Council on 16 July 2025 agreed to the enhanced Pay and
Reward offer post a further ballot of trade union members and agreement to move towards a
collective agreement. The report set out the intent to increase the permanent pay bill of the
authority by £4.545m (2.44% increase on the pay base) which was a further £1.752m above the
amount included in the 2025/26 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan as agreed by Council
in February 2025. These calculations related to the individual appointments and salaries of
colleagues as they were known as of 21 April 2025 and related to filled paid permanent posts
and excluded any provision for vacant posts, casual employees, apprentices, agency staff or as
a result of any future re-mapping outcomes. The report also emphasised that the annual
incremental drift exposure of the council, which the financial planning assumption continues to
be that it will be managed by services, has increased from £1.5m to £4m per annum due to the
additional head room within grades from the revised structure. The report included and Council
approved a list of savings proposals to cover the further additional £1.752m cost.

Council has therefore taken a quantum leap forward in 2025 in mitigating the risks associated
with not having a single pay and grading. However, the structure of the financial implications
will present services with risk moving forward particularly from the additional annual incremental
drift exposure which the council’s budget has consistently year on year assumed will be
managed by services. Therefore, the increase in base salary costs implemented via this project
and the additional incremental drift will challenge the ongoing viability of numerous council
services.

The approach will be a particular challenge in managing services which operate on a full cost
recovery basis, who cover their costs by fees and charges or third-party contributions, or who

8 APPENDIX 10

286



41.

42.

43.

44,

45,

46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

recharge their costs to either capital or the Housing Revenue Account. Services partly funded
by theses mechanisms are only receiving corporate resources to reflect the proportion of their
service funded directly from a source other than those listed. Additionally, it should be
emphasised that no resources were provided to cover any vacant or casual posts or for any
service re-mappings after the 21 April 2025.

An emerging risk is associated with how staff were assimilated into the newly approved pay
structure which was at the bottom of the grade and market pressures to secure new staff at
spinal column points higher up within the pay band. Cabinet working with the Senior Leadership
Team will need to keep this issue under constant review.

In approving Pay and Reward Council requested the Director of Finance review the assumed
allocation to each service area of the resources being set aside corporately. At this stage not all
the resources have been distributed. These resources will be carried forward and held as a
resource to be applied, for example, as the evidence around the application of the new
allowances structure emerges.

Pay Award
The budget as presented makes provision for a 2.8% pay award in 2026/27. Any deviation from

the amount provided will require £2m for every 1% variation. Trade unions tabled a pay claim in
December 2025 for 2026/27 which included demands for an increase of at least £3,000 or 10%
(whichever is greater) across all spinal column points, a two-hour reduction in the working week
and an increase of one day’s annual leave. Government’s initial evidence to pay review bodies
is for a 2.5% increase in 2026/27. Benchmark comparisons indicate other local authorities
across the southwest are assuming around 3% with our nearest neighbour at 3.2%.

Reflecting on the current 2025/26 financial year the pay award the council budgeted for was
2.8% which proved to be inadequate in comparison with the 3.2% agreed. Looking further back
in 2024/25 the budget provided for 4.5% and the actual award averaged out at closer to 4%.

The adequacy or otherwise of the 2.8% provision presents a clear risk to adequacy of the
budget.

Uncertainty
High levels of financial planning unpredictability exist at this time caused principally by the

ongoing implications of various inflationary factors on the costs of goods and services procured
by the council with geopolitical factors continuing to have a particular influence.

Delivering savings, efficiencies and additional income generation

There is significant risk associated with delivering £14m in additional savings, efficiencies and
additional income/resources which underpin the delivery of the legally balanced budget for
2026/27. This includes assumptions of significant income generation and reduced service-
based expenditure which have required some very difficult and painful choices.

In 2025/26 the analysis based on the Quarter Three Budget Monitoring report shows that 90%
of the £9.6m budgeted savings for the year are on track to be delivered. The majority of the
currently undelivered savings will eventually be delivered just not within the original time-
horizon.

The overall savings risk recognises the relentless requirement to identify further potential
proposals to support the ongoing need to balance future year budgets.

Realisation of capital receipts to fund transformation _and invest to save programmes
In the context of the council’s overall financial position and its financial sustainability, a critical
issue is the assumption that the council will generate capital receipts to finance its various
transformation and invest to save programmes over the 4-year period to 31 March 2029. The

9 APPENDIX 10

287



ol.

52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

budget and MTFP as proposed has been drawn up on the basis that capital receipts of £18.5m
will be made available over this period to cover the estimated transformation and invest to save
expenditure. This expenditure includes £2m expenditure in 2025/26 associated with the closure
of the previous main transformation investment programme, £2.8m on approved Adult Social
Care Services specific transformation programmes, £1.9m on approved Children’s Services
specific transformation programmes, £415k on a range of small invest to save proposals and
then a provision of £3m per annum from 2026/27 to fund the necessary transformation and
invest to save programmes required to support the annual balancing of the councils budget of
which £1m is specific to reductions in the head count of the authority. This requirement will
grow if the council is granted a capitalisation direction to fund the 2026/27 and 2027/28
borrowing costs / lost interest on the DSG deficits via the sale of assets.

The key risk to the council is in respect of any expenditure which it intends to incur before the
necessary cash from actual capital receipts has been realised. Bear in mind that conveyancing
is often described as a challenging, time-consuming process, with many potential pitfalls. Any
transformation expenditure which cannot be financed because insufficient capital receipts have
been generated has to be charged to the revenue budget. This risk is mitigated by the fact that
as of early January 2026 £11.5m of the £18.5m target has already delivered with a further
£5.8m anticipated before the 31 March 2026.

Adult Social Care Services

The role of adult social care in our society cannot be overstated. It is a fundamental pillar that
provides dignity, safety, and independence to millions, supports families, underpins local
economies, and alleviates pressure on the NHS by enabling timely hospital discharges and
reducing avoidable admissions. However, it is a sector that historically has been left on the
margins of government policy, despite clear evidence of its essential contribution to
communities and economic wellbeing.

The adult social care sector was already facing an unsustainable level of pressure before
recent government policy changes added further financial strain. Years of funding pressures,
rising demand, and workforce challenges have left providers in a precarious position, struggling
to deliver essential services within increasingly tight budgets. The announced uplift to the
National Living Wage will have done little to ease the pressure either on local authorities or the
care providers who'’s services they commission. As demonstrated earlier in this report any
government confidence that these costs can be absorbed by the extra resources included in
their new Fair Funding Formula is misplaced for authorities such as BCP Council who will be
receiving less Revenue Support Grant (RSG) in 2026/27 than it is actually receiving in the
current 2025/26 financial year. The reality is that the funding falls far short, leaving the council
struggling to absorb these costs without risk and implications to the range of essential services
it provides.

Reflecting on the robustness of the budget the risk is associated with the possibility that
demand for care and support exceeds the approved budget or the cost of care home
placements continues to increase beyond the inflationary increases allowed for in the budget. In
addition, should the current capacity in the domiciliary care market, at the council’s framework
rates, fail to keep pace with demand this could result in higher home care costs above
framework rates.

A separate risk is the significant financial challenge due to the high proportion of self-funding
care home residents locally whose depleting capital resources require local authority funding
support.

Assurance around the delivery of the Adult Social Care budget can be provided by the analysis
which demonstrates the service has been delivered within the parameters of the approved
budget in every completed financial year since April 2019 up to an including 2024/25. However,
this is not the case in the current 2025/26 financial year with a £3.8m (2.7%) overspend

10 APPENDIX 10

288



57.

58.

50.

60.

predicted. The assumption s that the provisions for demand and inflationary increases included
in the 2026/27 budget will be sufficient to cover these legacy issues as well as address the
anticipated future demands.

Looking to the future in its 2024 manifesto the now Labour government made a committed to
create a National Care Service. In support of this objective they announced in January 2025 an
independent commission, chaired by Baroness Louise Casey, to make clear recommendations
on how to rebuild the adult social care system to meet the current and future needs of the
population. The first phase of the commission will identify the “critical issues” and recommend
tangible, pragmatic solutions that can be implemented in a phased way to lay the foundations
for a National Care Services by the middle of 2026. The second phase, set to be finalised by
2028 will make longer-term recommendations for the transformation of adult social care and
shape how services should be organised to best create a fair and affordable adult social care
system for all.

As all previous attempts to reform adult social care have failed there is a clear risk that despite
the best of intentions the opportunity to deliver the necessary reforms to create an affordable
and sustainable Adult Social Care system will not be taken. Even if it is, the fact that the finance
aspect will only be considered as part 2 of the commission and not reported on until 2028
means the current system which fails both the NHS and councils is likely to continue for
probably another 3 years.

In considering the robustness of the 2026/27 it is worth considering an additional risk
introduced via the Fair Funding Formula that the Department of Health and Social Care will be
publishing “notional” adult social care amounts which will be their expectation of how much
council funding should be spent on adult social care. It is unclear how this approach reconciles
with the unringfenced nature of funding and what level of pressure they will apply to any
disparities.

Adult Social Care Sector — Fair Pay Agreement

As a result of legislative changes, the Fair Pay Agreement (FPA) via Adult Social Care Pay
Negotiation Body will set a minimum standard for pay and other terms and conditions in Adult
Social Care market. The agreement is aimed at improving the whole care market workforce and
ASC workforce pay conditions, staff retention and make the sector more attractive as an
employment opportunity. This, however, will limit the ability of funding bodies, local and health
authorities, to minimise the impact of sector pay expectations on their own budgets. The FPA
consultation runs till mid-winter 2026, but what is understood so far is that the government’s
plan is to devolve £500 million of grant funding in 2028/29 to local authorities to initiate the FPA.
However currently there is no detail as to what the agreement will result in — higher wages,
establishing sector pay floors, pay spines, increase in care worker annual leave allowance and
subsequent need to employ higher number of employees by care providers.

One of the illustrative potential outcomes suggests an increase in basic pay to care workers by
5.1% in April 2028. For BCP Council suchincrease would mean a pressure of £4.9 million in
addition to already reported MTFP growth. It needs to be assumed that such additional
pressure would be entirely covered from the new external DHSC grant. Whether the grant
would be on-going and whether local authority grant allocations would lead to an additional
pressure from pay negotiations, remains unknown at this time.

Additionally, pressures will emerge from private care sector, with self-funders depleting their
own resources faster and accessing local authority funded care much quicker. There are no
tools to quantify this impact on the BCP Council budget. FPA could also potentially pose a risk
of pay increase disputes where local authority in-house care workers annual pay award,
negotiated by National Joint Council, would differ from sector pay increases required by newly
formed negotiation body.

11 APPENDIX 10

289



61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

Section 117 (6) Mental Health Act 1983 Accommodation Plus

Guidance issued by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman and legal advice
clarified that people should not be paying for services which meet their mental health needs
under Section 117, including specialist accommodation/supported living. Where
accommodation costs form an intrinsic part of the aftercare arrangement, the Council and/or
Integrated Care Board (ICB) should pay for this, and the person should not be expected to
claim housing benefit. This legal position may affect as many as 110 people currently in
specialistaccommodation in BCP Council who may be entitled up to 6 years back pay. There
will be an expectation that NHS Dorset will pay part of the cost identified in line with their
agreed contribution to the after-care provision for each individual. BCP potential risk after NHS
Dorset contribution could be as high as £2.4m in backpay and over £396,000 as an ongoing net
pressure. In 2025/26 financial year Adult Social Care recorded circa 60 service users with
Accommodation Plus needs having impact on the ASC 2025/26 budget position. It is felt legality
remains a key factor in potential retrospective claims however the current provision related to
Accommodation Plus is recognised to be sufficient (E1.052m). Any further changes to the
provision will be a result of ongoing work pertaining to historic cases from the perspective of 6
years liability limitation period.

Housing Services

The councils housing register currently has over 3,300 households of which 146 are banded in
the emergency or gold band representing the highest needs category. This demand reflects the
ongoing affordability challenges driven by record house prices, high mortgage rates, long
waiting lists for social-rent housing, and the continued prevalence of second homes and short-
term lets. Currently there are 601 households in temporary accommodation of which 64 are in
Bed & Breakfast accommodation including 5 families.

The Council’'s housing strategy continues to focus on addressing affordability pressures and
supporting those mostin need. Previous initiatives such as the Council Newbuild Housing and
Acquisition Strategy (CNHAS) have been successful in reducing reliance on costly Bed &
Breakfast accommodation and improving access to affordable homes. However, the
programme has also presented challenges, particularly around capital and interest repayments
and the significant resource required to manage and maintain the acquired properties. These
financial pressures, combined with high interest rates and inflationary impacts on property
management, underline the need for future delivery models that balance housing need with
long-term affordability.

To help mitigate these challenges, the Council will continue to receive government support
through the Homelessness, Rough Sleeping and Domestic Abuse Grant, which forms part of
the 2026/27 finance settlement. This funding is subject to ring-fencing and conditions of use as
set out by government. In addition, a portion of the Homelessness Prevention Grant (HPG) is
being consolidated into the Revenue Support Grant (RSG). When considered together, the
overall funding available for 2026/27 is in line with the allocation received in 2025/26, providing
continuity of resources to support homelessness prevention and temporary accommodation
needs. Alongside this, a review of rents and service charges for temporary accommodation is
underway to support cost recovery and financial sustainability.

Children’s Services

BCP Council is committed to ensuring every child can live a happy fulfilled life. However, the
council continues to face spiralling costs and pressures in children’s services which has seen
the services budget increase by 100% between 2019/20 and 2026/27 acknowledging the direct
comparison is impacted slightly by the movement of certain specific grants into the base RSG
calculation. The continuation of such increases presents a key risk to the sustainability of the
councils’ finances.

To emphasise the point as of December 2025 the council has 628 Looked After Children (LAC)
which is a 19.4% increase compared to 526 LAC in March 2020. In addition, as of November

12 APPENDIX 10

290



67.

68.

69.

70.

71.

72.

73.

2025 4,921 children have an Educational Health and Care Plan (EHCPs) which is an 101%
increase compared to 2,448 EHCPs in January 2020.

For 2026 these pressures have been extenuated by additional costs associated with the
National Living Wage and the growing cost and demand for the councilto fund transport costs
for pupils particularly those with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities. The Home to
School Transport budget for 2026/27 is proposed to be £19.3m whichis an increase of £2.2m
compared to the 2025/26 budget. For comparison, as part of the Operations Directorate, the
council is budgeting to spend £8.593m on the concessionary fares scheme in 2025/26.

From an assessment of the robustness of the budget perspective it should be emphasised that
£7m is being provided in 2026/27 to cover demand and costincreases in Children’s Social
Care. This is higher than in previous years in an attempt to also rebase the budget based on
the current in-year forecast overspend. For future years annual growth of £6m per annum is
being provided for.

Operations Directorate

The Operations Directorate is diverse covering a wide range of service areas including
Commercial Operations, Environment, Planning & Transport, Infrastructure, Investment &
Development, and Customer & Property. This is a broad portfolio containing various activities
which are uncertain by nature and therefore capable of variation from the budget assumptions.
For example, several of the Commercial Operation services generate significant income levels
which will be weather dependent as would be anticipated for a coastal tourism destination.

The budget as presented allows for inflationary pressures associated with the waste disposal
market, fuel inflation, cleaning, RNLI, seafront, intelligent traffic systems and abandoned &
untaxed vehicles. In addition, provision is made for additional borrowing costs associated with
the fleet replacement strategy, including its electrification where appropriate, and the increase
in journey numbers associated with concessionary fares.

Extended Producer Responsibilities (EPR)

This government policy is designed to help achieve environmental goals such as recycling by
making producers responsible for their products along their entire lifecycle including the post-
consumer stage. In 2025/26 BCP council were given a guaranteed allocation of £9.447m to
help offset costs associated with waste collection and disposal.

During November 2025 the Council was notified of a £9.703m allocation for 2026/27
however it is worth stressing that this amount is not guaranteed and therefore there will be a
high degree of uncertainty in regard to the final amount eventually receivable. It is clear that
the Scheme Administrator (PACK UK) will be required to assess the effectiveness of the
council’'s waste management services via an audit process. If it is deemed that we are not
compliant then the council can be fined part of our ERP payment (up to 20% i.e. £1.941m)
and also instructed in what we need to do to become efficient and effective. For example,
this could involve PACK UK deciding, at the council’s cost, that we should introduce a
separate paper/cardboard collection process.

Waste Strateqy

A current significant uncertainty in the context of the council’s medium term financial plan is the
impact of the national waste strategy and the possible implications of policies such as the
plastic film collection (April 2027), and Deposit Return Scheme (October 2027) for each of
which there is likely to be an additional recycling cost and savings in the volume of black bin
waste. There is then the Emissions Trading Scheme (January 2028) which is likely to lead to a
general increase in waste disposal costs. At this stage the MTFP includes estimates of the
impact of the waste strategy in 2027/28 and 2028/29 based on work undertaken by industry
experts. However, the potential impact will need careful monitoring as the level of uncertainty
reduces closer to actual implementation dates.

13 APPENDIX 10

291



74.

75.

76.

77.

78.

79.

80.

81.

Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership (DLEP) Closure

Cabinet received a report at its meeting on the 29 October 2025 consequential to government’s
decision to cease funding the functions previously delivered by Local Enterprise Partnerships
and the request that Local Authorities integrate these activities into business-as-usual
arrangements. Cabinet resolved to accept the following residual funding.

i) £866,951.68 revenue funding
ii) £2,498,208.50 capital funding
lii) £1,275,000 capital funding subject to future loan repayments

In addition, Cabinet agreed to ringfence these funds for the benefit of the community and to
delegate authority to the Chief Operating Officer and the Chief Financial Officer in consultation
with the Portfolio Holder for Destination, Leisure and Commercial Operations and the BCP
Growth Board to allocate this funding. It is a legal requirement of the closure arrangements that
these funds are used for purposes consistent with the previous LEP funding of delivering
economic growth, job creation, and developing local economies, and including support for small
businesses, skills infrastructure. More specifically.

“Support the long-term resilience of the businesses, workforce and communities of Dorset - co-
developing local strategies, driving economic growth and productivity, attracting funding and
investment, working to transform careers education and helping shape a skilled, adaptable
workforce”.

The intention is to bring forward a Cabinet report in March 2026 as part of the BCP Growth Plan
setting out how these resource will be allocated. The BCP Growth Board will play an advisory
role in this process.

Operational risk of a reduction in fees, charges and rents income.

Although the 2026/27 budget includes estimates for fees, charges, and rents the actual amount
collected can be heavily influenced by factors outside of the council’s control such as the
weather and individuals’ personal wealth. The inflationary uplifts applied to these income
streams can also be impacted by the elasticity of demand. Associated risks include not putting
in place appropriate arrangements for their collection. BCP Council is particularly sensitive to
changes in such income streams due to significant parking and seafront activity as
demonstrated by benchmarking when compared against other local authorities.

Council owned Companies and Joint Ventures

BCP operates several companies and third-party arrangements with these organisations
exposed to their own set of financial and operational risks. As such the councilwould only
provide for its share of suchrisks in circumstances where the risk is likely to materialise

A good example is the Council has resources at risk in respect of advance fees incurred on
schemes being worked up by the Bournemouth Development Company (BDC) a partnership
between the Council and MUSE, which should eventually be covered by the individual schemes
business case. For example, in respect of the Winter Gardens Scheme the Council has
outstanding loans totalling £3.74m (plus accruing interest) supporting the expenditure
undertaken. The council has previously made a £4.2m provision to cover its 50% share of the
overall costs associated with the partnership should it not progress.

Carters Quay

The Carters Quay Housing and Regeneration Scheme is a Build to Rent Scheme designed to
provide 161 new homes with an ancillary ground floor amenity and commercial

space. Council in late 2021 agreed to purchase the completed scheme from Inland Partnership
Limited for £44.3m.

In late 2023 Inland Partnership entered administration with the Council having made £15.3m in
payments as part of the contract arrangements.

14 APPENDIX 10

292



82.

83.

84.

85.

86.

87.

88.

89.

90.

Officers are currently in negotiation with the Administrators for the developers to recover the
land at Carters Quay. BCP Council have a registered charge on the land to cover the monies
paid but are negotiating a release fee to obtain the freehold title and take possession of the
land.

Until the current position is resolved with the administrator there is a clear risk the arrangement
will cost more than has been allowed for as part of the previously approved business case.
Alternatively, there is a risk that council may choose to pay off the debt associated with the
amount already incurred.

Capitalisation of costs.

Provided in line with the parameters of approved capital schemes, and the Accounting Code of
Practice, the council will continue to adopt the approach of charging expenditure incurred
developing an Outline Business Case (OBC) to capital. Under normal circumstances
subsequent expenditure preparing the Full Business Case (FBC) and delivering the scheme
shall also be capitalised.

However, it should be noted that by continuing this approach the councilis continuing to accept
the risk that it will have to write off to revenue any payments on schemes which it subs equently
decides not to progress with be that at either OBC or FBC stage.

Resources Directorate

A particular risk which impacts on the robustness of the proposed 2026/27 Budget is the
assumption that ICT & Programme Management Service will successfully manage to finance
their establishment and activities in line with income achievable and available funding. This
includes the Projects & Programmes (PPM) Centre of Expertise and the Data & Analytics
service. Alternative funding sources will continue to be fully explored alongside a review of the
priorities of these services. This recognises that only transformation expenditure which leads to
deliverable savings can be funded via the flexible use of capital receipts whereas improvement
expenditure does not meet the required legislative framework to be funded via this source.

Resources have been included in the proposed 2026/27 budget to revise the previous income
assumptions included in the budget and MTFP for the Policy, Communication and Marketing
Service.

Loss or disruption to IT systems and Networks from cyber-attack

A loss or disruption to IT systems, specifically those caused by cyber-attacks, can incapacitate
essential networks, for example, by encrypting or destroying data on which vital services
depend. Such attacks could cause a variety of real-world harm if services like social care,
housing, or place (highways etc) are impacted.

Financial loss is the most common impact through both direct loss of funds as well as recovery
costs and reputational impacts. In 2020, both Redcar and Cleveland Council and Hackney
Council faced ransomware attacks that had significant financial impacts on their services,
resulting in £20m and £12m worth of damages, respectively. In January 2024 three councils in
Kent, Canterbury City Council, Thanet District Council and Dover District Council were
referencing disruption to their services as a result of an attack. In November 2025, three central
London councils, Hammersmith and Fulham, Kensington and Chelsea, and Westminster were
all citing similar problems.

Public confidence may be affected if the council is not able to adequately protect its IT systems
and networks against loss or disruption, whether caused accidentally or intentionally. The
industry adage is when, not if, an attack will happen. No council is immune from such attacks
and for this reason the council further invested into its security arrangements as part of the
2025/26 budget.

15 APPENDIX 10

293



91.

92.

93.

94.

95.

96.

97.

In January 2025 the Home Office launched a consultation around ransomware and proposals to
increase incident reporting and reduce payments to criminals. Their intent is to deter criminals
from attacking UK organisations including local government and to increase intelligence and
understanding of the ransomware threat. That said attacks on Marks & Spencer, Heathrow
Airport, Transport for London, Jaguar Land Rover, and the Co-op Group emphasise that even
the country’s largest organisations are at risk and that all companies and councils should do all
they can to counter threats and protect themselves. To emphasise the point since April 2019
antidotally the council was exposed to its highest level of cyber threat activity during the last 12
months.

Microsoft Licensing Costs

Ongoing work on the Councils Microsoft licensing budget suggested a significant pressure of up
to £10m per annum due to a revised licensing pricing structure for Dynamics F&O. This
increase was specifically associated with the human resource arrangements and a requirement
to have a full Dynamics license allocation to process timesheets.

Subsequent to the notification, significant investigation and discussion has been carried out
with our licensing reseller, Microsoft, and peer colleagues in other local authorities to reach a
solution. This identified the issue as a bug that it is anticipated will be fixed by an update
process in late January 2026.

Should the fix not be successful then the council will have a £1m unavoidable cost exposure
which has not been provided for as part of the proposed 2026/27 budget or MTFP and will also
be required to fundamentally rework how the council operates to avoid even further additional
licensing cost exposure. Should this mitigation approach be required this will require a
significant amount of cross-authority activity to resolve before the 15 April 2026 deadline for
renewing these licenses. In support of the impact assessment the council is being supported by
a third-party to carry out a full licensing audit and to assist in developing further optimisation
strategies.

Legal Claims
The Council has several outstanding legal claims against it. Examples include claims brought

against the council due to contractual terms and arrangements and claims because of the
impact of the Councils actions on third parties. Detailing them is likely to prejudice the council’s
position and/or disclose privileged legal advice. Some are high-profile cases. They cover a
range of matters such as planning, highway, car parking, social care, and employment
disputes. Each has the potential to have an adverse impact on the council’s financial position.
The risk includes exposure to legal costs in defending the councils position in excess of the
normal provision made as part of the legal service budget alongside any settlements or costs
awarded against the council.

Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) System

Following the engagement of KPMG as part of the original Transformation Investment
Programme the Council implemented a Microsoft ERP system on the 1 April 2024. This is a
relatively new system in the local authority marketplace and with any new system there is
always numerous glitches and a period of associated learning. Although we are seeing clear
improvement there will always be risks associated with new systems. One such heightened risk
is the council’s vulnerability to changes in the structure of Microsoft Licensing arrangements.

A related risk which has though diminished in the last twelve months is in respect of our
financial accounting requirements as the council has now completed a financial outturn and set
of statutory accounts based on the new system and these have been reviewed by the External
Auditor.

16 APPENDIX 10

294



98.

99.

100.

101.

102.

Dorset County Pension Fund (Pooling)

Local government pension pooling is a UK government initiative to consolidate the investments
of 86 local authority pension funds into a smaller number of large-scale asset pools. The intent
is to reduce costs, achieve economies of scale, and boost investment in UK economic growth
and infrastructure. The proposal is for Dorset County Pension Fund to transfer its investment
management to the Local Pensions Partnership Investments (LPPI) pool on dissolution of the
Brunel Pension Partnership.

Clearly the primary and secondary pension fund contribution rates are impacted by the success
or otherwise of its investments underpinned by its investment managers. Therefore, there are
risks to the council of such a significant change.

Adequacy of reserves

Figure 6: Latest Reserve Forecast

Balance Balance Balance Q3 Estimate Budget

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-26 31-Mar-27

£m £m £m £m £m
Unearmarked Reserves 17.9 26.1 27.3 29.3 24.5
Earmarked Reserves 68.5 39.0 55.7 325 26.3

Total Reserves 65.1 61.8 50.8

Dedicated Schools Grant -63.5 -183.6 -279.3

Net Position 50.6 1.6 -30.4 -121.8 -228.5

The council must ensure Unearmarked Reserves are retained at an appropriate level to help
manage the risk to the council’s financial standing in the event of extraordinary or otherwise
unforeseen events and to mitigate the underlying operational risk associated with the operation
of the council and the management of service expenditure, income, and the council’s funding.
They should not be seen in a short-term context. They should not only be placed in the context
of significant uncertainty in respect of the impact on the council of increases in commissioning
costs due to the governments national living wage, general inflationary pressures, and the
relentless increase in service demands particular social care and homelessness, but also in the
context of the future.

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) previously advised that
general or unearmarked reserves should be 5% of net revenue expenditure (NRE) as an
absolute minimum. Our nearest unitary neighbour, Dorset Council, has previously had a policy
of trying to maintain their unearmarked reserves at up to 10% of NRE. Benchmarking
demonstrates that steps taken up to 31 March 2025 have moved the council into the mid-range
compared to other unitary councils.

As a reminder the council has taken proactive steps to improve its financial health and
sustainability across both 2023/24, 2024/25 and 2025/26 which has included increasing its
unearmarked reserves by over 60% to £29.3m. They now represent 8% on a net revenue
expenditure basis (RA 2025/26). The 31 March 2026 forecast position includes.

a. the transfer in of £2m from a previous earmarked reserve to cover transformation related
redundancy costs which could not be funded via the flexible use of capital receipts (FUCR).
During 2025 the legislation has been changed which means all such costs can now be

17 APPENDIX 10

295



103.

104.

105.

106.

107.

108.

109.

funded via the FUCR and consequentially the resources can be redirected into
unearmarked reserve.

The forecast position as of 31 March 2027 is that they will now decrease to 6% based on a
2026/27 net revenue expenditure basis. The 31 March 2027 position includes.

b. the transfer out of £4.8m to support the setting of a legally balanced budget for 2026/27.
The intent is that this item is reversed by the extent of any support for historic or accruing
DSG deficits which the government are expected to announce in February 2026. This
announcement will hopefully be in the form of the promised detail which was not provided
as part of either the November 2025 local government financial policy statement, the
Chancellors November 2025 Budget, or the December 2025 provisional local government
finance settlement for 2026/27. In addition, recognising the lack of a government
announcement of support for historic and accruing DSG deficits the council applied on the 6
January 2026 for exceptional financial support in the form of either.

o Government permission to increase council tax by more than the 4.99% threshold limit.

o Government permission to capitalise the £10.5m cost of borrowing to finance the DSG
deficit in 2026/27.

It should also be noted that it is assumed the 2026/27 net revenue expenditure calculation has
been adjusted to take account of the £70.9m of previous specific grants the government are
rolling into the Revenue Support Grant calculation from 2026/27 as part of their Fair Funding
Formula approach. In itself this will have the impact of increasing the NRE and therefore
reducing the percentage of unearmarked reserve coverage of NRE. Without an adjustment the
8% will automatically become circa. 6.7%.

In support of the unearmarked reserves position the council has undertaken a detailed risk
assessment (presented as Appendix 10b). Recommended previously as part of the CIPFA
Financial Resilience Review this indicates that the council should maintain its unearmarked
reserves within the range £53m to £159m. However, this includes recognition of the DSG deficit
which if ignored, which we are advised to do, would mean our unearmarked reserves should be
in the range £20.4m to £37.5m.

In line with 2025/26 the proposal is to maintain an in-year base revenue contingency at 0.8% of
the council’s net revenue expenditure as part of the strategy to assistin the mitigation of
unforeseen events. For 2026/27 the 0.8% contingency equates to £3.328m. For comparison
our nearest neighbour has a general contingency of £8.5m for 2026/27.

Earmarked Reserves are set aside to meet identified spending commitments and can only be
used for the purpose for which they have been created. These reserves will continually be
reviewed, and any resources not needed as intended transferred into unearmarked reserves.
They include reserves in support of various partnerships where the council is the accountable
body, reserves which represent government grants received in advance of the associated
expenditure, reserves held on behalf of third parties and several reserves the council is
required to hold in line with statute or its own governance requirements.

The council had earmarked reserves of £68.5m as of 31 March 2023. Of this, £30m related to
resources specifically set aside to support the balancing of the 2023/24 budget, and to avoid
the severe cuts to services that would otherwise have had to be made. As these resources
were one-off then the 2024/25 approved budget was required to include £38m of savings,
efficiencies and additional income to ensure the necessary structural adjustment to the budget /
service levels was made.

It should be emphasised that over one-third of the 31 March 2026 earmarked reserves balance
relates to government grants paid in advance of the actual expenditure. This figure tends to

18 APPENDIX 10

296



110.

111.

change in the final quarter of the financial year as government work on a cash as opposed to
accruals basis with a tendency for grants to be issued in these final months.

Whilst the current level of reserves may be adequate to support the core budget for 2026/27 it
does not require any professional judgement from the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) to assess
that the council’s reserves cannot be considered adequate based on the accumulating DSG
deficit. However, as legislation prevents the council from making provision to offset the deficit in
2026/27 it appears there is no other option than to accept the position. Members do need to
recognise that this legislation will not, as it stands, be applicable for the financial year 2028/29
and in the absence of government support the council will be insolvent from the 1 April 2028
onwards.

Conclusion

In the context of this report, the Director of Finance considers that the estimates used for the
purposes of the proposed 2026/27 budget are robust given a clear understanding by members
and senior management of the following:

e That Corporate Directors, Service Directors and Budget Holders have provided the Chief
Executive with direct assurance that they have accepted their budgets and have agreed to
deliver their services within its financial parameters including the realisation of approved
savings.

e That over the next 3-years the council will receive less Revenue Support Grant than it is
receiving 2025/26. This alongside the inevitable changes in demand and cost pressures will
require the senior leadership team and Cabinet portfolio holders to bring forward further
options for reducing the net cost of services including additional transformation and invest
to save programmes. Alongside this Cabinet will need to receive a report in the spring of
2026 providing assurance that the current transformation and invest to save programmes
will deliver the level of savings promised when the investment was approved and to the
currently approved timescales.

e That the new pay and reward structure implementation was based on a range of financial
assumptions including the increase in the annual incremental drift exposure from £1.5m to
£4m per annum and the exclusion of any provision for vacant posts, casual employees,
apprentices, agency staff or as a result of any future re-mapping outcomes. These are all
costs which will need to be managed by the relevant services however the council report
recognised that these issues would challenge the ongoing viability of a number of services.

o The robustness of this statement is on the clear understanding that where Corporate
Directors, Service Directors and Budget Holders believe they cannot manage the
impact of the additional incremental drift exposure, or the cost of any re-mappings
since the 21 April 2025 date which unpinned the Council report, that they will provide
the Chief Executive and Portfolio Holder with options for mitigation by 31 March
2026.

e Directors will continue to diligently identify and rigorously apply mitigation strategies for their
identified in-year 2025/26 budget pressures.

e Children’s Services continue to acknowledge the fiscal consequences of their service
decisions around SEND by doing all they can to contain the cost of services within the grant
made available by government.

e Effective governance arrangements will be maintained at Portfolio Holder, Executive, Senior
Management, Directorate, and budget holder level to monitor the overall delivery of the
2026/27 budget.

e That the council will steel a march on the process of delivering the necessary savings to
enable the 2027/28 budget to be legally balanced including.

19 APPENDIX 10

297



112.

o Going back to basics with a review of every item of expenditure to determine if it is
absolutely necessary and value for money. This will include a continuation of the
current year’'s expenditure freeze until sufficient savings to balance the £18.7m
funding gap for 2027/28 have been identified.

o Ongoing development of invest to save and service specific transformation
programmes supported by the ICT Programme Management Team.

o Star Chamber events for each and every service which include the line-by-line
analysis of the budget, the detail of every post, the detail of every contract supported
by the budget and relevant benchmarking information.

o A presumption will apply that every vacancy triggers a review of the post and its
function — whether statutory or non-statutory — to determine whether the role is still
required in its current form. This review will include:

= assessing whether the duties can be re prioritised, absorbed within the
existing team, or delivered differently.

= fully exploring opportunities to use existing technology and capabilities
developed through the significant investment in Transformation over recent
years.

= Where appropriate, considering internal recruitment only, where a genuine
need for the role remains.

The overarching aim is to improve the productivity of the organisation by managing
down the overall headcount and pay bill through natural turnover and redesign,
avoiding the need for a large-scale redundancy programme

However, the Director of Finance also concludes that the level of reserves cannot be
considered adequate given a clear understanding by members and senior management of
the following:

That on 1 April 2025 the council was technically insolvent as it had negative general fund
reserves due to the deficit on its DSG as pertaining to expenditure on the Special
Educational Needs and Disability service. This DSG deficit is growing by more than £95m
per annum which is the amount the expenditure on the High Needs Block continues to be
more than the annual government grant being made available. Although government will
take responsibility for the day-to-day operational costs of the service from 1 April 2028
onwards the historic and accruing deficits will be retained by the council. Without
government support for these retained deficits the council will actually become insolvent
from 2028/29 which is when the current statutory instrument that allows them to be ignored,
falls away.

That the use of unearmarked reserves to balance this budget is contrary to the strategy of
the Administration to improve the financial health and sustainability of the Council.

That at around the 5.9% unearmarked reserves are only just sufficient to cover an
unexpected single event such as a cyber-attack or significant in-year overspending. Any
such single event would then require drastic action to restore such reserves to the minimum
recommended level. They would clearly be insufficient for the realisation of multiple risks.

Earmarked reserves should be supported by a clear plan held by the service which details
the profile of when the resources will be drawn down. Any resources identified as not
needed for their original purpose will be redirected into unearmarked reserves.

That all opportunities will be taken for the level of unearmarked reserves to be enhanced
and for the overall financial sustainability of the council to be improved.

20 APPENDIX 10

298



Appendix 10a - Earmarked Reserves Summary and Detailed Statement

31/03/25 Actual . 31/03/26 Estimated . 31/03/27 Estimated
Estimated movement Estimated movement
Balances Balances Balances
£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

Application of one-off resources to support the financial

sustainability of the MTFP following a fundamental review (2,790) 2,790 0 (1] 0
as part of the process of building the budget for 2024/25

Transition and Transformation Reserves (3,126) 2,017 (1,109) 1,109 0
Insurance Reserve (5,018) 0 (5,018) 1,109 (3,909)
Held in Partnership for External Organisations (3,467) 798 (2,669) 83 (2,586)
Required by Statute or Legislation (795) 0 (795) 0 (795)
Planning Related (354) (107) (461) 0 (461)
Government Grants (18,959) 7,491 (11,468) 1,782 (9,686)
Maintenance (3,231) (448) (3,679) (36) (3,715)
ICT Development & Improvement (3,637) 474 (3,163) 1,313 (1,850)
Corporate Priorities & Improvements (14,318) 10,154 (4,164) 1,179 (2,986)
‘Total Earmarked Reserve Balance (55,693) 23,169 (32,525) 6,539 (25,986)

299

Appendix 10a



One off Business Rates Resources being applied to MTFP Reserve

‘ 31/03/25 Actual Actual Movement 31/03/26 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/27 Estimated
£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s
Purpose: Designed to provide the Council with the ability to manage any emerging issues. Includes reserves to enable the management of the MTFP.
Total One off Business Rates Resources being applied to MTFP (2,790) 2,790 0 0 0
One off Business Rates Resources being applied to MTFP (2,790) 2,790 0 0 0
Reserve
Transition and Transformation Reserves
‘ 31/03/25 Actual Actual Movement 31/03/26 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/27 Estimated
£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s
Purpose: Resources set aside to support the one-off change costs of associated with creating the new council and meeting the Councils costs associated with the transformation progra
Pay and Reward funding to support 2026/27 costs (1,109) 0 (1,109) 1,109
Redundancy - Non Transformation Funded (2,017) 2,017 0 0
Transition and Transformation Reserves (3,126) 2,017 (1,109) 1,109
Insurance Reserve
31/03/25 Actual Actual Movement 31/03/26 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/27 Estimated
£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s
Purpose: Reserve to enable the annual fluctuations in the amounts of excesses payable to be funded without creating an in-year pressures on the services. Subject to ongoing review
by an independent third party.
Insurance Reserve | (5,018)] of (5,018)] 1,109] (3,909)
Held in Partnership for External Organisations
31/03/25 Actual Actual Movement 31/03/26 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/27 Estimated
£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s
Purpose: Amounts held in trust on behalf of partners or external third party organisations.
Youth Programme (174) 24 (150) 0 (150)
Music and Arts Education Partnership (412) 150 (262) 0 (262)
ICS Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health (85) 85 0 0 0
Little Explores Nursery (207) 0 (207) 0 (207)
Dorset Combined Youth Offending Service Partnership (619) 102 (517) 0 (517)
Dorset Adult Learning Service (Specific Bequeath) (99) 0 (99) 0 (99)
Dorset Adult Learning Service (686) 0 (686) 0 (686)
FCERM - Shared with East Devon DC (190) 0 (190) 0 (190)
Adult Safeguarding Board (216) 53 (163) 0 (163)
Better Care Fund (326) 248 (78) 58 (20)
UP2U (74) 25 (49) 25 (24)
Kinson Community Centre - Community Benefit Fund -
(1) 1 0 0 0
Enhancement works
Domestic Homicide Reviews (10) 10 0 0
- Russell Cotes revenue grant (New) (367) 100 (267) (267)
Held in Partnership for External Organisations (3,467) 798 (2,669) 83, (2,586)

Required by Statute or Legislation

31/03/25 Actual

Actual Movement

31/03/26 Estimated

Estimated Movement 31/03/27 Estimated

£000’s

Purpose: Amounts which the council is required to hold as a reserve in line with current accounting practice or legislative requirements.

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

Bournemouth Library Private Finance Initiative (PFI) (739) 0 (739) 0 (739)
Carbon Trust (56) 0 (56) 0 (56)
Required by Statute or Legislation (795) (795) (795)

300

Appendix 10a



Planning Related

31/03/25 Actual

Actual Movement

31/03/26 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/27 Estimated

£000’s

Purpose: Reserves designed to support planning processes and associated planning activity where expenditure is not incurred on an even annual basis.

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

Local Development Plan Reserve (70) 0 (70) 0 (70)
Other Planning Related Reserves (284) (107) (391) 0 (391)
Planning Related (354) (107) (461) (461)

Government Grants

31/03/25 Actual Actual Movement 31/03/26 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/27 Estimated
£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s
Purpose: Amounts which the council is required to hold as a reserve in line with specific grant conditions.
Government Grants (18,928) 7,491 (11,437) 1,782 (9,655)
COVID 19 Government Grants (31) 0 (31) 0 (31)
Total Unspent Grants (18,959) 7,491 (11,468) 1,782 (9,686)

Maintenance

31/03/25 Actual

£000’s

Actual Movement
£000’s

31/03/26 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/27 Estimated

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

Purpose: Reserves and sinking funds designed to support maintenance investments in specific services or assets.

Corporate Maintenance Fund (2,618) 5 (2,613) 5 (2,608)
Other Maintenance Related Reserves (612) (453) (1,065) (41) (1,106)
Maintenance (3,231) (448) (3,679) (36) (3,715)

ICT Development & Improvement

31/03/25 Actual

Actual Movement

31/03/26 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/27 Estimated

Purpose: Resources set aside to meet various ICT improvement projects

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

ICT Development & Improvement

(3,637)]

474

(3,163)]

1,313

(1,850)

Corporate Priorities & Improvements

31/03/25 Actual

Actual Movement

£000’s

31/03/26 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/27 Estimated

£000’s

£000’s

£000’s

Purpose: Amounts set a side to deliver various priorities, some of which will be of a historical natured inherited from the predecessor authorities.

Other Service Priority reserves (13,121) 9,582 (3,539) 1,262 (2,277)
Local Elections Reserve (369) (170) (539) (170) (709)
Revenue & Benefits Reserve (633) 546 (87) 87 0
Covid recovery resources (196) 196 0 0 0
Corporate Priorities & Improvements (14,318) 10,154 (4,164) 1,179 (2,986)

301

Appendix 10a



This page is intentionally left blank

302



€0¢

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE

General Unearmarked Reserves - Risk Assessment 2026/27

Proposed Management

Residual

Potential

Risk Description / Liability Controls in Place Actions Impact Likelihood Risk Score —— Weighting Weighted Amount
High Needs budget element of the Dedicated Schools
Grant (DSG). Assessment of the in-year deficit for
2025/26 is £71.5m with the total accumulated deficit
forecast to grow from £113.3m as at 31 March 2025 to . . . )
£184.8m on 31 March 2026. For 2026/27 this Robust monitoring of the Continue ongoing d_lal_o_gue with
accumulated deficit is forecast to grow by £96m. financial position and regular government and prioritise work
Following government regulation the Council is currently review by way of a monthly to reduce c_u_rrent and fu_ture
not able to set aside resources in the general fund to act budget overview meeting. years deficits by cre_‘atlng_ 4 3 12 £231,450,000 70% £162,015,000
as a counterweight. From 1 April 2025 the council was Budgeted investment to greater Ioc_al provision |_n_c|ud|ng
technically insolvent as the deficit was greater than the | assist recovery plan. Ongoing schoc_)l inclusion policies.
. . . . Potential impact based on assumed
level of general fund reserves. The risk recognises that dialogue with government. mid-year position.
this deficit will remain with the council, subject to any
government support for historic and accruing DSG deficits
when the government take responsibility for day to day
SEND expenditure in April 2028.
Risk of non delivery of the 2026/27 assumed savings, Structured process via the C::\:::;:Iassp(;::t'%fn:ﬁg'E)J:jngge?f 4 9 8 £13.951.000 40% £5 580.400
efficiencies and additional resources budget monitoring process . ’ ! ’ ’
monitoring framework.
Delivery of services within the baseline of available
budgeted resources for 2026/27. Adult Social Care. This
includes the significant threat to demand for Adult Social Financial regulations
care from the 75% to 80% of clients locally who are self Robust commissioning requirement that such costs
funders and do not require financial assistance from the service monitoring and’ must normally be met within
Council and the unstable market conditions for such Medium Term Financial approved resources. Impact 4 1 4 £9,350,000 20% £1,870,000
services as residential care for older people. For 2026/27 Planning processes recognises a 5% service cost
a particular risk is the extent to which providers of ’ pressure based on local
commissioned services look to the council to cover government experience.
national living wage and other inflationary pressures
which they are unable to absorb.
Financial regulations
DeIivery of services within the baseline of available requirement that such costs
budgeted resources for 2026/27: Homeless and housing Robust service monitoring must normally be met within
services including a reflection of the cost exposure to and Medium Term Financial approved resources. Impact 1 2 2 £336,900 5% £16,845
expensive forms of temporary accommodation such as Planning processes. recognises a 5% service cost
bed and breakfast. pressure (net of specific
government grants) .

APPENDIX 10b




70€

Risk Description / Liability

Controls in Place

Proposed Management
Actions

Potential
Impact

Weighting

Weighted Amount

Delivery of services within the baseline of available
budgeted resources for 2026/27. Children's Services. This
includes to relentless increases in demand for services
alongside the impact of inflation and national policy
announcements such as the increase in the national living
wage.

Robust service monitoring
and Medium Term Financial
Planning processes.

Financial regulations
requirement that such costs
must be met within approved
resources. Impact recognises a
further 5% service cost pressure
based on the amount provided for
2026/27

£5,582,750

40%

£2,233,100

Payment from government under the Extended Producer
Responsibilities (ERP) requirements is not guaranteed. In
addition if it is deemed the council is not compliant in
regards to effective waste management services it could
be fined up to 20% of its ERP payment of £9.703m.

Robust service monitoring
and liaison with PACK UK

Continue monitoring and
necessary liaison with scheme
administrator

£1,941,000

30%

£582,300

General operational risk of a reduction in fees, charges
and rents income against 2026/27 budget. Risk also
reflects the Council not developing and implementing
appropriate arrangements for their collection and the exposure
to the impact of weather on a significant amounts of assumed
income .

Monitoring of the key areas of
fees & charges income

Ongoing monitoring
arrangements. Impact assumes a
2% variation on the £109.874m
estimated amount included in the
revised 2025/26 budget.

£2,197,480

30%

£659,244

Microsoft licensing costs. Revised pricing structure could
lead to being exposed to unbudgeted costs specially
associated with human resources arrangements and a
requirement to have a full dynamic license to process
timesheets.

Significant investigation by
the councils ICT service and
discussion with licensing
reseller, Microsoft and peer
colleagues which has
identified a bug that needs to
be fixed.

If bug not fixed the council will
need to resolve its operating
arrangements by 15 April 2026
license renewal date. Impact
assumes the minimum exposure if
the bug does not resolve the
problem.

£1,000,000

30%

£300,000

Inadequate provision for the annual pay award.

Generally outside of local
control as part of a national
agreement process led by the
National Employers
Organisation (NEO)

Monitoring on ongoing
conversations between NEO
and Trade Unions. Impact based
on a 1% variation to the pay bill.

£2,008,000

30%

£602,400

Inflation risk with the potential association to global
geopolitical events. Provision has only been made for
inflation where “clear evidence that it will be required due to
either market conditions or due to contractual terms and
conditions”.

Generally outside of local
control. December 2025 - CPI
3.4%

Monitoring of relevant
developments and indicators.
Consider extent to which the

Council can influence local
market pressures. Based on
2025/26 revised budget estimate of
premises, transport, contract
payments, agency payments,
supplies & services costs (£568m)
and a 1% variation.

£5,680,880

40%

£2,272,352

APPENDIX 10b




S0€

Proposed Management

Potential

Risk Description / Liability Controls in Place Actions Impact Weighting Weighted Amount
Volatility to the Council's Council Tax Base due to Conti tablished
variations in the number of the Local Council Tax Support Monitoring of claimant on 'miﬁlwe es_? 1she
(benefits) scheme claimants and the ability of the nufnbers mon ty ”I‘O”' °t”£‘9 J £1,438,745 10% £143,875
Government to change welfare policy impacting on the grrangenlerj S. Impact based on
amount that can be claimed. risk of a 5% increase in caseload.
N . . . Structured monitoring
Significant assumptions included in the 2026/27 base rocesses including specific | Conti tablish itori
budget of the Council related to Council Tax income. P monitoring of nugmb‘?ers ontinue e? ablish mon orlpg
Includes potential for ongoing volatility due to variations in . N arrangements. Impact recognises £2,970,334 40% £1,188,134
; o attracting the second homes 1% variation on total budgeted
the number of Second Homes attracting the 100% . . ;
S . tax premium and the council tax income.
premium implemented from 1 April 2025 onwards. . .
associated tax base position
Volatility to the level of business rates income collected Continue established monitoring
annually and the risk associated with the passported Monitoring process and arrangements. Impact
appeals system. This includes prescribed timing tracking of business closures | recognises 1% variation in the £621,168 20% £124,234
difference around when items can be credited to the and start ups total assume as part of the
accounts. 2026/27 budget.
Generation of the required level of capital receipts to fund
the approved transformation and invest to save ) o )
programmes of the council via the Flexible Use of Capital Continue monitoring of capital
Receipts. Includes the Children's and Adult Services Work to develop a pipeline of | receipts and forecast dlsposals ]
specific transformation Programmes. Current assumption | capital receipts and priority Impact based on £23.5m which
is that £18.5m is required over the 4 year period to 31 workstream for the Estates T?yb? re‘y.”rec:. fo ;,‘Ovti)fa ¢ £12,846,000 20% £2,569,200
March 2029, of which £11.5m has been generated as of |Team and Corporate Property Cg‘_”:;rs:h’:sr; tllvrscc:;(;fer?tr£13 '77,8;;(
January 2026 and a further £5.8m is due before the Group prgjected 4-year capital rece.ipts
2025/26 financial year end. A particular risk will be the surplus.
generation of additional capital receipts to support any
capitalisation direction requests.
Lack of a capital contingency meaning the council could a S::veen;isn\éve:”n%rzisbsi Consideration of prudential
have insufficient resources to support any variations on PP . ) Y borrowing can only be
L resources with appropriate . . £500,000 5% £25,000
approved schemes or urgent capital infrastructure scheme contingencies are in considered were it can be
requirements plage demonstrated as affordable
Final Local Government Finance Settlement not due until o
. . Impact based on a 5% adverse
early February 2026. Risk resources allocated will be variance based on the
lower than those outlined in the provisional settlement Ongoing monitoring of o o
. . . . L provisional Revenue Support £3,265,380 20% £653,076
received in December 2025. Particular risk as this is the [ Government announcements Grant allocation to BCP Council
first year of the application of the government new fair for 2026/27
funding formula.

APPENDIX 10b




90¢€

Risk Description / Liability Controls in Place Proposc;(‘ic:?::sagement ﬁ?;:;:;:l Weighting Weighted Amount
Continual rolling process to
Risk of non delivery of future year savings, efficiencies, ensure robust and effective
and additional resources to ensure the council continues | Structured financial strategy | proactive financial management
to be able to deliver legally balanced budgets. driven process with regular processes. Impact based on £23,732,000 40% £9,492,800
Recognition that year on year such proposals become MTFP Updates to Cabinet. | savings included in the MTFP for
increasingly difficult to identify and deliver. 2027/28 and 2028/29 plus any
funding gaps for those years.
A new pay and grading structured was implemented in
December 2025. This mitigated risks associated with People and Culture
legacy arrangements which grew the longer it took to management process Ongoing People & Culture and
agree a harmonised position. Consequential risks detailed supporting remapping’s and Budget Holder arrangements.
in the Council report included additional annual appeals. Budget holders Impact based on a annual £2,500,000 30% £750,000
incremental drift exposure of £4m up from £1.5m per mangp emént of%heir services additional incremental drift
annum and the calculation excluded vacant posts, casual ¢ costs exposure.
employees, apprentices, agency staff or any future
remapping's.
. . Mandatory training, security, .
I(;oszroartgirkuptlon to IT Systems and Networks from protocols, encryption, and Contlnl;;;lg\:for:tkcontrol £12,000,000 40% £4.800,000
Y ' constant review of threats
Robust procurement and
contract management Regular review of contract
Failure of a Major Contractor procedures. Including performance and contractor £1,500,000 30% £450,000
performance bonds and financial standing.
parent company guarantees
Insufficient resources to resolve Legal claims against the Statutory and requlato
Council. Examples include potential claims brought against controIL; i'r?;ernal (g)\l:ernarﬁce Monitor any such claims and
the council due to contractual terms and arrangements, roceéures rogfessional seek approaches which limit £1,500,000 30% £450,000
and claims as a consequence of the impact of the P a dv}s‘)ers liabilities.
Councils actions on third parties. '
Operational procedures and Consider potential to obtain
Council Emergency Planning responsibilities - Uninsured Ignnin undF()er inned by the national funding under the
losses and unbudgeted operational costs as a result of a planning P Y Bellwin scheme which will pay
ST multi-agency Local Resilience o - . £815,526 5% £40,776
major incident or large scale emergency for example Forum and BCP Emeraenc 100% of eligible expenditure
storms, floods etc. . 98N 1 above 0.2% of the councils
Planning Team .
annual budget threshold.

APPENDIX 10b




L0€

Risk Description / Liability

Risk of insurance claims greater than that provided for in
the annual budget to cover excesses based on self
insurance thresholds. Pressure in insurance market is
moving towards greater excesses and or decisions to
deliberately not insure certain assets for their potential
maximum restatement value to ensure overall insurance
costs are affordable (e.g. Bournemouth Pier ,
Bournemouth International Centre, Civic Centre).

Controls in Place

Earmarked Reserve and
provision on balance sheet for
known liabilities. Regular
monitoring by insurance
team.

Proposed Management

Actions

Continue with regular
monitoring arrangements and
ongoing discussions with
insurers

Impact

Likelihood

Residual
Risk Score

Potential
Impact

£67,000,000

Risk of a major fraud being undertaken against the
council

Management first line of
defence. Second line of
defence internal governance
arrangements including
boards/committees. The final
line of defence is Internal
Audit work programme.

Continue governance
arrangements including
mandatory training module.

£1,000,000

Economic impact from failure to invest and adapt to
climate change

Council investment and
delivery plans including,
decarbonisation of council
estate, flood and coastal
erosion mitigations and
greening of the vehicle fleet.
Local Area Energy Plan
identifying regional actions
needed to reach net zero for
area. Carbon Literacy
Training being rolled out.
Carbon Neutral Steering

Continue controls, investment
plans and work with
sustainability officers. Impact
based on annual cost the
council would have to incur on
purchasing carbon credits.

£3,000,000

Organisations associated with the Council or a Council
owned company (or their subsidiary) go into
Administration and the service has to be returned to the
Council with significant financial consequences at least in
the short term. This could include exposure to increased
operational costs such as staff costs, maintenance,
business rates and VAT.

Councillor representation on
Boards. Regular review of
financial information.

Continue monitoring
arrangements.

£2,000,000

Interest Rate Risk. Unanticipated movements could lead
to reductions in income from the investment of the
Council's day to day cash balances and reserves.

Established quarterly financial
monitoring arrangements in
place and quarterly review by
the Audit & Governance
Committee

Establish monitoring
arrangements. Based on a
potential 1% reduction in interest
rates (what the markets refer to as
downside risk).

£145,556

Weighting Weighted Amount
20% £13,400,000
10% £100,000
40% £1,200,000
10% £200,000
10% £14,556

APPENDIX 10b




80¢

Risk Description / Liability

VAT Exemption Limit. Council is allowed to recover VAT
on exempt supplies up to a limit of 5% of taxable
supplies. Should an authority breach this threshold all

Controls in Place

Particular risk around capital
expenditure is regularly
reviewed to ensure any

relevant capital schemes are

Proposed Management
Actions

Continue to emphasise to all
service managers the

Impact

Likelihood

Residual
Risk Score

Potential
Impact

Weighting Weighted Amount

exempt VAT becomes irrecoverable and a cost to the structured in a VAT efficient importance of seeking tax 3 1 3 £2,400,000 10% £240,000
council. Examples of capital investment that would need manner. Similarly risk advice at early stages of capital
careful management would be any investment around mitigation in place on all new schemes.
crematoriums. lease agreements /
assignments / amendments.
TOTAL PROPOSED MINIMUM LEVEL OF BALANCES £412,732,720 £211,973,291

In addition to the assessment of the identified individuals risks the Council also assess the risk against the overall total. A risk weighting of between the 25% and 75% quartiles would assess the
range to be around £52.9m as a minimum and around £159m at the maximum. However ignoring the DSG deficit, which a Stuautory Instrument currently advises us to do, would put the range down

to between £12.5m and £37.5m.

The budget has been drawn based on unearmarked reserves of £24.5m to reflect the operational risks of the Council.
As a percentage of Net Revenue Expenditure this is estimated to be 6%.

CIPFA benchmarking would indicate un-earmarked reserves for a unitary council should be maintained between £20.4m (5%) and £40.8m (10%) of the Council's £407.763m 2026/27 Net Revenue

Expenditure level estimate.

APPENDIX 10b




60€

Extreme
Over £2.6m
High

£1m to £2.6m

Medium
£500k to £1m

IMPACT

Low
Below £500k

RESERVES RISK ASSESSMENT - SCORING MATRIX

LIKELIHOOD

4 (20%) 8 (40%)

6 (30%)

2 4 (20%) 6 (30%) 8 (40%)
4 (20%)
1 2 3 4
Unlikely Could Happen Likely to Happen Almost Certain
¢ 0 — 20% chance of ¢ 20% to 60% chance of ¢ 60% to 90% chance e Over 90% chance of
occurrence occurrence of occurrence occurrence
e 1in 20-year event ¢ 1in 10-year event e 1in 5-year event e Occurs on an annual
. . . basis
e May occur only in e Is unlikely to occur but o Will probably occur at
exceptional could occur at some some time / in most e Is expected to occur
circumstances time / in some circumstances in most
circumstances circumstances

e Has never or very rarely
happened before

e 9% relates to the weighting which will be given to the potential impact to determine the reserve provision required.
e Impact based on governance thresholds — Extreme £2.6m representing 10% Operational (Unearmarked) Reserves

APPENDIX 10b



This page is intentionally left blank

310



Equality Impact Assessment

1 Wh_at is being Proposed Council Budget for 2026/27
reviewed?
All local authorities are facing substantial financial challenges, with rises in
inflation and the continued cost of living crisis. Regardless, the council has a legal
responsibility to set an annual balanced budget (Local Government Finance Act
1992).
Details about | The 2026/2027 budget aims to address the financial challenges faced by the
2 | your council whilst continuing to provide essential services to residents. The council’s
decision: budget is spent across a number of key areas.
The financial strategy employed by the council in setting the 2026/2027 budget
ensures the overall financial resilience of the council, to continue to sustainably
provide essential services to the most vulnerable people in society who are reliant
on the council to achieve a good standard of living.
3 | Service Unit Finance
At an individual savings level which has informed this EIA:
« Corporate and Service Directors across the council and other
People i . . . .
4 | involved in officers where applicable including Heads of Service.
the process « Cabinet Members
Chief Finance Officer and Director of Finance — Adam Richens
Relevant
5 | meeting May 2025 — January 2026
date(s)
How BCP Council is funded BCP
‘ Council Tax 78%
@ Business Rates 20%
.' Grants and New Homes Bonus 2%
Where BCP Gouncil spent its budget (2025-26) o
Who is your [ ] People and Communities Percentage | £000s| Pence in £
current or Acults and Older Pecple Services I 128417 Bap
potential == o —
client base? Other Children’s Services 9.482 26p
6 Community Services 6,690 19
L\bm_ryServiuﬁ 6,186 17p
Who are your —— e
key Y Place and Environment | Perveniage £ 000s| Pencs n£ |
Stakeh0|der8? Transport Services ' 18,094 5.0p
Waste and Recycling 15,613 43p
Highways 7.109 20p
Parks and Open spaces 5,285 1.5p
Street Cleaning 4116 11p
Planning 3,167 09p
Development and Investment 1,389 04p
| IModemcouncil | Pementage | £000s| Pencain£|
Support Services ] 53437 149p
Other central items and accounting entries 16,930 47p
Cost of running our operational premises r 6,752 19
Commercial -22 574 -6.3p
Total 359,348

Appendix 11
311




Equality Data for the BCP Area:

Age:
16% 62% 22%
Aged 0-15 years Aged 16-64 years Aged 65+ years
0020, >
ik I\
Sex:
49%

Male w i

)
51%
Female
Disability:
[ ) People with a disability that % population
9 limits day to day activities a lot " . L .
8% Number who are disabled and limited a lot by their disability,
30,61 6 o and as percent of population by age, BCP 2021 Census
@ Number with disability and limited a lot by disability — % of population
8,000 409
6,000 0%
4,000 20%
2,0(
15and 1624 2534 3549 5064 6574 7584 85and .
under ovel
Age group @
Race:

BCP’s population has become increasingly diverse. 82% of the population are
White British and 18% are from an ethnic minority background, including white
minorities.

Religion:
2021 Census Religion (%)

No religion _ 422
Not answered [JJJj 6.2
mustim [ 1.7
Hindu I 0.7
Other religion I 0.7
Buadhist | 0.5
Jewish | 0.4

Sikh | 0.1

Appendix 11
312




Sexual orientation:

Sexual orientation by number and percentage of
usual residents aged 16+ in BCP, 2021 Census

Sexual orientation Percent Value

Bisexual 16 5,358.0
Gay or Lesbian 1.9 64940
Not answered 76 255800
Other sexual orientations 0.3 1,221.0
Straight or Heterosexual 88.5 296.257.0
Total 99.9 334,910.0

Marriage and civil partnership:

43%

Married or in a registered civil partnership

" == 11%

Divorced or civil partnership dissolved

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has a measurement framework
using six domains which reflect the capabilities or areas of life that are important
to people and that enable them to flourish. Information about the communities
within the BCP area can be found here: Our People, Our Place: Facts, Figures

and Insights

Consultation:

To inform the budget proposal, an open consultation took place from 18
November to 14 December to understand local views on the importance of council
services and priorities for council spending as well as levels of council tax.

More information is available here: Project: Budget 2026-27 | BCP Council

Respondents to both the open consultation and the sample survey (undertaken in
2024) were given a list of council service areas and information about how much
of its revenue budget the council currently spends within that area. Respondents
were given the total cost but also how many pence in one pound was spent on
that service. They were also given a brief description of what was included within
each of the services.

For both the open and sample survey, most respondents want the council to retain
the same level of funding for most of its service areas. If there was additional
budget, the open survey respondents prioritised highway services, street cleaning
and parks and open spaces as the services where they would like to see more
money spent. The sample survey respondents said they would like to see an
increase in spending for school services, children’s social care, highways, and
street cleaning. If the council were to look at reducing spending in any service
area, both the open and sample survey respondents said that the council should
look at the cost of running its premises and support services costs to make
savings.

Appendix 11
313



https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiZjRkYzg1OWEtNTVkNy00MjQyLThkZDAtZTA2MGZlNjEzMzIyIiwidCI6ImM5NDYzMzEzLTM1ZTEtNDBlNC05NDRhLWRkNzk4ZWM5ZTQ4OCJ9
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiZjRkYzg1OWEtNTVkNy00MjQyLThkZDAtZTA2MGZlNjEzMzIyIiwidCI6ImM5NDYzMzEzLTM1ZTEtNDBlNC05NDRhLWRkNzk4ZWM5ZTQ4OCJ9
https://haveyoursay.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/en-GB/projects/budget

Impacts and
Mitigations

In this budget the council has sought to maintain appropriate services for the
most vulnerable as well as improve the sustainability of services important for
the wellbeing of all residents.

The cumulative impact of the proposals indicates that low-income households
and individuals will be most negatively affected, followed by older age groups
and disabled people. However, the investments and mitigating actions aim to
support these groups and promote equality within the community.

Council Tax Increase:

The council is seeking to increase council tax by 4.99% and has also sought
permission from Government for flexibility to increase Council tax by a further
2.43%. It has not been possible to meet the requests of respondents to the
budget consultation on lower council tax increase levels whilst also achieving
a balanced budget.

Negative: It is likely that residents on lower earnings will be affected negatively by
the increase. An increase in council tax will negatively impact on households
already struggling financially which is not necessarily limited to just lower socio-
economic groups given the ongoing cost of living challenges.

Positive: Increasing council tax also enables the council to continue to provide
vital services that support the most vulnerable in society including older and
younger residents and those with disabilities, as well as services which support all
residents to live in sustainable, safe and healthy communities.

Mitigating actions:

There are several schemes in place to assist residents with their council tax bills.
These include:

a) Council tax Support: Residents on lower incomes can apply for assistance
with their council tax bill by applying for council tax Support, further
information is available on the council’s website:
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/benefits-support-and-advice/council-tax-
support

b) Council tax Discounts and exemptions: Discounts are available to
residents in certain circumstances including care leavers, carers, those
with severe mental impairment, single adults in a household and students.
Further details of ways in which council tax could be reduced for qualifying
households is available on the website: Council Tax discounts and
exemptions | BCP

c) Discretionary Reduction and Help with Paying Council Tax Bill: Section
13A (1c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 allows local
authorities to, in exceptional circumstances, reduce the council tax liability
for a charge payer. Statutory exemptions and discounts must first have
been exhausted.

d) Any further support that may become available will be announced through
www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Summary of
Equality
Implications

The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) does not prevent the council from
making difficult decisions when required to achieve significant levels of savings
across all services in meeting a balanced budget. The PSED supports robust, fair,
transparent and accountable decision-making that considers the diverse needs of
local communities and the council’s workforce.

In this budget the council has sought to maintain appropriate services for the most
vulnerable as well as improve the sustainability of services important for the
wellbeing of all residents.

Appendix 11
314



https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/benefits-support-and-advice/council-tax-support
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/benefits-support-and-advice/council-tax-support
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/council-tax/council-tax-discounts-and-exemptions
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/council-tax/council-tax-discounts-and-exemptions
http://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/

The impacts of the council budget for 2026/27 have been assessed
considering the nine protected characteristics (age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and other characteristics
including low socio-economic status, carers and care leavers. The Equality
and Human Rights Commission’s six domains of equality measurement
framework have also been considered, identified as the areas of life that are
important to people and that enable them to flourish. These are: Education,
Work, Living standards, Health, Justice and personal security, and
Participation.

The cumulative impact of the proposals indicates that low-income households
and individuals will be most negatively affected, followed by older age groups
and disabled people. However, the investments and mitigating actions aim to
support these groups and promote equality within the community.

As part of the budget, council tax is being raised to support increased service
provision, which will have a positive impact on many residents. Mitigating
actions have been identified to support those who would be most negatively
affected.

Individual equality impact assessments have or will be carried out to support
individual savings where a potential negative impact has been identified for
service users or the workforce. This will ensure conscious consideration is
given to the Public Sector Equality Duty and mitigating actions are put in place
to minimise any potential or actual negative impacts.

Appendix 11
315




This page is intentionally left blank

316



BCP Pay Policy 2026/27

BCP Pay Policy 2026/27

Date: 31 December 2025

Policy Author: LizBowman, Pay and Reward Programme
Manager

Review Date: December

2026 Version:1

Purpose/Introduction

This policy is established to meet requirement of section 38(1) of the Localism Act
(2011).

The purpose of this policy is to provide transparency on the salaries of Chief Officers of
the Council, how those salaries are set, and other issues related to the pay of Chief
Officers.

BCP Council has now been in existence following Local Government Reorganisation
(LGR) since April 2019. The financial information published to meet legislative
responsibilities is relating to the 2025/26 salary information using a snapshot date of 31
December 2025, and the draft 2024/25 Statement of Accounts (in draft and unaudited)

Who the policy applies
to

Chief Officers - The Council will engage persons for the following posts, who will be
designated Chief Officers:

(a) Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service

(b) Corporate Directors or Directors who report directly to the Chief Executive
within the line management structure

To clarify, Chief Officers in BCP Council are on BCP Council new terms and conditions
introduced on 1 December 2025 or National Joint Council (NJC) terms and conditions,
not Joint National Committee (JNC) for Chief Officers.

317 Appendix 12




BCP Pay Policy 2026/27

The policy

BCP Council undertook to introduce a new pay and grading structure for the whole
workforce excluding teachers in schools and colleagues on Soulbury pay. This collective
bargaining process concluded in 2025, and a collective agreement was reached with
the recognised trade unions, which resulted in changing the pay and grading structure
for the Chief Executive and Chief Officers. The changes were approved by Cabinet and
Council.

The salaries for these staff have been and will continue to be increased in line with
national pay awards agreed by National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government
employees (for Chief Officers), unless financial constraints prevent the required funding
from being available. In this case, some lesser figure or no increase will be applied.

The Chief Executive is employed on our new BCP Terms and conditions of
employment

Section 38(1) of the Localism Act requires the following information to be published
annually as part of the policy (Appendix A):

a The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) base salary, including pension
contribution and the NI contribution with a total figure per annum (excluding
expenses allowance).

b The median full-time equivalent salary for staff, excluding employees in schools
and all apprentices with the pension contribution and the NI contribution with a
total figure. The ratio between this salary and the salary of the Head of Paid
Service.

C The lowest full time equivalent salary, with the pension contribution and the NI
contribution with a total figure.
The ratio between this salary and the salary of the Head of Paid Service.

d These ratios are published in line with the recommendations of the Hutton review
of Fair Pay in the Public Sector. This review also recommends thatlocal authorities
define what they mean by ‘lowest salary’.

e The lowest salary is defined as the full-time equivalent salary of employees in
receipt of the lowest salary point of the salary and grading structure for the
employees who are not teachers, Apprentices or school support staff.

f The salaries of Heads of Service / Service Directors, the posts that report into

Corporate Directors, and other employees not covered by nationally agreed pay
scales, are determined under the new Pay and Reward job evaluated pay and
grading structure. Any role created and job evaluated since the formation of BCP
Council and ongoing has been mapped to an evaluated role profile introduced on
1 December 2025. Where arole profile does not describe the new role, a new role
profile may be created, which means the level and therefore pay is determined
under BCP councils’ new job evaluated pay and grading structure.

g An extract from the annual statement of accounts for 2024/25 is given in Appendix
B for BCP Council which gives details of the payments made to Chief Officers in
2024/25.

h The council will ensure that all new starters are appointed on the minimum pay
point within the band due to the phased introduction of the new pay structure and
with due regard of existing colleagues who have assimilated into the new pay

318 Appendix 12




BCP Pay Policy 2026/27

band, which will be complete in 2029. This will prevent new starters being paid
higher than our existing workforce in the same role.

[ Incremental progression does not apply to Chief Officers.

j No other fees are paid to Chief Officers, but they can make claims under the
Travel and Subsistence arrangements for business related travel.

k Payments for working hours additional to contractual hours are not made.

The Council publishes the total remuneration of Chief Officers and Service Directors as
part of the annual statement of accounts on its public website.

The decision to employ Chief Officers, who were previously employed by the Council
and left with a severance or redundancy payment, will be based on the applicants’
suitability for the post. No deductions will be made from the remuneration package,
providing the employment is more than four weeks from the original date of termination.
If the employment is within four weeks of the original termination, the employee will have
to reimburse any redundancy payments to the previous employer if they have been
made to them.

The Council’s policy is to usually employ Chief Officers under employment contracts, not
under a contract for services.

The decision to employ Chief Officers who are in receipt of a Local Government Pension
Scheme pension (whether their previous service was with the same authority or not) is
dependent on the applicant’s suitability for the post. The remuneration will be set in line
with the newly created pay structure and in line with the Pay and Allowances policy that
applies to all colleagues of the council (excluding teachers in schools and colleagues
on Soulbury pay) including Chief Executive and Chief Officers.

Special Severance payments will be approved according to the following process (as
recorded in the scheme of delegation):

o payments of £100,000 and above must be approved by a vote of full council,
as setout in the Localism Act 2011

e payments of £20,000 and above, but below £100,000, must be personally
approved and signed off by the Head of Paid Service, with a clear record of
the Leader’s approval and that of any others who have signed off the
payment

e payments below £20,000 must be approved according to the local
authority’s scheme of delegation. It is expected that local authorities should
publish their policy and process for approving these payments

As part of their duties, an authority’s s151 Officer, and where appropriate, the Monitoring
Officer, should take a close interest in and be able to justify any special severance
payments that are made by that authority and in particular any payments made that are
not consistent with the content of this guidance

319 Appendix 12




BCP Pay Policy 2026/27

BCP Pay Policy 2026/27

The Council has adopted a range of clear policies, procedures, and guidance with
regard to payments upon the termination of employment. The Scheme of Delegation
details governance arrangements in regard to severance payments in line with the
‘Statutory Guidance on the Making and Disclosure of Special Severance Payments by
local authorities in England’ published 12 May 2022. This guidance forms part of the
best value regime for local authorities in England as set out in section 3 of the Local
Government Act 1999.

In line with the 2015, Local Government Transparency Code, which was issued to
increase democratic accountability through open access to information, sets a
requirement for local authorities to publish specific data, Under the Account and Audit
Regulations 2015 we publish:

o the number of employees whose remuneration in that year was at least
£50,000 in brackets of £5,000

o details of remuneration and job title of certain senior employees whose
salary is at least £50,000, and

e employees whose salaries are £150,000 or more who must also be
identified by name

In addition to this requirement, for all employees whose salary exceeds £50,000,
there is a requirement to publish a list of responsibilities (for example, the services
and functions they are responsible for, budget held and number of staff) and details
of bonuses and benefits-in-kind.

The new Pay and Allowances policy introduced in December 2025 following collective
agreement, continued the previous governance arrangements that were introduced in
2024, allowing temporary additional payments to be authorised and paid through a
panel process that involved Director and union representative on panel. This policy
ensures consistent approach across BCP Council. Governance arrangements are in
line with the scheme of delegation

The Scheme of Delegation outlines who has the authority to approve pay,
supplements, enhancements, and allowances. These approvals were reviewed and
updated in 2024. This was adopted into the new Pay and Allowances policy December
2025.

320 Appendix 12



BCP Pay Policy 2026/27

BCP Pay Policy 2026/27

BCP Council have introduced a new set of Terms and conditions as well as pay for all
employees across the council. The implementation date for these new arrangements
was 1 December 2025. The new Pay and Allowances policy applies from this date.

The policy in relation to employer discretions under the Local Government Pension
schemeis given in Appendix C

How to use the policy

This policy will be published on the Council’'s website to ensure that all colleagues,
Councillors, residents and local businesses have access to it.

Related Council policies and supporting documents:

e Pay and Allowances policy December 2025

e Business Travel and Subsistence arrangements

e The Council’s policy in relation to employer discretions under the Local
Government Pension scheme

e The Council’s policy in relation to employer discretion under the Local
Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary

e Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006

e Scheme of Delegation

Rolesand
responsibilities

This policy is reviewed annually by the Corporate Management Board and any
recommendations for change will be made to the Cabinet for approval

Enforcementand
sanctions

Further information
and evidence

321 Appendix 12




BCP Pay Policy 2026/27

Salary Information 2025/26

Section 38(1) of the Localism Act requires the following information to be published annually as part

of the policy (Appendix A):

The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) base salary at snapshot date 31 December 2025,
including pension contribution and the NI contribution with a total figure per annum (excluding

expenses allowance).

Authority Position Base Salary | Pension NI Total
Contribution Contribution
Bournemouth Chief £211,744 £38,336.66 £30,265.95 £280,346.61
Christchurch & Poole Executive
Council
b The median full-time equivalent salary for staff at snapshot date 31 December 2025, excluding

employees in schools with the pension contribution and the NI contribution with a total figure. The
ratio between this salary and the salary of the Head of Paid Service.

Authority Median Pension NI Total Ratio
FTE Contribution | Contribution
Salary

Bournemouth Christchurch | £32,061 £6,020.21 £3,784.37 £41,865.58 1.7

& Poole Council

c The lowest full time equivalent salary at snapshot date 31 December 2025, with the pension

contribution and the NI contribution with a total figure. The ratio between this salary and the salary of

the Head of Paid Service.

Authority Lowest Pension NI Total Ratio
FTE Salary | Contribution | Contribution
Bournemouth Christchurch | £20,791 £4,074.88 £0 £24,865.88 1:11
& Poole Council
322

Appendix 12




BCP Pay Policy 2026/27

DRAFT Statement of Accounts 2024/25 (unaudited)
Officers Remuneration — Senior Officers (2024/25)

Remuneration Expenses Compensation Employers  Total payment

Salary (including Allowances for Loss of Pension including

supplements) Office  Contributions Pension

Contributions

2024125 2024125 2024/25 2024125 2024125

£ £ £ £ £

Chief Executive - (G Farrant) 205,178 - - 37,048 242,226
Corporate Director - Chief Operations Officer (1) 137,150 - - 25,782 162,932
Corporate Director - Children's Senices (C Hadley) 175,394 - - 33,325 208,719
Corporate Director - Wellbeing (J Kay) 153,726 - - 29,208 182,934
Director of IT and Programmes (2) 22,053 - - 4,190 26,243
Director of IT and Programmes (3) 101,409 - - 17,762 119,171
Director of Finance 126,642 - - 24,062 150,704
Director of Law & Governance 126,951 - - 24,121 151,072
Director of Marketing, Comms and Policy 112,189 - - 21,316 133,505
Director of People and Culture 112,189 - - 21,316 133,505
Totals 1,272,881 - - 238,130 1,511,011

Notes:
1. Corporate Director - Chief Operations Officer joined the authority 03/06/2024

2. Director of IT and Programmes left the authority 02/06/2024
3. New Director of IT and Programmes commenced 03/06/2024

323 Appendix 12



This page is intentionally left blank

324



BCP Council
CabinetMeeting11 February 2026

Item: Agenda ltem 6

Budget 2026/27 and Medium-Term Financial Plan

Addendum

Background

1.

The February 2026 Budget 2026/27 and Medium-Term Financial Plan report to Cabinet
set out that in order to present a legally balanced budget for 2026/27 the Council was
having to draw down £4.825m in unearmarked reserves. This conflicted with the stated
aim of increasing these reserves to protect the financial health and sustainability of the
Council. The draw down was necessary primarily as the council is struggling to cover the
£10.5m borrowing costs in 2026/27 that it will need to incur to fund the accumulating
deficit on its Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) as pertaining to year-on-year Special
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) expenditure above the annual government
grant.

The 2026/27 Budget report also set out that the advice of the council’s Director of
Finance was to apply any resources announced by government as part of the final
2026/27 local government finance settlement to restore unearmarked reserves and
protect the future financial health of the council recognising:

a) that in each of the next 3 years the council will be receiving less Revenue Support
Grant (RSG) from the government than it is receiving in 2025/26. By 2028/29 this
reduction amounts to £5.9m per annum (4.1%). On the basis that it would have been
fair to assume the 2025/26 funding would have increased by at least the
government’s 2% inflationary target the indication is the council will be losing around
£15m annually by the 3rd year (2028/29) of the local government finance settlement.

b) there is a total funding gap of £30.1m across the following two-year period 2027/28
and 2028/29.

It was hoped that additional resources that might have been received in the final 2026/27
settlement may have included any of the following matters all designed to support the
council’s financial health and sustainability.

i) Aresponseto a6 January 2026 application by the council for Exceptional Financial
Support (EFS) from the government which requested.

o Government permission to increase council tax by more than the 4.99%
threshold limit.

o Government permission to capitalise the £10.5m cost of borrowing to finance the
DSG deficit in 2026/27.

i) Any government support for historic or accruing DSG deficits.
An independent review of the councils EFS application on behalf of government

concluded that it was fully justified recognising particularly the challenges around current
and future DSG deficits and the councils below average level of council tax.

325



Final 2026/27 Local Government Finance Settlement

5. On the 9 February 2026 government announced the final Local Government finance
settlements for 2026/27, the latest date the settlement has been received since 2017/18.
This statement included the following announcements specific to BCP Council.

e Ability to increase council tax by an additional 1.75% over and above the standard
4.99% threshold increase in 2026/27 (6.74% total allowable increase). The council
will therefore not need to hold a referendum for increases up to and including 6.74%.
At this level, the council will generate an extra £4.9m in extra annual revenue from 1
April 2026 onwards towards essential services.

e Support for the council’s historic and accruing DSG deficits in waves. The first phase
of which has been designed to address historic deficits and will take the form of a
new High Needs Stability Grant to cover 90% of the deficit as at the 31 March 2026.
This grant will be subject to BCP Council submitting and securing the Department for
Education (DfE) approval of a Local SEND Reform Plan. If agreement is reached the
grant will be paid during the autumn of 2026 and will need to be held as a grant
received in advance within reserves and applied to the residual balance on the 31
March 2028.

e Government also acknowledged that the SEND reform plans will take time to fully
embed and local authorities will need further support. For deficits that arise in
2026/27 and 2027/28, it was highlighted that local authorities can expect that
government will continue to take a similarly appropriate and proportionate approach
to such support, although it was recognised that this support would not be unlimited.

¢ In respect of the statutory override, which allows the council to ignore the DSG
deficit, within its statutory accounts, it was confirmed that this will cease on the 31
March 2028. The advice to local authorities from government is that they need
to plan to be able to meet the cost of the residual deficit from their own
resources in 2028/29 including setting aside appropriate reserves in the
preceding years. If the council also receives 90% of its forecast accruing DSG
deficits in 2026/27 and 2027/28 then the council will need reserve funding of £37.9m
in 2028/29 to specifically cover the residual deficit.

Financial Implications — Extra council tax flexibility

6. The following table summarises the impact on the councils Band D council tax of the
additional increase.

2025/26 £1,855.41 Annual Variance
Based 4.99% increase 2026/27 £1,947.99 increase £92.58
Based 6.74% increase 2026/27 £1,980.46 increase £125.05

Extra £32.47 increase

7. An increase of an extra 1.75% would generate an extra £4.951m in financial resources
for the council from 2026/27 onwards. It should be highlighted that even with the extra
increase our 2026/27 council tax will be below the £2,001.05 charged by Dorset Council
in the current 2025/26 financial year and their estimated £2,100.90 charge in 2026/27.
An updated Appendix 2 to the original Cabinet report is attached to this addendum.

326



8.

The proposal is this extra council tax revenue is used to support essential services and
enable the 2026/27 budget to be put forward avoiding the need to draw down £4.825m
on unearmarked reserves. The residual £126k will be used to better support the base
revenue budget contingency for 2026/27. In respect of future years this will reduce the
funding gap over the period to 31 March 2028 from £30.1m down to £24.8m with the
funding gap for 2027/28 reducing to £13.6m.

Financial Implications — Support for Historic DSG Deficit

9.

10.

11.

12.

The impact of the support for historic accumulated deficits is assumedto be a
contribution of £165.24m (£183.6m * 90%) and impacts of the previously assumed
deficits as follows.

Previous Estimate Latest Estimate

31 March 2025 £113.3m (Actual) £113.3m (Actual)
31 March 2026 £183.6m £183.6m
31 March 2027 £279.3m £114.1m
31 March 2028 £379.3m £214.1m

Although this contribution is welcome and positive the council will still be technically
insolvent as these net deficits will still be greater than the councils’ forecast reserves.
Based on the sentiment in the final 2026/27 local government finance settlement the
council would anticipate receiving a further £176.13m contribution in 2028/29 towards
the deficits of £95.7m in 2026/27 and £100m in 2027/28. It is assumed that ultimately the
council will be required to manage from its own funds £37.93m which is 10% of the
previously assumed 31 March 2028 deficit.

An additional consequence of the payment is it reduces the amount of borrowing and
subsequent interest that the council will need to incur to finance the DSG deficit. As a
matter of prudence, it has been assumed that this payment will be made towards the end
of the 2026/27 financial year and therefore the impact, estimated at £6.6m per annum,
will not materially impact before the 2027/28 financial year. From a risk perspective it
should be emphasised that the £165.24m High Needs Stability grant is not guaranteed
and is subject to the agreement of a Local SEND reform Plan with DfE.

In respect of the MTFP this reduction in SEND interest costs will reduce the funding gap
over the period to 31 March 2028, as reference in section (8) above from £24.8m down
to £18.1m with the funding gap for 2027/28 reducing from £13.6m to £6.9m.

Financial Implications: Funding strategy for the DSG residual deficit

13.

The final local government finance settlement for 2026/27 made it clear that the council
has to develop a strategy on how it will fund, in 2028/29, the element of the DSG deficit
that will be retained locally. As set out in section 10 this retained deficit for the council to
manage locally is currently estimated at £37.9m. The intention is to continue an open
dialogue with government to explore the options for funding such a significant amount
however it will be essential that the council continues its strategy of delivering capital
receipt from surplus asset disposals over the next two-year period.

327



Summary Financial Implications

14. The announcement will have a consequential impact on the MTFP of the authority and
reserves position of the council as set out figure 1 and 2 below.

Figure 1. Original MTFP Position of the Council as per Cabinet report

February 2026 MTFP Position

26127 27128 28129 Total
£m £m £m £m

Annual - Net Funding Gap {0.0) 18.7 11.5 30.1
Cumulative MTFP - Net Funding Gap {0.0) 18.7 30.1

Figure 2. Updated MTFP Position of the Council

Updated
Budget February 2026 MTFP Position
202526 @ 2621 21128  28/29  Total

Service Pressures (net of any specific grant changes) £m £m

Wellbeing Directorate

Children's Directorate

Operations Directorate

Resources Directorate

Service Pressures (net of any specific grant changes)

Savings, Efficiencies, Fees & Charges

Wellbeing Directorate (3.1) (1.1) (0.9 (5.1)
Children's Directorate (14) 0.0 0.0 (1.4)
Operations Directorate (4.0) (2.2) (13) (7.9)
Resources Directorate (1.0) (0.9 (0.1) (1.6)
Transformation

Savings, Efficiencies, Fees and Charges (13.9) (11.1) (3.6)

06 J 102 4666
(165 61 (0 ()
KN
pal-NetFundngGap | a8 J a0 o1 #2153

6.8 2

Application of one-off business rates resources to MTFP (2.8) (4.0)

: 0.0 8
Annual - Net Funding Gap 00 B (00 69 M2 184
Cumulative MTFP - Net Funding Gap (0.0) 6.9 18.1

328



Figure 3. Updated Reserves Position

Balance Balance Balance
M-Mar-23  3H-Mar-24  31-Mar-25

Q3 Estimate  Budget
M-Mar-26  3-Mar-27

£m £m
Unearmarked Reserves 293 293
Earmarked Reserves 68.5 390 557 325 26.3
Government Contribution: High Needs Stability Grant n/a n/a n/a n/a 165.2

Total Reserves

61.8 2208

Dedicated Schools Grant -35. 63.5 -183.6 -279.3

Net Position : : -30.4 1218 -38.5

Please note: the presentation of the above table is subject to future advice and guidance
from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA).

Final Local Government Finance Settlement 2026/27 — Other implications

15. The 9 February 2026 final local government finance settlement for 2026/27 also
announced potential additional resources for Homelessness, Rough Sleeping and
Domestic Abuse. However, no adjustments will be made until the detail of how the grant
has to be applied has been made available and also how it links with various initiatives
the council has put forward to government for consideration.

Revised Cabinet recommendations to Council

a) Undertakes arecorded vote inrelation to the following items as required by the
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendments) Regulations 2014.

i)  Agrees that a net budget requirement of £456.7m, resulting in a total council tax
requirement of £301.984m is set for 2026/27 based on the draft local government
financial settlement figures published by government in December 2025.

i) Agrees an increase in council tax of 6.74% for 2026/27 inclusive of the additional 2%
social care precept.

i)  Confirms the key assumptions and provisions made in the budget as proposed and as
set out in Appendix 3.

iv) Agrees the allocations to service areas in the budget as set out in Appendix 5.
v) Agrees the implementation of £14m of savings as set out in Appendix 5a.

vi) Approve that the current Council Tax discount for Beach Chalets on Mudeford Sandspit
and Hengistbury Head is removed from 1 April 2026 onwards see appendix 5b.

vii) Approves the flexible use of capital receipts efficiency strategy as the mechanism for
funding the council’s transformation related and invest to save expenditure as setout in
Appendix 6.

viii) Approves the capital investment programme (CIP) as set out in paragraphs 66 to 82
and Appendix 7.

329



xii)

b)

d)

Approves the asset management plan as set out in Appendix 8.

Agrees the treasury management strategy (TMS) and prudential indicators as set out in
paragraphs 84 to 87 and Appendix 9.

Accepts and supports the formal advice of the chief finance officer on the robustness of
the budget and the adequacy of the reserves as set out in paragraphs 102 to 109 and
Appendix 10 and this addendum.

Acknowledges the copy of the councils Exceptional Financial Support application
submitted on the 6 January 2026 attached as Appendix A to this addendum and a
previous related letter dated 5 December 2025 as Appendix B.

Agree to borrow £95.7m to fund the 2026/27 excess Special Educational Needs
and Disability (SEND) High Needs DSG revenue expenditure above the
government grant being made available. Thisis also based on previous
assurance from government that the council can exceed its borrowing thresholds
temporarily based on their commitment to return the SEND system to financial
sustainability.

Agrees to protect essential services by setting aside the additional resources
from the additional 1.75% council tax flexibility in 2026/27 to avoid using
unearmarked reserves to balance the 2026/27 budget and to subsequentlyreduce
the previous £30.1m funding gap in the councils MTFP.

Agrees to continue a dialogue with government on options for funding in 2028/29
the locally retained element of the DSG deficit and in support to continue the
strategy of disposing of surplus assets to generate the necessary capital
receipts.

Approves the chief officers’ pay policy statement 2026/2027 for consideration and
approval by the council in accordance with the provisions of the Localism Act
2011 as setout in paragraphs 111 to 113 and Appendix 12.

330



BCP Schedule of Council Tax Charges 2026/27

Actual Proposed
Council Tax Change 26/27 Council Tax
2025/26 % 2026/27
£ £
Christchurch
Christchurch Town
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 6.74% £1,980.46
Christchurch Town £72.35 2.89% £74.44
Christchurch Town Total £1,927.76 £2,054.90
Burton & Winkton Parish
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 6.74% £1,980.46
Burton & Winkton Parish £18.27 0.82% £18.42
Burton & Winkton Parish Total £1,873.68 £1,998.88
Hurn Parish
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 6.74% £1,980.46
Hurn Parish £34.90 4.47% £36.46
Hurn Parish Total £1,890.31 £2,016.92
Highcliffe and Walkford Neighbourhood
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 6.74% £1,980.46
Highcliffe and Walkford Neighbourhood £32.86 2.74% £33.76
Highcliffe and Walkford Neighbourhood Total £1,888.27 £2,014.22
Bournemouth
Bournemouth Town (exc Throop and Holdenhurst)
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 6.74% £1,980.46
Bournemouth Chartered Trustee £2.24
Bournemouth Town £29.47
Bournemouth Town (exc Throop and Holdenhurst) Total £1,857.65 £2,009.93
Throop and Holdenhurst Village
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 6.74% £1,980.46
Throop and Holdenhurst Village £38.72 2.53% £39.70
Throop and Holdenhurst Village Total £1,894.13 £2,020.16
Poole
Poole Town (exc Broadstone)
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 6.74% £1,980.46
Poole Chartered Trustee £2.14
Poole Town £32.56
Poole Town (exc Broadstone) Total £1,857.55 £2,013.02
Broadstone Town
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41 6.74% £1,980.46
Broadstone Town £60.34
Broadstone Town Total £1,857.55 £2,040.80
331

APPENDIX 2



This page is intentionally left blank

332



&
Ministry of Housing, OFFICIAL

Communities &
Local Government

Exceptional Financial Support and Council Tax Flexibility:

Additional Supporting Information

Please complete allrelevant sections and return your completed additional supporting information and anyattachments to the
Local Authority Financial Risk Team (LAFinancialRisk@communities.gov.uk). If applicable, use existing documents or reports
(e.g. budgetmonitors, Medium-Term Financial Plans, assetregisters etc.) to supportany answers to the questions below —please
clearly make reference to any attachmentin the accompanying text box.

GUIDANCE FOR COMPLETION

Details on how to complete this form are below:

e For all requests — please complete: Section 1, Section 2 (from 2.1 to 2.4) and Section 3 to Section 6.
e If you are requesting a Council Tax increase — please complete Section2.5t0 2.9.
e For existing EFS cases — please also complete additional Section 7.

SECTION 1: General Information

Local Authority Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council

S151 Officer Adam Richens Contactemail | adam.richens@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
Chief Executive Aidan Dunn Contactemail | aidan.dunn@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
Submission Date 5 January 2026

SECTION 2: Request for Exceptional Financial Support and / or Council Tax Flexibility

An outline of the Council’s requestand summaryof key financial pressures
For additional information on financial support please see the Local GovernmentFinance 2026-27 to 2028-29 policystatement

here

2.1 Request summary table — please provide a breakdown of your request below.

Using the table below, please detail the total amount of capitalisation support that you are requesting by financial

year and / or if applicable, detail any percentage additional increase to Council Tax above referendum limits.
2024-25 2025-26 2026-27

Capitalisation support:
Requested capitalisation
of revenue

(Em)

Additional Council Tax

increase

FOR ANY COUNCIL TAX REQUESTS ONLY: please
confirm the additional capitalisation supportamountifa
Council Taxincrease was notavailable.

e FOR EXISTING EFS CASES ONLY: please detail any
variations or revisions to existing in-principle N/A
capitalisation supportamounts with a supporting
rationale for any changes.

e FUTURE YEARS CAPITALISATION SUPPORT: please 2027-28 2028-29 2030-31
detail any capitalisation supportthatis forecastover the (Em) (Em) (Em)
Medium-Term Financial Plan. £11.8 - -

e ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: is there any other
additional information or other specificasks thatthe N/A

Council would like to be considered via EFS?
2.2 How does the Council intend to finance

capitalisation support. Capitalisation amount £21.7m
Please setouthow the Council intends to finance the Financed by borrowing £0m

capitalised revenue —to include: - ofwhich external

e The total requested capitalisation ofrevenue amount borrowing £0m
and specifically: - ofwhich internal

e The total amountcapitalised via borrowing —including borrowing/ cash £0m
external borrowing and internal borrowing/cash reserves

e
On borrowing, please include the current Capital receipts applied £21.7m

O . T
assessmentofthe potential borrowing need as ) OfW.’Z"I:h cur_retnt existing £0m
a resultof capitalisation. caplialreceipls

1
333 Appendix 1


mailto:LAFinancialRisk@communities.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-finance-policy-statement-2026-27-to-2028-29

Ministry of Housing,
Communities &
Local Government

OFFICIAL

The total amountcapitalised via capital receipts —
including currentexisting capital receipts and capital
receipts from future disposal.

o  On future receipts, please include details ofany

indicative timescale and readiness of asset
disposal plans —including the financial year
that receipts are planned to be generated and
applied.

- ofwhich capital receipts
from future disposal

£21.7m

Prior to this request the capital receipts scheduled was as

follows.

e (£2.969m) Available Capital Receipts 31/3/25
(£8.711m) Capital receipts delivered 25/26

e (£5.775m) Forecast capital receipts 25/26
o £4460m Programmed Transformation Expend
25/26

e (£12.955m) Balance 31/3/26

(£7.469m) Forecast capital receipts 26/27
£6.540m  Programmed Transformation Expend
26/27

e (£13.884m) Balance 31/3/27

e (£3.000m) Forecast capital receipts 27/28

e £3.644m Programmed Transformation Expend
27/28

e (£13.240m) Balance 31/3/28

e (£1.000m) Forecast capital receipts 28/29

e £3586m Programmed Transformation Expend
28/29

e (£10.654m) Balance 31/3/29

Therefore, the council will need to either identify further
asset disposals to increase the balance from £10.7m to
£21.7m or reduce the programmed expenditure.

On the financing costs of capitalisation, please

include details of (i) forecastMRP costs and (ii) forecast

interestcosts ofborrowing over the next 3 financial
years

FORALL REQUESTS: please complete 2.3 and 2.4

2.3 What are the key financial drivers of the
Council’s budget gap and request for financial
support?

Please outline the leading pressures and include supporting
figures wherever possible. Forexample, detailing:

Revenue / expenditure pressures — detail of service
area pressures, savings slippages etc.

Income losses — self-generated sources, taxlosses or

other.

Transformation expenditure — does the Council intend

to fund any transformation via EFS.

Any other areas of pressure e.g. Housing Revenue
Account, Dedicated Schools Grant, equal pay etc.
Historic budgeting or accounting errors or
misstatements

Additionally, to include an explanation of why these costs
have arisen and why they are unmanageable.

Forecast 'i:(r)]::f:sstt
MRP costs of
costs borrowing
(£m) em
2026-27 0.0 0.0
2027-28 0.0 0.0
2028-29 0.0 0.0

Financing the borrowing costs associated with historic
and accruing deficit on the councils Dedicated Schools
Grant.

To include ongoing confirmation from government around
the legality of continuing to “temporary” borrow in excess
of the Councils Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) to
fund the historic and accruing DSG deficit.

2.4 Please provide a breakdown of the
requested total support by each of the drivers
setout at 2.3.

Support Amount

Area ‘ (Em)

334

2
Appendix 1



Ministry of Housing,
Communities &
Local Government

OFFICIAL

To include a summarybreakdown ofthe capitalisation
supportto be applied to key costs / service areas and any
key assumptions thatunderpin these costs.

[if applicable amend/add/ delete table rows]

REQUEST FORANY COUNCIL TAXINCREASE

2.5 What is the Council’s rationale for seeking
a Council Taxincrease?

Please include anyinformation relating to your comparative
position to other councils e.g.regionally, class average,
statistical nearestneighbours etc.

Further information to support any request to increase Council Tax above referendum limits

[e.g. children’s social care,
adult’s social care,
transformation efc.]

£

£6.9m (being the amounta
2.43% increase would
generate towards the overall
costestimate of£9.9min
2026/27)

Children’s Services support
for the interestcosts on the
borrowing being undertaken
to finance the DSG deficit

That any announcement by government in respect of
support for historic and accruing deficits will not be
made until the final local government finance
settlement for 2026/27 is announced and even when
it is it will be conditional on an approved Local SEND
Reform Plan

ABOVE REFERENDUMLIMITS ONLY

Over the two-year period 2021/22 and 2022/23 a previous
administration of the council did not increase council tax
by the maximum permissible.

Thresholds

2021/22 1.99% basic and 3% social care precept = 4.99%
2022/23 1.99% basic and 1% social care precept = 2.99%
With flexibility to carry an unused precept in 21/22 forward
into 22/23

Actual

2021/22 1.55% basic and 0% social care precept = 1.55%
2022/23 0.00% basic and 4% social care precept = 4.00%

Summary

2-year total threshold 7.98%
2-year actual increases 5.55%
Variance = 2.43%

Since 2022/23 the council has always increased its
council tax by the maximum assumed by government.

This increase in 2026/27 would generate an additional
£6.9m in resources which would assist the council in
addressing the challenges of the existential threat to the
council’s financial sustainability caused by the
accumulated and growing deficit on the Dedicated
Schools Grant (DSG) as pertaining to the high needs
block expenditure on Special Educational Needs and
Disability (SEND).

2.6 Please detail the previous history and

future assumptions for Council Tax decisions.
Please detail Council Taxsetting decisions over previous
financial years and the forecast assumption for future years.

Year CT increase Year CT increase
2025-26 4.99% 2026-27 4.99%
2024-25 4.99% 2027-28 4.99%
2023-24 4.99% 2028-29 4.99%
2022-23 % 2029-30 %

2.7 What measures are the Council proposing
to protect the most vulnerable through any
additional increase?

For example, please detail:

e Any plans through Council TaxReduction or similar.

Confirm whether there are any proposed changes to the
working age LCTS eligibilitythresholds (e.g.band caps,
savings orincome caps).

Continuation of the councils

80% Council Tax Support (reduction) scheme.
Section 13a discretionary policy

Discretionary housing payments to meet
shortfalls in rent

Crisis and Resilience Fund

3

335 Appendix 1



Mmi“nistry of Housing,

Communities &
Local Government

OFFICIAL

e Any proposalstointroduce /remove any discretionary
exemptions.

There are no plans to change the working age LCTS
eligibility threshold.

2.8 Please describe any implication(s) if a
Council Taxincrease above referendum
principles was not available?

For example, would this necessitate anincrease to

capitalisation support, MRP costs etc and what is the impact
across the MTFP.

If we do not get the council tax flexibility, we would
request a £6.9m capitalisation direction as set out in
section 2.

2.9 Council Tax supporting information —

please detail:

e CurrentBand D income.

e The total amountof Council Taxincome raised byan
additional 1%

e Council Tax taxbase growth

£1,855.41 Current 2025/26 Band D
£2.8m  Amount generated by an additional 1%
increase
151,574 Council Tax Taxbase 2025/26
152,458 Council Tax Taxbase 2026/27
884 Taxbase growth 25/6 to 26/7 = 0.6%

SECTION 3: Current Financial Position and Medium-Term Financial Plan

A summary of the Council’s current / medium-term financial position, recent history and assessment of any

alternatives to financial support

3.1 Please detail the current financial year’s
budget requirement.

To include the current financial year’s budget (net revenue

expenditure using the Revenue Outturn return methodology)
and the agreed level of Council Tax.

Net revenue expenditure £367.517m
In-year Council Tax o
increase 4.99%

3.2 What is the latest forecast in-year financial
position from the Council’s most recent
budget monitor.

To include the projected outturn position for the current
financial year and if an overspend is forecast, how is the
Council planning to fund the overspend.

Please summarise the overall position and any key
(under)overspends againstcore service areas and include
up-to-date Medium Term Financial Plan projections (with
supporting background aboutthe MTFP’s key assumptions
i.e. inflation, interest, future Council Tax increases etc.).

Attached as Doc1. Is the council’s quarter two budget
monitoring report for 2025/26. This indicates the council
was forecasting that it’s in-year predicted overspend
would be £4.2m.

Early indications from the quarter three report due to be
presented to Cabinet on the 3 February 2026 is that the
overspend will have grown to £5.2m

3.3 Please detail the current year’s agreed
savings target and performance against those
targets — including the savings deliveryrecord

in previous years.

To include any performance tracking and any savings
slippage; to clearly identify savings totals rolled on from
previous years; and the savings delivery record over the
previous 3 financial years.

As set out in the savings monitoring section of Doc1 the
council is expected to deliver at least 90% of the 2025/26
assumed £9.6m savings in-year with only £0.1m
ultimately unachievable.

3.4 Please detail the current Medium-Term
Financial Plan forecast and include the key
assumptions that underpin this.

To include the Council’s assessmentand key planning
assumptions e.g.grantallocations, National Insurance
contributions, National Living Wage, council tax, inflation,
funding reform etc.

Current Medium-Term Financial Plan:

e Doc2. Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) Update
report to Cabinet on 17 December 2025 includes as
Figure 4 key assumptions.

Key assumptions:

e Doc3. Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) Update
report to Cabinet on the 29 October 2025 with
specific reference to Doc3. Appendix C which
provides further details of the key assumptions.

336

4

Appendix 1



M‘i“nistry of Housing,
Communities &

Local Government

OFFICIAL

3.5 Has the Council sought any independent
assurance of its current financial position
and/or obtained any benchmarking analysis?
Please provide details ofany completed /ongoing
independentassurance and ifavailable, links to published
reports (e.g. CIPFA, LGA peerreview, external consultancy).
Additionally, if possible, please share anyinformation about
how the Council benchmarks againstits peers.

Doc2 and Doc 3 provide benchmarking comparisons in
respect of unearmarked reserves, council tax base,
council tax requirements, council tax levels, and debt.

Annual CFO Financial Resilience Index for CFQO’s
Previously has undertaken extensive internal

benchmarking however in future considering using Grant
Thornton’s CFO'’s insights tool.

3.6 Please outline what actions the Council
has already implemented to mitigate

pressures in-year.
For example, further savings identification, transformation,
spend controls, repurposing reserves etc.

Doc4. Details the implementation on of a freeze on all
nonessential expenditure and a vacancy freeze from 1
October 2025.

Doc4. Appendix 4a to Appendix 4d details individual
senvice led mitigation strategies.

Doc1. Details the November Quarter 2 in-year budget
monitoring report for 2025/26 requested the council’s
senior leadership team and portfolio holders consider
what further action can now be taken to ensure the actual
financial outturn is within the Council approved budget for
2025/26, including bringing forward any planned savings
already approved by Council for 2026/27 that can be
delivered early.

3.7 In recent years, what notable key
decisions has the Council taken to maintain a

balanced position.

Considering the previous two financial years, please provide
a summaryof key decisions to maintain a balanced position
in recentyears e.g. assetsales, efficiencies / cuts to service
provision, capital spend reduction, sales, fees and charges
increases, transformation etc.

Programme of savings, efficiencies, additional income
generation and senice reductions (this includes
transformation and invest to save based savings).

e £34m 2023/24

e £38m 2024/25

e £9.6m 2025/26

Implementation of the 100% second homes premium from
the 1 April 2025, which was estimated to generate
£9,340m in support of the 2025/26 budget.

3.8 Does the Council have an alternative
option to EFS and / or an additional Council
Tax increase?

Please describe the impactif EFS or an additional Council

Tax increase was notavailable and any likelyimmediate next
steps.

Not without an announcement from government of
guaranteed support for its historic and accruing DSG
deficit.

SECTION 4: Key Services, Transformation, Fair Funding and Other Financial Pressures
A summary of the current position of services, plans for transformation, assessment of funding reform and any other

financial pressures

Core Services

4.1 On core services, what are the key adverse
variances against agreed budgets and have

these variances been arecurring pressure?

Please include:

e Asummaryofthe Council’s core service variances listed
by the mostsignificantpressure and key drivers of those
pressures (e.g.demand pressures, staffresourcing).

e [f applicable, ahistoryof variances from previous
financial years.

e Details ofany growth included in service budgets for the
current financial year as well as the last3 financial years
growth and outturn.

e Toinclude any details ofrecent judgements on services
from Ofsted and / or the CQC.

Doc.5 presents the councils position in regard to its
expenditure on SEND and the consequential increase in
its Dedicated Schools Grant Deficit as follows

£63.5m 31 March 2024 Actual
£113.3m 31 March 2025 Actual
£183.1m 31 March 2026 Actual

At the current rate of growth the deficit will be over £350m
by 31 March 2028

Judgements

337

5
Appendix 1



Ministry of Housing,
Communities &
Local Government

OFFICIAL

Children’s Senvices were rated “Good” by Ofsted in
December 2024 which was a marked improvement from
the 2021 “inadequate” rating

Additionally, the council is hopeful that it will receive
positive feedback on the following external inspections
carried out in November and December 2025.

e Adult Social Care assessment by the Care Quality
Commission.

e BCP Homes by the Social Housing Regulator.

e Special Educational Needs and Disability by Ofsted
(previously received a Statutory Improvement
Direction).

4.2 How do the Council’s key services
benchmark against peers?

If available, please share anybackground information or
analysis ofthe Council’s performance for services relative to
peers (e.g. costs,demand efc.)i.e. statistical nearest
neighbours orgeographical.

Transformation

4.3 Please detail the Council’s current

Transformation Programme.

Please provide summarydetails ofthe Council’s current
approach to transformation, its objectives, how it aligns with
the Corporate Plan, pace for delivery and forecastbenefits.

Please attach any relevant documentation about anyplans
for transformation.

Key benchmarking is as set out in section 3.5 including
the CIPFA Financial Resilience Index which it is assume
MHCLG will have access to.

Doc7. Is the first draft of an appendix which the council
will include in its 2026/27 budget report (so not yet public)
which sets out how it wishes to use the Flexible Use of
Capital Receipts flexibility to fund its transformation and
invest to save programmes.

4.4 What plans are currently in place or being
developed to help return the Council to a
sustainable position?

Programme and Project Management Team lead
approach to senvice transformation and invest to save
programmes

Lead Member for performance (ex-Newton Consulting
employee) with a focus on Children’s and Adult Senvices

4.5 Has the Council implemented any
additional layers of scrutiny or support
around its improvement or recovery
programme ?

For example, how is progress againstthe improvementor
recovery programme assessed, has the Council
implemented/considered anindependentboard etc.

Children’s Senies Owveniew and Scrutiny Board looking
at DSG deficit and drilling down into social car budgets.

SEND Improvement Board including DfE advisor

High Needs Recowery Board

4.6 Has any external support been
commissioned to assist transformation
activity?

For example, please detail any external supportfor demand
led services — adult/ children’s services, SEND and/ or
temporaryaccommodation.

As part of the council’s local government review journey
the council were supported in its transformation journey
by KPMG and at of the 31 March 2026 it spent £39m

delivering an annual net revenue saving of £35m (£50m
saving less £15m annual licensing and financing costs).

Newton’s supporting transformation across the council
and NHS partners.

Starting procurement for SEND transport — Edge provided
work to support Council approved Business Case.

Consultants have been used to support the development
of the council’s waste strategy.

6

338 Appendix 1



MTnistry of Housing, OFFICIAL
Communities &

Local Government

4.7 EFS ONLY: Do you currently forecast a

need for EFS in future years? If the council were to receive the council tax flexibility,
Please include an assessmentaboutany future EFS then the answer would be no. Without the flexibility and
requirement—including forecastEFS and its end point. with a £6.9m capitalisation direction for 2026/27 the

answer is maybe.

Fair Funding

4.8 Fair Funding Review: Has the Council Doc6. Is an excel summary document which
modelled the impact of the Fair Funding demonstrates BCP Council will be receiving almost £6m
Review following the 2026-27 to 2028-29 less cash in 2028/29 than it is actually receiving in
policy statement? Please include your 2025/26.

assessment.

A position is made worse by the fact that under the
Please also include anyadditional uncertainties and/or any | Previous formula the council W0U|d_ have t?een assuming
questions following the policystatement. these resources would have been increasing especially
the specific Social Care grants.

National models of the potential impact of the model, prior
to the change in the Secretary of State, were not as
severe as set out in the eventual provisional 2026/27
settlement.

Other Financial Pressures

4.9 Does the Council have a Dedicated
Schools Grant deficit?

To include asummaryofthe current DSG deficitposition e.g. | See table provided in 4.1
forecastposition, details of Safety Valve agreement or deficit
managementplan as partof Delivering Better Value, any
related cash flow pressures due to servicing DSG costs.
4.10 Does the Council have any acute
pressures related to the Housing Revenue
Account? No
For example, costs of maintenance and repairs, the decency
of stock etc.

4.11 Does the Council have any potential or
pending issues with equal pay claims or other
claims that could result in revenue pressure
requiring financial support?

For example, if would be helpful to understand anyindicative
quantum foran equal pay claim, the plan to deal with costs,
any likely timings and whetheranycosts fall to otherareas
(DSG, HRAefc).

No

We are aware that claims can be of a sensitive nature and
can arrange a separate discussion ifneeded.

4.12 Please include any other additional
financial pressures not detailed above.

SECTION 5: Current Resources
A summary assessment of current resources and planned future use

5.1 What is the Council’s current forecast Unringfenced reserves

N/a

useable reserves position. | 2024.25 2025-26 Forecast:
To detail both general fund balance and earmarked reserves (at31 March | (at31 March 2026-27
that are not ringfenced (using the Revenue Outturn 2024) 2025) (at %z'\gar‘?h
methodologyi.e.lines 916 unallocated financial reserves and (Em) (£m) )

e[ (£Em)
915 other earmarked reserves (inc.line 1026 for other il
earmarked reserves — budgetstabilisation)). Unallocated

financial

Please include commentaryaboutany movementfrom the reserves
previous financial year, forecast year-end position and Other

headline assessmentfrom the S151 Officer’'s mostrecent Earmarked
s.25 statement. reserves

7
339 Appendix 1



Ministry of Housing,
Communities &
Local Government

OFFICIAL

- of which
budget £0 £0 £0
stabilisation

o Generally, the current Political Administration have
been focussed on restoring the financial health of
BCP Council through traditional and conventional
approaches to local government finance. This has
included increasing unearmarked reserves from the
£17.9m they stood on 31 March 2023.

e The increase in earmarked reserves as of the 31
March 2025 generally reflects a number of grants
allocated in the final quarter of 2025/26 where the
expenditure could not be delivered/commissioned in
the short period of time after their announcement and
which accounting regulations require to be carried
forward via reserves.

5.2 Please provide an earmarked reserves

breakdown
Please include aline-by-line assessmentofearmarked
reserves and specifye.g.:

balances).
o Whatbalances are held for risk mitigation purposes.

—including ASC Live Debt from fees and charges.

e Whatbalances are held for a contractual purpose orare
ringfenced under statute (e.g. Schools and Public Health

o Whatbalances are held for internallyearmarked projects

Doc.1 Appendix B sets out the analysis of the councils
earmarked reserves as published as part of the Quarter 2
Budget Monitoring report for 2026/27.

5.3 What is the Council’s currentlevel of

use.

and a summaryofany plans to generate future capital
receipts.

complete and up-to- date assetregister.

available capital receipts and plans for future

To include currentlevels of capital receipts, planned usage

Please attach any existing documents /reports e.g. on asset
disposal plans etc. and to confirm whetherthe Council has a

Doc?7. Is the first draft of an appendix which the council
will include in its 2026/27 budget report (so not yet public)
which sets out how it wishes to use the Flexible Use of
Capital Receipts flexibility to fund its transformation and
invest to save programmes.

assets and financial assets — to include:
e The total value of current assets.

saleable (e.g. operational and non-liquid assets)
e Whether you have recentexternal assurance on the
value of your assetbase and potential disposal

5.4 Please provide a summary of non-current

e Your assessmentofwhatis technicallysaleable /non-

PPE (inc £2,087
heritage)
Investment
Property £72
Intangible £0
Long Term £0
Investments
Long Term
Debtors £25
Total Non £2.184
Current
St Investments £0
Assets Held for £4
Sale
Inventories £1
ST Debtors £103
Cashand Cash £17
Eq
£125

340

8

Appendix 1



MTnistry of Housing, OFFICIAL
Communities &

Local Government

Limited opportunity to dispose of assets as generally they
have been being sold to awid the draw down of the
indicative £20m capitalisation direction in 2022/23 and to
fund the councils previous and future transformation and
invest to save costs.

5.5 Debt and financial assets: please list total | Current outstanding borrowing

current outstanding borrowing split by PWLB,

q - . Inter LA

inter local authority loans, and other. Maturity (£m)

For example, PWLB, external finance agreements, inter-local structure

authority borrowing, breakdown of borrowing at <1year £0

HRA/Certainty Rate etc. and to include short-term and long- 2—5years £0 £0 £0

term borrowing. ?/;2;;5 £189 £0 £58
TOTAL £189 £181 £58

e As at 30 November 2025

Loans to third parties
In addition, please listall currentloans to third parties Subsidiaries Associates and Other
(including other local authorities) splitby loans to (£m) joint ventures companies
subsidiaries, associates and jointventures and other (Em) (Em)
companies. £0 £3.7 £0

SECTION 6: Other Information

6.1 What are the key internal milestones /
deadlines for local budget setting? 23 January 2026 Budget report is released into public
Please detail any key budgetsetting dates / times e.g. domain

budget Cabinet, Full Council budget meeting etc.
2 February 2026 - Oveniew & Scrutiny Board

4 February 2026 — Cabinet

10 February 2026 — Council

6.2 On external audit — please confirm:

e The Council’s current’s progress on the completion
of previous years accounts.
o Toinclude whetherthose accounts are audited

Final Audited 2024/25 Statement of Accounts to be
presented to Audit & Governance Committee on the 15

or the current plans for any outstanding January 2026.
accounts to be audited.
. Have external auditors issued any statutory All previous years filed and audited as per backstop
recommendations or a Public Interest Report arrangements.

against the Council in the past 5 years.

O Ifso,hasthe Councilissuedaresponseand/ | No Statutory Recommendations issued.
or developed an action plan for any
recommended actions.

6.3 Any further information
Please use this section to add any further supporting None.
information notdetailed in the sections above.

SECTION 7: FOR EXISTING EFS COUNCILS ONLY

7.1 Following receipt of EFS, what actions
have been taken in response to the
recommendations from external assurance
and how does the Council plan to returnto a N/a

sustainable position.

Please detail the progress made againstanyrecommended
actions following external assurance and the plan to return to
sustainable medium-term position.

9
341 Appendix 1



MTnistry of Housing, OFFICIAL
Communities &
Local Government

7.2 For any previous existing capitalisation
directions please confirm:

The total amountof capitalised borrowing and / or capital
receipts by financial year.

Additionally, if applicable, please confirm anycapitalised N/a
borrowing thatattracted the historic 1% borrowing
premium.

The amountof Minimum Revenue Provision paid forany
capitalised borrowing.

Please return your completed proforma as soon as possible.

e Wewill continue to work with you throughout the process and for any additional
questions, please email LAFinancialRisk@communities.gov.uk.

On next steps...

e Weunderstand the financial position will remain iterative, and you will want to revise
your request following the provisional Local Government Finance Settlement. We will
write to you again shortly after this point to confirm the updated position and any
changes.

¢ In previous years, decisions on any support have closely followed the final Local
Government Finance Settlement. We aim to work with councils to support them ahead
of their Full Council budget setting meetings, delivering their budgets and meeting
statutory deadlines.

10

342 Appendix 1


mailto:LAFinancialRisk@communities.gov.uk

Chief Executive’s Office
BCP Council

BCP Civic Centre

Bourne Avenue
Bournemouth BH2 6DY

Mr Nico Heslop Date: 5 December 2025
Director of Local Government Finance - MHCLG Our Ref: AD/ER
Sent via email : Nico.Heslop@communities.qov.uk Contact: Aidan Dunn
Email: aidan.dunn@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Dear Nico,

Subject: Request for Council Tax flexibility

Thank you for your email to our Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer, Adam Richens, on Monday
1 December outlining the exceptional financial support and council tax flexibility processes and criteria.

I am writing to you to set out BCP Council’s desire to raise our council tax by an additional 2.43% above
the 4.99% maximum to manage considerable financial risk and avoid seeking exceptional financial
support.

We fit your criteria for this flexibility. If we increase our council tax by the currently permitted 4.99%
increase in 2026/27 our residents will being paying £1,947.99 compared to the £2,060 assumed national
average now being estimated by government. By adding a further 2.43%, we would generate an extra
£7m per annum which would help us address the critical financial risks we are facing. This amount is
equivalent to the difference between the maximum threshold for council tax and that actually set by the
previous BCP Council administration in 2021/22 and 2022/23. It would therefore bring us closer to the
national average, although still below it.

Since becoming BCP Council in 2019, we have worked hard to produce a balanced medium term
financial plan that builds the sustainable financial foundations needed to deliver for our residents. We
have worked closely with government to do this, including implementing all the improvements identified
in a Best Value Notice within 12 months in 2023/24. We have completed a root and branch
Transformation programme and worked with various political administrations to identify and implement
over £127m in annual savings over the last six years. We have been transparent about this work and
have taken responsibility for managing our expenditure and demand.

But after the recent policy statement and last week’s budget announcement, we have reached breaking
point. We had a plan to manage our financial environment, but our modelling of the effect of the Fair
Funding review has, compared to our previous estimates, added an additional £2m pressure to our
budget gap for next year which grows to an extra circa £15m per annum by year three of the settlement
period.

This is at a time when we were already struggling to balance next year’s budget, and it leaves us with
having to identify around £9m to set a balanced budget for 2026/27. To put this funding gap into context,
the interest costs that the general fund is predicted to have to cover in 2026/27 on its Special
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) accumulating Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficit is
estimated to be around £10m.

Our Cabinet and the senior management team have already taken difficult decisions to focus on savings
and efficiencies in non-statutory services and to look at how to deliver statutory services on less
resource. We are already at minimum service levels across our operations and conducting major
transformation programmes in our Adults and Children’s Services. | can reassure you that we have taken
a proactive, committed and thorough approach to spending within our means.

Appendix 2
343



Yet despite this, with the new funding formular, growing costs and increasing demand, we are predicting
a cumulative £29m annual budget gap by 2028/29. This includes recognition that our accumulated DSG
deficit is already greater than our total general fund reserves (both unearmarked and earmarked).

We are therefore facing significant local financial difficulty because of issues beyond our control — the
national SEND system challenges and the Fair Funding review, plus demand and inflationary costs.
While we are doing all we can to manage these ourselves, increasing our council tax is the remaining
means to manage critical financial risk without entering Exceptional Financial Support.

Yours sincerely,

Aidan Dunn
Chief Executive

Cc Councillor Millie Earl — Leader of BCP Council
Adam Richens — Director of Finance/Sec. 151 Officer

Appendix 2
A4



CABINET

Agenda ltem 9

BCP

Council

Report subject

Pokesdown Railway Station

Meeting date

11 February 2026

Status

Public Report

Executive summary

On 11 January 2022, the Council approved a contribution of up to
£2.6m towards the Pokesdown Railway Station Improvement
Project.

The original scope was expected to include replacement, or
upgrade of the station building, a new forecourt with interchange
facilities, CCTV and help point improvements, seating and shelter
improvements in addition to converting the existing lift shafts to
passenger use and repairing and painting the footbridge and
canopies (all subject to available budget).

The project has not been delivered, detailed timescales and costs
are undetermined, and the expected scope has been reduced to
the lifts and canopies over the platforms only. At the same time, the
cost of borrowing has increased.

In consideration of the above a recommendation is sought from
Cabinet regarding the council commitment to the project.

Recommendations

Itis RECOMMENDED that:

a. Cabinetrecommends to Council withdrawal of the offer
of a £2.6m contribution to the Pokesdown Railway
Station Improvements project.

Reason for
recommendations

1. Approval for the contribution was 4 years ago. The annual
repayment for borrowing the contribution has increased
from £140k per year in 2022 to over £195k per year in 2026.
This means that a total of £9.75m would now be paid by the
council across the next 50 years if it continues to part fund
the project.

2. Supporting the project would create a £55k per year
additional pressure for the cost of borrowing. Withdrawing
the council’s financial contribution to this project would
therefore in-effect create a £195k per year saving helping
the council to safeguard statutory (essential) services.

3. The proposed scope of the project has reduced.

345




4. As of January 2026, whilst there has been email
correspondence stating that the total budget has been
increased there is no firm assurance from partners that the
project is deliverable within the available budget.

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Mike Cox — Deputy Leader of the Council, Vice-Chair of

Cabinet and Cabinet Member for Finance

Councillor Andy Hadley — Cabinet Member for Climate Response,
Environment and Energy

Councillor Richard Herrett — Cabinet Member for Destination,
Leisure & Commercial Operations

Corporate Director Glynn Barton — Chief Operations Officer

Report Authors Richard Pincroft — Head of Transport and Sustainable Travel

Claire Clark — LTP & Capital Programme Manager

Wards Council-wide
Classification For Decision and Information
Background
1. The provision of lifts at Pokesdown Station was one of the obligations in South-

Western Railways (SWR) 2017 franchise agreement with the Department of
Transport (DfT). Subsequent detailed surveys of the existing lift shafts indicated
however that their conversion to passenger use to the latest standards would be
significantly more complex and expensive than originally envisaged.

SWR'’s 2017 franchise agreement was replaced by a new National Rail Contract with
the Department of Transport (DfT) in May 2021. This reconfirmed a funding
contribution from SWR towards the provision of lifts at the station, subject to third
party funding being confirmed to meet any shortfall.

The estimated total cost for the works in November 2021 was £5.7m with the SWR
and Network Rail (NR) committed to funding £3.1m between them.

On 11 January 2022 the Council approved a Cabinet recommendation from the 24
November 2021 meeting for an allocation of up to £2.6m from BCP’s Future Fund for
improvements to Pokesdown Railway Station through a jointly agreed financial
arrangement with Southwestern Railway (SWR) and NR effectively addressing the
identified shortfall.

The original scope was expected to include replacement, or upgrade of the station
building, a new forecourt with interchange facilities, CCTV and help point
improvements, seating and shelter improvements in addition to converting the
existing lift shafts to passenger use and repairing and painting the footbridge and
canopies (all subject to available budget). This was all set out in the Business Case
in Appendix 1 and advised that the benefit cost ratio (BCR) for delivering the above

346




10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

would be 2.46 (high) compared to just delivering the lifts which would be 0.88 (poor)
at 2021 costs.

The focus of the investment was to provide access benefits to all users at the station,
particularly for wheelchair users and any persons with limited mobility through the
delivery of operational lifts from street level down to the platforms. There would also
be benefits for many others, for example persons with large or heavy luggage and
young children.

The Business Case contained no details regarding how many disabled passengers
would use the station if the lifts were installed, it just advised that there were typically
350,000 entries and exits per year.

Between April 2024 and March 2025 there were 377,104 entries and exits at
Pokesdown Railway Station compared to 2,664,456 at Bournemouth and 965,090 at
Poole. The station has not been considered a high priority for NR’s Access for All
funding due to a combination the low usage compared to other stations nationally
and the station not being an interchange.

In 2023, following completion of the outline design for the scheme, the estimated cost
of the works had risen beyond the available £5.7m budget. During 2023/24 an
additional £1.0m of funding was earmarked for the project by SWR/NR increasing the
budget to £6.7m.

Conceding that removing and replacing the lift shafts completely alongside the other
improvements was not an affordable option, SWR/NR decided to revisit refurbishing
the existing lift shafts to reduce costs.

In Spring 2025, structural testing of the existing lift shafts proved that they could be
strengthened and refurbished. During summer/autumn 2025 an outline design was
developed and a cost estimate undertaken indicating that the cost of the revised
scheme was £7.19m.

To try and bring the scheme back within the available budget of £6.7m, SWR/NR
descoped more items and sourced additional funding to overcome the £490k deficit.
The updated scope would just comprise the lifts, works to the platforms to provide
safe access to and from the lifts and a canopy to cover the platform between the lifts
and the existing main canopies.

In November 2025, there was a further update from SWR/NR informing the council
that due to a complication with the lift mechanism specification there would need to
be a redesign of the structure to accommodate the motor housing and therefore
there would be a 5-month delay completing the design.

At the end of November 2025 officers updated the Cabinet leads for the programme
and given the time that has passed since the initial approval of the contribution, lack
of progress by SWR/NR over the past 4 years it requested that the future
commitment to the project be debated at Cabinet and Council.

Options discussed were as follows:

347



Option description

Outcome/notes

1 £2.6m - contribution in line Subject to NR/SWR managing the project
with January 2022 Council within budget could lead to the delivery of the
Decision lifts from 2027 onwards.

£195k per year pay back

2 £1.85m - reduced Unlikely that NR/SWR would source an
contribution to offset the additional £750k. Not possible to reduce scope
council incurring increased to create deliverable option within budget,
costs due of inflation hence, scheme would be deferred by
between 2022 and 2026 NR/SWR.

£140k per year pay back
3 £0 — withdraw capital Project not deliverable unless NR/SWR or DfT
contribution. fund. Council to continue to offer officer
resource to work with NR/SWR to develop a
future Access for All application.
£0 per year pay back
16. In response to a repeated request from the council at progress meetings for

assurance that the project is still deliverable owing to the reported estimate of costs
exceeding the available budget, on 19 December 2025 the SWR Regional
Development Manager wrote via email to the council advising:

SWR has allocated a further £0.273m from the current financial year to progress
the redesign for the new lift technology bringing the total budget to £7.023m.

Network Rail remain confident that the scheme can be delivered within the
original £6.75m budget despite the change of lift technology.

there are in practice four risk pots:

o NRrisk allowance set out in Quantitative Cost Risk Assessment — £495k

o Contractor risk pot for contractor owned risk values - £334k

o Network Rail Fee Fund — each scheme pays a % fee into the overall
national fund as a form of insurance and the costs for Pokesdown are
included in the estimated costs

o Industry Risk Fund

The Industry Risk Fund and Network Rail Fee Fund, the Risk Funds, are as set out in

the Office of Rail Regulation ‘Investment Framework Consolidated Guidelines’

October 2022. The guidelines identify risk allocation for rail industry schemes, and
that these funds will allow the cost of certain events to be met that would otherwise
fall to the promoter of an enhancement scheme and so without them would pose a
barrier to investment in the rail network.

The Risk Funds have been developed to contribute towards the funding of

contractual liabilities and rail industry systemic risk. The funds are applied to
schemes promoted by 3rd parties. 3rd parties pay a small percentage of the total

348



value of their project into the Risk Funds that then gives access to the whole fund
should a risk materialise that meets the criteria for settlement from the funds.

The Network Rail Risk fee is designed to cover Network Rail’'s potential liabilities
when delivering enhancement works and services for third parties (e.g. Network Rail
default). The Industry Risk Fee covers the liabilities taken by Network Rail for low-
probability, high impactindustry risks such as the impact of an operational
emergency elsewhere on the network which adversely affects a scheme.

17. The email also requested that the BCP legal team be mobilised to ensure
engagement between it and SWR legal team ahead of April 2026 when SWR expect
the final costs to be confirmed. This is to ensure contracts are approved and signed
to enable expedient mobilisation thereby avoiding increased costs because of delay.

Summary of financial implications

18. The annual repayment for borrowing the contribution has increased from £140k per
year in 2022 to over £195k per year in 2026. This means that a total of £9.75m would
be paid by the council across the next 50 years if it continues to part fund the project.

19. Supporting the project would create a £55k per year additional pressure due to the
increased cost of borrowing. Withdrawing the council’s financial contribution to this
project would resultin a £140k per year saving helping the council to safeguard
statutory (essential) services.

20. The council Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) currently has £116k allocated to
the Pokesdown Station Railway Projectin 2027/28. The reason for this being less
than £140Kk is that not all the borrowing would be incurred during year 1 of the
construction phase. This means in the context of the MTFP the actual saving ahead
of 2027/28 financial year would be £116k if funding for the project is withdrawn.
Conversely, if the £2.6m funding is not withdrawn and the project supported then
there would be a MTFP pressure of £79k in 2028/29. If the council committed to
£1.85m (as per Option 2), then then there would be a MTFP pressure of £24k in
2028/29.

21. The council understands that SWR/NR has spent at least £1.6m developing a design
for the delivery of lifts at Pokesdown. Included within this spend is the development
of outline design drawings in line with the business case appended in the 2021
Cabinet report that when costed were found to substantially over budget.

22. The Business Case in Appendix 1 of the November 2021 Cabinet report advised that
the benefit costratio (BCR) for just delivering the lifts would be 0.88 (poor) at 2021
costs.

Summary of legal implications

23. The Council is not contractually committed to the Pokesdown Railway Improvement
Project and may lawfully withdraw its offer of funding (of last resort). No legal
agreement has been entered into with SWR or NR and accordingly, withdrawal does
not give rise to contractual liability or compensation.

24. Any decision to support the project would require the Council to enter into a formal
legal agreement governing funding, delivery, risk allocation, and liability. The
decision to recommend withdrawal has been taken having regard to changed

349



financial circumstances, reduced project scope, uncertainty as to deliverability and
the Council’s fiduciary duty to safeguard public funds.

Summary of human resources implications

25. There are 2 x BCP officers engaging with SWR/NR monthly, hence, the impact on
resources is minimal.

26. If the council continues to support the project with the £2.6m contribution, then in the
coming year(s) more resource from legal and finance will be required to agree a
contract between the council and SWR/NR. This would be funded from the £2.6m
contribution.

27. If the council decides to withdraw the £2.6m contribution, then the officers could work
with SWR/NR to prepare an Access for All application for submission during future
application windows.

Summary of sustainability impact

28. The delivery of lifts at the station would undoubtedly increase the accessibility of the
station for some residents and visitors that are currently unable to do so and would
therefore encourage more sustainable travel.

29. Conversely withdrawal of the funding from the project could help to safeguard
statutory services.

Summary of public health implications

30. The delivery of lifts at the station would undoubtedly increase the accessibility of the
station for some residents and visitors and may therefore encourage them to walk or
wheel to the station improving their health.

31. Conversely withdrawal of the funding from the project could help to safeguard other
statutory (essential) services that could provide larger public health benefits.

Summary of equality implications

32. An EIA Screening is attached as Appendix A. In summary, the proposed withdrawal
of funding will have a future negative impact because it will delay the installation of
lifts for passengers that need to use them at the station until alternative funding can
be sourced.

Summary of risk assessment

33. No significant risk implications have been identified with regards to the withdrawal of
the contribution. There is still the potential for the project to go ahead if SWR/NR can
source the required funding from other sources.

Background papers

BCP Cabinet Report 24 November 2021

— report starts on page 117

BCP Cabinet meeting minutes 24 November 2021 - Minutes Template

BCP Council meeting minutes 11 January 2022: Minutes Template

Appendices
A — Equalities Impact Assessment Screening

350


https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g4838/Public%20reports%20pack%2024th-Nov-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g4838/Public%20reports%20pack%2024th-Nov-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s30017/Minutes%20of%20Previous%20Meeting.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s32375/Minutes%2011012022%20Council.pdf

Appendix A — Equalities Impact Assessment Screening

Equality Impact Assessment: Conversation Screening Tool

[Use this form to prompt an EIA conversation and capture the discussion. This completed
form or if needed, a full EIA report (form 3) will be published as part of the decision-making
process *Please delete prompts before publishing]

The Council is legally required by the Equality Act 2010 to evidence how it has considered
its equality duties in its decision-making process.
The Council must have due regard to the need to -
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited by or under this Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it;
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.
Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons who
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having
due regard, in particular, to the need to -
(a) remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
(b) take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
(c) encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is
disproportionately low.
A link to the full text of s149 of the Equality Act 2010 which must be considered when
making decisions.

1 | What is being reviewed? funding towards the Pokesdown Station Lift
Improvements

Impact of the withdrawal of BCP Councils £2.6m

What changes are being
made?

There could be no improvements (installation of lifts) at
the station in the short term to medium term (unless
funding is secured from other sources). This means that
there will be no change from the current situation at the
station.

3 | Service Unit:

Planning & Transport

Participants in the
conversation:

Claire Clark - LTP & Capital Programme Manager

Alexis Edwards — Transport Development Management
& Policy Manager

5 | Conversation date/s:

07/01/2026

6 | Do you know your current or

Passengers that are wishing to either catch a train from

351



https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/149

potential client base? Who are
the key stakeholders?

Pokesdown Station or alighting from a train at
Pokesdown Station and need lifts to be able to access
the platforms.

Do different groups have
different needs or
experiences?

Disability

The proposed withdrawal of the council funding will
mean that the current situation remains the same.
There will be no provision of lift access for passengers
that need them to use Pokesdown Station and this is
therefore considered a negative impact.

Socio-economic status
The proposed change will not affect the use of the
station from a gender perspective.

Gender
The proposed change will not affect the use of the
station from a gender perspective.

Age (young/old)

There will be no provision of lift access which could
benefit some younger and/or elderly passengers using
Pokesdown Station and this is therefore considered a
negative impact.

Pregnancy and Maternity

Pregnant women may be less mobile due to pregnancy
and/or due to the impact of having given birth and/or
sleep deprivation. This could arise at any time before,
during or after pregnancy including whilst on maternity
leave. There will be no provision of lift access for
passengers that need them to use Pokesdown Station
and this is therefore considered a negative impact.

Will this change affect any
service users?

The current facilities will remain the same for those
currently accessing the station e.g. requiring use of
stairs to alight/depart from the station.

This is therefore considered a negative impact.

If the answer to any of the questions above is ‘don’t know’ then you need to gather

more evidence.

10

What are the benefits or
positive equality impacts of
the change on current or
potential users?

There could be positive equality impacts on the
withdrawal of the council funding for the lifts as the
funding will be used to safeguard essential council
services that will benefit a larger number of residents
than those that would benefit from the council funding

352




the Pokesdown Station Lift Improvements.

11

What are the negative impacts
of the change on current or
potential users?

There will be no change to the facilities for current
passengers at Pokesdown Station. The negative impact
is that there will be no improvement in the provision of
lift facilities for those with mobility impairments and this
may discourage people with mobility impairments from
travelling by rail.

12

Will the change affect
employees?

No, unless they are mobility impaired and travel to work
via Pokesdown Station.

13

Will the change affect the
wider community?

There will likely be a positive impact on the wider
community as there will be more funding available for
essential council services that benefit a larger number
of residents than those that will benefit from the council
part funding the Pokesdown Station Lift Inprovements.

14

What mitigating actions are
planned or already in place for
those negatively affected by
this change?

There is still the opportunity for alternative funding to be
sourced by the rail operator, or government to progress
the lift improvements at the station at some point in the
future. The existing general arrangement will remain
the same.

15

Summary of Equality
Implications:

The proposed withdrawal of BCP Councils funding
towards Pokesdown Station Lift Improvements will have
a negative impact locally because there will be no
provision of lift access for passengers at the station.

The funding (when taking account of the interest
payments relating to the borrowing) if utilised towards
essential council services across the conurbation over a
number of years would likely benefit a larger number of
residents including those with protected characteristics.

1

353




This page is intentionally left blank

354



COUNCIL

Agenda Item 10

BCP

Council

Report subject

2026/27 Council Tax Resolution

Meeting date

24 February 2026

Status

Public Report

Executive summary

Under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 the council as the

billing authority must calculate a council tax requirement and basic
amount of council tax for the following year.

If the formal council tax resolution at Appendix A is approved the
BCP Council Band D council tax will be £1,980.46 from 1 April
2026.

Recommendations

It is RECOMMENDED that Council:

a) Approves the council tax resolution as setout in
Appendix A;

Reason for
recommendations

To enable the council to calculate and approve the council tax
requirement and amounts billed by BCP Council in 2026/27, and to
make the determination of excessiveness required by legislation.

Portfolio Holder(s):

Clir Mike Cox, Portfolio Holder for Finance

Report Author

Matthew Filmer - Assistant Chief Finance Officer

Wards

Council-wide

Classification

For Decision

Background

1.

This report reflects the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by the
Localism Act 2011 and modified by Part 4 of The Local Government (Structural
Changes) (Finance) Regulations 2008), which requires billing authorities to calculate
the council tax requirement and amounts to be charged from taxpayers for the

coming year.

The council tax resolution set out in Appendix A provides a schedule setting out the
rate of counciltax for each category of dwelling based on the council tax

355




requirement for BCP Council and the precepts to be levied by other major and local
preceptors.

Police and fire preceptors

3. The information from the police and fire precepting bodies is as follows:

a. On 6 February 2026 the Dorset Police and Crime Commissioner are
expected to set its precept at £49,187,546.79. This results in a Band D
council tax of £322.58.

b. On 10 February 2026 the Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Authority
are expected to set its precept at £14,783,100.82. This results in a Band
D council tax of £96.95.
Charter trustee, town, and parish precepts

4. Town and parish precepts are detailed in Appendix C and total £5,426,244.56.

Options appraisal

5. The 2026/27 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan report submitted to the 11
February 2026 Cabinet meeting sets out the potential options open to the council for
council tax.

Summary of financial implications

6. The council tax resolution as presented in the report will generate council tax of
£301,983,907.58 for BCP Council. This is in accordance with the budget as set out
in the 2026/27 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan report submitted to the 11
February 2026 Cabinet meeting.

Summary of legal implications

7. The council is required to set its council tax in accordance with the Local
Government Finance Act 1992 and the Local Government (Structural Changes)
(Finance) Regulations 2008. The formal council tax resolution at Appendix A
complies with these requirements.

Summary of human resources implications

8. There are no direct human resource implications of this report. However, the
2026/27 budget and medium-term financial plan will have a direct impact on the
level of services delivered by the council, the mechanisms by which those services
are delivered and the associated staffing establishment.

Summary of sustainability impact

9. Consideration has been given as part of the budget for 2026/27 of ways in which
BCP Council could be made more environmentally-friendly and how it could act as
an environmental ambassador towards others.

Summary of public health implications

10. None specifically related to this report.

356



Summary of equality implications

11. A full equality impact assessmentwas carried out as part of the budget process for
2026/27 and submitted to the 11 February 2026 Cabinet meeting.

Summary of risk assessment

12. The council tax resolution presented in this report will provide for the level of council
tax income required for the 2026/27 budget as presented to the 11 February 2026
Cabinet meeting.

13. Key risks to this budget include uncertainty around the government’s financial
planning framework where the core funding made available to local authorities
reduces while at the same time the demand for, and cost of, services continue to
rise. Changes to base budget assumptions are also possible due to changes in
demand or cost factors or the ongoing effects of the national pandemic.

Background papers

14. The 2026/27 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan report presented to the 11
February 2026 Cabinet meeting.

Appendices
Appendix A — Council tax resolution 2026/27

Appendix B — Basic council tax
Appendix C — Town and parish precepts

Appendix D — Council Tax Bands

357



Appendix A

Council Tax Resolution
The Council is recommended to resolve as follows:

1. It be noted that the council calculated the council tax base 2026/27

a. For BCP Council to be 152,481.7 and that this calculation was carried out in accordance
with Regulation 3 of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations
1992, as amended, made under Section 33(5) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992
(the Act)

b. For dwellings in those parts of its area to which a parish and town precept relates as in
the attached Appendix C.

2. That the council tax requirement for the council’'s own purposes for 2026/27 (excluding parish
and town precepts) as £301,983,907.58.

3. That the following amounts be calculated for the year 2026/27 in accordance with Sections 31
to 36 of the Act:

a. £985,308,833.60 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council estimates for the
items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act taking into account all precepts issuedto it by
parish councils.

b. £677,898,681.46 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council estimates for the
items set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act.

c. £307,410,152.14 being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above exceeds the
aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated by the council in accordance with Section 31A(4) of
the Act as its council tax requirement for the year. (ltem R in the formula in Section 31B of
the Act).

d. £2,016.05 being the amount at 3(c) above (ltem R), all divided by the ltem T (1(a) above),
calculated by the council, in accordance with Section 31B of the Act, as the basic amount
of council tax for the year (including parish precepts). Appendix B details basic council tax
by council area.

e. £35.59 being the aggregate amount of all special items (parish, and town council
precepts) referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act (£5,426,244.56 as per the attached
Appendix C) divided by the tax base 152,481.7 calculated as ltem T in the formula in
section 31B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

f. £1,980.46 being the amount at 3(d) above less the amount at 3(e) above, calculated by
the council, in accordance with Section 34(s) of the Act, as the basic amount of its council
tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which no parish precept relates.

4. To note that the Dorset Police and Crime Commissioner and the Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and
Rescue Authority have issued precepts to the council in accordance with Section 40 of the
Local Government Finance Act 1992 for each category of dwellings in the council's area as

358



indicated in the table below. The BCP Council charge also includes a precept specifically for
Adult Social Care shown in the table below:

Preceptsissued by major precepting authorities:

Band Band Band Band Band Band Band Band
A B C D E F G H
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Dorset Police and Crime Commissioner 215.05 250.90 286.74 322.58 394.26 465.95 537.63 645.16
Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Authority 64.63 75.41 86.18 96.95 118.49 140.04 161.58 193.90
BCP Council [ 1,320.31 [ 1,540.36 ‘ 1,760.41 ‘ 1,980.46 ‘ 2,420.56 ‘ 2,860.66 ‘ 3,300.77 ‘ 3,960.92

5. That it be noted for the year 2026/27 parish and town councils have stated the amount of
precept for Band D properties as set out in Appendix C, issued to the Council in accordance
with Section 41 of the Act (as amended by the Charter Trustees Regulations 1996 and the
Localism Act 2011).

6. That the council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act

1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown in the tables below as the amounts of
council tax for 2026/27 for each part of its area and for each of the categories of dwellings.

Aggregate amounts of council tax:

Band Band Band Band Band Band Band Band

A B [} D E F G H
Location £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Bournemouth 1,619.64 1,889.59 2,159.53 2,429.46 2,969.33 3,509.22 4,049.10 4,858.92
Bournemouth - Throop and Holdenhurst 1,626.46 1,897.55 2,168.62 2,439.69 2,981.83 3,523.99 4,066.15 4,879.38
Christchurch Town 1,649.62 1,924.57 2,199.50 2,474.43 3,024.29 3,574.17 4,124.05 4,948.86
Burton Parish 1,612.27 1,881.00 2,149.70 2,418.41 2,955.82 3,493.26 4,030.68 4,836.82
Hurn Parish 1,624.30 1,895.03 2,165.74 2,436.45 2,977.87 3,519.31 4,060.75 4,872.90
Highcliffe and Walkford 1,622.50 1,892.93 2,163.34 2,433.75 2,974.57 3,515.41 4,056.25 4,867.50
Poole 1,621.70 1,891.99 2,162.27 2,432.55 2,973.11 3,513.68 4,054.25 4,865.10
Broadstone 1,640.22 1,913.60 2,186.97 2,460.33 3,007.06 3,553.81 4,100.55 4,920.66

7. The Council's basic amount of council tax for 2026/27 is not excessive in accordance with the
principles approved under 52ZB of the Act.

359



09¢

Basic council tax

Appendix B

Band Band Band Band Band Band Band Band

A B C D E F G H

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Christchurch Town Council 1,649.62 1,924.57 2,199.50 2,474.43 3,024.29 3,574.17 4,124.05 4,948.86
Burton Parish 1,612.27 1,881.00 2,149.70 2,418.41 2,955.82 3,493.26 4,030.68 4,836.82
Hurn Parish 1,624.30 1,895.03 2,165.74 2,436.45 2,977.87 3,519.31 4,060.75 4,872.90
Highcliffe and Walkford 1,622.50 1,892.93 2,163.34 2,433.75 2,974.57 3,515.41 4,056.25 4,867.50
Throop and Holdenhurst 1,626.46 1,897.55 2,168.62 2,439.69 2,981.83 3,523.99 4,066.15 4,879.38
Bournemouth Town 1,619.64 1,889.59 2,159.53 2,429.46 2,969.33 3,509.22 4,049.10 4,858.92
Poole Town 1,621.70 1,891.99 2,162.27 2,432.55 2,973.11 3,513.68 4,054.25 4,865.10
Broadstone Town 1,640.22 1,913.60 2,186.97 2,460.33 3,007.06 3,553.81 4,100.55 4,920.66




T9€E

Town and parish precepts

Appendix C

2025/26 2026/27
Precept Tax Base | Band D Precept Tax Base | Band D
£ £ £ £
Christchurch Town £932,197.56 12,885.0 £72.35| £966,988.54 12,989.4| £74.44
Burton Parish £29,429.00 1,666.2 £17.66 £30,017.00 1,629.4| £18.42
Hurn Parish £9,483.82 271.8 £34.89 £9,834.02 269.7| £36.46
Highcliffe and Walkford £224,000.00 6,816.3 £32.86| £231,735.00 6,865.0/ £33.76
Throop and Holdenhurst £12,090.00 312.2 £38.73 £12,160.00 306.3] £39.70
Bournemouth Charter Trustee £151,712.50 67,763.4 £2.24
Bournemouth Town £1,981,980.00 67,246.3| £29.47
Poole Charter Trustee £132,323.75 61,833.5 £2.14
Poole Town £1,896,970.00 58,261.0| £32.56
Broadstone £296,560.00 4,914.6 £60.34
Total £1,491,236.63| 151,548.4 £5,426,244.56| 152,481.7
By council tax bands
Band Band Band Band Band Band Band Band
A B C D F G H
£ £ £ £ £ £ £
Christchurch Town Council 49.63 57.90 66.17 74.44 90.98 107.52 124.07 148.88
Burton Parish 12.28 14.33 16.37 18.42 22.51 26.61 30.70 36.84
Hurn Parish 24.31 28.36 32.41 36.46 44.56 52.66 60.77 72.92
Highcliffe and Walkford Neighbourhood Council 22.51 26.26 30.01 33.76 41.26 48.76 56.27 67.52
Throop and Holdenhurst 26.47 30.88 35.29 39.70 48.52 57.34 66.17 79.40
Bournemouth Town 19.65 22.92 26.20 29.47 36.02 42.57 49.12 58.94
Poole Town 21.71 25.32 28.94 32.56 39.80 47.03 54.27 65.12
Broadstone 40.23 46.93 53.64 60.34 73.75 87.16 100.57 120.68




Council Tax Bands 2026/27

Appendix D

Ctax Ctax Change
2025/26 2026/27 2026/27
£ £ %
Christchurch Area
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41| £1,980.46 6.74%
Dorset Police and Crime Commissioner £307.58 £322.58 4.88%
Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Authority £91.95 £96.95 5.44%
Christchurch Total £2,254.94| £2,399.99 6.43%
Christchurch Town Council £72.35 £74.44 2.89%
Burton Parish £17.66 £18.42 4.29%
Hurn Parish £34.90 £36.46 4.47%
Highcliffe and Walkford £32.86 £33.76 2.73%
Bournemouth Area
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41| £1,980.46 6.74%
Dorset Police and Crime Commissioner £307.58 £322.58 4.88%
Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Authority £91.95 £96.95 5.44%
Bournemouth Total £2,254.94| £2,399.99 6.43%
Bournemouth Charter Trustee £2.24
Bournemouth Town Council £29.47
Throop and Holdenhurst £38.72 £39.70 2.53%
Poole Area
BCP Unitary Charge £1,855.41| £1,980.46 6.74%
Dorset Police and Crime Commissioner £307.58 £322.58 4.88%
Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Authority £91.95 £96.95 5.44%
Poole Total £2,254.94| £2,399.99 6.43%
Poole Charter Trustee £2.14
Poole Town Council £32.56
Broadstone Town £60.34

362




Agenda ltem 11

COUNCIL BCP

Council

Report subject Recruitment of Interim Chief of Finance & Section 151
Officer

Meeting date 24 February 2026

Status Public Report (Appendix 1, Exempt)

Executive summary This report invites the Council to approve the appointment of

Matthew Filmer to the position of Interim Chief of Finance &
Section 151 Officer in accordance with the Council's
Constitution and statutory requirements.

A summary of Mr Filmer's skills, experience and employment
history is shown within appendix 1 of this report.

Recommendations | It is recommended that:

Council approve the appointment of Matthew Filmer to the
position of Interim Chief of Finance & Section 151 Officer.

Reason for Constitution - Appointment of Head of the Paid Service, Chief
recommendations Officers (Tier 2 Appointments), Monitoring Officer and Section
151 Officer

Portfolio Holder(s): Clir Mike Cox, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for

Finance

Chief Executive Aidan Dunn

Report Authors Sarah Deane, Director of People and Culture
Jon Matthews, Head of Resourcing, Employee Relations &
Change

Wards Not applicable

Classification Decision

363



1. Background

The purpose of this report is to provide Council with detail of the recruitment
process undertaken to source and select the preferred candidate to be
appointed to the position of Interim Chief of Finance & Section 151 Officer.

2. Recruitment Process

1. The Council’'s Constitution sets out the requirements for senior appointments as
follows:
a. Artcle 11 - Officers 1. Management Structure

1.1. General - The Council may engage such staff (referred to as Officers)
as it considers necessary to carry out its functions.

1.2. Chief Officers - The Council will engage persons for the following posts,
who will be designated Chief Officers:
(@) Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service
(b) Directors who report directly to the Chief Executive within the line

management structure

1.3. The process of selection and recruitment of the above Chief Officers
shall be undertaken in accordance with provisions set out in the
Employment and Procedure Rules - Part 4E of the Constitution.

2. The Constitution requires that Chief Officer roles are advertised in a manner that
is likely to reach individuals who are suitably qualified to apply. For this interim
appointment, which is limited to a six-month period, the Leader of the Council and
the Chief Executive agreed that it was appropriate to invite expressions of
interest internally from colleagues who report directly to the current Section 151
Officer, in order to maintain continuity and stability in the short term.

3. It should be noted that the recruitment process for the permanent position is
already underway. The role will be subject to a full, open, and competitive
external campaign, including national advertising in the Municipal Journal and an
active search delivered in partnership with Penna, our appointed executive
recruitment specialists for our executive resource requirements.

4. The employment rules within the Constitution state that appointments will be
made by Council following a process arranged by the Director of People and
Culture and in consultation with the Leader of the Council.

a. The selection process for the Interim Chief of Finance & Section 151
Officer comprised of the following:-

364



i. Expressions of interest were invited from all colleagues who
report to the current Chief of Finance and 151 officer.

ii. Mr Filmer was invited to an Assessment Centre held on
Wednesday 11" February where he presented to the formal
panel. Following the presentation, he was asked a range of
questions. The formal panel comprised of the following:-

e ClIr Millie Earl (Leader of the Council),

e Clir Jeff Hanna, Cabinet Member for Transformation,
Resources and Governance

e ClIr John Beesley (Leader of the Conservative Party)

e Clir Peter Cooper (Labour Party)

e AidanDunn, (Chief Executive),

e Sarah Deane, (Director of People and Culture)

e Bernadette MacDonald- Raggett (Independent Observer)

iii. As part of the selection process, Mr Filmer also undertook a
technical interview to assess his capability to perform the duties
of the role. This interview was facilitated by Mr Sean Cremer,
Corporate Director for Finance & Commercial and Section 151
Officer at Dorset Council, who provided detailed feedback to the
selection panel ahead of the formal interview.

. Recommended Candidate

Mr Filmer was unanimously proposed by the formal selection panel as having
the relevant skills and knowledge required to undertake the role. It is therefore
recommended that Council approve this appointment.

A summary of Mr Filmer’s skills and career history is shown at Appendix 1.
. Summary of financial implications

There are no financial implications arising from this report, as the role is within
the current establishment budget

. Summary of legal implications

There are no legal implications arising from this report.

. Summary of human resources implications

There are no human resources implications arising from this report

. Summary of sustainability impact

There are no sustainability implications arising from this report.

365



8. Summary of public health implications
There are no public health implications arising from this report.
9. Summary of equality implications

Candidates were assessed using objective assessment criteria. The selection
process was also observed by an independent observer.

10.Appendices

Appendix 1 — Candidate Summary — Matthew Filmer

366



By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

367



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	5 Cabinet 14 January 2026 - Minute No. 108 - Council Tax - Tax base 2026/27
	6 Audit and Governance Committee 15 January 2026 - Minute No. 86 - Treasury Management Monitoring report for the period April to December 2025 and Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27
	Appendix 1 Treasury Management Strategy 2026/27

	7 Cabinet 4 February 2026 - Minute No. 118 - Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget setting 2026-27
	Appendix 1 - The Rent Increase Effect on Residents
	Appendix 2 Service Charges for 2026-27
	Appendix 3 - Income and Expenditure Account for 2026-27
	Appendix 4 - Major Projects Capital Expenditure
	Appendix 5 - Capital Expenditure - Planned Maintenance for 2026-27
	Appendix 6 - HRA Balances for 2026-27

	8 Cabinet 11 February 2026 - Minute No. 132 - Budget 2026/27 and Medium-Term Financial Plan
	Appendix 1a - Corporate Strategy
	Appendix 1A - BCP Corporate Plan

	Appendix 1b - Updated Shared Vision
	Appendix 1c - Consideration of Section 114 Report
	Appendix 1d - Consultation Summary report
	Appendix 2 - Council Tax Charges 26-27
	Appendix 3 - Key Assumptions 2627
	Appendix 4 - Absolute MTFP
	Appendix 5 - Budget Summaries (1)
	Appendix 5a - Saving Schedule 2026-27 (1)
	Appendix 5b - BCP Beach Chalets 202627 Updated 29.1.26
	Appendix 6 202627 Revised FUCR Transformation Programmes and Invest to Saves
	Appendix 7 - Capital Investment Programme (CIP) overview and narrative by directorate 26-27
	Appendix 7a - capital projects list V2
	Appendix 8 202627 Asset Management Plan (1)
	Appendix 9 Treasury Management Strategy 2026-27
	Appendix 10 - s25 CFO Reserves Strategy Report 202627
	Appendix 10a - Reserve Summary and Detailed Statement 2025-27 (1)
	Appendix 10b - Reserve Risk Assessment 202627
	Appendix 10b - Risk Assessment Scoring Matrix
	Appendix 11 2026-27 Budget EIA Final
	Appendix 12 -  Chief Officer Pay Policy 202526 - final
	Addendum - 202627 Budget Report Addendum 100226v2
	Addendum - Appendix 2 - Council Tax Charges 26-27
	Addendum - BCP Council EFS proforma 2627 060126
	Addendum - Letter to Nico Heslop MHCLG from BCP Council 251205

	9 Cabinet 11 February 2026 - Minute No. 133 - Pokesdown Railway Station
	10 2026/27 Council Tax Resolution
	11 Recruitment of Interim Chief of Finance & Section 151 Officer
	Appendix 1 for Recruitment of Interim Chief of Finance & Section 151 Officer




